# RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN PHARMACOGENETICS AND PHARMACOGENOMICS

EDITED BY: Henk-Jan Guchelaar and José A. G. Agúndez PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Pharmacology and Frontiers in Genetics





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-648-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-648-7

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN PHARMACOGENETICS AND PHARMACOGENOMICS

Topic Editors:

Henk-Jan Guchelaar, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands José A. G. Agúndez, University of Extremadura, Spain

**Citation:** Guchelaar, H.-J., Agúndez, J. A. G., eds. (2021). Recent Developments in Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-648-7

# Table of Contents

- 64 Germline and Somatic Pharmacogenomics to Refine Rectal Cancer Patients Selection for Neo-Adjuvant Chemoradiotherapy
  Elena De Mattia, Rossana Roncato, Elisa Palazzari, Giuseppe Toffoli and Erika Cecchin
- The Clinical Impact of the C<sub>o</sub>/D Ratio and the CYP3A5 Genotype on Outcome in Tacrolimus Treated Kidney Transplant Recipients
  Teun van Gelder, Soufian Meziyerh, Jesse J. Swen, Aiko P. J. de Vries and Dirk Jan A. R. Moes
- 33 Pharmacogenomics as a Tool to Limit Acute and Long-Term Adverse Effects of Chemotherapeutics: An Update in Pediatric Oncology
  Emma C. Bernsen, Melanie M. Hagleitner, Theodorus W. Kouwenberg and Lidwien M. Hanff
- 52 Association of Apelin and Apelin Receptor Polymorphisms With the Risk of Comorbid Depression and Anxiety in Coronary Heart Disease Patients Ying Wang, Wenhui Liu, Yiwen Xiao, Haiyan Yuan, Feng Wang, Pei Jiang and Zhiying Luo
- 61 Beyond Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 Composite and ABCB1 Haplotype Associations to Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics in Black and White Renal Transplant Recipients

Daniel A. Brazeau, Kristopher Attwood, Calvin J. Meaney, Gregory E. Wilding, Joseph D. Consiglio, Shirley S. Chang, Aijaz Gundroo, Rocco C. Venuto, Louise Cooper and Kathleen M. Tornatore

- 74 Pharmacogenetics in Psychiatry: An Update on Clinical Usability Ron H. N. van Schaik, Daniel J. Müller, Alessandro Serretti and Magnus Ingelman-Sundberg
- 80 Diagnostic Test Criteria for HLA Genotyping to Prevent Drug Hypersensitivity Reactions: A Systematic Review of Actionable HLA Recommendations in CPIC and DPWG Guidelines Lisanne E. N. Manson, Jesse J. Swen and Henk-Jan Guchelaar
- 98 Genetic Variants in DNA Repair Pathways as Potential Biomarkers in Predicting Treatment Outcome of Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy in Patients With Colorectal Peritoneal Metastasis: A Systematic Review Emma C. Hulshof, Lifani Lim, Ignace H. J. T. de Hingh, Hans Gelderblom, Henk-Jan Guchelaar and Maarten J. Deenen
- 109 Risperidone-Induced Obesity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder: Genetic and Clinical Risk Factors Natchaya Vanwong, Nattawat Ngamsamut, Nopphadol Nuntamool, Yaowaluck Hongkaew, Rattanaporn Sukprasong, Apichaya Puangpetch, Penkhae Limsila and Chonlaphat Sukasem
- 119 Pharmacogenetics Guidelines: Overview and Comparison of the DPWG, CPIC, CPNDS, and RNPGx Guidelines

Heshu Abdullah-Koolmees, Antonius M. van Keulen, Marga Nijenhuis and Vera H. M. Deneer





## Germline and Somatic Pharmacogenomics to Refine Rectal Cancer Patients Selection for Neo-Adjuvant Chemoradiotherapy

Elena De Mattia<sup>1</sup>, Rossana Roncato<sup>1</sup>, Elisa Palazzari<sup>2</sup>, Giuseppe Toffoli<sup>1</sup> and Erika Cecchin<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico di Aviano (CRO), IRCCS, Aviano, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Radiation Oncology, Centro di Riferimento Oncologico di Aviano (CRO) IRCCS, Aviano, Italy

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Henk-Jan Guchelaar, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Ursula Amstutz, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland Alessio Squassina, University of Cagliari, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Erika Cecchin ececchin@cro.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

**Received:** 20 April 2020 **Accepted:** 02 June 2020 **Published:** 17 June 2020

#### Citation:

De Mattia E, Roncato R, Palazzari E, Toffoli G and Cecchin E (2020) Germline and Somatic Pharmacogenomics to Refine Rectal Cancer Patients Selection for Neo-Adjuvant Chemoradiotherapy. Front. Pharmacol. 11:897. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00897 Neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy (nCRT) followed by radical surgery is the standard of care for patients with Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer (LARC). Current selection for nCRT is based on clinical criteria regardless of any molecular marker. Pharmacogenomics may be a useful strategy to personalize and optimize nCRT in LARC. This review aims to summarize the most recent and relevant findings about the role of germline and somatic pharmacogenomics in the prediction of nCRT outcome in patients with LARC, discussing the state of the art of their application in the clinical practice. A systematic literature search of the PubMed database was completed to identify relevant English-language papers published up to January 2020. The chemotherapeutic backbone of nCRT is represented by fluoropyrimidines, mainly metabolized by DPD (Dihydro-Pyrimidine Dehydrogenase, DPYD). The clinical impact of testing DPYD\*2A, DPYD\*13, c.2846A > T and c.1236G > A-HapB3 before a fluoropyrimidines administration to increase treatment safety is widely acknowledged. Other relevant target genes are TYMS (Thymidylate Synthase) and MTHFR (Methylene-Tetrahydro-Folate Reductase), whose polymorphisms were mainly studied as potential markers of treatment efficacy in LARC. A pivotal role of a TYMS polymorphism in the gene promoter region (rs34743033) was reported and was pioneeringly used to guide nCRT treatment in a phase II study. The pharmacogenomic analysis of other pathways mostly involved in the cellular response to radiation damage, as the DNA repair and the activation of the inflammatory cascade, provided less consistent results. A high rate of somatic mutation in genes belonging to PI3K (Phosphatidyl-Inositol 3-Kinase) and MAPK (Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase) pathways, as BRAF (V-raf murine sarcoma viral oncogene homolog B1), KRAS (Kirsten Rat Sarcoma viral oncogene homolog), NRAS (Neuroblastoma RAS viral (v-ras) oncogene homolog), PIK3CA (Phosphatidyl-Inositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-Kinase, Catalytic Subunit Alpha), as well as TP53 (Tumor Protein 53) was reported in LARC. Their pharmacogenomic role, already defined in colorectal cancer, is under investigation in LARC with promising results concerning specific somatic mutations in KRAS and TP53, as predictors of tumor response and prognosis. The availability of circulating tumor DNA in plasma may also represent an opportunity to monitor somatic mutations in course of therapy.

Keywords: pharmacogenomics, rectal cancer, neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy, germline, somatic, polymorphism, mutation

## NEO-ADJUVANT THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES IN LOCALLY ADVANCED RECTAL CANCER

The standard of care for stage II/III Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer (LARC) is neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy (nCRT) followed by radical surgery including total mesorectal excision, with the possibility of an adjuvant chemotherapy. This program is based on a long-course radiotherapy (RT, 25-28 fractions in 5-6 weeks) and concomitant chemotherapy including fluoropyrimidines (FP), mainly capecitabine, administered daily for the whole course of treatment.

Despite the progress in the local disease control due to the introduction of nCRT in the treatment of patients with LARC, still there is a considerable proportion of patients (20%) that could be defined as non-responders, showing only minimal tumor response or poor prognosis mainly due to early progression. Another 40% of patients have a partial response and only a variable fraction of 8%–30% of patients achieve a pathological complete response at the time of surgery. The response to nCRT correlates with long-term patients' outcome considering disease-free survival (DFS) and overall survival (OS). Moreover patients achieving a major or complete clinical response after nCRT may be considered for an organ preservation strategy, (i.e., Local Excision, or Wait&Watch) and could avoid an adjuvant treatment (Van Der Valk et al., 2018). Furthermore, nCRT is not devoid of the risk of adverse drug reactions that could in some cases interfere with the treatment plans impacting not only patients' safety and quality of life, but also the success of the anti-tumor treatment.

In the clinical practice it is widely known the crucial importance of the risk stratification on patients. In order to reduce toxicity and improve the patients quality of life, a new generation of studies proposed risk adapted strategies including intensified programs in high risk patients and the possibility to avoid nCRT in low risk patients. Several trials were previously conducted in order to clarify the potential benefit of adopting a chemotherapy association regimen combining FP to other agents, as oxaliplatin or irinotecan (Valentini et al., 2019), or to anti-epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) monoclonal antibodies as cetuximab. On the other hand, nCRT intensification including a higher dose of RT appears as a promising approach (Burbach et al., 2014). More recently, Total Neoadjuvant Therapy strategies are hypothesised for highrisk sub-cohorts of patients. These programs are based on the integration of a neoadjuvant chemotherapy consisting in the administration of two or three different drugs, before or after the nCRT. The rationale for this strategy comes from the failure of adjuvant chemotherapy programs caused in most studies by the poor compliance of patients.

The selection of patients for these personalized treatment strategies is currently based essentially on clinical-pathological criteria, including tumor size, clinical T and N stages, distance of tumor from the anal verge, and interval from nCRT to surgery. In particular, some pathological features as circumferential tumor, tumor differentiation, mucinous histology and the presence of macroscopic ulceration, being associated with poor response to nCRT (Hur et al., 2011; Bitterman et al., 2015; Mccawley et al., 2016), demonstrated a detrimental effect in the neo-adjuvant treatment of LARC. Recently, the patients' stratification was shown to be improved using nomograms integrating clinical and radiomic features that may be also extracted from daily images acquired for image-guided RT (Dinapoli et al., 2018; Pirrone et al., 2019). However, despite the promising results, it would be necessary to deepen the knowledge on this topic, by conducting studies on larger

Abbreviations: 5-FU, 5-fluorouracil; AKT, v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog; AKT,v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog; APE1, apurinic/ apyrimidinic endodeoxyribonuclease 1; AREG, amphiregulin; ATM, ATM serine/ threonine kinases; ATR, ATR serine/threonine kinases; BCL2L10, Bcl-2-like protein 10; BER, base excision repair; BRAF, B-Raf proto-oncogene, serine/ threonine kinase; CCDN1, cyclin D1; CORO2A, coronin 2A; COX-1, -2, cycloxygenase-1, -2; ctDNA, circulating tumor DNA; DFS, disease-free survival; DLC1, DLC1 Rho GTPase activating protein; DNAH14, dynein axonemal heavy chain 14; drosha, double-stranded RNA-specific endoribonuclease; DSB, doublestrand breaks; DYPD (encoding DPD), dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ERCC1, -2, ERCC excision repair 1, -2; FAM101A, refilin A; FGFRs, fibroblast growth factor receptors; FP, fluoropyrimidine; GST, glutathione S-transferase; HIF1A (encoding HIF-1a), hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha; hOGG1, 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase; HR, homologous recombination; ICAM-1, Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1; IL-X, interleukin-X; ITIH5, inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 5; KRAS, KRAS proto-oncogene, GTPase; LARC, locally advanced rectal cancer; MAPK; mitogen activated protein kinase; MDM2, MDM2 protooncogene; MGMT, O6-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase; MLH1, mutL homolog 1; MPO, myeloperoxidase; MSH6, mutS homolog 6; MTHFR, methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; nCRT, neoadjuvant chemoradiation; NER, nucleotide excision repair; NFKB, nuclear factor KB; NHEJ, non-homologous end joining; NOS3, nitric oxide synthase 3; NRAS, NRAS proto-oncogene, GTPase; OS, overall survival; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1; PAR-1, protease-activated receptor-1; PFS, progression-free survival; PI3K, phosphoinositide-3-kinase; PI3KCA, phosphoinositide-3-kinase catalytic subunit alpha; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; PTGS-1, -2, prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 1, - 2; RAD51, RAD51 recombinase; RAET1L, retinoic acid early transcript 1L; ROS, reactive oxygen species; RT, radiotherapy; SMAD-3, SMAD family member 3; SOD2, superoxide dismutase 2; TGF-B1, transforming growth factor beta 1; TNFA (encoding TNF-a), tumor necrosis factor-alpha; TP53 (encoding P53), tumor protein p53; TP73, (encoding P73) tumor protein p73; TRBP, trans-activationresponsive RNA-binding protein; TYMS (encoding TS), thymidylate synthase; UTR, untranslated; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor; XPD, -A, xeroderma pigmentosum group D, -A; XRCC1, -3, x-ray repair cross-complementing 1, -3.

Pharmacogenomics of Rectal Cancer

datasets, involving a wider range of MRI texture features to enhance the predictive value of these parameters, with further requirement of independent validation to improve the test sensitivity and specificity.

In this context, pharmacogenomics may be a useful strategy to personalize and optimize nCRT in patients with LARC (Agostini et al., 2014; De Mattia et al., 2015; Cecchin et al., 2018). The outcome of an anti-cancer treatment may depend on two genomes: the patient's germline and the tumor cell genomes. The genetic features of the cancer cells are generally related to disease aggressiveness and sensitivity to treatment, whereas the germline genetic variation can mostly impact drugs pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Consequently, this led to the hypothesis that some patients have germline polymorphisms or somatic mutations in genes encoding for protein with a major role in the nCRT LARC treatment as drug-target, drug-metabolizing enzymes, DNA-repair enzymes, and others that may affect response and safety profile of chemotherapy and radiotherapy in LARC. In this review, we will summarize recent advances in tissue and blood-based pharmacogenomic biomarkers for predicting nCRT response and toxicity in patients with LARC.

By a systematic literature search we reviewed the available pharmacogenomic studies that attempted to identify the role of germline and somatic pharmacogenomics in predicting chemotherapy and radiotherapy based nCRT outcome in patients with LARC.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed a systematic literature search on January 2020 using the PubMed Medline Database and the combinations of the following terms: (chemotherapy OR radiotherapy OR chemoradiotherapy) AND "rectal cancer" AND (polymorphism\* OR pharmacogenetic\* OR pharmacogenomic\* OR mutation\*) AND (toxicity OR recurrence OR relapse OR survival OR progression). The literature search was completed by adding other articles that were identified with a hand search of the references of relevant works. As inclusion criteria the studies had to be published in English in a peer-reviewed journal. All the papers obtained by the PubMed search were reviewed for those specifically assessing the role on host and somatic genetic markers in predicting the clinical response in patients with LARC receiving pre-operative RT combined with FP-based chemotherapy, with or without other drugs (e.g., oxaliplatin, irinotecan, cetuximab). Eventually, nine and forty-two studies, addressing the host genetic profile's ability to predict the toxicity (Supplementary Table 1) and efficacy (Supplementary Table 2) of nCRT in patients with LARC, respectively, were selected. With regard to these specific papers, the attention was focused on details (Supplementary Tables 1 and 2) concerning the pharmacogenomic panel analyzed, the study population (e.g., sample size, ethnicity) and therapy (e.g., dose and schedule) characteristics, the clinical end-points evaluated and the adopted scoring system for toxicity or Tumor Regression Grade

(TRG) classification, along with the main findings (e.g., statistical results). Additional fifteen works concerning the involvement of somatic mutations in determining the nCRT outcome in patients with LARC were selected and discussed in the manuscript. Seven out of these works, published between 2010 and 2012, are aggregated in a meta-analysis (Clancy et al., 2013) to which we referred in the text.

## NEO-ADJUVANT RADIO-CHEMOTHERAPY COMBINATION TREATMENT IN LARC AND PHARMACOGENETIC MARKERS OF TOXICITY

FP-based nCRT is the standard backbone chemotherapy for preoperative treatment of patients with LARC. FP exert their antitumor action as antimetabolite drugs through different mechanisms including impairment of thymidylate synthase (TS) activity, RNA synthesis and function leading to DNA strand breakage. FP are largely used in the treatment of several malignancies demonstrating a significant improvement in the patients' survival. However, these drugs present a narrow therapeutic index and around 15%–30% of patients suffer from severe toxicity such as diarrhea, nausea, mucositis, stomatitis, myelosuppression, neurotoxicity, and hand-foot syndrome, depending on the treatment regimen. These side effects lead to mortality in approximately 0.5%-1% of patients following 5fluorouracil (5-FU) and capecitabine monotherapy, respectively (Lunenburg et al., 2016) (**Figure 1**).

FP are used in the neo-adjuvant treatment to increase the radiotherapy cytotoxic effect: this association can exacerbate the toxicity related to the chemotherapeutic treatment. The focuseddamaging cytotoxic effect of radiotherapy is exerted on cell structures, proteins, and DNA of tumor cells. Particularly, the DNA is the main target of ionizing radiation. DNA structure is altered by the direct damage of radiation, that causes both singleand double-strand breaks in the DNA molecule, and by the indirect damage of generated free-radicals. The surrounding normal tissue is commonly also affected, resulting mainly in radiation-related intestinal injury, including acute inflammation and late fibrosis. Other radiation-induced early side effects include mucositis, vomiting, diarrhea, cystitis, perineal dermatitis, and hematological dysfunction. Bowel dysfunction, fecal incontinence, bleeding, perforation, genitourinary dysfunction, and pelvic fractures constitute most of the late toxicity (Joye and Haustermans, 2014). Severe adverse events related to the administration of nCRT require in many cases therapy delay, reduction or even termination; moreover, the patient's quality of life may be majorly affected, both acutely and chronically, by impaired organ functions. The literature data related to each gene or pathway investigated in the context of the neo-adjuvant treatment of LARC are reported in the following paragraphs (Supplementary Table 1, Table 1).



**FIGURE 1** | Relevant pathways for pharmacogenetics of Fluoropyrimidines. In the Figure are pictured the most relevant proteins cited in the text and related to the clinical outcome of locally advanced rectal cancer patients receiving neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy. 5'-methylTHF, 5-methyltetrahydrofolate; 5',10'-methyleneTHF, 5,10-methylenettrahydrofolate; DPD, dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase; dTMP, deoxythymidine 5'-monophosphate; dUMP, deoxyuridine 5'-monophosphate; MTHFR, 5,10-methylenettrahydrofolate; THF, tetrahydrofolate; TS, Thymidylate synthase.

## Dihydropyrimidine Dehydrogenase

Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD, *DYPD*) is the enzyme responsible for the *in vivo* 80% detoxification of administered 5-FU, playing a major role as the rate-limiting step in FP metabolism. It has also been reported as the most important player in developing FP-related side effects in patients showing a deficient DPD activity and consequently more prone to the risk of toxicity. The prevalence of DPD partial deficiency in Caucasians is approximately 3%-5% (Etienne et al., 1994). A genetic background related to this inter-individual variability and its role in predicting toxicity occurrence have been described (Van Kuilenburg et al., 1999). Subjects who carry specific genetic variants related to a partial or complete DPD activity loss, may not be able to efficiently detoxify FP at normal rates, and are at greater risk of potentially life-threatening toxicity from standard doses.

The *DPYD* gene is highly polymorphic with 1,732 different genetic variants currently reported in GnomAD (https:// gnomad.broadinstitute.org/), and 627 of those being missense variants impacting on the DPD protein sequence. Several studies investigating the role of specific *DPYD* polymorphisms on the risk of FP-related toxicity have been conducted in the past years. A number of them were conducted on large randomized clinical trials (Deenen et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2014; Boige et al., 2016) producing solid evidence on the predictive role of *DPYD*\*2A, *DPYD*\*13, *DPYD*-2846, and *DPYD*-HapB3 on treatment safety. The results were also confirmed in some large meta-analyses (Rosmarin et al., 2014; Meulendijks et al., 2015) and prospective pharmacogenetic guidelines were published providing guidance

for dose adjustments based on *DPYD* genotype (Caudle et al., 2017). A first prospective study demonstrated in 2016 that a front-line FP dose adaptation based on the pre-emptive genotyping of *DPYD*\*2A, was effective in preventing toxicity (Deenen et al., 2016).

A gene activity score was proposed for translating DPYD genotype into a protein phenotype, considering the diplotype allelic combination of the DPYD variants according to a four polymorphisms panel (DPYD rs3918290, DPYD rs55886062, DPYD rs67376798, and DPYD rs56038477) (Henricks et al., 2015). A gene activity score was developed to provide a global DPD metabolizing status for each patient and to draw personalized dosing guidelines based on the patients' genotype for the four variants. Currently, the most recent version of shared pharmacogenetic guidelines is based on the definition of the patient gene activity score (Amstutz et al., 2018; Lunenburg et al., 2020). In late 2018 Henricks et al., published the results of a large prospective safety analysis providing strong evidences that the implementation of four DPYD polymorphisms genotyping is feasible in clinical practice and that genotype-guided individualized dosing improved patient safety of FP treatment (Henricks et al., 2018). Eventually, this study gave the final input for revising published pharmacogenetic guidelines (suggesting a 50% dose reduction for patients carrying any of the four DPYD variants at the heterozygous status) and for recommending DPYD genotyping among the strategies for a safer use of FP (https://cpicpgx.org/guidelines/guideline-for-fluoropyrimidinesand-dpyd/; November 2018 Update). Recently, testing of patients for DPD deficiency before starting treatment has been

Pathway/ Gene	Polymorphisms	Studies finding an association with the risk of toxicity	Studies that did not find any association with the risk of toxicity	Studies finding an association with the treatment efficacy	Studies that did not find any association with the treatment efficacy
<b>Fluoropyrim</b> DPYD	idines Metabolism DPYD*2A (rs3918290); DPYD*13 (rs55886062); c2846A > T (rs67376798); c.1236G > A/HapB3 rs56038477	Lunenburg et al., 2018			
DNA Repair					
ERCC1	rs11615			Paez et al., 2011	Guo et al., 2015;
	rs3212986			Sebio et al., 2015; Dreussi et al., 2016a; Sebio et al., 2015; Cecchin et al., 2011	Salnikova and kolobkov, 2016
ERCC2	rs13181	Duldulao et al., 2013a	Smith et al., 2017		Guo et al., 2015; Salnikova and kolobkov, 2016
XPA XRCC1	rs3176683 rs25487	Duldulao et al., 2013a; Osti et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017		Boige et al., 2019; Balboa et al., 2010; Grimminger et al., 2010; Paez et al., 2011; Cecchin et al., 2011; Lamas et al., 2012	Nicosia et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2015; Salnikova and kolobkov, 2016
XRCC3	rs1799794	Osti et al., 2017		Cecchin et al., 2011;	Guo et al., 2015; Salnikova and kolobkov, 2016
hOGG1	rs1052133			Cecchin et al., 2011	
RAD51	rs1801320	Osti et al., 2017		Gasinska et al., 2019	
		pharmacological target			
TYMS	rs34743033 and rs2853542 (TSER*2 and *3) rs16430			Villafranca et al., 2001; Spindler et al., 2007; Balboa et al., 2010; Paez et al., 2010; Hur et al., 2011; Tan et al., 2011; Paez et al., 2011; Lamas et al., 2012; Salnikova and kolobkov, 2016 Yang et al., 2017 Arrazubi et al., 2013;	Stoehlmacher et al., 2008; Arrazubi et al., 2013; Ulrich et al., 2014; Paez et al., 2010;
	1310400			Stoehlmacher et al., 2008	Yang et al., 2017
MTHFR	rs1801131 rs1801133	Thomas et al., 2011 (in combination with rs1801131)		Terrazzino et al., 2006; Terrazzino et al., 2006; Garcia-Aguilar et al., 2011; Cecchin et al., 2011; Nikas et al., 2015; Dreussi et al., 2016a; <b>Zhao et al., 2015;</b> Salnikova and	Ulrich et al., 2014
Oxidative S	tress Detoxification			Kolobkov, 2016	
GSTP1	rs1695		Osti et al., 2017	Nicosia et al., 2018; Gordon et al., 2006	
Cellular pro	liferation/Epidermal Gr	rowth Factor			
EGFR	rs712830 rs2227983			Spindler et al., 2006; Spindler et al., 2007 (in combination with rs4444903) <b>Zhang et al., 2005</b> ;	
	rs45608036			Zhao et al., 2015;	

TABLE 1 | Main findings from published works on germ-line variants and response to treatment (toxicity and efficacy) in locally advanced rectal cancer (LARC) patients receiving neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy (nCRT).

(Continued)

Pathway/ Gene	Polymorphisms	Studies finding an association with the risk of toxicity	Studies that did not find any association with the risk of toxicity	Studies finding an association with the treatment efficacy	Studies that did not find any association with the treatment efficacy
				Salnikova and	
KRAS	rs61764370			Kolobkov, 2016 Sclafani et al., 2015	
CCDN1	rs9344			Ho-Pun-Cheung et al.,	
CODIVI	100044			2007	
AREG	rs11942466			Sebio et al., 2015	
	onment-Related/Inflam	mation			
IL8	rs4073			Gordon et al., 2006	
IL13	rs1800925			Ho-Pun-Cheung et al.,	Xiao et al., 2016
				2011;	
IL17F	rs641701			Cecchin et al., 2020	
NFKB1	rs28362491	Dzhugashvili et al., 2014		Dzhugashvili et al., 2014	
TGFB1	rs1800471	Smith et al., 2017;			
		Schirmer et al., 2012			
	rs1800470			Dreussi et al., 2016a;	
				Gordon et al., 2006	
PAI1	rs1050955	Zhang et al., 2015b			
	rs2227631	Zhang et al., 2015b			
PAR1	rs32934	Zhang et al., 2015b			
TNFA	rs1799964	Zhang et al., 2015a			

In bold are listed meta-analysis and in underlined contrasting results.

recommended by the European Medicines Agency's safety committee (Pharmacovigilance Risk Assessment Committee) either by measuring the level of endogenous uracil in the blood, or by checking for specific variations in *DPYD* associated with an increased risk of severe side effects (https:// www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/referral/fluorouracilfluorouracil-related-substances-article-31-referral-emarecommendations-dpd-testing\_en.pdf).

Despite the large amount of published data on the effect of DPYD genetic variants on the risk of toxicity both in patients receiving FP monotherapy or different combination chemotherapies (Toffoli et al., 2015; Ruzzo et al., 2017; Dalle Fratte et al., 2018), no specific evaluation of the guidelines application was conducted in patients receiving a concomitant treatment with radiotherapy, as in patients with LARC receiving chemoradiation treatment. FP are commonly administered as short course treatment with lower dosage in the context of chemoradiation treatments, raising perplexities on the opportunity to apply the same genotype-related dose reductions that are prescribed by current guidelines. We demonstrated that the carriers of DPYD rs3918290, DPYD rs55886062, DPYD rs67376798, or DPYD rs56038477 variants are still at higher risk of toxicity when treated with chemoradiotherapy. The significant correlation between DPYD genotype and toxicity risk was investigated in 828 patients (including 93 patients with LARC) receiving a FP-based chemotherapy in combination with radiotherapy. This study suggests that FP dose reductions should also be applied in DPYD variant allele carriers who will start nCRT to prevent severe FP-induced toxicity (Lunenburg et al., 2020).

Among all the pharmacogenomic markers currently available for treatment personalization of patients with LARC, *DPYD* test for FP dosage adaptation is the only validated and recommended. However, clinical implementation of the *DPYD* test prior to FP treatment is not of common practice in most of the health care systems so far. One of the major concerns preventing the translation of *DPYD* pharmacogenetic guidelines in the clinical practice is the lack of formal health technology assessment studies, including cost-effectiveness and cost-consequences evaluation. Our group previously reported that the costs required to manage FP-related toxicity are associated to the patient's *DPYD* genotype. We demonstrated that the mean toxicity management cost per patient is related to the patients *DPYD* gene activity score (based on the four *DPYD* variants) (Fragoulakis et al., 2019; Toffoli et al., 2019). More recently a large prospective trial, provided evidence of the cost-effectiveness of an upfront *DPYD*-guided dose individualization (Henricks et al., 2019).

Probably the ultimate evidence needed to support the introduction of DPYD testing and, more generally, of pharmacogenomics in the clinical practice will derive from the ongoing implementation projects (Krebs and Milani, 2019), one of which in Europe (Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics, U-PGx). U-PGx (www.upgx.eu) is led by a European Consortium of pharmacogenomics experts formed in 2016 with the aim of assessing the clinical utility of implementing a panel of pharmacogenomic markers into routine care. A prospective, block-randomized, controlled clinical study [PREemptive Pharmacogenomic testing for prevention of Adverse drug REactions (PREPARE)] was funded by the European Commission's Horizon-2020 program. In such study, a panel of clinically relevant pharmacogenomic markers will be preemptively genotyped and implemented in healthcare institutions across seven European countries and patients' outcome investigated (Cecchin et al., 2017; Van Der Wouden et al., 2017).

The study of rare genetic variants in drug-related "pharmacogenes" represents a promising innovative approach capable to explain and justify the observed variation in overall drug response, not currently explained by common genetic polymorphisms. Furthermore, exome sequencing can accelerate pharmacogenetic discovery by assessing both common (i.e. minor allele frequency, MAF >5%) and rare (MAF < 1%) mutations in virtually all genes in an individual at relatively low cost (Gordon et al., 2014; Ingelman-Sundberg et al., 2018). In the future, additional novel and rare variants significantly impacting the DPD activity could be integrated into available pharmacogenomic algorithms to further improve the safety of FP administration.

## **DNA Repair Pathway**

RT exerts its cytotoxic action mainly by acting on DNA. If the DNA damage after irradiation is not completely repaired, cell death will occur either by apoptosis, mitotic catastrophe, or senescence (Maier et al., 2016) (Figure 2). At least five DNA repair molecular systems, each operating on a specific type of DNA damage, are involved in the repair of radiation-induced damage: direct reversal as the O6-methylguanine DNA

methyltransferase-base repair; base excision repair (BER) including the repair of modifications generated by reactive oxygen as the 8-oxoguanine; nucleotide excision repair (NER); DNA mismatch repair; and double-strand breaks (DSB) repair that involved two main pathways, the non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) and homologous recombination (HR). A genetically determined defect in the capacity to repair RT induced damage has been reported (Lavin, 1998; Mckinnon and Caldecott, 2007; Mizutani and Takagi, 2013).

Three meta-analyses reported the role of DNA repair genetic variants as predictive markers of the risk to develop severe radiation-induced toxicity, although including patients withunselected solid cancers and not specifically LARC. including patients with unselected solid cancers and not specifically LARC. Particularly these meta-analyses demonstrated a significant involvement of polymorphisms in the ERCC excision repair 2 [*ERCC2*, also known as xeroderma pigmentosum group D (XPD), i.e., rs13181, Lys751Gln], x-ray repair cross-complementing 1 (*XRCC1*, i.e., rs25487, Arg399Gln), x-ray repair cross-complementing 3 (*XRCC3*, i.e., rs861539, Thr241Met; rs1799794, located in the 5'UTR) and ATM serine/threonine kinases (*ATM*, i.e., rs1801516,



**FIGURE 2** | Radiotherapy-related molecular pathways associated with the clinical outcome of neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer patients. 8-oxoG, 8-oxoguanine; AKT, v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog; APE1, apurinic/apyrimidinic endodeoxyribonuclease 1; AREG, amphiregulin; ATM, ATM serine/threonine kinases; ATR, ATR serine/threonine kinases; BER, base excision repair; COX-1, -2; cyclooxygenase 1, -2; DSB, double-strand breaks; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ERCC1, ERCC excision repair 1; GSTs, glutathione S-transferases; hOGG1, 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase; HR, homologous recombination; MDM2, MDM2 proto-oncogene; MGMT, O6-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase; MLH1, mutL homolog 1; MMR, DNA mismatch repair; MPO, myeloperoxidase; MSH6, mutS homolog 6; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NER, nucleotide excision repair; NF-κB1, nuclear Factor Kappa B Subunit 1; NHEJ, non-homologous end joining; NOS3, nitric oxide synthase 3; P53, tumor protein p53; P73, tumor protein p73; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1; PAR-1, protease-activated receptor-1; PI3K, phosphoinositide-3-kinase; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; RAD51, RAD51 recombinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SMAD-4, SMAD family member 4; SOD2, superoxide dismutase 2; TGF-β1, transforming growth factor beta 1; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor-alpha; TRBP, trans-activation-responsive RNA-binding protein; XPA, xeroderma pigmentoso complementation group A; XPD, xeroderma pigmentoso complementation group D; XRCC1, -3, x-ray repair cross-complementing 1, -3.

Asp1853Asn) genes in modulating the risk of radiotoxicity (Dong et al., 2015; Song et al., 2015a; Song et al., 2015b). However, the results of the meta-analyses are not fully transferable to the specific context of the radiation neo-adjuvant therapy of patients with LARC, where most promising data regard the *XRCC1* rs25487 variant. A concordant association between the presence of a polymorphic rs25487-A (Gln) allele and an increased risk to develop grade  $\geq 3$  toxicity, and skin toxicity of any grade was reported by three different research papers (Duldulao et al., 2013a; Osti et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017). XRCC1 is one of the most relevant members of the BER pathway and its missense variation rs25487 was associated with a decreased DNA repair capacity, supporting an impact on the risk of toxicity (Duldulao et al., 2013a).

Genetic polymorphisms in RAD51 recombinase (RAD51, i.e., rs1801320) and XRCC3 (i.e. rs1799794), two members of the DSB-HR repair pathway, were also associated to toxicity risk. The polymorphic RAD51 rs1801320-C allele resulted predictive of an increased risk of grade  $\geq$ 3 abdominal/pelvis pain toxicity and acute skin toxicity of any grade, while the XRCC3 rs1799794-G allele was associated with increased risk of grade  $\geq 3$  urinary frequency/urgency, acute skin toxicity of any grade and higher rates of fatigue (Osti et al., 2017). The RAD51 rs1801320 G to C substitution in the untranslated (UTR) 5' region of the gene was shown to affect the mRNA stability leading to a lower protein expression and less effective DSBs repair (Gasinska et al., 2019). A genetically impaired RAD51 expression has been reported to impact the individual radiosensitivity, and the rs1801320 variant was correlated with the risk of radiation-induced toxicity also in other tumor settings (Osti et al., 2017).

The missense variation rs13181 (Lys751Gln) in *ERCC2*, a member of NER system, was also investigated. The *ERCC2* rs13181-AA (Lys/Lys) genotype, resulted associated with an increased rate of grade  $\geq$ 3 toxicity after a radiotherapy including treatment (Duldulao et al., 2013a). A following study aiming at validating the predictive role of *ERCC2*-rs13181 on radiotoxicity risk in patients with LARC (Smith et al., 2017) did not confirm those results.

## **Inflammation Pathway**

In the context of chemoradiation treatment, inflammationrelated genes have been considered as a target for the pharmacogenomic research, though the clinical setting of LARC has been poorly investigated up to date (Figure 2). The most promising results are related to the transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1), a cytokine that initiates and promotes acute and late radiation-induced side effects and is thus considered a major player in the inflammation process triggering. Exposure to radiation activates TGF- $\beta$ 1 via the generation of reactive oxygen species, and a sustained overexpression of TGF-β1 has been found in irradiated tissue. It was also investigated the role of rs1800471 in TGF- $\beta$ 1. The study of Schirmer et al., (2012), including two independent cohorts (discovery and replication) of Caucasian patients with LARC receiving neo-adjuvant radiation combined with 5-FU-based chemotherapy, evaluated the effect of TGFB1 rs1800471 on the

acute organ toxicity (quality of life-impairing acute organ toxicity, QAOT). In both cohorts, TGFB1 rs1800471 resulted a significant predictor of QAOT, with all the patients carrying the polymorphic TGFB1 rs1800471-C (Pro25) allele experiencing QAOT. These data were confirmed by a subsequent study (Smith et al., 2017), performed in a similar cohort of Caucasian patients with LARC treated with FP-based CRT. The study reported that TGFB1 rs1800471-C (Pro25) allele was associated with an increased risk of severe (grade  $\geq$ 3) toxicity. The functional effect of the TGFB1 rs1800471 polymorphism on the encoded protein has not been fully clarified yet. The polymorphism is in a genetic region encoding for the signaling portion of the peptide involved in the transport of the protein across the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum. Preliminary in silico analysis has suggested that the presence of a proline at position 25, caused by rs1800471-C allele could affect the cleavage of the peptide, increasing TGFB1 secretion and signaling (Schirmer et al., 2012). Another study including Chinese patients with LARC receiving nCRT demonstrated an effect on the toxicity risk of some polymorphisms in genes encoding for plasminogen activator (PA) inhibitor type 1 (PAI-1) and protease-activated receptor-1 (PAR-1). These two proteins, whose expression is activated by the TGF<sup>β1</sup>-related pathway, contribute to acute and late radiation-induced injury (Zhang et al., 2015b). By multivariate analysis, PAI-1 rs1050955-GG and PAR-1 rs32934-CT genotypes were associated with lower risk of grade ≥2 diarrhea, fecal incontinence (i.e., anal toxicity) and other toxicities, while the PAI-1 rs2227631-GG was associated with increased risk of grade  $\geq 2$  incontinence (Zhang et al., 2015b). Those polymorphisms are placed in the genes regulatory regions and may affect gene expression in different ways. The 3'UTR PAI-1 rs1050955 variant is located at a microRNA binding site, whereas PAI-1 rs2227631 and PAR-1 rs32934 are located in the 5'-flanking region of the gene and may change the binding site of specific transcriptional factor (Zhang et al., 2015b). These data support a major causative role of TGF\$1 and its downstream mediators (i.e., PAI-1, PAR-1) on the risk of radiation-related toxicity, and a better elucidation of the predictive role of the related polymorphisms is warranted. However, the specific role of the genetic polymorphisms in the pathway mediators PAI-1, PAR-1 is proved by a single study and the lack of independent validation results prevents to draw final conclusion.

A second cytokine of interest is the nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B1 (NFKB1), a transcriptional factor that plays a key role in the activation of the inflammatory response and regulates various biological defense processes, including innate and adaptive immune responses, acute phase reaction and apoptosis (Karban et al., 2004). The *NFKB1* rs28362491 variant, consisting in an insertion/deletion of four bases in the promoter region of the gene, seems to decrease *NFKB1* transcription level by reducing the binding capacity of some transcription factors to the gene promoter (Karban et al., 2004; Riemann et al., 2007). Regarding the predictive role of *NFKB1* rs28362491 marker, literature provides only one study. The polymorphism was associated to the risk of radiation-induced toxicity. Particularly, the *NFKB1* rs28362491-DEL/DEL

genotype was associated with an increased risk of grade  $\geq 2$  dermatitis and proctitis. The rs28362491-DEL containing haplotype also showed a correlation with an increased risk to develop clinically significant grade $\geq 2$  acute organ toxicity (Dzhugashvili et al., 2014).

The pro-inflammatory cytokine tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ , encoded by *TNFA*) is another key molecule involved in the mediation of the inflammatory signal activated by ionizing radiation. As far as the predictive role of *TNFA* polymorphism in LARC is concerned, only one hypothesis generating study is currently available. The T allele of the *TNFA* rs1799964, located in the 5'-flanking region of the gene, was associated with increased TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA expression *in vitro*. It was reported to be associated with an increased risk of total grade  $\geq 2$  acute toxicity after chemoradiotherapy in Chinese patients with LARC (Zhang et al., 2015a).

Despite the promising aforementioned data about the potential involvement of some polymorphisms in genes implicated in the inflammation process in mediating the risk of toxicity in patients with LARC treated with nCRT, it must be underlined that most of the results are only reported in single exploratory studies, as for the case of polymorphisms in *PAI-1*, *PAR-1*, *NFKB1*, *TNFA*. Therefore, they should be further tested in independent validation studies in order to be then considered as effective biomarkers for a clinical translation.

## NEO-ADJUVANT RADIO-CHEMOTHERAPY COMBINATION TREATMENT IN LARC AND PHARMACOGENOMIC MARKERS OF EFFICACY

The most compelling clinical need in patients with LARC is represented by a better understanding of the inter-individual unpredictable heterogeneity in the tumor response to nCRT. The prospective identification of patients who have a higher likelihood of responding to nCRT could be important for decreasing treatment morbidity and improving survival and local disease control. On the other hand, alternative intensified therapeutic approaches could be offered to patients who are unlikely to respond. Both germline and somatic genetic variants could play a role in defining the individual chance to get an effective response to treatment or the risk of disease recurrence (**Supplementary Table 2, Table 1**). A revision of the available literature evidence on genetic polymorphisms and somatic variants that could be considered to predict tumor response to treatment in LARC is reported below.

## **Thymidylate Synthase**

Thymidylate synthase (TS, *TYMS*), an enzyme with a critical role in the DNA synthesis process, is the primary target of FP and its expression level was suggested to inversely correlate with the tumor sensitivity to FP (Johnston et al., 1995; Libra et al., 2004). Some common polymorphisms with an impact on the protein expression level and, in turn, with a hypothesized effect on an FP-based treatment outcome, were described in *TYMS*.

The most studied TYMS polymorphism consists of regulatory tandemly repeated sequences (VNTR) of 28-base pairs (rs34743033) in the 5' untranslated region of the gene and acts as an enhancer to the TYMS promoter (TYMS enhancer region [TSER]). TYMS expression is affected by the number of tandem repeats that are directly correlated with the enzyme expression level. Alleles with two or three repeats are the most common (TSER\*2 or 2R and TSER\*3 or 3R). The second repeat of the 3R allele hosts a functional G > C single-nucleotide polymorphism (rs2853542). The 3R(G) allele has been correlated with a more efficient transcription activity while the transcription efficiency of the 3R(C) allele is the same as that of the 2R allele. TSER and rs2853542 are often combined to identify two groups of alleles: TYMS high-expression allele (2R/3RG, 3R/3RG and 3RG/3RG) and low-expression allele (2R/2R, 2R/3RC and 3RC/3RC) (Thomas et al., 2011). A third polymorphism that has been studied for its effect on the protein expression is a 6 bp insertion at the nucleotide 1494 in the 3'UTR of the gene. It was reported to be associated with an increased TYMS tumor expression that may decrease the chemosensitivity to FP (1494del6, rs16430, or rs34489327).

In the last 10 years, the association of *TYMS* polymorphisms with the tumor response to nCRT in LARC has been under investigation in literature. Although several studies showed an inconsistency of statistically significant results, in general *TYMS* high-expression alleles were associated with a worse response to nCRT and unfavorable prognosis. On the other side, *TYMS* low-expression alleles have been overall associated with better response and prognosis.

According to an abstract presented in 2001 from Villafranca et al., (2001) TSER\*3 homozygotes had a lower probability of downstaging compared with TSER\*2 homozygotes or \*2/\*3 heterozygotes (22% vs 60%) and a trend toward improved 3year DFS was also detected in the \*2/\*2 and \*2/\*3 groups, compared with that in the \*3/\*3 group (81% vs 41%). The group of Spindler in 2007 demonstrated that 53% of \*2/\*2 patients experienced a 53% p-CR compared with 26% of \*2/\*3 and only 17% of patients with the TSER\*3/\*3 variants (Spindler et al., 2007). The contribute of the 28-bp VNTR in the TYMS 5'UTR was considered along with the G > C SNP by Hur et al., reporting a significant difference in tumor response between low and high-expressing groups in 44 South Korean patients with LARC. Thirteen out of 14 patients in the low-expression genotype group exhibited a significantly greater tumor downstaging rate, as compared with 12 of 30 patients in the high-expression group (Hur et al., 2011). Based on such consistent results a prospective tandem phase II study was designed in 2011 by Tan and colleagues. TYMS genotyping was used to guide nCRT where carriers of three or more repeats in the TYMS 5'UTR VNTR were treated with a chemotherapy intensification program (Tan et al., 2011). TSER\*2/\*2 or TSER\*2/\*3, were treated with the standard of care hypothesizing a favorable response to 5-FU, while TSER\*3/\*3 or TSER\*3/\*4 genotypes who were unlikely to

derive significant benefit from a FP-based CT were treated with irinotecan in addition to standard 5-FU/CRT. This genotypebased strategy appeared to be successful, increasing treatment efficacy in poor-responder patients. Downstaging and complete tumor response rates reached 64.4% and 20% for standard of care and 64.5% and 42% for irinotecan-treated patients, respectively. However, this increase in efficacy came at the cost of higher rates of grade 3 to 4 toxicities, delay rates and hospitalization (Tan et al., 2011).

Only a few studies deriving from one research group reported contrasting results, highlighting an association between \*3/\*3 genotype and a higher response rate. The first study identified the \*3/\*3 genotype as an independent prognostic factor for improved survival in 2010 (Paez et al., 2010). A successive study conducted in 2011 on a larger group of patients reported as well a higher response rate (pathologic complete remission and microfoci residual tumor) for *TYMS* \*3/\*3 genotype compared to \*2/\*2 or \*2/\*3 in the amount of 59% vs 35%, and longer median progression-free survival (PFS) and OS (Paez et al., 2011). A significantly improved pathologic response among carriers of *TYMS* high-expressing alleles as compared with low-expressing alleles was also found by Lamas et al., (2012).

Regardless, two systematic reviews and metanalyses were published in 2016 (Salnikova and Kolobkov, 2016) and 2017 (Yang et al., 2017) assessing that *TYMS* \*2/\*3 genotype is associated with the response to nCRT in rectal cancer and that patients with a \*2/\*2 or \*2/\*3 genotype might benefit more from nCRT than others. The initial evidence of results heterogeneity for *TYMS* rs34743033 resolved after the exclusion of the data of Paez et al., (Paez et al., 2011; Salnikova and Kolobkov, 2016). However, the authors suggest that such results are not conclusive due to discrepancies among the studies analyzed in the nCRT administration and surgery strategies, sample size and ethnicities. A significant bias could also have derived from the source tissue (either tumor or normal) used for germinal DNA extraction.

Eventually, 3'-UTR 6-bp rs16430 was significantly associated with DFS by Arrazubi et al., (2013), while only a trend towards tumor response in patients receiving 5-FU-based nCRT, was described by Stoehlmacher et al., (2008). The metanalysis from Yang et al., (2017) did not found 1494del6 to be associated with the response to nCRT.

## Methylenetetrahydrofolate Reductase

Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (encoded by *MTHFR* gene) is a fundamental enzyme in the folate cycle, important for DNA synthesis and repair (Toffoli et al., 2003) and hypothesized to be another important target of the FP pharmacological activity. MTHFR catalyzes the reduction of 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate to 5-methyltetrahydrofolate, the methyl donor for methionine synthesis from homocysteine. Two common non-synonymous variants in *MTHFR*, rs1801133 (677C > T, Ala222Val) and rs1801131 (1298A > C, Glu429Ala), alone or in combination, were reported to affect the activity of the enzyme and hence the folate distribution (De Mattia and Toffoli, 2009; De Re et al., 2010). *MTHFR* rs1801133-CC wild genotype was associated with a major

response to nCRT compared with *MTHFR* rs1801133-TT genotype (Salnikova and Kolobkov, 2016). The radiotherapy effect was also hypothesized to be affected by the action of MTHFR. Specifically, the reduced MTHFR activity, deriving from the aforementioned polymorphisms, could lead to an enhanced availability of non-methylated folate substrates for *de novo* synthesis of nucleotides, which could preserve DNA integrity from ionizing radiation, reducing genetic instability and thus preserving its efficacy. A number of studies were published with pretty consistent results about the detrimental role of *MTHFR* rs1801133 on the outcome of a CRT treatment. In particular, the *MTHFR* rs1801133-CC genotype was demonstrated to be more sensitive to the therapy, whereas the effect of *MTHFR* rs1801131 is still controversial.

In two studies on patients with LARC, MTHFR rs1801133-T allele was significantly associated with a lower chance to get a TRG  $\leq$  2 (Cecchin et al., 2011) and with non-pCR when in homozygosity (Garcia-Aguilar et al., 2011). In 2014 Urlich et al., documented a non-significant trend toward worse DFS and OS for MTHFR rs1801133-TT compared to patients with CC, although not supported by a significant association with OS or DFS. Such trend became significant for both endpoints in patients receiving 5-FU via protracted venous infusion 42 days before and 56 days after radiotherapy (Ulrich et al., 2014). Nikas et al., in 2015 reported that patients with MTHFR rs1801133-CC were 2.91 times more likely to benefit from nCRT, and 3.25 times more likely not to experience recurrence of the disease compared to heterozygous (CT) or homozygous (TT) genotypes (Nikas et al., 2015). The study from Terrazzino et al., identified the haplotype MTHFR rs1801133-T/rs1801131-A as an independent predictor of tumor regression at univariate and later confirmed at multivariate analysis. Patients not carrying the MTHFR rs1801133-T/rs1801131-A haplotype displayed a higher response rate (Terrazzino et al., 2006). Eventually the systematic review and metanalysis from Zhao et al., draw the line suggesting that MTHFR rs1801133 might be correlated with the tumor response under the recessive model (CC vs. CT/TT) in overall analysis, rectal cancer, and TRG1-2 vs. 3-5 group. MTHFR rs1801131 showed no significant association with the tumor response to nCRT (Zhao et al., 2015).

It has also been hypothesized that the effect of *MTHFR* SNPs could change according to specific combination drug therapies given with radiotherapy. A study by Dreussi et al., (2016a) compared the effect of a set of SNPs, including *MTHFR* rs1801133, in patients with LARC receiving an FP-based nCRT with or without oxaliplatin. They demonstrated a differential effect of the polymorphisms on the tumor response in the two subgroups, thus suggesting an effect of drug-drug interactions on the pharmacogenomic of LARC treatment.

*MTHFR* polymorphisms were also anecdotally associated with FP-related toxicity. A study published in 2011 by Thomas et al., investigated the effect of *MTHFR* rs1801133 and rs1801131 genetic markers with the outcome of a chemoradiation treatment. *MTHFR* haplotypes (rs1801133-C/rs1801131-C) and diplotypes (CA-TA and TA-TA) showed a protective or a detrimental effect on the incidence of severe diarrhea or mucositis, respectively (Thomas et al., 2011).

## **DNA Repair Pathway**

The major role of germline variation in the DNA repair pathway on the response to radiotherapy has been already mentioned above for its association with a differential risk to develop adverse side effects after a chemoradiation treatment. The same genetic polymorphisms were investigated for their potential role in identifying good or poor responders to radiotherapy-based treatments. However, the results obtained up to date are far from their final conclusions. The missense XRCC1-rs25487 variant was investigated in a number of studies that generated heterogeneous results (Balboa et al., 2010; Grimminger et al., 2010; Cecchin et al., 2011; Paez et al., 2011; Lamas et al., 2012). The heterozygous rs25487-AG genotype was reported to be associated with both a higher (Grimminger et al., 2010) and a lower (Lamas et al., 2012) response rate. The XRCC1 rs25487-AA genotype was associated either with an improved tumor response (Balboa et al., 2010) or with a decreased PFS by other authors (Paez et al., 2011). Interestingly, the work of Balboa et al., (2010) raised the problem of the source of genomic DNA used in the different studies for XRCC1 genotyping (i.e. blood or tumor tissue). In their investigation, the authors demonstrated a discrepancy between the XRCC1 rs25487-AA genotype as determined in healthy or tumor cells. The authors found an elevated rate of tumor specific genomic alterations (i.e., a loss of heterozygosity, gain of allele), in the chromosomal region containing DNA repair encoding genes (i.e., XRCC1, ERCC1, ERCC2), with the XRCC1 locus presenting the highest percentage of aberrations. These findings highlighted a potential limitation in interpreting the results of the pharmacogenomic studies currently available.

The gene encoding polymorphisms for *ERCC1* (a NER member) were also analyzed by a number of studies, generating conflicting results. The TT genotype of the synonymous rs11615 (Asn118Asn) polymorphism, impacting the mRNA expression level of *ERCC1*, (Yu et al., 2000), resulted associated with a higher rate of R1-R2 circumferential rectal margin resection, and higher recurrence rate (Paez et al., 2011). Opposite results were produced by another study, where the same *ERCC1* rs11615-TT genotype resulted associated with higher rate of pathological complete response by multivariate analysis (Sebio et al., 2015). *ERCC1* polymorphism (i.e. rs3212986, located in the 3'UTR) was also highlighted for its association with complete tumor response to treatment (Cecchin et al., 2011; Dreussi et al., 2016a) but the results were not concordant with the findings of another published study (Sebio et al., 2015).

The impact of a set of DNA repair genetic markers (i.e., *XRCC1*-rs25487, *XRCC1*-rs179978, *XRCC3*-rs861539, *ERCC1*-rs11615, *ERCC2*-rs13181) on the tumor pathological response was analyzed by a meta-analysis (Guo et al., 2015), including five studies for a total of 265 Caucasian patients with LARC. The meta-analysis found no association between the polymorphisms and the response to radiotherapy in the context of LARC multimodality treatment. However, it should be considered that the small sample size of each single study, together with their significant methodological heterogeneity (genotyping strategy, study design, treatment schedule and dosage,

combination with different chemotherapeutics drugs, clinical monitoring), could have affected the possibility to draw a common conclusion.

Additional studies were published exploring the predictive/ prognostic effect of polymorphisms in other genes involved in the DNA repair pathways (i.e., *hOGG1*, *APE1*, *RAD51*, and *XPA*). Despite the encouraging results of the investigations on their potential impact on the tumor response phenotype, a final consensus was not achieved, and the clinical value of the markers should be independently validated in further studies.

The variant G allele of the missense rs1052133 (Ser326Cys) polymorphism, impairing the functionality of hOGG1 (Vodicka et al., 2007), was indicated to be a detrimental factor for the pathological tumor response to radiation therapy (Cecchin et al., 2011). The minor G allele of the missense rs1130409 (Asp148Glu) variation in *APE*-1, was instead associated with an increased response rate to radiotherapy at high dose (Dreussi et al., 2016a).

The functionally defective RAD51 rs1801320-CC genotype was recently reported to be associated with a better outcome after short-course radiotherapy in term of both a longer OS and a lower risk to develop local recurrence and distant metastasis (Gasinska et al., 2019). This evidence supports the hypothesis that a defective repair of the radiation induced damage on DNA, determined by a genetic polymorphism, could increase the treatment efficacy with an improved patients' prognosis. Interestingly, patients with a RAD51 rs1801320-CC genotype presented also a different tumor tissue phenotype with lower glucose transporter 1 expression, moderate differentiation, lower Ku70 expression, lower aneuploidy, and higher P53 protein expression. Moreover, patients' gender, in association with RAD51 genotype and Ku70 expression, was shown to have an impact on OS. The findings of this study represent one of the first evidence of an association between a specific genetic background related to DNA repair (i.e., RAD51 genotype) and a peculiar rectal cancer molecular phenotype and suggest a gender-related difference in the therapy outcome.

Another recent study by Boige et al., (2019) suggested that the *xeroderma pigmentosum group* A (*XPA*) rs3176683 polymorphism may help identifying patients who could benefit from adding oxaliplatin to a capecitabine-based nCRT due to its predictive effect for tumor response to oxaliplatin-based nCRT. The probability of tumor response was seven times higher in patient with *XPA* rs3176683-TT genotype treated with CAPOX (i.e., capecitabine and oxaliplatin). However, the polymorphism failed to be associated with the patients' prognosis.

## **Oxidative Stress/Detoxification Pathway**

Since the radiotherapy exerts part of its cytotoxic effect by generating reactive oxygen species (ROS), genetic variations in oxidative stress-related enzymes have been also investigated as potential predictors of tumor response to treatment. However, the studies published up to date in LARC are sporadic and do not allow to draw final conclusion on the actual predictive or prognostic role of the markers investigated in *NOS3*, *MPO*, *SOD2*, and *GST*.

The missense rs1799983 (Glu298Asp) polymorphism in the gene encoding endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS, *NOS3*), was related to ROS generation and patients OS. The same study also highlighted an association between the low ROS producing A-allele of the rs2333227 variant, located in the 5'flanking of the *myeloperoxidase (MPO)* gene, and a longer OS (Funke et al., 2009). Another potential predictive marker pointed out by literature is the missense rs4880 (Ala16Val) variant in SOD2 encoding gene. SOD2 plays a central role in the detoxification of ROS and its higher expression was reported to inhibit ROS-induced activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and to potentially increase the sensitivity to ionizing radiations (Ho-Pun-Cheung et al., 2011). In agreement with this hypothesis, the rs4880-T (Val), associated with lower SOD2 activity, was linked to a worse response to radiation therapy (Ho-Pun-Cheung et al., 2011).

Glutathione-S-transferases (GSTs) is a multigene family of phase II metabolic enzymes employed in the detoxification of reactive oxygen intermediates produced by a wide variety of potentially toxic and carcinogenic compounds, by conjugation with glutathione (Nicosia et al., 2018). The missense polymorphism 313A > G (Ile105Val, rs1695) in *GSTP1* was proposed, in a study from Nicosia et al., (2018) to be a predictive and prognostic marker. Among a population of 80 patients with LARC, those with a 313AA genotype for *GSTP1* rs1695presented a rate of 26.6% of pCR compared to 8.5% of the 313AG/GG population. Patients harboring at least a 313A allele presented a 5- and 8-year cancerspecific survival longer than those with 313GG genotype (87.7% and 83.3% vs. 44.4% and 44.4%, respectively). Only a trend for an improved OS in the rs1695-A allele carriers was reported.

## **Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor**

EGFR was demonstrated to have a pivotal role in LARC as well as in the colorectal cancer carcinogenesis (Toffoli et al., 2007; Kim and Eng, 2012). Moreover, EGFR and related pathways, are activated by ionizing radiation, and have been suggested to be a druggable target for the neo-adjuvant treatment of LARC. However, the association of FP with cetuximab in the chemoradiation treatment was not successful. Nonetheless, germline polymorphisms in EGFR were investigated for their potential predictive or prognostic effect. The most studied functionally relevant EGFR polymorphisms in LARC are the following: 1. rs45608036, a (CA)n repeat in the intron 1 of the gene that alters EGFR expression in vitro and in vivo; 2. rs2227983, a missense substitution at codon 497 (Arg497Lys) that leads to attenuation in ligand binding, growth stimulation, tyrosine kinase activation, and induction of proto-oncogenes myc, fos, and jun; and 3. rs712830, a single nucleotide change located in the Sp1 binding site of the regulatory EGFR promoter region that impact EGFR transcription (Zhang et al., 2005; Spindler et al., 2006; De Mattia et al., 2015). The rs712830-GG genotype resulted associated with a poorer response to chemoradiotherapy (Spindler et al., 2006). In the same study, the rs712830-GG genotype was also associated with higher EGFR expression by immunohistochemistry.

In another exploratory study, both the *EGFR* rs2227983-GG (Arg/Arg) genotype and the rs45608036-CA repeats (genotype

with both alleles <20 CA repeats) showed a tendency towards an increased risk of local recurrence after radiotherapy. The combination in the same patient of an rs2227983-G (Arg) and an rs45608036 < 20 CA repeats alleles was associated with the highest risk of local recurrence (Zhang et al., 2005). A subsequent meta-analysis, including about 350 Caucasian patients with LARC and evaluating the role of EGFR rs2227983 and rs45608036 on the response to chemoradiation therapy, showed a trend for a detrimental effect on the response to treatment of the EGFR shorter (S) alleles (Zhao et al., 2015). In another meta-analysis, including more than a thousand Caucasian patients with LARC, a different frequency of distribution of the EGFR rs2227983-A allele among responder and non-responder has been detected (Salnikova and Kolobkov, 2016). Further analyses are required to clarify whether specific EGFR polymorphisms can have a clinical utility in predicting the outcome of a chemoradiation therapy in LARC.

Within the EGFR-pathway, preliminary results have also been generated for some germline genetic markers in the downstream effector KRAS proto-oncogene (KRAS) and the EGFR-ligand amphiregulin (AREG). A 3'UTR KRAS variant, named LCS6 (rs61764370) was reported to alter the epigenetic transcriptional control of KRAS. The polymorphism was associated with an impaired capacity of the mature let-7 miRNA to bind the KRAS-encoding mRNA, potentially leading to KRAS up-regulation and downstream cellular pathway signaling interference (De Mattia et al., 2015). In patients with LARC, the results of the retrospective EXPERT-C trial evidenced that the minor KRAS rs61764370-G allele was associated with a higher rate of complete response after nCRT independently from cetuximab administration (Sclafani et al., 2015). The same polymorphic rs61764370-G-allele showed also an association trend for an improved 5-years PFS and OS. By a subgroup analysis, the favorable prognostic effect of the rs61764370 variant seemed to be limited only to patients with a KRAS mutated tumor, opening the possibility of identifying subgroups of good responder patients within that category of patients (KRAS mutated) presenting an overall unfavorable prognosis.

Some hypothesis-generating data were also published about the role of genetic polymorphisms in some downstream effectors and ligands cooperating in the EGFR pathway. These data are reported in single studies lacking independent validation and therefore requiring further investigation to assess their real clinical value.

Specifically, the intergenic rs11942466 polymorphisms located in the *AREG* gene region was associated with a higher rate of pCR. Through a classification and regression tree analysis, including some polymorphisms in the EGFR pathway and DNA repair genes, the *AREG* rs11942466 variant represented the most important marker for identifying the complete responder patients (Sebio et al., 2015). The phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K)/phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)/v-akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog (AKT)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) cascade is another downstream signaling pathway potentially activated by EGFR. The role of genetic polymorphisms in five genes belonging to the PI3K/PTEN/ AKT/mTOR pathway [i.e, *PI3K catalytic subunit alpha* (*PIK3CA*), *PTEN*, *AKT1*, *AKT2*, *FRAP1* encoding for mTOR] on the response to nCRT in LARC was recently investigated for the first time. The *PTEN* rs12569998-G allele was associated with an increased tumor response rate, while the *AKT2* rs8100018-C allele with a decreased recurrence risk and a higher 5-years DFS rate (Peng et al., 2018). *PTEN* plays a crucial role in the DNA damage repair and in the cellular response to DNA damage, whereas *AKT2* modulates the cell survival signals, important mechanisms for the response to nCRT in LARC.

Additional genetic markers affecting the cell cycle control, apoptosis and proliferation rate were evaluated in single exploratory studies. The rs9344 polymorphism in cyclin D1 (*CCND1*), controlling the G<sub>1</sub>/S checkpoint of the cell cycle, is located at codon 242 in the exon-4/intron boundary of *CCND1* gene and is responsible for alternate splicing of transcripts with different half-lives (Bitterman et al., 2015). The *CCDN1* rs9344 marker was found to be an independent predictor of response to neo-adjuvant radiotherapy, with the A-allele being associated with an increased response rate and a lower risk of local failure (Ho-Pun-Cheung et al., 2007). Moreover, the combination of *CCDN1* rs9344 with specific clinical-pathological parameters (i.e., post-therapeutic lymph node status) generated a prognostic index that accurately distinguished subgroups of patients with different recurrence-free survival and OS. Other data suggested that the p73 G4C14  $\rightarrow$  A4T14 marker could be an additional factor influencing the outcome of nCRT in LARC.  $G4C14 \rightarrow A4T14$  is a dinucleotide polymorphism consisting of two linked variants (rs2273953 and rs1801173, respectively) located at position 4 (G to A) and 14 (C to T) in the 5'-UTR of exon 2, just upstream the initial start codon of the tumor protein p73 (TP73, encoding P73) gene. The G4C14  $\rightarrow$  A4T14 polymorphism was supposed to impact the gene expression of p73, implicated in the regulation of the balance between pro- and anti-apoptotic signals (Loof et al., 2009). The GC/GC genotype was showed to be associated with a lower expression of p53 and Survivin, another regulator of the apoptosis and cell-cycle, and to be tendentially related to a longer DFS. The combination of a GC/GC genotype with a negative p53 expression and a weak expression of Survivin, predicted a longer DFS as compared to other genotype/phenotype combinations (Loof et al., 2009). All of these markers could be considered of interest, but only future validation work will eventually assess their clinical value.

## **Microenvironment-Related Pathways**

The role of the tumor microenvironment in the response to nCRT in LARC was largely explored (Perez-Ruiz and Berraondo, 2016; Zhang et al., 2019). In this context, germline



FIGURE 3 | Microenvironment molecular pathways associated with the clinical outcome of neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer patients. DROSHA, double-stranded RNA-specific endoribonuclease; FGFR4, fibroblast growth factor receptor 4; HIF-1α, hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; IL-1, -6, -13, -17F, interleukin -1, -6, -13, -17F; mRNA, microRNA; SMAD-3, SMAD family member 3; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

polymorphisms of proteins mediating inflammatory, angiogenic, hypoxia and cell adhesion phenomena were considered (Garziera et al., 2015; Garziera et al., 2017; Labriet et al., 2017; De Mattia et al., 2018a; De Mattia et al., 2018b; De Mattia et al., 2019; Labriet et al., 2019) (**Figure 3**). This is certainly a promising field of investigation in pharmacogenomics and this is proved by the number of studies published up to date analyzing different players and mediators of the complex inter-play between the microenvironment and the tumor tissue in determining the tumor response phenotype. However, despite many interesting results, no final consensus was reached up to date on the predictive role of each polymorphism. A lot of markers discussed below were investigated by single studies and lack of formal independent replication of the results prevents the possibility to draw final conclusion.

The promoter polymorphism rs4073 of interleukin 8 (IL-8), an interleukin with an important role in the angiogenic process, was linked to an increased IL-8 expression in vitro and was associated with a higher risk of LARC recurrence (Gordon et al., 2006). Another angiogenesis-related marker, the rs2010963 variant, located in the 5'UTR of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGFA) gene and predictive of the protein serum level, was suggested to influence the probability to get a complete pathological response (Dreussi et al., 2016a). The missense variant rs351855 (Gly388Arg) in the gene encoding for fibroblast growth factor receptor 4 (FGFR4), a receptor tyrosine kinases involved in several cellular activities as angiogenesis, cell motility and inflammation, was also reported to contribute in determining the recurrence risk after radiotherapy by interacting with other genetic variants as IL-8rs4073, intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1)-rs5498, and TGFB1-rs1800470 (Gordon et al., 2006). Among these markers, rs5498 is a missense variation (Glu469Lys) of ICAM-1, a cell adhesion molecule involved in the cell-to-cell interactions, another biological action under the control of the tumor microenvironment that deserves to be further investigated in the context of nCRT response in LARC.

Genetic polymorphisms in NFKB1, a key transcriptional factor for the activation of the inflammatory signaling cascades, has been also investigated. The NFKB1 rs28362491-DEL allele, alone or in haplotype combination, was reported to be predictive of an increased rate of pathological complete response. An association trend was also observed between the rs28362491-DEL allele and a longer DFS and OS (Dzhugashvili et al., 2014). This preliminary finding suggests how an altered triggering of the inflammatory response could be related to the resistance to treatment. TGFB1-rs1800470 and prostaglandinendoperoxide synthase 2 (PTGS2)-rs20417 are other inflammatory-related genetic markers that have been suggested to contribute in determining the response to chemoradiation treatment in term of recurrence rate (Dreussi et al., 2016a). IL-13 is involved in the modulation of the immune system and the tumor immunosurveillance, which polymorphisms were related to the outcome of LARC patients treated with nCRT. The Tallele of the rs1800925 variant, located in the promoter region of IL13, was shown to be associated with a poorer response to nCRT

in a cohort of Caucasian LARC patients (Ho-Pun-Cheung et al., 2011). The polymorphic T-allele was described to increase the transcription of *IL-13* that is involved in a down-regulation of tumor immunosurveillance. This is in line with the hypothesis that an impaired chemoradiation-induced tumor immunosurveillance could decrease the efficacy of the chemoradiotherapy. However, the impact of rs1800925 variant on response to radiation therapy was not confirmed in another investigation performed in a cohort of patients with LARC of Chinese ethnicity (Xiao et al., 2016). Since the genotype frequency of rs1800925 varies significantly by ethnicity, further studies are required to better clarify the predictive value of this marker in the different ethnic groups.

Our group recently produced promising data for some polymorphisms (i.e., 3'UTR rs641701, 5' UTR rs9463772) in the IL-17F encoding gene. IL-17 is an effector of the immune system that displays anti-tumor proprieties by acting on tumor angiogenesis and by improving the host inflammatory response against neoplastic cells. IL-17F rs641701-C and rs9463772-A alleles were associated with a poor prognosis in term of higher risk of disease recurrence after surgery, of distant failure of the treatment, and of death (Cecchin et al., 2020). Within a subgroup analysis, the two polymorphisms seemed to identify subcohorts of patients with a poorer long-term prognosis within homogeneous TRG strata, making them suitable to be integrated with already available prognostic clinical parameters. A hypoxic microenvironment represents another factor that was suggested to cause both a deficiency in DNA repair and a genetic instability.

The hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ , encoded by HIF1A) is an important mediator of hypoxiainduced radio-resistance. The association between hypoxiarelated markers (i.e., HIF1A rs11549465, rs11549467, and rs2057482 polymorphism) and response to nCRT was analyzed but no significant association were highlighted (Havelund et al., 2012).

Germline variants impacting the activity of microRNAs, with a potential epigenetic control on the overall cellular gene expression pattern were also investigated. A single variation affecting the microRNAs activity could have a downstream down-regulation effect on a large number of genes, including those involved in crucial pathways for the response to radiotherapy as DNA repair, angiogenesis, and inflammation (Dreussi et al., 2012). The work of Dreussi et al., (2016b) evaluated a set of miRNA-related TagSNPs, potentially affecting miRNA maturation and activity, in a cohort of 270 Caucasian patients with LARC stratified in two subgroup according to the radiation dose (50.4Gy or 55.0Gy). SMAD family member 3 (SMAD3)-rs744910, SMAD3-rs745103, and trans-activation-responsive RNA-binding protein (TRBP)rs6088619 were associated to an increased chance of pCR, while double-stranded RNA-specific endoribonuclease (DROSHA)-rs10719 and SMAD3-rs17228212 had an opposite detrimental effect on pathological tumour response. A classification and regression tree analysis highlighted that specific combination of SMAD3-rs744910 and TRBP-rs6088619

genotypes together with clinical features (i.e., longer interval time between the end of radiotherapy and surgery) increases the chance of pCR. The finding of three independent variants (i.e., located in different haploblocks) in *SMAD3* provides a strong support for the involvement of this protein in the response to chemoradiotherapy. Another study (Sclafani et al., 2016) focused instead on a specific polymorphism, the rs4919510 C to G substitution that affects the mature microRNA 608 previously associated with response to treatment in patients with CRC. Within a retrospective analysis of the EXPERT-C phase II trial, the rs4919510-CC genotype was associated with worse 5 years PFS and OS after neo-adjuvant CAPOX followed by capecitabine-based chemoradiotherapy. The polymorphism probably impacts the interaction between miR-608 and its target mRNAs in a tissue-specific manner.

Most of the pharmacogenomic studies that investigated the response to nCRT in LARC have adopted a candidate gene or a pathway-based approach. Alternatively, two works opted for an unbiased strategy, performing a genome-wide analysis including thousands of polymorphisms. The study of Kim and colleagues (Kim et al., 2013), including 113 Korean patients with LARC receiving FP-based CRT, implemented a 3-step genome-wide strategy, based on genome-wide screening, clinical association, and biological validation of predictive polymorphisms. At the end, two novel markers were identified as potential predictors of response to treatment, coronin 2A (CORO2A) rs1985859 and refilin A (FAM101A) rs7955740. The reference CORO2A rs1985859-C allele was associated with higher rate of positive response. Moreover, an in vitro assay highlighted that the downregulation of CORO2A, linked to the variant rs1985859-T allele, was associated with reduced early apoptosis, increased cell survival or viability, and lower radiosensitivity. Even if FAM101A rs7955740 was not related with therapy outcome in the clinical association study, its downregulation, linked to the minor G-allele, was associated with a reduced early apoptosis and lower radiosensitivity similarly to CORO2A rs1985859. Another study (Lee et al., 2018), including a similar cohort of Korean patients with LARC and adopting a discovery/validation design, performed a whole-exome sequencing analysis identifying some further potential novel markers. Overall, five candidate variants emerged, Bcl-2-like protein 10 (BCL2L10) rs2231292, DLC1 Rho GTPase activating protein (DLC1) rs3816748, dynein axonemal heavy chain 14 (DNAH14) rs3105571, inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitor heavy chain 5 (ITIH5) rs3824658, and retinoic acid early transcript 1L (RAET1L) rs912565. Particularly, DLC1-rs3816748-C allele, DNAH14 rs3105571-C allele, and RAET1 rs912565-TT genotypes were associated with a higher rate of pCR according to a dominant model, while BCL2L10 rs2231292-CC genotype and ITIH5 rs3824658-T allele according to recessive model. In the codominant model, four candidate variants (all except BCL2L10 rs2231292) were significantly correlated with pCR. The identified polymorphisms potentially impact the functionality of the encoded proteins that are involved in crucial biological pathway as tumor suppression, transport along microtubules, and regulation of cell apoptosis, extracellular matrix stability,

tumor invasion and metastasis. The markers of radiosensitivity emerged from genome-wide analyses, could represents an interesting candidate that require to be validated by larger independent studies.

### SOMATIC PHARMACOGENOMIC PROFILE

Several studies investigated the potential predictive role of some somatic mutations in patients with LARC treated with a nCRT but their predictive/prognostic value in this setting remains uncertain. The most studied candidate genes are those belonging to PI3K cancer-related pathway, and *KRAS* in particular, due to its primary role in colorectal cancer. KRAS plays a major role in two tumor-related cellular pathways, mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and PI3K/AKT, by regulating their activation in response to cellular stimuli. Mutant forms of KRAS can cause a stable activation of those cellular pathways conferring a more aggressive tumor phenotype and resistance to anti-EGFR agents as cetuximab or panitumumab.

To this regard a meta-analysis published in 2013, analyzing the results of seven studies published between 2010 and 2012, concluded that somatic mutations in *KRAS* were neither predictive nor prognostic pharmacogenomic markers in LARC patients treated with nCRT (Clancy et al., 2013). Going deeply in the aforementioned studies, we could notice that just two of them included more than 100 patients, that the pharmacological treatments received were quite heterogeneous with three out of seven studies including cetuximab as a co-treatment, and that the frequency of *KRAS* mutation was lower than expected, probably due to the use of low sensitivity genotyping techniques. The last observation could be related to the sequencing method used (Sanger direct sequencing approach), sometimes focused only on hot-spot regions.

A number of studies have been conducted and published afterwards providing some more convincing evidence of an actual role of somatic mutations in KRAS and other related genes [NRAS proto-oncogene, GTPase (NRAS), B-Raf protooncogene, serine/threonine kinase (BRAF), and PIK3CA] in the identification of low responder/bad prognosis patients. Most recent studies are characterized by the use of more sensitive DNA sequencing/genotyping approaches that led to the identification of a higher rate of tumors with mutation in KRAS, with an average frequency of about 40% of patients carrying at least one somatic mutation. Moreover, larger studies including a higher number of patients and combining the KRAS genetic information with other relevant genetic alterations in the same pathway or in tumor protein p53 (TP53) gene, allowed to provide a better idea of the actual predictive/prognostic role of somatic pharmacogenomics in LARC.

In 2013 a study by Duldulao and colleagues (Duldulao et al., 2013b) reported the results of a prospective multicenter clinical trial investigating the effect of increasing the nCRT-to-surgery time interval and adding chemotherapy during the waiting period (ClinicalTrials.org Identifier: NCT00335816). In a group

of 148 stage II-III rectal cancer patients undergoing *KRAS* and *TP53* genotyping on pretreatment tumor biopsies, they demonstrated that patients with *KRAS* mutated tumors had a decreased chance to get a pathological complete response compared to wildtype *KRAS* tumors, and specifically, no tumor with a KRAS mutation in codon 13 had a complete response.

The following year, another group (Abdul-Jalil et al., 2014) performed the genotyping of 234 potentially clinically relevant nonsynonymous mutations in 33 PI3K and MAPK pathway-related genes, including *PIK3CA*, *PIK3R1* (encoding phosphoinositide-3-kinase regulatory subunit 1), *AKT*, *STK11* (encoding serine/threonine kinase 11), *KRAS*, *BRAF*, *MEK* (encoding mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase), *CTNNB1* (encoding catenin beta 1), EGFR, MET (encoding MET proto-oncogene, receptor tyrosine kinase), and NRAS, using the Sequenom platform on pretreatment LARC biopsy samples from 201 patients with LARC treated with nCRT. Patients without mutations in PI3K pathway-related genes, thus including RAS/RAF, were more likely to have pCR after nCRT. The same association was not observed for mutations in MAPK pathway-related genes.

In 2016, Chow and colleagues (Chow et al., 2016) published the results of a retrospective analysis performed on 229 pretreatment biopsies from patients with stage II/III rectal cancer receiving FOLFOX (i.e., folinic acid, fluorouracil, and oxaliplatin) treatment either before or after nCRT, but prior to surgical excision. Tumor DNA samples were sequenced to highlight the presence of either *TP53* or *KRAS* mutations. It was demonstrated that 34% of patients with a *KRAS* wild-type tumors had a pCR in comparison to 15% of *KRAS* mutated tumors (p=0.001). When specifically focusing on *KRAS* Gly12Val or Gly13Asp mutations, the percentage of complete responders lowered to 7%. When considering the combination of mutations in both *KRAS* and *TP53* in the same tumor, the risk of lymph node metastasis was also increased.

More recently a comprehensive and well conducted study was published by Sclafani et al. (2020) reporting on 210 patients with LARC treated with neoadjuvant CAPOX (i.e., capecitabine and oxaliplatin) followed by capecitabine-based chemoradiotherapy with or without cetuximab based on a prospective clinical trial (PAN-EX study). The mutational status of KRAS, NRAS, BRAF, PIK3CA, and TP53 was assessed on the pre-treatment biopsy. The presence of TP53 mutations was a risk factor for extramural venous invasion, poor pathological response and 5-year PFS. Even if similar validated data are not up to date available for LARC, very promising results have been published about the role of the same molecular markers, and specifically of somatic mutation in KRAS and TP53, as predictors of tumor response and prognosis. Tumors simultaneously carrying a mutation in TP53 and either KRAS or NRAS, had a worse prognosis than those with a TP53/KRAS/NRAS wild genotype. This study suggests how integrating different molecular markers could better refine the predictive/prognostic value of specific pharmacogenomic features of patients with LARC. Other examples of such an approach can be found in the study by Kamran et al., (2019) that in a small set of well-studied LARC, treated with nCRT demonstrated that concurrent KRAS/TP53 mutations were associated with a non-responder tumor phenotype and were enriched for an epithelial-mesenchymal transition transcriptional profile.

Another small study by Krajnovic and colleagues (Krajnovic et al., 2016) investigated the mutational status of KRAS gene in the pre-treatment biopsies of 63 patients with LARC. The genetic information was integrated with the immunohistochemical analysis of VEGF and Ki67. Even if KRAS mutation status by itself was not predictive of any clinical outcome evaluated, including pathological response, a simultaneous high VEGF expression was related to worse response to nCRT, higher risk of local recurrences and distant metastasis, and shorter OS. The predictive effect of the combination of somatic mutations in BRAF and SMAD family member (SMAD4) was investigated by Jiang and colleagues in 2019 (Jiang et al., 2019) in 74 patients with LARC treated with a FP-based induction chemotherapy followed by nCRT. It was demonstrated that BRAF and SMAD4 were more frequently mutated among non-responder patients, and that the mutations were negative prognostic factors.

Interestingly some studies reported, as previously observed for colorectal cancer, a specific role of different KRAS somatic mutations, suggesting that a different contribute to tumor aggressiveness and treatment sensitivity could derive from different alterations in the KRAS protein structure. The previously mentioned study by Abdul-Jalil et al. (2014) reported that in patients not achieving a pCR, only mutations in codon 12 (Gly12Asp/Gly12 Val/Gly12Ser) and codon 13 mutations in KRAS were associated with poor recurrence-free survival. Gaedke and colleagues (Gaedcke et al., 2010) demonstrated that in 94 patients with LARC, tumors bearing a Gly12Val mutation were related to significantly higher rates of tumor regression than those with a Gly13Asp mutation, despite the overall presence of KRAS mutations did not correlate with tumor response and patient's outcome after preoperative chemoradiotherapy. In the previously mentioned study by Krajnovic et al. (2016) patients with a Gly12Ala mutation in KRAS had a significantly improved tumor response to CRT than those with any other type of KRAS mutation. Despite the heterogeneity of these results, probably driven also by the low numerosity of patients in each subgroup, it appears evident that not all mutations have the same value when considering the impact on the tumor phenotype and specific studies should be performed in order to assess the predictive/prognostic value of each mutation.

Most recent studies highlighted that in the oncological setting the immune system could play a pivotal role also in the tumor response to nCRT in patients with LARC. In one of the above mentioned study, published in 2019 by Kamran and colleagues (Kamran et al., 2019), 34 pre- and post-nCRT-matched tumor samples from 17 patients with LARC who received FP-based nCRT, followed by surgical resection, were analyzed. The authors demonstrated that the non-responder phenotype was associated with reduced CD4/CD8 T-cell tumor infiltrates and with a post-CRT M2 macrophage phenotype. These results highlighted how local tumor immune escape together with specific genomic features can contribute to the efficacy of chemoradiotherapy in the control of distant disease progression, paving the way to new therapeutic approaches and a new generation of predictive/ prognostic markers in the neo-adjuvant treatment of LARC.

## CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Important refinements to the patients' stratification based on clinical, pathological and radiological parameters have been reached. Recently, the advanced analysis of medical images and their correlation with patient's outcome, using machine learning techniques (radiomics) were demonstrated to be helpful in predicting tumor response to pCRT in LARC (Dinapoli et al., 2018; Pirrone et al., 2019). Still significant inter-individual differences in patient's outcome, not captured by currently employed risk algorithms solely based on patients clinicopathological risk features are observed. Despite extensive research programs developed with the aim of identifying new criteria to adapt neo-adjuvant treatment programs based on the patient's molecular profiles, still too little is known about the predictive/prognostic effect of germline and somatic pharmacogenomic variants.

Considering that FP represent the backbone of each nCRT regimen in LARC, the most relevant drug-gene interaction that should be considered when planning a treatment is related to the study of DPYD polymorphisms in the context of increasing treatment safety. The clinical impact of testing the four polymorphisms panel (DPYD\*2A, DPYD\*13, c.2846A > T, and c.1236G > A-HapB3) on reducing the risk to develop severe toxicity and the costs associated to the treatment of the adverse events has been fully elucidated. The test still struggles to be integrated in the routine clinical practice of oncological treatments. However, the available pharmacogenetic guidelines on DPYD testing have been recently endorsed by some international regulatory agencies, as European Medicines Agency, that recently recommended to perform the test prior a FP administration. This will probably represent the ultimate step towards the clinical implementation of this life-saving analysis in the clinical management of LARC and of many other human malignancies.

In the context of FP treatment, other gene-drug interactions have been studied with the aim to improve treatment efficacy, by the analysis of polymorphisms in TYMS and MTHFR. The identification of germline genetic markers predictive of tumor response or prognosis is in general more difficult to be accomplished due to the complexity of the tumor response phenotype and to the contribution of the tumor genome that could significantly differ from the germline. A pivotal role of the TYMS polymorphism in the gene promoter region (TSER, rs34743033) has been reported by several studies, demonstrating that alleles associated with an increased target protein expression seems to lower the efficacy of a FP based treatment. The interventional phase II study based on those evidences demonstrated that the TSER polymorphism may be used as a baseline selection criterion in LARC patients to personalize nCRT by chemotherapy intensification in patients

with a high TYMS expressing tumors. The study published in 2011 was not followed by further similar experiences at our knowledge. The validation of the prospective use of TSER, possibly in combination with other more recently developed predictive markers could represent a further step towards a personalization of LARC multimodality treatment. As far as *MTHFR* is concerned, several studies were concordant in assessing a detrimental role of the rs1801133 polymorphism on patients with LARC tumor response and survival and further effort should be made to test its effect in prospective interventional studies in order to eventually define its clinical applicability.

More exploratory data are available on other cellular pathways that demonstrated a primary role in the clinical outcome of patients undergoing chemoradio combination treatments as DNA repair and inflammation. Those pathways, that control the repair of radiation generated damage and the consequent activation of the inflammatory cascade, represent an important source of inter-individual variability in the outcome of nCRT. Most consistent data are related to the role of polymorphisms in TGF- $\beta$  (particularly rs1800471) on the risk of developing treatment-related toxicity and a differential chance of tumor response. The anti-tumor effect of ionizing radiation is known to be linked not only to a direct damaging effect on tumor cells DNA and to the generation of free oxygen radicals, but also to the priming effect of radiotherapy on the immune system. Administration of nCRT treatment in patients with LARC can significantly modify the tumor tissue immune-profile and stimulate the release of cancer derived neo-antigens, resulting in the so-called "immunogenic cell death". The effect of radiotherapy on the activation of an immunogenic cytotoxic effect is mediated by a complex network of cytokines and chemokines that are released in the tumor microenvironment attracting dendritic cells. By reviewing literature, it appeared that genetic polymorphisms in those immune mediators can affect the risk of toxicity, tumor response and patients prognosis. Genetic polymorphisms in DNA repair genes as XRCC1, ERCC1, and RAD51 have been studied for a long time as potential germline markers of radio sensitivity. Nonetheless, even if an overall effect of these genes is likely, no candidate markers with a promising application in the patients with LARC treatment scheduling is currently identifiable.

Globally, the results of available pharmacogenetic studies on germ-line predictive markers in patients with LARC published over the past 10-years have produced findings that in the majority of the cases did not allow a translation in the clinical practice, suggesting that a critical revision of research strategies is required. The impossibility to demonstrate a strong clinical validity of the investigated markers was in most cases the primary reason that preventing them to be transferred to the clinical practice. The high heterogeneity among published studies and the low number of patients included surely account for part of the difficulty to compare data and find reliable markers of clinical utility. Future investigations aimed at discover solid predictors of radio sensitivity should be performed on larger cohorts of patients homogeneous for ethnicity and treatment modalities, including dosages, schedules and formulations used for radiotherapy and drugs administration (e.g., total radiation and FP dose; administration of 5-FU or capecitabine that presents different radio-sensitizing activity; other co-administered chemotherapeutics, as platinum derivates, irinotecan, cetuximab; time frames between preoperative therapy end and surgery). Standardization of the clinical monitoring strategies, clinical end-point assessment (i.e., clinical endpoints and methods to evaluate and score tumor response), as well as genotyping methods are additional aspects to be standardized (Di Francia et al., 2010).

The effect of the somatic pharmacogenomic profile was extensively investigated in advanced colorectal cancer and in stage II-III colon cancer, and the clinical significance of mutations in cancer-related genes such as BRAF, KRAS, NRAS, and TP53 is widely acknowledged. The analysis of the mutational status of RAS/RAF genes represents a mandatory test in the metastatic colorectal cancer to assess tumor sensitivity to anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies. Even if similar validated data are not currently available for LARC, very promising results were published about the role of the same molecular markers, and specifically of somatic mutation in KRAS and TP53, as predictors of tumor response and prognosis. The somatic pharmacogenomic profile of the tumor represents a useful piece of information in the oncologist toolbox that can be helpful in the outline of the most appropriate therapeutic approach also in this clinical context.

Indeed, the tumor genomic landscape is not stable and the disease evolution, as well as the selective pressure of the radio and chemotherapy can modify its characteristics. In this context a dynamic monitoring of the somatic genomic profile could anticipate the occurrence of tumor pharmaco-resistant or more aggressive clones overcoming. The discovery of the presence of circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) in patients' blood and the possibility to analyze it through digital next-generation sequencing technologies led to important advances in the field. Several studies currently demonstrated a good correlation between the information derived from tumor tissue DNA sequencing and circulating tumor DNA (Coombes et al., 2019; Mezzalira et al., 2019; Siravegna et al., 2019; Dalle Fratte et al., 2020) paving the way to the use of ctDNA as a new candidate biomarker to be used either as a diagnostic or as a predictive/ prognostic tool in cancer.

A number of researchers investigated the role of ctDNA as a biomarker of the therapeutic outcome in LARC and the results were recently reviewed by Massinhia and colleagues (Massihnia et al., 2019). Particularly a study by Tie et al. (2019) analyzed in a large group of 159 patients with LARC by sequencing cell free DNA in serial plasma samples at the time of diagnosis, after nCRT and after surgery demonstrating that the tumor DNA fraction level in plasma was significantly related to the risk of treatment failure. Most recently Khakoo et al., (2020) demonstrated how an integrated approach integrating standard clinical monitoring of tumor response with information deriving from the study of ctDNA in plasma can better identify patients at risk of developing metastases after surgery. This tool could represent an easily translatable test in the clinical practice helping the selection of patients for more conservative surgical approaches or less invasive therapeutic options after surgery.

In conclusion, despite the advancements in the field of personalized medicine and availability of treatments based on specific molecular targets, still the great molecular heterogeneity among patients and tumors represents a barrier to reach the final goal of a precision medicine in oncology. Different predictive methods have been explored, but none of these has showed enough accuracy to be used in the clinical setting. This is likely due to the high level of heterogeneity of the disease that considers complex interaction of genetic, molecular, and physiological features. The application of germline and somatic pharmacogenomics in the context of nCRT in LARC has provided up to date few validated markers as DPYD polymorphisms for preventing toxicity and TYMS-TSER or KRAS somatic variants to identify poor responders to treatment. A number of additional germline and somatic markers are under investigation and have already demonstrated encouraging clinical evidence of predictive and prognostic value and are likely to get in the future a clinical application. To identify in advance the toxicity and efficacy outcome to nCRT is an "unmet clinical need" in LARC to avoid under- or over-treatment. This would result into an optimal treatment approach, increasing treatment efficacy, minimizing surgery-related morbidity, avoiding unnecessary side-effects, improving quality of life, and reducing healthcare costs.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EM performed the literature review and analysis and contributed to writing the manuscript. RR contributed to writing the manuscript and elaborated the tables. EP contributed to writing the manuscript. GT edited the manuscript. EC conceptualized and contributed to writing the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program (grant agreement no. 668353) (Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics- UPGx).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Sara Colò for her writing assistance.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020. 00897/full#supplementary-material

## REFERENCES

- Abdul-Jalil, K. I., Sheehan, K. M., Toomey, S., Schmid, J., Prehn, J., O'grady, A., et al. (2014). The frequencies and clinical implications of mutations in 33 kinase-related genes in locally advanced rectal cancer: a pilot study. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 21, 2642–2649. doi: 10.1245/s10434-014-3658-x
- Agostini, M., Crotti, S., Bedin, C., Cecchin, E., Maretto, I., D'angelo, E., et al. (2014). Predictive response biomarkers in rectal cancer neoadjuvant treatment. *Front. Biosci. (Schol. Ed.)* 6, 110–119. doi: 10.2741/s418
- Amstutz, U., Henricks, L. M., Offer, S. M., Barbarino, J., Schellens, J. H. M., Swen, J. J., et al. (2018). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) Guideline for Dihydropyrimidine Dehydrogenase Genotype and Fluoropyrimidine Dosing: 2017 Update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 103, 210– 216. doi: 10.1002/cpt.911
- Arrazubi, V., Suarez, J., Guerrero, D., Gomez, M., Viudez, A., Arias, F., et al. (2013). Prognostic significance of thymidylate synthase polymorphisms in rectal cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. *Colorectal Dis.* 15, 428–435. doi: 10.1111/codi.12009
- Balboa, E., Duran, G., Lamas, M. J., Gomez-Caamano, A., Celeiro-Munoz, C., Lopez, R., et al. (2010). Pharmacogenetic analysis in neoadjuvant chemoradiation for rectal cancer: high incidence of somatic mutations and their relation with response. *Pharmacogenomics* 11, 747–761. doi: 10.2217/pgs.10.51
- Bitterman, D. S., Resende Salgado, L., Moore, H. G., Sanfilippo, N. J., Gu, P., Hatzaras, I., et al. (2015). Predictors of Complete Response and Disease Recurrence Following Chemoradiation for Rectal Cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 5, 286. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00286
- Boige, V., Vincent, M., Alexandre, P., Tejpar, S., Landolfi, S., Le Malicot, K., et al. (2016). DPYD Genotyping to Predict Adverse Events Following Treatment With Fluorouracil-Based Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Patients With Stage III Colon Cancer: A Secondary Analysis of the PETACC-8 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Oncol. 2, 655–662. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.5392
- Boige, V., Mollevi, C., Gourgou, S., Azria, D., Seitz, J. F., Vincent, M., et al. (2019). Impact of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in DNA repair pathway genes on response to chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer patients: Results from ACCORD-12/PRODIGE-2 phase III trial. *Int. J. Cancer* 145, 3163–3172. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32417
- Burbach, J. P., Den Harder, A. M., Intven, M., Van Vulpen, M., Verkooijen, H. M., and Reerink, O. (2014). Impact of radiotherapy boost on pathological complete response in patients with locally advanced rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Radiother. Oncol.* 113, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.radonc.2014.08.035
- Caudle, K. E., Dunnenberger, H. M., Freimuth, R. R., Peterson, J. F., Burlison, J. D., Whirl-Carrillo, M., et al. (2017). Standardizing terms for clinical pharmacogenetic test results: consensus terms from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC). *Genet. Med.* 19, 215–223. doi: 10.1038/gim.2016.87
- Cecchin, E., Agostini, M., Pucciarelli, S., De Paoli, A., Canzonieri, V., Sigon, R., et al. (2011). Tumor response is predicted by patient genetic profile in rectal cancer patients treated with neo-adjuvant chemo-radiotherapy. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 11, 214–226. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2010.25
- Cecchin, E., Roncato, R., Guchelaar, H. J., Toffoli, G.Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics, C (2017). Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics (U-PGx): The Time for Implementation is Now. An Horizon2020 Program to Drive Pharmacogenomics into Clinical Practice. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 18, 204– 209. doi: 10.2174/1389201018666170103103619
- Cecchin, E., De Mattia, E., Ecca, F., and Toffoli, G. (2018). Host genetic profiling to increase drug safety in colorectal cancer from discovery to implementation. *Drug Resist. Update* 39, 18–40. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2018.07.001
- Cecchin, E., De Mattia, E., Dreussi, E., Montico, M., Palazzari, E., Navarria, F., et al. (2020). Immunogenetic markers in IL17F predict the risk of metastases spread and overall survival in rectal cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy. *Radiother. Oncol.* 149, 30–37. doi: 10.1016/ j.radonc.2020.04.055
- Cecchin, E., Roncato, R., Guchelaar, H. J., and Toffoli, G. C. (2017). Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics (U-PGx): TheTime for Implementation is Now. An Horizon2020 Program to DrivePharmacogenomics into Clinical Practice. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 18, 204–209. doi: 10.2174/1389201018666170103103619

- Chow, O. S., Kuk, D., Keskin, M., Smith, J. J., Camacho, N., Pelossof, R., et al. (2016). KRAS and Combined KRAS/TP53 Mutations in Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer are Independently Associated with Decreased Response to Neoadjuvant Therapy. Ann. Surg. Oncol. 23, 2548–2555. doi: 10.1245/ s10434-016-5205-4
- Clancy, C., Burke, J. P., and Coffey, J. C. (2013). KRAS mutation does not predict the efficacy of neo-adjuvant chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Surg. Oncol.* 22, 105–111. doi: 10.1016/ j.suronc.2013.02.001
- Coombes, R. C., Page, K., Salari, R., Hastings, R. K., Armstrong, A., Ahmed, S., et al. (2019). Personalized Detection of Circulating Tumor DNA Antedates Breast Cancer Metastatic Recurrence. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 25, 4255–4263. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3663
- Dalle Fratte, C., Polesel, J., Roncato, R., De Mattia, E., Ecca, F., Bignucolo, A., et al. (2018). DPYD Gene Activity Score Predicts Dose-Limiting Toxicity in Fluoropyrimidine-Treated Colorectal Cancer Patients. J. Mol. Clin. Med. 1, 143–149. doi: 10.31083/j.jmcm.2018.03.003
- Dalle Fratte, C., Guardascione, M., De Mattia, E., Borsatti, E., Boschetto, R., Farruggio, A., et al. (2020). Clonal Selection of a Novel Deleterious TP53 Somatic Mutation Discovered in ctDNA of a KIT/PDGFRA Wild-Type Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumor Resistant to Imatinib. *Front. Pharmacol.* 11, 36. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00036
- De Mattia, E., and Toffoli, G. (2009). C677T and A1298C MTHFR polymorphisms, a challenge for antifolate and fluoropyrimidine-based therapy personalisation. *Eur. J. Cancer* 45, 1333–1351. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.12.004
- De Mattia, E., Cecchin, E., and Toffoli, G. (2015). Pharmacogenomics of intrinsic and acquired pharmacoresistance in colorectal cancer: Toward targeted personalized therapy. *Drug Resist. Update* 20, 39–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.drup.2015.05.003
- De Mattia, E., Cecchin, E., Montico, M., Labriet, A., Guillemette, C., Dreussi, E., et al. (2018a). Association of STAT-3 rs1053004 and VDR rs11574077 With FOLFIRI-Related Gastrointestinal Toxicity in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9, 367. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00367
- De Mattia, E., Dreussi, E., Montico, M., Gagno, S., Zanusso, C., Quartuccio, L., et al. (2018b). A Clinical-Genetic Score to Identify Surgically Resected Colorectal Cancer Patients Benefiting From an Adjuvant Fluoropyrimidine-Based Therapy. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9, 1101. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.01101
- De Mattia, E., Polesel, J., Roncato, R., Labriet, A., Bignucolo, A., Dreussi, E., et al. (2019). Germline Polymorphisms in the Nuclear Receptors PXR and VDR as Novel Prognostic Markers in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients Treated With FOLFIRI. *Front. Oncol.* 9, 1312. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01312
- De Re, V., Cannizzaro, R., Canzonieri, V., Cecchin, E., Caggiari, L., De Mattia, E., et al. (2010). MTHFR polymorphisms in gastric cancer and in first-degree relatives of patients with gastric cancer. *Tumour Biol.* 31, 23–32. doi: 10.1007/s13277-009-0004-1
- Deenen, M. J., Tol, J., Burylo, A. M., Doodeman, V. D., De Boer, A., Vincent, A., et al. (2011). Relationship between single nucleotide polymorphisms and haplotypes in DPYD and toxicity and efficacy of capecitabine in advanced colorectal cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 3455–3468. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2209
- Deenen, M. J., Meulendijks, D., Cats, A., Sechterberger, M. K., Severens, J. L., Boot, H., et al. (2016). Upfront Genotyping of DPYD\*2A to Individualize Fluoropyrimidine Therapy: A Safety and Cost Analysis. J. Clin. Oncol. 34, 227–234. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.63.1325
- Di Francia, R., Frigeri, F., Berretta, M., Cecchin, E., Orlando, C., Pinto, A., et al. (2010). Decision criteria for rational selection of homogeneous genotyping platforms for pharmacogenomics testing in clinical diagnostics. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 48, 447–459. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.2010.112
- Dinapoli, N., Barbaro, B., Gatta, R., Chiloiro, G., Casa, C., Masciocchi, C., et al. (2018). Magnetic Resonance, Vendor-independent, Intensity Histogram Analysis Predicting Pathologic Complete Response After Radiochemotherapy of Rectal Cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 102, 765–774. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijrobp.2018.04.065
- Dong, L., Cui, J., Tang, F., Cong, X., and Han, F. (2015). Ataxia telangiectasiamutated gene polymorphisms and acute normal tissue injuries in cancer patients after radiation therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 91, 1090–1098. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.12.041

- Dreussi, E., Biason, P., Toffoli, G., and Cecchin, E. (2012). miRNA pharmacogenomics: the new frontier for personalized medicine in cancer? *Pharmacogenomics* 13, 1635–1650. doi: 10.2217/pgs.12.147
- Dreussi, E., Cecchin, E., Polesel, J., Canzonieri, V., Agostini, M., Boso, C., et al. (2016a). Pharmacogenetics Biomarkers and Their Specific Role in Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy Treatments: An Exploratory Study on Rectal Cancer Patients. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 17, 1428. doi: 10.3390/ijms17091482
- Dreussi, E., Pucciarelli, S., De Paoli, A., Polesel, J., Canzonieri, V., Agostini, M., et al. (2016b). Predictive role of microRNA-related genetic polymorphisms in the pathological complete response to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer patients. *Oncotarget* 7, 19781–19793. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7757
- Duldulao, M. P., Lee, W., Nelson, R. A., Ho, J., Le, M., Chen, Z., et al. (2013a). Gene polymorphisms predict toxicity to neoadjuvant therapy in patients with rectal cancer. *Cancer* 119, 1106–1112. doi: 10.1002/cncr.27862
- Duldulao, M. P., Lee, W., Nelson, R. A., Li, W., Chen, Z., Kim, J., et al. (2013b). Mutations in specific codons of the KRAS oncogene are associated with variable resistance to neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy in patients with rectal adenocarcinoma. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 20, 2166–2171. doi: 10.1245/s10434-013-2910-0
- Dzhugashvili, M., Luengo-Gil, G., Garcia, T., Gonzalez-Conejero, R., Conesa-Zamora, P., Escolar, P. P., et al. (2014). Role of genetic polymorphisms in NFKB-mediated inflammatory pathways in response to primary chemoradiation therapy for rectal cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 90, 595–602. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2014.06.060
- Etienne, M. C., Lagrange, J. L., Dassonville, O., Fleming, R., Thyss, A., Renee, N., et al. (1994). Population study of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase in cancer patients. J. Clin. Oncol. 12, 2248–2253. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1994.12.11.2248
- Fragoulakis, V., Roncato, R., Fratte, C. D., Ecca, F., Bartsakoulia, M., Innocenti, F., et al. (2019). Estimating the Effectiveness of DPYD Genotyping in Italian Individuals Suffering from Cancer Based on the Cost of Chemotherapy-Induced Toxicity. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 104, 1158–1168. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajhg.2019.04.017
- Funke, S., Risch, A., Nieters, A., Hoffmeister, M., Stegmaier, C., Seiler, C. M., et al. (2009). Genetic Polymorphisms in Genes Related to Oxidative Stress (GSTP1, GSTM1, GSTT1, CAT, MnSOD, MPO, eNOS) and Survival of Rectal Cancer Patients after Radiotherapy. J. Cancer Epidemiol. 2009, 302047. doi: 10.1155/ 2009/302047
- Gaedcke, J., Grade, M., Jung, K., Schirmer, M., Jo, P., Obermeyer, C., et al. (2010). KRAS and BRAF mutations in patients with rectal cancer treated with preoperative chemoradiotherapy. *Radiother. Oncol.* 94, 76–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.radonc.2009.10.001
- Garcia-Aguilar, J., Chen, Z., Smith, D. D., Li, W., Madoff, R. D., Cataldo, P., et al. (2011). Identification of a biomarker profile associated with resistance to neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy in rectal cancer. *Ann. Surg.* 254, 486– 492; discussion 492-483. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e31822b8cfa
- Garziera, M., Bidoli, E., Cecchin, E., Mini, E., Nobili, S., Lonardi, S., et al. (2015). HLA-G 3'UTR Polymorphisms Impact the Prognosis of Stage II-III CRC Patients in Fluoropyrimidine-Based Treatment. *PloS One* 10, e0144000. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144000
- Garziera, M., Virdone, S., De Mattia, E., Scarabel, L., Cecchin, E., Polesel, J., et al. (2017). HLA-G 3'UTR Polymorphisms Predict Drug-Induced G3-4 Toxicity Related to Folinic Acid/5-Fluorouracil/Oxaliplatin (FOLFOX4) Chemotherapy in Non-Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18, 1366. doi: 10.3390/ ijms18071366
- Gasinska, A., Biesaga, B., Widla, A. J., and Darasz, Z. (2019). Positive effect of single nucleotide RAD51 135G>C polymorphism and low Ku70 protein expression on female rectal cancer patients survival after preoperative radiotherapy. *Turk J. Gastroenterol.* 30, 3–14. doi: 10.5152/tjg.2018.17486
- Gordon, M. A., Gil, J., Lu, B., Zhang, W., Yang, D., Yun, J., et al. (2006). Genomic profiling associated with recurrence in patients with rectal cancer treated with chemoradiation. *Pharmacogenomics* 7, 67–88. doi: 10.2217/14622416.7.1.67
- Gordon, A. S., Tabor, H. K., Johnson, A. D., Snively, B. M., Assimes, T. L., Auer, P. L., et al. (2014). Quantifying rare, deleterious variation in 12 human cytochrome P450 drug-metabolism genes in a large-scale exome dataset. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 1957–1963. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt588
- Grimminger, P. P., Brabender, J., Warnecke-Eberz, U., Narumiya, K., Wandhofer, C., Drebber, U., et al. (2010). XRCC1 gene polymorphism for prediction of

response and prognosis in the multimodality therapy of patients with locally advanced rectal cancer. J. Surg. Res. 164, e61–e66. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2010.08.002

- Guo, C. X., Yang, G. P., Pei, Q., Yin, J. Y., Tan, H. Y., and Yuan, H. (2015). DNA repair gene polymorphisms do not predict response to radiotherapy-based multimodality treatment of patients with rectal cancer: a meta-analysis. *Asian Pac J. Cancer Prev.* 16, 713–718. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2015.16.2.713
- Havelund, B. M., Spindler, K. L., Ploen, J., Andersen, R. F., and Jakobsen, A. (2012). Single nucleotide polymorphisms in the HIF-1alpha gene and chemoradiotherapy of locally advanced rectal cancer. Oncol. Lett. 4, 1056– 1060. doi: 10.3892/ol.2012.837
- Henricks, L. M., Lunenburg, C. A., Meulendijks, D., Gelderblom, H., Cats, A., Swen, J. J., et al. (2015). Translating DPYD genotype into DPD phenotype: using the DPYD gene activity score. *Pharmacogenomics* 16, 1277–1286. doi: 10.2217/pgs.15.70
- Henricks, L. M., Lunenburg, C., De Man, F. M., Meulendijks, D., Frederix, G. W. J., Kienhuis, E., et al. (2018). DPYD genotype-guided dose individualisation of fluoropyrimidine therapy in patients with cancer: a prospective safety analysis. *Lancet Oncol.* 19, 1459–1467. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30686-7
- Henricks, L. M., Lunenburg, C., De Man, F. M., Meulendijks, D., Frederix, G. W. J., Kienhuis, E., et al. (2019). A cost analysis of upfront DPYD genotype-guided dose individualisation in fluoropyrimidine-based anticancer therapy. *Eur. J. Cancer* 107, 60–67. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.11.010
- Ho-Pun-Cheung, A., Assenat, E., Thezenas, S., Bibeau, F., Rouanet, P., Azria, D., et al. (2007). Cyclin D1 gene G870A polymorphism predicts response to neoadjuvant radiotherapy and prognosis in rectal cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 68, 1094–1101. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.01.022
- Ho-Pun-Cheung, A., Assenat, E., Bascoul-Mollevi, C., Bibeau, F., Boissiere-Michot, F., Thezenas, S., et al. (2011). A large-scale candidate gene approach identifies SNPs in SOD2 and IL13 as predictive markers of response to preoperative chemoradiation in rectal cancer. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 11, 437– 443. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2010.62
- Hur, H., Kang, J., Kim, N. K., Min, B. S., Lee, K. Y., Shin, S. J., et al. (2011). Thymidylate synthase gene polymorphism affects the response to preoperative 5-fluorouracil chemoradiation therapy in patients with rectal cancer. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 81, 669–676. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.06.049
- Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Mkrtchian, S., Zhou, Y., and Lauschke, V. M. (2018). Integrating rare genetic variants into pharmacogenetic drug response predictions. *Hum. Genomics* 12, 26. doi: 10.1186/s40246-018-0157-3
- Jiang, D., Wang, X., Wang, Y., Philips, D., Meng, W., Xiong, M., et al. (2019). Mutation in BRAF and SMAD4 associated with resistance to neoadjuvant chemoradiation therapy in locally advanced rectal cancer. *Virchows Arch.* 475, 39–47. doi: 10.1007/s00428-019-02576-y
- Johnston, P. G., Lenz, H. J., Leichman, C. G., Danenberg, K. D., Allegra, C. J., Danenberg, P. V., et al. (1995). Thymidylate synthase gene and protein expression correlate and are associated with response to 5-fluorouracil in human colorectal and gastric tumors. *Cancer Res.* 55, 1407–1412.
- Joye, I., and Haustermans, K. (2014). Early and late toxicity of radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Recent Results Cancer Res.* 203, 189–201. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-08060-4\_13
- Kamran, S. C., Lennerz, J. K., Margolis, C. A., Liu, D., Reardon, B., Wankowicz, S. A., et al. (2019). Integrative Molecular Characterization of Resistance to Neoadjuvant Chemoradiation in Rectal Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 25, 5561– 5571. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0908
- Karban, A. S., Okazaki, T., Panhuysen, C. I., Gallegos, T., Potter, J. J., Bailey-Wilson, J. E., et al. (2004). Functional annotation of a novel NFKB1 promoter polymorphism that increases risk for ulcerative colitis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 13, 35–45. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddh008
- Khakoo, S., Carter, P. D., Brown, G., Valeri, N., Picchia, S., Bali, M. A., et al. (2020). MRI Tumor Regression Grade and Circulating Tumor DNA as Complementary Tools to Assess Response and Guide Therapy Adaptation in Rectal Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 26, 183–192. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-1996
- Kim, D. D., and Eng, C. (2012). The current state of targeted agents in rectal cancer. Int. J. Surg. Oncol. 2012, 406830. doi: 10.1155/2012/406830
- Kim, J. C., Ha, Y. J., Roh, S. A., Cho, D. H., Choi, E. Y., Kim, T. W., et al. (2013). Novel single-nucleotide polymorphism markers predictive of pathologic response to preoperative chemoradiation therapy in rectal cancer patients. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 86, 350–357. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.12.018

- Krajnovic, M., Markovic, B., Knezevic-Usaj, S., Nikolic, I., Stanojevic, M., Nikolic, V., et al. (2016). Locally advanced rectal cancers with simultaneous occurrence of KRAS mutation and high VEGF expression show invasive characteristics. *Pathol. Res. Pract.* 212, 598–603. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.2016.02.018
- Krebs, K., and Milani, L. (2019). Translating pharmacogenomics into clinical decisions: do not let the perfect be the enemy of the good. *Hum. Genomics* 13, 39. doi: 10.1186/s40246-019-0229-z
- Labriet, A., De Mattia, E., Cecchin, E., Levesque, E., Jonker, D., Couture, F., et al. (2017). Improved Progression-Free Survival in Irinotecan-Treated Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Patients Carrying the HNF1A Coding Variant p.127L. Front. Pharmacol. 8, 712. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2017.00712
- Labriet, A., Levesque, E., Cecchin, E., De Mattia, E., Villeneuve, L., Rouleau, M., et al. (2019). Germline variability and tumor expression level of ribosomal protein gene RPL28 are associated with survival of metastatic colorectal cancer patients. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 13008. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-49477-3
- Lamas, M. J., Duran, G., Gomez, A., Balboa, E., Anido, U., Bernardez, B., et al. (2012). X-ray cross-complementing group 1 and thymidylate synthase polymorphisms might predict response to chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer patients. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 82, 138–144. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijrobp.2010.09.053
- Lavin, M. F. (1998). Radiosensitivity and oxidative signalling in ataxia telangiectasia: an update. *Radiother. Oncol.* 47, 113–123. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8140(98)00027-9
- Lee, A. M., Shi, Q., Pavey, E., Alberts, S. R., Sargent, D. J., Sinicrope, F. A., et al. (2014). DPYD variants as predictors of 5-fluorouracil toxicity in adjuvant colon cancer treatment (NCCTG N0147). *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 106 (12), dju298. doi: 10.1093/jnci/dju298
- Lee, I. H., Kang, K., Kang, B. W., Lee, S. J., Bae, W. K., Hwang, J. E., et al. (2018). Genetic variations using whole-exome sequencing might predict response for neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer. *Med. Oncol.* 35, 145. doi: 10.1007/s12032-018-1202-8
- Libra, M., Navolanic, P. M., Talamini, R., Cecchin, E., Sartor, F., Tumolo, S., et al. (2004). Thymidylate synthetase mRNA levels are increased in liver metastases of colorectal cancer patients resistant to fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapy. *BMC Cancer* 4, 11. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-4-11
- Loof, J., Pfeifer, D., Adell, G., and Sun, X. F. (2009). Significance of an exon 2 G4C14-to-A4T14 polymorphism in the p73 gene on survival in rectal cancer patients with or without preoperative radiotherapy. *Radiother. Oncol.* 92, 215– 220. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2009.06.007
- Lunenburg, C., Henricks, L. M., Guchelaar, H. J., Swen, J. J., Deenen, M. J., Schellens, J. H. M., et al. (2016). Prospective DPYD genotyping to reduce the risk of fluoropyrimidine-induced severe toxicity: Ready for prime time. *Eur. J. Cancer* 54, 40–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2015.11.008
- Lunenburg, C., Henricks, L. M., Dreussi, E., Peters, F. P., Fiocco, M., Meulendijks, D., et al. (2018). Standard fluoropyrimidine dosages in chemoradiation therapy result in an increased risk of severe toxicity in DPYD variant allele carriers. *Eur. J. Cancer* 104, 210–218. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2018.07.138
- Lunenburg, C., Van Der Wouden, C. H., Nijenhuis, M., Crommentuijn-Van Rhenen, M. H., De Boer-Veger, N. J., Buunk, A. M., et al. (2020). Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) guideline for the gene-drug interaction of DPYD and fluoropyrimidines. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 28, 508– 517. doi: 10.1038/s41431-019-0540-0
- Maier, P., Hartmann, L., Wenz, F., and Herskind, C. (2016). Cellular Pathways in Response to Ionizing Radiation and Their Targetability for Tumor Radiosensitization. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17 (1), 102. doi: 10.3390/ijms17010102
- Massihnia, D., Pizzutilo, E. G., Amatu, A., Tosi, F., Ghezzi, S., Bencardino, K., et al. (2019). Liquid biopsy for rectal cancer: A systematic review. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 79, 101893. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.101893
- Mccawley, N., Clancy, C., O'neill, B. D., Deasy, J., Mcnamara, D. A., and Burke, J. P. (2016). Mucinous Rectal Adenocarcinoma Is Associated with a Poor Response to Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Dis. Colon Rectum* 59, 1200–1208. doi: 10.1097/DCR.000000000000635
- Mckinnon, P. J., and Caldecott, K. W. (2007). DNA strand break repair and human genetic disease. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet. 8, 37–55. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genom.7.080505.115648
- Meulendijks, D., Henricks, L. M., Sonke, G. S., Deenen, M. J., Froehlich, T. K., Amstutz, U., et al. (2015). Clinical relevance of DPYD variants c.1679T>G, c.1236G>A/HapB3, and c.1601G>A as predictors of severe fluoropyrimidine-

associated toxicity: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data. *Lancet Oncol.* 16, 1639–1650. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00286-7

- Mezzalira, S., De Mattia, E., Guardascione, M., Dalle Fratte, C., Cecchin, E., and Toffoli, G. (2019). Circulating-Free DNA Analysis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: A Promising Strategy to Improve Patients' Management and Therapy Outcomes. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20 (21), 5498. doi: 10.3390/ijms20215498
- Mizutani, S., and Takagi, M. (2013). XCIND as a genetic disease of X-irradiation hypersensitivity and cancer susceptibility. *Int. J. Hematol.* 97, 37–42. doi: 10.1007/s12185-012-1240-5
- Nicosia, L., Gentile, G., Reverberi, C., Minniti, G., Valeriani, M., De Sanctis, V., et al. (2018). Single nucleotide polymorphism of GSTP1 and pathological complete response in locally advanced rectal cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant concomitant radiochemotherapy. *Radiat. Oncol. J.* 36, 218–226. doi: 10.3857/roj.2018.00094
- Nikas, J. B., Lee, J. T., Maring, E. D., Washechek-Aletto, J., Felmlee-Devine, D., Johnson, R. A., et al. (2015). A common variant in MTHFR influences response to chemoradiotherapy and recurrence of rectal cancer. *Am. J. Cancer Res.* 5, 3231–3240.
- Osti, M. F., Nicosia, L., Agolli, L., Gentile, G., Falco, T., Bracci, S., et al. (2017). Potential Role of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms of XRCC1, XRCC3, and RAD51 in Predicting Acute Toxicity in Rectal Cancer Patients Treated With Preoperative Radiochemotherapy. Am. J. Clin. Oncol. 40, 535–542. doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000182
- Paez, D., Pare, L., Altes, A., Sancho-Poch, F. J., Petriz, L., Garriga, J., et al. (2010). Thymidylate synthase germline polymorphisms in rectal cancer patients treated with neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy based on 5-fluorouracil. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 136, 1681–1689. doi: 10.1007/s00432-010-0826-7
- Paez, D., Salazar, J., Pare, L., Pertriz, L., Targarona, E., Del Rio, E., et al. (2011). Pharmacogenetic study in rectal cancer patients treated with preoperative chemoradiotherapy: polymorphisms in thymidylate synthase, epidermal growth factor receptor, GSTP1, and DNA repair genes. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 81, 1319–1327. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.01.025
- Peng, J., Ma, W., Zhou, Z., Gu, Y., Lu, Z., Zhang, R., et al. (2018). Genetic variations in the PI3K/PTEN/AKT/mTOR pathway predict tumor response and disease-free survival in locally advanced rectal cancer patients receiving preoperative chemoradiotherapy and radical surgery. J. Cancer 9, 1067–1077. doi: 10.7150/jca.23538
- Perez-Ruiz, E., and Berraondo, P. (2016). Immunological Landscape and Clinical Management of Rectal Cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 7, 61. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2016.00061
- Pirrone, G., Palazzari, E., Navarria, F., Innocente, R., Stancanello, J., Fanetti, G., et al. (2019). CBCT delta-radiomics for predicting complete pathological response of rectal cancer after CT-RT. *Radiother. Oncol.* 133, S1036. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8140(19)32326-6
- Riemann, K., Becker, L., Struwe, H., Rubben, H., Eisenhardt, A., and Siffert, W. (2007). Insertion/deletion polymorphism in the promoter of NFKB1 as a potential molecular marker for the risk of recurrence in superficial bladder cancer. *Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 45, 423–430. doi: 10.5414/cpp45423
- Rosmarin, D., Palles, C., Church, D., Domingo, E., Jones, A., Johnstone, E., et al. (2014). Genetic markers of toxicity from capecitabine and other fluorouracilbased regimens: investigation in the QUASAR2 study, systematic review, and meta-analysis. J. Clin. Oncol. 32, 1031–1039. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.51.1857
- Ruzzo, A., Graziano, F., Galli, F., Galli, F., Rulli, E., Lonardi, S., et al. (2017). Dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase pharmacogenetics for predicting fluoropyrimidine-related toxicity in the randomised, phase III adjuvant TOSCA trial in high-risk colon cancer patients. *Br. J. Cancer* 117, 1269– 1277. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.289
- Salnikova, L. E., and Kolobkov, D. S. (2016). Germline and somatic genetic predictors of pathological response in neoadjuvant settings of rectal and esophageal cancers: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 16, 249–265. doi: 10.1038/ tpj.2015.46
- Schirmer, M. A., Mergler, C. P., Rave-Frank, M., Herrmann, M. K., Hennies, S., Gaedcke, J., et al. (2012). Acute toxicity of radiochemotherapy in rectal cancer patients: a risk particularly for carriers of the TGFB1 Pro25 variant. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 83, 149–157. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.05.063
- Sclafani, F., Chau, I., Cunningham, D., Peckitt, C., Lampis, A., Hahne, J. C., et al. (2015). Prognostic role of the LCS6 KRAS variant in locally advanced rectal cancer: results of the EXPERT-C trial. Ann. Oncol. 26, 1936–1941. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv285

- Sclafani, F., Chau, I., Cunningham, D., Lampis, A., Hahne, J. C., Ghidini, M., et al. (2016). Sequence variation in mature microRNA-608 and benefit from neoadjuvant treatment in locally advanced rectal cancer patients. *Carcinogenesis* 37, 852–857. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgw073
- Sclafani, F., Wilson, S. H., Cunningham, D., Gonzalez De Castro, D., Kalaitzaki, E., Begum, R., et al. (2020). Analysis of KRAS, NRAS, BRAF, PIK3CA and TP53 mutations in a large prospective series of locally advanced rectal cancer patients. *Int. J. Cancer* 146, 94–102. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32507
- Sebio, A., Salazar, J., Paez, D., Berenguer-Llergo, A., Del Rio, E., Tobena, M., et al. (2015). EGFR ligands and DNA repair genes: genomic predictors of complete response after capecitabine-based chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal cancer. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 15, 77–83. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2014.33
- Siravegna, G., Sartore-Bianchi, A., Nagy, R. J., Raghav, K., Odegaard, J. I., Lanman, R. B., et al. (2019). Plasma HER2 (ERBB2) Copy Number Predicts Response to HER2-targeted Therapy in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 25, 3046–3053. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3389
- Smith, J. J., Wasserman, I., Milgrom, S. A., Chow, O. S., Chen, C. T., Patil, S., et al. (2017). Single Nucleotide Polymorphism TGFbeta1 R25P Correlates with Acute Toxicity during Neoadjuvant Chemoradiotherapy in Rectal Cancer Patients. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 97, 924–930. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2016.12.015
- Song, Y. Z., Duan, M. N., Zhang, Y. Y., Shi, W. Y., Xia, C. C., and Dong, L. H. (2015a). ERCC2 polymorphisms and radiation-induced adverse effects on normal tissue: systematic review with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. *Radiat. Oncol.* 10, 247. doi: 10.1186/s13014-015-0558-6
- Song, Y. Z., Han, F. J., Liu, M., Xia, C. C., Shi, W. Y., and Dong, L. H. (2015b). Association between Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in XRCC3 and Radiation-Induced Adverse Effects on Normal Tissue: A Meta-Analysis. *PloS One* 10, e0130388. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130388
- Spindler, K. L., Nielsen, J. N., Lindebjerg, J., Brandslund, I., and Jakobsen, A. (2006). Prediction of response to chemoradiation in rectal cancer by a gene polymorphism in the epidermal growth factor receptor promoter region. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* 66, 500–504. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2006.03.030
- Spindler, K. L., Nielsen, J. N., Lindebjerg, J., and Jakobsen, A. (2007). Germline polymorphisms may act as predictors of response to preoperative chemoradiation in locally advanced T3 rectal tumors. *Dis. Colon Rectum* 50, 1363–1369. doi: 10.1007/s10350-007-0264-z
- Stoehlmacher, J., Goekkurt, E., Mogck, U., Aust, D. E., Kramer, M., Baretton, G. B., et al. (2008). Thymidylate synthase genotypes and tumour regression in stage II/III rectal cancer patients after neoadjuvant fluorouracil-based chemoradiation. *Cancer Lett.* 272, 221–225. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2008.07.008
- Tan, B. R., Thomas, F., Myerson, R. J., Zehnbauer, B., Trinkaus, K., Malyapa, R. S., et al. (2011). Thymidylate synthase genotype-directed neoadjuvant chemoradiation for patients with rectal adenocarcinoma. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 29, 875–883. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.32.3212
- Terrazzino, S., Agostini, M., Pucciarelli, S., Pasetto, L. M., Friso, M. L., Ambrosi, A., et al. (2006). A haplotype of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene predicts poor tumor response in rectal cancer patients receiving preoperative chemoradiation. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 16, 817–824. doi: 10.1097/ 01.fpc.0000230412.89973.c0
- Thomas, F., Motsinger-Reif, A. A., Hoskins, J. M., Dvorak, A., Roy, S., Alyasiri, A., et al. (2011). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genetic polymorphisms and toxicity to 5-FU-based chemoradiation in rectal cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 105, 1654–1662. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.442
- Tie, J., Cohen, J. D., Wang, Y., Li, L., Christie, M., Simons, K., et al. (2019). Serial circulating tumour DNA analysis during multimodality treatment of locally advanced rectal cancer: a prospective biomarker study. *Gut* 68, 663–671. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-315852
- Toffoli, G., Rossi, D., Gaidano, G., Cecchin, E., Boiocchi, M., and Carbone, A. (2003). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase genotype in diffuse large B-cell lymphomas with and without hypermethylation of the DNA repair gene O6methylguanine DNA methyltransferase. *Int. J. Biol. Markers* 18, 218–221. doi: 10.5301/jbm.2008.2416
- Toffoli, G., De Mattia, E., Cecchin, E., Biason, P., Masier, S., and Corona, G. (2007). Pharmacology of epidermal growth factor inhibitors. *Int. J. Biol. Markers* 22, 24–39. doi: 10.5301/JBM.2008.5634
- Toffoli, G., Giodini, L., Buonadonna, A., Berretta, M., De Paoli, A., Scalone, S., et al. (2015). Clinical validity of a DPYD-based pharmacogenetic test to predict

severe toxicity to fluoropyrimidines. Int. J. Cancer 137, 2971-2980. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29654

- Toffoli, G., Innocenti, F., Polesel, J., De Mattia, E., Sartor, F., Dalle Fratte, C., et al. (2019). The Genotype for DPYD Risk Variants in Patients With Colorectal Cancer and the Related Toxicity Management Costs in Clinical Practice. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105, 994–1002. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1257
- Ulrich, C. M., Rankin, C., Toriola, A. T., Makar, K. W., Altug-Teber, O., Benedetti, J. K., et al. (2014). Polymorphisms in folate-metabolizing enzymes and response to 5-fluorouracil among patients with stage II or III rectal cancer (INT-0144; SWOG 9304). *Cancer* 120, 3329–3337. doi: 10.1002/cncr.28830
- Valentini, V., Gambacorta, M. A., Cellini, F., Aristei, C., Coco, C., Barbaro, B., et al. (2019). The INTERACT Trial: Long-term results of a randomised trial on preoperative capecitabine-based radiochemotherapy intensified by concomitant boost or oxaliplatin, for cT2 (distal)-cT3 rectal cancer. *Radiother. Oncol.* 134, 110–118. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2018.11.023
- Van Der Valk, M. J. M., Hilling, D. E., Bastiaannet, E., Meershoek-Klein Kranenbarg, E., Beets, G. L., Figueiredo, N. L., et al. (2018). Long-term outcomes of clinical complete responders after neoadjuvant treatment for rectal cancer in the International Watch & Wait Database (IWWD): an international multicentre registry study. *Lancet* 391, 2537–2545. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31078-X
- Van Der Wouden, C. H., Cambon-Thomsen, A., Cecchin, E., Cheung, K. C., Davila-Fajardo, C. L., Deneer, V. H., et al. (2017). Implementing Pharmacogenomics in Europe: Design and Implementation Strategy of the Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics Consortium. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 101, 341– 358. doi: 10.1002/cpt.602
- Van Kuilenburg, A. B., Vreken, P., Abeling, N. G., Bakker, H. D., Meinsma, R., Van Lenthe, H., et al. (1999). Genotype and phenotype in patients with dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase deficiency. *Hum. Genet.* 104, 1–9. doi: 10.1007/pl00008711
- Villafranca, E., Okruzhnov, Y., Dominguez, M. A., Garcia-Foncillas, J., Azinovic, I., Martinez, E., et al. (2001). Polymorphisms of the repeated sequences in the enhancer region of the thymidylate synthase gene promoter may predict downstaging after preoperative chemoradiation in rectal cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 19, 1779–1786. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.6.1779
- Vodicka, P., Stetina, R., Polakova, V., Tulupova, E., Naccarati, A., Vodickova, L., et al. (2007). Association of DNA repair polymorphisms with DNA repair functional outcomes in healthy human subjects. *Carcinogenesis* 28, 657–664. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgl187
- Xiao, L., Yu, X., Zhang, R., Chang, H., Xi, S., Xiao, W., et al. (2016). Can an IL13 -1112 C/T (rs1800925) polymorphism predict responsiveness to neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and survival of Chinese Han patients with locally advanced rectal cancer? Oncotarget 7, 34149–34157. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9178
- Yang, Y. C., Wu, G. C., Jin, L., Wang, K. L., Bai, Z. G., Wang, J., et al. (2017). Association of thymidylate synthase polymorphisms with the tumor response to preoperative chemoradiotherapy in rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 17, 265–273. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2016.11
- Yu, J. J., Lee, K. B., Mu, C., Li, Q., Abernathy, T. V., Bostick-Bruton, F., et al. (2000). Comparison of two human ovarian carcinoma cell lines (A2780/CP70 and MCAS) that are equally resistant to platinum, but differ at codon 118 of the ERCC1 gene. *Int. J. Oncol.* 16, 555–560. doi: 10.3892/ijo.16.3.555
- Zhang, W., Park, D. J., Lu, B., Yang, D. Y., Gordon, M., Groshen, S., et al. (2005). Epidermal growth factor receptor gene polymorphisms predict pelvic recurrence in patients with rectal cancer treated with chemoradiation. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 11, 600–605.
- Zhang, H., Wang, M., Shi, T., Shen, L., Liang, L., Deng, Y., et al. (2015a). TNF rs1799964 as a Predictive Factor of Acute Toxicities in Chinese Rectal Cancer Patients Treated With Chemoradiotherapy. *Med. (Baltimore)* 94, e1955. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000001955
- Zhang, H., Wang, M., Shi, T., Shen, L., Zhu, J., Sun, M., et al. (2015b). Genetic polymorphisms of PAI-1 and PAR-1 are associated with acute normal tissue toxicity in Chinese rectal cancer patients treated with pelvic radiotherapy. *Onco. Targets Ther.* 8, 2291–2301. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S83723
- Zhang, S., Bai, W., Tong, X., Bu, P., Xu, J., and Xi, Y. (2019). Correlation between tumor microenvironment-associated factors and the efficacy and prognosis of neoadjuvant therapy for rectal cancer. *Oncol. Lett.* 17, 1062–1070. doi: 10.3892/ ol.2018.9682

Zhao, Y., Li, X., and Kong, X. (2015). MTHFR C677T Polymorphism is Associated with Tumor Response to Preoperative Chemoradiotherapy: A Result Based on Previous Reports. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 21, 3068–3076. doi: 10.12659/MSM.895433

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 De Mattia, Roncato, Palazzari, Toffoli and Cecchin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The Clinical Impact of the C<sub>0</sub>/D Ratio and the CYP3A5 Genotype on Outcome in Tacrolimus Treated Kidney Transplant Recipients

Teun van Gelder<sup>1\*</sup>, Soufian Meziyerh<sup>2,3</sup>, Jesse J. Swen<sup>1</sup>, Aiko P. J. de Vries<sup>2,3</sup> and Dirk Jan A. R. Moes<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Pharmacy & Toxicology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Nephrology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>3</sup> Leiden Transplant Center, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

José A. G. Agúndez, University of Extremadura, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Raman Venkataramanan, University of Pittsburgh, United States Bryce Alan Kiberd, Dalhousie University, Canada

> \*Correspondence: Teun van Gelder T.van\_Gelder1@lumc.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 10 February 2020 Accepted: 13 July 2020 Published: 31 July 2020

#### Citation:

van Gelder T, Meziyerh S, Swen JJ, de Vries APJ and Moes DJAR (2020) The Clinical Impact of the C<sub>0</sub>/D Ratio and the CYP3A5 Genotype on Outcome in Tacrolimus Treated Kidney Transplant Recipients. Front. Pharmacol. 11:1142. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.01142 Tacrolimus is metabolized by CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 enzymes. Patients expressing CYP3A5 (in Caucasian patients about 15% of the population but more frequent in African Americans and Asians) have a dose requirement that is around 50% higher than non-expressers to reach the target concentration. CYP3A5 expressers can be considered fast metabolizers. The trough concentration/dose ( $C_0/D$ ) ratio of tacrolimus has recently been proposed as a prognostic marker for poor outcome after kidney transplantation. Patients with a low  $C_0/D$  ratio (also referred to as fast metabolizers) seem to have more tacrolimus-related nephrotoxicity, more BK-viremia, and a lower graft survival. At first sight, the expression of CYP3A5 and a low C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio seem to be overlapping factors, both pointing towards patients in whom a higher tacrolimus dose is needed to reach the tacrolimus target concentration. However, there are important differences, and these differences may explain why the impact of the  $C_0/D$  ratio on long term outcome is stronger than for CYP3A5 genotype status. Patients with a low  $C_0/D$  ratio require a high tacrolimus dose and are exposed to high tacrolimus peak concentrations. The higher peak exposure to tacrolimus (and/or its metabolites) may explain the higher incidence of nephrotoxicity, BK-viremia and graft loss. A potential confounder is the concurrent maintenance treatment of corticosteroids, as steroids are sometimes continued in patients at high immunological risk. Steroids induce the metabolism of tacrolimus via pregnane X receptor mediated increased CYP3A4 expression, resulting in lower tacrolimus C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio in high risk patients. Also non-adherence may result in lower  $C_0/D$  ratio which is also associated with poor outcome. The  $C_0/D$  ratio of tacrolimus does seem to identify a group of patients with increased risk of poor outcome after kidney transplantation. Our recommendation is to monitor tacrolimus peak concentrations in these patients, and if these are high then target slightly lower pre-dose concentrations. Another possibility would be to switch to a prolonged release formulation or to dose the drug more frequently, in smaller doses, to avoid high peak concentrations.

Keywords: tacrolimus, transplantation, kidney, CYP3A5, pharmacogenetics

## INTRODUCTION

Tacrolimus is the first choice calcineurin inhibitor (CNI) in kidney transplant patients. Maintaining the tacrolimus exposure within the therapeutic window is considered to be essential to prevent the development of cellular and antibody-mediated rejections and to minimize drug-related toxicity.

The pharmacokinetics (PK) of tacrolimus is characterized by poor and highly variable oral bioavailability (mean 25%, range 5-90%) (Shuker et al., 2015). Also drug-drug interactions, epigenetic changes in the expression of metabolizing enzymes and patient adherence contribute to a large inter-patient and intra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure (Vanhove et al., 2016). An important part of the inter-patient variability is explained by the presence of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the gene encoding for the cytochrome P450 (CYP) 3A5 enzyme (6986A>G). Patients expressing CYP3A5 (those carrying the A nucleotide, defined as the \*1 allele) have a dose requirement that is around 50% higher than non-expressers (those homozygous for the G nucleotide, defined as the \*3 allele) (Hesselink et al., 2014). Also the CYP3A4 gene carries a SNP (SNP in intron 6 (rs35599367C>T)) that is significantly associated with the tacrolimus dose requirement, but to a lesser degree than the CYP3A5 gene polymorphism (Elens et al., 2011). Genome wide association studies have shown that there are no other common single genetic variants aside from the CYP3A gene that significantly influences the tacrolimus PK (Oetting et al., 2018; Oetting et al., 2019).

Intra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure is easily identified by repetitive measurement of drug concentrations in patients on maintenance treatment. Ten years ago Borra et al. demonstrated that patients with high intra-patient variability more often reached a composite endpoint consisting of graft loss, biopsy-proven chronic allograft nephropathy, and 'doubling in plasma creatinine concentration in the period between t = 12months post-transplantation and last follow-up' (Borra et al., 2010). A high intra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure is now recognized as a predictor of poor clinical outcome (van Gelder, 2014; Mendoza Rojas et al., 2019). Rodrigo et al. found that a higher intra-patient variability was independently related to development of donor-specific antibodies and graft-loss (Rodrigo et al., 2016). Identification of patients with a high intra-patient variability is therefore important as it is a modifiable risk factor, and interventions may improve longterm outcomes (Neuberger et al., 2017).

## CONCENTRATION/DOSE (C<sub>0</sub>/D) RATIO AND OUTCOME

More recently the concentration/dose ( $C_0/D$ ) ratio of tacrolimus has also been proposed as a prognostic marker for poor outcome. The  $C_0/D$  ratio can be calculated by dividing the tacrolimus predose concentration ( $C_0$ ) by the corresponding daily tacrolimus dose (D).

Thölking et al. were the first to hypothesize that the metabolization rate of tacrolimus, expressed as the C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio, would be a prognostic factor of clinical outcome (Thölking et al., 2014). The mean of the  $C_0/D$  ratios calculated at months 1, 3, and 6 after renal transplantation was used to categorize patients as fast, intermediate, and slow metabolizers. The incidence of T cell-mediated rejection or antibody-mediated rejection was not related to the tacrolimus metabolizer status, but in the group of fast metabolizers more often CNI nephrotoxicity (p = 0.015) and BK-virus associated nephropathy (p = 0.024) were observed. They concluded that the tacrolimus  $C_0/D$  ratio is a simple and inexpensive tool to identify patients at risk for the development of CNI nephrotoxicity or BK nephropathy. Moreover, a C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio < 1.05 was also associated with a higher mortality in a 24 months follow-up. In a five-year follow-up study from the same group the patient survival was noticeably reduced in fast metabolizers as compared to intermediate/slow metabolizers (89.9 vs. 95.3%, log-rank p = 0.036), and in a Cox regression analysis fast metabolizer status was an independent predictor of both graft and patient survival (Schütte-Nütgen et al., 2019). The suggested intervention could be to switch fast Tac metabolizers from tacrolimus based therapy to treatment with a mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor (mTORi) or cyclosporine, but there is no evidence that this intervention does improve long term outcome. Although the authors do acknowledge that tacrolimus metabolism is also related to the CYP3A5 genotype, they claim that the prognostic value of the C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio is stronger than that of the genotype.

In a subsequent study, patients were categorized into three metabolizer groups based on the same cut-off values. Patients with a tacrolimus  $C_0/D$  ratio < 1.05 ng/ml/mg were characterized as fast metabolizers, patients with a  $C_0/D$  ratio of 1.05–1.54 ng/ ml/mg as intermediate metabolizers, and those with a C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio  $\geq$  1.55 ng/ml/mg were defined as slow metabolizers (Thölking et al., 2016). Also in this study a fast tacrolimus metabolism was associated with increased risk of BK viremia. The potential explanation for the effect of the metabolizer status on outcome is that in patients with a faster metabolism the drug dose required to reach the target tacrolimus trough concentration is higher. As a result, the tacrolimus peak levels in the first hours after oral administration are higher. Evidence for this hypothesis was obtained in an additional study in 56 renal transplant recipients, in whom the tacrolimus concentrations 2 h after drug intake (C<sub>2</sub>) in patients with a low C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio (high metabolizers) were increased compared to the other patients  $(20.2 \pm 10.3 \text{ ng/ml} vs. 9.8 \pm 4.2 \text{ ng/ml}, \text{ respectively; } p = 0.004)$ (Thölking et al., 2019). In daily practice most centers only monitor pre-dose tacrolimus concentrations, and the higher peak levels often go unnoticed.

A Polish group recently also reported impaired outcome data in patients with a low  $C_0/D$  ratio from a large group of 571 renal transplant patients (Kwiatkowska et al., 2019). In these patients the  $C_0/D$  ratio was calculated at their most recent out-patient appointment (mean time after transplantation = 84 months), and this ratio was then correlated with the change in renal function from transplantation to last follow-up. Also in this study a higher

Formula:  $C_0/D$  ratio = tacrolimus trough concentration (ng/mL)/daily dose (mg)

metabolization status was associated with a significantly greater drop in the eGFR. In a smaller study, also from Poland, the highly significant relationship between  $C_0/D$  ratio at 6 months and kidney function 2 years after transplantation was confirmed in a linear regression model (p = 0.007) (Nowicka et al., 2019).

In 2020 Jouve et al. published a retrospective study on more than 1,000 kidney transplant patients treated with tacrolimus and with more than 1 year follow-up (Jouve et al., 2020). This study was called the TOMATO study, which stands for TacrOlimus MetAbolization in kidney TransplantatiOn. In a multivariate analysis the  $C_0/D$  ratio at month 3 and month 6 proved to be independent of early predictors of death-censored kidney graft survival. The authors stressed the importance of mechanistic studies to understand how the  $C_0/D$  ratio causes its effect.

Taber et al. studied the impact of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics in African Americans (AAs) (Taber et al., 2015). In AAs with subtherapeutic tacrolimus concentrations, the incidence of acute cellular rejection and of antibody-mediated rejection was increased. But also patients who did achieve therapeutic tacrolimus concentrations were at an increased risk of developing interstitial fibrosis and tubular atrophy (IF/TA), reflecting nephrotoxicity. Most likely, in these AA patients therapeutic tacrolimus concentrations are reached at the cost of high drug doses, and the high peak concentrations inherent to these dosages result in more nephrotoxicity.

A faster metabolization of tacrolimus will result in higher concentrations of tacrolimus metabolites. These metabolites may accumulate in the blood and or renal tubular cells and cause nephrotoxicity. Compared to nonexpressers, the CYP3A5 expressers have a 2.0- to 2.7-fold higher metabolite/parent AUC ratio for these metabolites (Zheng et al., 2012). As several immunoassays suffer from cross-reactivity of these metabolites (without reporting a concentration of the individual metabolites), the mean of the tacrolimus concentrations measured with these immunoassays is higher than if measured with mass spectrometry based assays (Akamine et al., 2018). A survey in 2015 showed that for TDM of tacrolimus 53% of the laboratories used LC–MS/MS and 47% immunoassays (n = 72) (Christians et al., 2015). Accumulation of tacrolimus metabolites in the blood may go unnoticed if TDM is done exclusively on the basis of LC–MS/MS.

## CYP3A5 GENOTYPE AND C<sub>0</sub>/D RATIO

As already mentioned, there are multiple studies that show that renal transplant patients who express the CYP3A5 enzyme need a higher dose to reach the target tacrolimus concentration compared to non-expressers (Hesselink et al., 2003; Thervet et al., 2003; Haufroid et al., 2004). Thus, CYP3A5 expressers in general have a low  $C_0/D$  ratio. In a Caucasian population the prevalence of patients expressing CYP3A5 is low (10%) (van Schaik et al., 2002). In contrast, in patients from African descent about 40–50% express CYP3A5, and in Asian patients the prevalence of CYP3A5 expressers is even higher (50–70%) (Andrews et al., 2016).

In most centers the starting dose of tacrolimus is based on body weight. Standard tacrolimus dosing is 0.2 mg/kg bodyweight,

divided in two doses. The guideline of the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) recommends to increase the starting dose in CYP3A5 expressers 1.5–2 fold, but not to exceed 0.3 mg/kg/day (Birdwell et al., 2015). The higher starting dose is meant to avoid early underexposure to tacrolimus in the first days after transplantation.

## **CYP3A5 AND OUTCOME**

In 1994 an analysis was published on differences in outcome of black and white patients after kidney transplantation based on a large dataset from the United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS). An impaired graft survival in black patients was found. The difference in outcome was attributed to poor socioeconomic factors and reduced access to health care in African Americans and to poor HLA-matching (Koyama et al., 1994). In this study CYP3A5 genotype data were not available. A French study demonstrated that ethnic origin did not affect outcome after renal transplantation in France, and it was suggested that the poor results of renal transplantation in patients of African origin in the US could be improved with universal immunosuppressive drug coverage (Pallet et al., 2005). Also in this French study CYP3A5 genotype data were not available.

In a meta-analysis Rojas found that the CYP3A5 expresser genotype might be associated with a higher risk of acute rejection (OR 1.32, 95% CI 1.02–1.71) and a trend towards more chronic nephrotoxicity (OR 1.81, 95% CI 0.89–3.68) (Rojas et al., 2015). However, a large-scale genome-wide association study did not identify strong donor or recipient genetic predictors of allograft survival or renal function outside the HLA region (Hernandez-Fuentes et al., 2018; Stapleton et al., 2019). Also a candidate gene association study of allograft loss in renal transplant recipients CYP3A5 was not related to outcome (Woillard et al., 2018).

In a recently published meta-analysis, the effect-size of CYP3A5 polymorphism on the risk of rejection was estimated in Asian and European kidney transplant populations (Khan et al., 2020). In European populations no significant association was found with rejection episodes between expressers and nonexpressers (OR: 1.12; p = 0.47). However, in Asian patients a higher risk of rejection was found after follow-up of 3 years post-transplantation (OR: 1.68; p < 0.05), respectively. An explanation for this difference, other than a higher prevalence of CYP3A5 expressers in Asian populations could not be given. Data on longer term follow-up are scarce, and this higher risk estimate would need confirmation in larger datasets.

# $C_{\text{o}}/\text{D}$ RATIO AS PROGNOSTIC FACTOR FOR OUTCOME

In daily practice tacrolimus pre-dose concentrations are being monitored, and routinely monitoring tacrolimus peak concentrations or AUC is unusual since it is more cumbersome both for patients and clinicians. Whether or not the patient needs a high tacrolimus dose to reach the target concentration is not taken into account. However, patients who need a high tacrolimus dose may be exposed to substantially higher tacrolimus peak concentrations and tacrolimus-AUC compared to patients who reach the same pre-dose concentrations with lower dosages. A study of 46 African Americans, of whom 35 were CYP3A5-expresser, showed that the tacrolimus pre-dose concentrations were similar in CYP3A5-expressers and non-expressers (6.26 and 6.24 ng/ml respectively) (Trofe-Clark et al., 2018). In the expressers group a much higher tacrolimus dose was required to reach these pre-dose concentrations (10.1 vs 6.3 mg/day), and as a result the C<sub>max</sub> was also higher in the expressers (25.5 ng/ml and 19.5 ng/ml respectively; p = 0.04). The higher peaks and higher AUC may lead to chronic nephrotoxicity and ultimately contribute to graft loss. In a study on chronic irreversible drug-induced nephrotoxicity Kuypers et al. also found that especially patients with a high early tacrolimus dose requirement developed this form of toxicity (Kuypers et al., 2010). In their study this was predominantly but not exclusively encountered in CYP3A5 expressers.

At present tacrolimus is being dosed based on trough concentrations in the vast majority of centers. There is limited experience with dosing tacrolimus based on AUC. In Leiden the tacrolimus target AUC<sub>0-12h</sub> for maintenance treatment (>6 months post-transplantation) is 80 ug\*h/L. Based on a pharmacokinetic model the upper threshold of this target relates to a peak concentration of 22 ng/ml (Scholten et al., 2005). In case of high peak concentrations and high AUC the tacrolimus dose can be reduced. If peaks are high but AUC is within the target, then dose could be divided into smaller portions (from twice daily to three times daily), but this will negatively affect adherence. An alternative option would be to change from a twice daily immediate release formulation to a once daily prolonged release formulation. Besides avoiding high peaks this will also improve adherence. Another option would be to switch to mTOR-inhibitors as suggested by Thölking et al. (Schütte-Nütgen et al., 2019). There are no studies available that show that either of these options is beneficial.

At first sight the expression of CYP3A5 and a low  $C_0/D$  ratio seem to be overlapping factors, both pointing towards patients in whom a higher tacrolimus dose is needed to reach the tacrolimus target concentration. However, there are important differences, and these differences may explain why the impact of the  $C_0/D$  ration on long term outcome is stronger than for CYP3A5 genotype status.

First of all, on average the CYP3A5 genotype does lead to a higher dose requirement, but there is considerable overlap between expressers and non-expressers (Thervet et al., 2003). Some of the CYP3A5 expressers do not have a fast metabolizer phenotype, and they reach target concentrations with conventional tacrolimus doses. In these patients there is not a high peak concentration after drug intake. In contrast, patients with a low  $C_0/D$  ratio all have a fast metabolizer phenotype and invariably need high doses of tacrolimus. As a result, the impact of the  $C_0/D$  ratio may be stronger than the CYP3A5 genotype.

Another factor that may impact on the prognostic significance of the  $C_0/D$  ratio is the use of corticosteroids in patients at increased risk of rejection. For patients at low-immunological risk the avoidance, or early withdrawal of steroids, is well tolerated, but in patients with higher risk this

may lead to an increased incidence of acute cellular rejections or late antibody medicated rejections (Pascual, 2011). Therefore, continued exposure to steroids may be linked to a higher immunological risk. As steroids are known to induce CYP3A enzymes the tacrolimus metabolism is faster in patients treated with steroids, and  $C_0/D$  ratio is lower (Hesselink et al., 2003; van Duijnhoven et al., 2003). Steroid use may thus be a confounder by indication, affecting the  $C_0/D$  ratio. However, in the recently published TOMATO-study the  $C_0/D$  ratio was independently associated with death-censored kidney-graft survival, even when corrected for continued corticosteroid use (Jouve et al., 2020).

An important limitation is that the number of studies on this topic is still limited and that several of these studies have been published by one center (Thölking et al.). In order to be more certain on the clinical relevance of the C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio it would be good if more well documented analyses in larger data sets, including correction for potential confounding factors such as ethnicity, steroid use, and intra-patient variability, would be performed. Furthermore, interventions such as dose reductions and switching to prolonged release formulations should ideally be tested in prospective controlled studies. Novel developments in therapeutic drug monitoring, including home-based dried blood spot (DBS) sampling, offer the potential to facilitate repetitive large scale AUC assessment as an alternative to the conventional TDM sampling at the (out-patient) clinic. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) assays have been developed to quantify tacrolimus in DBS samples (Veenhof et al., 2017; Zwart et al., 2018), and at home sampling has been shown to be feasible in the kidney transplant population. Adherence to immunosuppressive therapy has been shown to decrease over time (Massey et al., 2015). Furthermore, non-adherence is a strong predictor for poor outcome and is related to development of donor specific antibodies and a higher risk of rejection (Takemoto et al., 2007). Patients who do not take (part of) their daily drug dose seemingly have a fast metabolism and a low C<sub>0</sub>/D ratio. In these patients the poor outcome is not due to the faster metabolism, or due to high peak concentrations but to non-adherence.

## CONCLUSION

The  $C_0/D$  ratio of tacrolimus does seem to identify a group of patients with increased risk of poor outcome after kidney transplantation. Our recommendation is to check tacrolimus peak concentrations in these patients, and if these are high then target for slightly lower pre-dose concentrations. Assessment of limited sampling AUC can assist in finetuning the tacrolimus dose.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TG and DM developed the idea for this manuscript. The first draft version was written by TG. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## REFERENCES

- Akamine, Y., Kagaya, H., Ohkubo, T., Satoh, S., and Miura, M. (2018). A comparison of the effects of CYP3A5 polymorphism on tacrolimus blood concentrations measured by 4 immunoassay methods in renal transplant patients. J. Clin. Pharm. Ther. 43 (2), 181–188. doi: 10.1111/jcpt.12624
- Andrews, L. M., De Winter, B. C., Van Gelder, T., and Hesselink, D. A. (2016). Consideration of the ethnic prevalence of genotypes in the clinical use of tacrolimus. *Pharmacogenomics* 17 (16), 1737–1740. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2016-0136
- Birdwell, K. A., Decker, B., Barbarino, J. M., Peterson, J. F., Stein, C. M., Sadee, W., et al. (2015). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) Guidelines for CYP3A5 Genotype and Tacrolimus Dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 98 (1), 19–24. doi: 10.1002/cpt.113
- Borra, L. C., Roodnat, J. I., Kal, J. A., Mathot, R. A., Weimar, W., and van Gelder, T. (2010). High within-patient variability in the clearance of tacrolimus is a risk factor for poor long-term outcome after kidney transplantation. *Nephrol. Dial Transpl.* 25 (8), 2757–2763. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq096
- Christians, U., Vinks, A. A., Langman, L. J., Clarke, W., Wallemacq, P., van Gelder, T., et al. (2015). Impact of Laboratory Practices on Interlaboratory Variability in Therapeutic Drug Monitoring of Immunosuppressive Drugs. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 37 (6), 718–724. doi: 10.1097/FTD.00000000000205
- Elens, L., Bouamar, R., Hesselink, D. A., Haufroid, V., van der Heiden, I. P., van Gelder, T., et al. (2011). A new functional CYP3A4 intron 6 polymorphism significantly affects tacrolimus pharmacokinetics in kidney transplant recipients. *Clin. Chem.* 57 (11), 1574–1583. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2011.165613
- Haufroid, V., Mourad, M., Van Kerckhove, V., Wawrzyniak, J., De Meyer, M., Eddour, D. C., et al. (2004). The effect of CYP3A5 and MDR1 (ABCB1) polymorphisms on cyclosporine and tacrolimus dose requirements and trough blood levels in stable renal transplant patients. *Pharmacogenetics* 14 (3), 147– 154. doi: 10.1097/00008571-200403000-00002
- Hernandez-Fuentes, M. P., Franklin, C., Rebollo-Mesa, I., Mollon, J., Delaney, F., Perucha, E., et al. (2018). United Kingdom and Ireland Renal Transplant Consortium (UKIRTC) and the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (WTCCC)-3. Long- and short-term outcomes in renal allografts with deceased donors: A large recipient and donor genome-wide association study. Am. J. Transplant. 18 (6), 1370–1379. doi: 10.1111/ajt.14594
- Hesselink, D. A., van Schaik, R. H., van der Heiden, I. P., van der Werf, M., Smak Gregoor, P. J., Lindemans, J., et al. (2003). Genetic polymorphisms of the CYP3A4, CYP3A5, and MDR-1 genes and pharmacokinetics of the calcineurin inhibitors cyclosporine and tacrolimus. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 74 (3), 245–254. doi: 10.1016/S0009-9236(03)00168-1
- Hesselink, D. A., Ngyuen, H., Wabbijn, M., Gregoor, P. J., Steyerberg, E. W., van Riemsdijk, I. C., et al. (2003). Tacrolimus dose requirement in renal transplant recipients is significantly higher when used in combination with corticosteroids. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 56 (3), 327–330. doi: 10.1046/j.0306-5251.2003.01882.x
- Hesselink, D. A., Bouamar, R., Elens, L., van Schaik, R. H., and van Gelder, T. (2014). The role of pharmacogenetics in the disposition of and response to tacrolimus in solid organ transplantation. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 53 (2), 123– 139. doi: 10.1007/s40262-013-0120-3
- Jouve, T., Fonrose, X., Noble, J., Janbon, B., Fiard, G., Malvezzi, P., et al. (2020). The TOMATO Study (Tacrolimus Metabolization in Kidney Transplantation): Impact of the Concentration-Dose Ratio on Death-censored Graft Survival. *Transplantation* 104 (6), 1263–1271. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000002920
- Khan, A. R., Raza, A., Firasat, S., and Abid, A. (2020). CYP3A5 gene polymorphisms and their impact on dosage and trough concentration of tacrolimus among kidney transplant patients: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 20 (4), 553–562. doi: 10.1038/s41397-019-0144-7
- Koyama, H., Cecka, J. M., and Terasaki, P. I. (1994). Kidney transplants in black recipients. HLA matching and other factors affecting long-term graft survival. *Transplantation* 57 (7), 1064–1068. doi: 10.1097/00007890-199404150-00014
- Kuypers, D. R., Naesens, M., de Jonge, H., Lerut, E., Verbeke, K., and Vanrenterghem, Y. (2010). Tacrolimus dose requirements and CYP3A5 genotype and the development of calcineurin inhibitor-associated nephrotoxicity in renal allograft recipients. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 32 (4), 394– 404. doi: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e3181e06818
- Kwiatkowska, E., Kwiatkowski, S., Wahler, F., Gryczman, M., Domańki, L., Marchelk-Myśliwiec, M., et al. (2019). C/D Ratio in Long-Term Renal

Function. Transplant. Proc. 51 (10), 3265-3270. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed. 2019.08.030

- Massey, E. K., Tielen, M., Laging, M., Timman, R., Beck, D. K., Khemai, R., et al. (2015). Discrepancies between beliefs and behavior: a prospective study into immunosuppressive medication adherence after kidney transplantation. *Transplantation* 99 (2), 375–380. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000000608
- Mendoza Rojas, A., Hesselink, D. A., van Besouw, N. M., Baan, C. C., and van Gelder, T. (2019). Impact of low tacrolimus exposure and high tacrolimus intra-patient variability on the development of de novo anti-HLA donorspecific antibodies in kidney transplant recipients. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 15 (12), 1323–1331. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2020.1693263
- Neuberger, J. M., Bechstein, W. O., Kuypers, D. R., Burra, P., Citterio, F., De Geest, S., et al. (2017). Practical Recommendations for Long-term Management of Modifiable Risks in Kidney and Liver Transplant Recipients: A Guidance Report and Clinical Checklist by the Consensus on Managing Modifiable Risk in Transplantation (COMMIT) Group. *Transplantation* 101 (4S Suppl 2), S1– S56. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000001651
- Nowicka, M., Górska, M., Nowicka, Z., Edyko, K., Edyko, P., Wiślicki, S., et al. (2019). Tacrolimus: Influence of the Posttransplant Concentration/Dose Ratio on Kidney Graft Function in a Two-Year Follow-Up. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* 44 (5), 1075–1088. doi: 10.1159/000502290
- Oetting, W. S., Wu, B., Schladt, D. P., Guan, W., Remmel, R. P., Mannon, R. B., et al. (2018). Genome-wide association study identifies the common variants in CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 responsible for variation in tacrolimus trough concentration in Caucasian kidney transplant recipients. *Pharmacogenomics* J. 18 (3), 501–505. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2017.49
- Oetting, W. S., Wu, B., Schladt, D. P., Guan, W., van Setten, J., and Keating, B. J. (2019). et al; DeKAF Genomics and GEN-03 Investigators. Genetic Variants Associated With Immunosuppressant Pharmacokinetics and Adverse Effects in the DeKAF Genomics Genome-wide Association Studies. *Transplantation* 103 (6), 1131–1139. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000002625
- Pallet, N., Thervet, E., Alberti, C., Emal-Aglaé, V., Bedrossian, J., Martinez, F., et al. (2005). Kidney transplant in black recipients: are African Europeans different from African Americans? *Am. J. Transplant.* 5 (11), 2682–2687. doi: 10.1111/ j.1600-6143.2005.01057.x
- Pascual, J. (2011). Steroid avoidance or withdrawal in kidney transplantation. Curr. Opin. Organ Transpl. 16 (6), 600–605. doi: 10.1097/MOT.0b013e32834c23fa
- Rodrigo, E., Segundo, D. S., Fernández-Fresnedo, G., López-Hoyos, M., Benito, A., Ruiz, J. C., et al. (2016). Within-Patient Variability in Tacrolimus Blood Levels Predicts Kidney Graft Loss and Donor-Specific Antibody Development. *Transplantation* 100 (11), 2479–2485. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000001040
- Rojas, L., Neumann, I., Herrero, M. J., Bosó, V., Reig, J., Poveda, J. L., et al. (2015). Effect of CYP3A5\*3 on kidney transplant recipients treated with tacrolimus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 15 (1), 38–48. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2014.38
- Schütte-Nütgen, K., Thölking, G., Steinke, J., Pavenstädt, H., Schmidt, R., Suwelack, B., et al. (2019). Fast Tac Metabolizers at Risk <sup>-</sup> It is Time for a C/D Ratio Calculation. J. Clin. Med. 8 (5), E587. doi: 10.3390/jcm8050587
- Scholten, E. M., Cremers, S. C., Schoemaker, R. C., Rowshani, A. T., van Kan, E. J., den Hartigh, J., et al. (2005). AUC-guided dosing of tacrolimus prevents progressive systemic overexposure in renal transplant recipients. *Kidney Int.* 67 (6), 2440–2447. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00352.x
- Shuker, N., van Gelder, T., and Hesselink, D. A. (2015). Intra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure: causes, consequences for clinical management. *Transplant. Rev. (Orlando).* 29 (2), 78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.trre.2015.01.002
- Stapleton, C. P., Heinzel, A., Guan, W., van der Most, P. J., van Setten, J., Lord, G. M., et al. (2019). n PJ; UK Ireland Renal Transplant Consortium; DeKAF Genomics and GEN03 Studies; International Genetics and Translational Research in Transplantation Network. The impact of donor and recipient common clinical and genetic variation on estimated glomerular filtration rate in a European renal transplant population. *Am. J. Transpl.* 19 (8), 2262–2273. doi: 10.1111/ajt.15326
- Taber, D. J., Gebregziabher, M. G., Srinivas, T. R., Chavin, K. D., Baliga, P. K., and Egede, L. E. (2015). African-American race modifies the influence of tacrolimus concentrations on acute rejection and toxicity in kidney transplant recipients. *Pharmacotherapy* 35 (6), 569–577. doi: 10.1002/ phar.1591

- Takemoto, S. K., Pinsky, B. W., Schnitzler, M. A., Lentine, K. L., Willoughby, L. M., Burroughs, T. E., et al. (2007). A retrospective analysis of immunosuppression compliance, dose reduction and discontinuation in kidney transplant recipients. Am. J. Transpl. 7 (12), 2704–2711. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01966.x
- Thölking, G., Fortmann, C., Koch, R., Gerth, H. U., Pabst, D., Pavenstädt, H., et al. (2014). The tacrolimus metabolism rate influences renal function after kidney transplantation. *PloS One* 9 (10), e111128. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0111128
- Thölking, G., Schmidt, C., Koch, R., Schuette-Nuetgen, K., Pabst, D., Wolters, H., et al. (2016). Influence of tacrolimus metabolism rate on BKV infection after kidney transplantation. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 32273. doi: 10.1038/srep32273
- Thölking, G., Schütte-Nütgen, K., Schmitz, J., Rovas, A., Dahmen, M., Bautz, J., et al. (2019). A Low Tacrolimus Concentration/Dose Ratio Increases the Risk for the Development of Acute Calcineurin Inhibitor-Induced Nephrotoxicity. J. Clin. Med. 8 (10), E1586. doi: 10.3390/jcm8101586
- Thervet, E., Anglicheau, D., King, B., Schlageter, M. H., Cassinat, B., Beaune, P., et al. (2003). Impact of cytochrome p450 3A5 genetic polymorphism on tacrolimus doses and concentration-to-dose ratio in renal transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 76 (8), 1233–1235. doi: 10.1097/01.TP.0000090753.99170.89
- Trofe-Clark, J., Brennan, D. C., West-Thielke, P., Milone, M. C., Lim, M. A., Neubauer, R., et al. (2018). Results of ASERTAA, a Randomized Prospective Crossover Pharmacogenetic Study of Immediate-Release Versus Extended-Release Tacrolimus in African American Kidney Transplant Recipients. Am. J. Kidney Dis. 71 (3), 315–326. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2017.07.018
- van Duijnhoven, E. M., Boots, J. M., Christiaans, M. H., Stolk, L. M., Undre, N. A., and van Hooff, J. P. (2003). Increase in tacrolimus trough levels after steroid withdrawal. *Transpl. Int.* 16 (10), 721–725. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-2277. 2003.tb00230.x
- van Gelder, T. (2014). Within-patient variability in immunosuppressive drug exposure as a predictor for poor outcome after transplantation. *Kidney Int.* 85 (6), 1267–1268. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.484
- van Schaik, R. H., van der Heiden, I. P., van den Anker, J. N., and Lindemans, J. (2002). CYP3A5 variant allele frequencies in Dutch Caucasians. *Clin. Chem.* 48 (10), 1668–1671. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/48.10.1668
- Vanhove, T., Annaert, P., and Kuypers, D. R. (2016). Clinical determinants of calcineurin inhibitor disposition: a mechanistic review. *Drug Metab. Rev.* 48, 88–112. doi: 10.3109/03602532.2016.1151037

- Veenhof, H., Koster, R. A., Alffenaar, J. C., Berger, S. P., Bakker, S. J. L., and Touw, D. J. (2017). Clinical Validation of Simultaneous Analysis of Tacrolimus, Cyclosporine A, and Creatinine in Dried Blood Spots in Kidney Transplant Patients. *Transplantation* 101 (7), 1727–1733. doi: 10.1097/ TP.000000000001591
- Woillard, J. B., Gatault, P., Picard, N., Arnion, H., Anglicheau, D., Marquet, P., et al. (2018). and recipient candidate gene association study of allograft loss in renal transplant recipients receiving a tacrolimus-based regimen. *Am. J. Transpl.* Dec18 (12), 2905–2913. doi: 10.1111/ajt.14894
- Zheng, S., Tasnif, Y., Hebert, M. F., Davis, C. L., Shitara, Y., Calamia, J. C., et al. (2012). Measurement and compartmental modeling of the effect of CYP3A5 gene variation on systemic and intrarenal tacrolimus disposition. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 92 (6), 737–745. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2012.175
- Zwart, T. C., Gokoel, S. R. M., van der Boog, P. J. M., de Fijter, J. W., Kweekel, D. M., Swen, J. J., et al. (2018). Therapeutic drug monitoring of tacrolimus and mycophenolic acid in outpatient renal transplant recipients using a volumetric dried blood spot sampling device. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 84 (12), 2889–2902. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13755

**Conflict of Interest**: In the last 3 years TG has received lecture fees and study grants from Chiesi and Astellas, in addition to consulting fees from Roche Diagnostics, Vitaeris, Astellas, Aurinia Pharma and Novartis. In all cases money has been transferred to hospital accounts, and none has been paid to his personal bank accounts. TG does not have employment or stock ownership at any of these companies, and neither does he have patents or patent applications.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 van Gelder, Meziyerh, Swen, de Vries and Moes. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Pharmacogenomics as a Tool to Limit Acute and Long-Term Adverse Effects of Chemotherapeutics: An Update in Pediatric Oncology

Emma C. Bernsen<sup>1\*</sup>, Melanie M. Hagleitner<sup>2</sup>, Theodorus W. Kouwenberg<sup>2</sup> and Lidwien M. Hanff<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Pharmacy, Princess Máxima Centre for Pediatric Oncology, Utrecht, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatric Hematooncology, Princess Máxima Centre for Pediatric Oncology, Utrecht, Netherlands

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Amit V. Pandey, University of Bern, Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Volker Martin Lauschke, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden Balraj Mittal, British Burn Association, United Kingdom Maja Krajinovic, Université de Montréal, Canada

\*Correspondence:

Emma C. Bernsen e.c.bernsen@ prinsesmaximacentrum.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

**Received:** 03 March 2020 **Accepted:** 21 July 2020 **Published:** 05 August 2020

#### Citation:

Bernsen EC, Hagleitner MM, Kouwenberg TW and Hanff LM (2020) Pharmacogenomics as a Tool to Limit Acute and Long-Term Adverse Effects of Chemotherapeutics: An Update in Pediatric Oncology. Front. Pharmacol. 11:1184. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.01184 In the past decades, new cancer treatments have been introduced in pediatric oncology leading to improvement in clinical outcomes and survival rates. However, due to interindividual differences, some children experience severe chemotherapy-induced toxicities or a poor clinical outcome. An explanation for the diversity in response to chemotherapy is genetic variation, leading to differences in expression and activity of metabolizing and transport enzymes as well as drug targets. Pharmacogenetic testing has emerged as a promising tool to predict and limit acute and long-term adverse effects in patients. However, in pediatric oncology, limited number of patients and a considerable diversity in study results complicate the interpretation of test results and its clinical relevance. With this review, we provide an overview of new developments over the past four years regarding relevant polymorphisms related to toxicity in pediatric oncology. The following chemotherapeutics and associated toxicities are discussed: alkylating agents, anthracyclines, asparaginase, methotrexate, platinum compounds, steroids, thiopurines, topoisomerase inhibitors, and vinca alkaloids. Our review identifies several questions regarding the role of genetic variants in chemotherapyinduced toxicities. Ambiguities in the literature stem from small population sizes, differences in (statistical) interpretation and variations in sequencing technologies as well as different clinical outcome definitions. Standardization of clinical outcome data and toxicity definitions within electronic health records combined with the increased availability of genomic sequence techniques in clinical practice will help to validate these models in upcoming years.

Keywords: pediatric oncology, chemotherapeutic agents, drug toxicity, adverse effects, pharmacogenomics

## INTRODUCTION

Over the past decades, the 5-year survival rate for childhood cancer improved from 58% for children diagnosed during 1975 to 1977 to 83% for those diagnosed during 2005 to 2015 (O'Leary et al., 2008; Pui et al., 2011; Siegel et al., 2019). This improvement is mainly driven by risk stratification and intensification of cytotoxic chemotherapy. As survival is increasing, the focus has shifted to decreasing serious toxicities of chemotherapy without losing anti-tumor effectiveness of

33

multimodality treatment. Inter-individual differences in drug response have been implicated as an important consequence of chemotherapy-induced toxicities (Roden et al., 2019). As a result, genetic predisposition has been proposed as an explanation for individual variation in chemotherapeutic response and toxicity.

Pharmacogenomics includes all studies assessing genetic variations in patients influencing pharmacokinetics (drug absorption, metabolism, excretion, cellular transport) and pharmacodynamics. Pharmacogenetic testing has emerged as a promising tool to predict and limit acute and long term adverse effects in individual patients, and is widely investigated in pharmacogenomics (PGx) and genome-wide association studies (GWAS) (Relling et al., 2020). At present, the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) has provided guidelines for the implementation of pharmacogenetics in practice, which led to 23 clinical guidelines, comprising 19 genes and 46 drugs (Haidar et al., 2019; Relling et al., 2020). In the Netherlands, The Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) has reviewed 97 gene-drug interactions, leading to multiple recommendations for clinical practice (KNMP apothekersorganisatie; van der Wouden et al., 2019). However, these guidelines are predominantly based on research in adults and exclude some pediatric cancer treatment drugs (e.g. asparaginase).

The rarity of childhood cancer and inherently small patient populations combined with diversity in outcome measurements led to uncertainties regarding the clinical relevance of genetic testing in pediatric oncology as well as difficulties with the interpretation of test results (Relling and Klein, 2011). Given that high survival rate in pediatric cancer is dependent on intensive chemotherapy, clinicians are hesitant to preemptively reduce dosages due to genetic variants, as retaining the beneficial outcome is of utmost importance in pediatric cancer.

The availability and affordability of genomic technologies have improved greatly in the past years, resulting in many studies, albeit of varying quality. In this literature review we provide an overview of developments and new insights over the last years regarding relevant genes and polymorphisms as well as their role in acute and long-term adverse effects of drugs in pediatric oncology. The review is limited to pediatric age group (0–18 years). To address the recent developments, we reviewed recent publications (from 2016 onward) using terms related to pediatric oncology, pharmacogenomics and pharmacogenetics, and toxicities of (pediatric) cancer drugs. While a wide variety of supportive care drugs (e.g. anti-infective drugs, analgesics drugs, and antiemetic drugs) and immunotherapy are also used in pediatric oncology, we focus exclusively on the association between genetic variants and chemotherapy-induced toxicities.

## ROLE OF PHARMACOGENETIC VARIATIONS IN CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC RELATED TOXICITIES

The following chemotherapeutics and their toxicities have been selected based upon extensive use in pediatric oncology: alkylating agents, anthracyclines, asparaginase, methotrexate, platinum compounds, steroids, thiopurines, topo-isomerase inhibitors, and vinca alkaloids. For each chemotherapeutic agent, the relationship between various genetic variations and chemotherapy-induced toxicity are discussed. An overview of recent studies included in this review can be found in **Supplementary Table 1**.

## **Alkylating Agents**

Alkylating agents are widely used antitumor prodrugs deriving their cytotoxic effect from adding an alkyl group to the guanine base of the DNA molecule. This alkylation results in abnormal nucleotide sequences, miscoding of messenger RNA, blockade of DNA replication and breakage of DNA strands and eventually tumor cell death. Most common alkylating agents in pediatric oncology are nitrogen mustards like cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide, alkyl sulfonates like busulfan and triazenes such as dacarbazine and temozolomide. Alkylating agents show a wide range of toxicity including myelosuppression, kidney and gastrointestinal toxicities. Due to limited data, only cyclophosphamide, ifosfamide, and busulfan are updated in this review. In addition to toxicity studies, we also included studies analyzing the association between pharmacokinetics of alkylating agents and genetic variants, while limited studies were available which directly investigated the association between genetic variants and alkylating-induced toxicities.

### Cyclophosphamide

#### Metabolism and Transport

Activation of cyclophosphamide is catalysed by the hepatic cytochrome P450 (CYP) isozymes *CYP2B6*, *CYP2C19*, and *CYP3A4*. The overall metabolism of cyclophosphamide is complex, with numerous enzymes involved which vary in expression and activity.

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity

In the past, *CYP2B6* and *CYP2C19* have shown to influence cyclophosphamide pharmacokinetics in adult patients (Helsby et al., 2010). Recently, the influence of *CYP2B6* on cyclophosphamide clearance was confirmed in the pediatric population of 49 B-cell Non Hodgkin Lymphoma (NHL) patients. Patients carrying *CYP2B6\*6* had significant lower cyclophosphamide clearance (Veal et al., 2016). This is in line with previous research showing a decreased function of *CYP2B6\*6* (Lang et al., 2001; Hesse et al., 2004; Zukunft et al., 2005; CYP2B6 P, 2020).

#### Ifosfamide

#### Metabolism and Transport

Ifosfamide requires activation by *CYP3A4* and *CYP2B6* to active metabolites. Variation in the renal expression of *CYP2B6* leads to higher rates of ifosfamide metabolite chloroacetaldehyde (CAA), which is nephrotoxic. Increasing evidence suggests that CAA is also involved in ifosfamide-induced encephalopathy.

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity

Very limited data is available regarding the influence of genetic variants on toxicity of ifosfamide. *CYP2B6\*6* carriers have been

linked with ifosfamide-induced encephalopathy in a report of three pediatric cases (Duflot et al., 2018). Earlier, this genotype has been linked with lower catalytic activity and protein expression in the liver, higher concentrations of ifosfamide and higher rates of CAA associated toxicity (Wang and Tompkins, 2008). This could be a mechanism for ifosfamide-induced encephalopathy, though more extensive studies are needed to confirm this assumption.

In conclusion, prospective studies are needed to further elucidate the role of CYP2B6 polymorphism in the metabolism and toxicity of cyclophosphamide and ifosfamide.

#### Busulfan

#### Metabolism and Transport

Busulfan, widely used in conditioning regimens before hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, has a narrow therapeutic window and demonstrates wide interpatient variability in pharmacokinetics. High drug exposure is associated with increased risk of toxicities, such as veno-occlusive disease, while low drug exposure is associated with treatment failure. Busulfan is metabolized in the liver by glutathione S-transferase isoenzymes (*GSTs*). *GSTA1* is the predominant GST isoenzyme in the metabolism of busulfan. *GSTM1* and *GSTT1* are involved to a lesser extent.

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity

In the past, several studies in adult and pediatric patients showed a higher busulfan clearance in patients with GSTA1\*A/\*A genotype (with consequent lower AUC), while patients with GST\*B/\*B genotype had lower clearance (with consequent higher AUC) (Myers et al., 2017). While this association has been found, it is noteworthy that not all studies found clinical correlations. Recently, one study has successfully incorporated GSTA1 genotype into a pharmacokinetic model for busulfan in a group of 112 pediatric patients. In this study, GSTA1\*A2 or \*A3 homozygote or heterozygote carriers showed a 7% higher clearance. Also, clearance of patients carrying GSTA1\*B1b\*B1b was 12% lower. Based doses in this study resulted in a better achievement of AUC targets (see Supplemental Material of Nava et al. for gene expression information) (Nava et al., 2018). However, another recent study showed no significant association with GST polymorphisms and busulfan pharmacokinetics (Nishikawa et al., 2019). These contradictory data may be attributed due to small study cohorts and variation in study design. Further basic research and clinical investigative efforts are required to fully understand the key factors determining busulfan PGx characteristics (Myers et al., 2017).

### Anthracyclines

Anthracyclines are widely used in many pediatric cancers, including leukemia, lymphomas, and solid tumors. Anthracyclines agents are doxorubicin, daunorubicin, idarubicin, epirubicin, and mitoxantrone. While their mechanism of action is not fully known, it is believed anthracyclines interfere with DNA metabolism (including inhibition of topoisomerase II) and damage DNA through reactive oxygen species (ROS) (McGowan et al., 2017; Anthracyclines and related substances, 2020). Notorious for their severe cardiotoxicity, anthracycline cumulative doses are monitored closely during treatment.

#### Anthracycline-Induced Cardiotoxicity

Anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity can be acute and reversible (within the first weeks of treatment) or develops one or more year(s) after treatment discontinuation and causes chronic cardiotoxicity. There are various theories with regard to the development of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. One theory discusses the formation of ROS and topoisomerase II alterations which causes damage to cardiomyocytes and mitochondria in cells. ROS is mainly formed during anthracyclines metabolism. Also, risk factors such as sex, age, comorbidities, and cumulative dose of anthracyclines (>350 mg/ m<sup>2</sup>) play a relevant role in anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity (see for more in-depth information on cardiotoxicity Bansal et al.'s review) (Bansal et al., 2017). However, ROS formation, topoisomerase II alterations and the mentioned risk factors do not fully explain the inter-individuals differences in the severity of cardiotoxicity among children (Huang et al., 2017). This led to the assumption that genes involved in metabolism and transport of anthracyclines as well as genes associated with the prevention of ROS and genes involved in iron homeostasis could also influence anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity (see Figures 1 and 2) (Thorn et al., 2011; Aminkeng et al., 2016; Doxorubicin Pathway, 2020; Doxorubicin Pathway (Cardiomyocyte Cell) P, 2020).

#### Metabolism and Transport

Anthracyclines are metabolized through three pathways: hydroxylation, semiquinone formation, and/or deoxyaglycone formation. Hydroxylation is mediated by NADPH-dependent carbonyl (*CBR*) and aldo-keto (*AKR*) reductases. Enzymes known for catalyzing semiquinone formation are CYP reductase (*CYPR*), NADH dehydrogenase (*NDUFS*), nitric oxide synthase (*NOS*), and xanthine oxidase. These conversions also increase the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS). The final metabolizing step is deoxyaglycone formation. This is catalyzed by NADPH quinone oxidoreductases (*NQO1*), *CPR*, and xanthine dehydrogenase (*XDH*) (see **Figures 1** and **2**) (Thorn et al., 2011; Edwardson et al., 2015; Doxorubicin Pathway, 2020; Doxorubicin Pathway (Cardiomyocyte Cell) P, 2020).

While the transport of anthracyclines is not fully known, acknowledged genes involved in transport of anthracyclines are ATP-binding cassette (*ABC*) *ABCB1*, *ABCC1*, *ABCC2*, *ABCG2*, and solute carrier (SLC) *SLC22A16* (see Figures 1 and 2).

## Genetic Variants in Metabolizing and Transport Enzymes

Past studies showed a strong association between genetic variations *SLC28A3* (rs7853758 and rs885004) and detoxifying uridine diphosphate glucuronosyl transferase (*UGT*) *UGT1A6\*4* (rs17863783) and anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity (Visscher et al., 2013; Aminkeng et al., 2016). Also genetic variations in *CBR3* (Blanco et al., 2012; Visscher et al., 2012),


*ABCC1* (rs3743527, rs246221) (Blanco et al., 2008), *SLC28A3* (rs885004 and rs4877847), *SLC22A17* (rs4982753, rs4149178) (Visscher et al., 2015), and sulfotransferase (*SULT*) *SULT2B1* (rs12882406 and rs12896494) (Visscher et al., 2015) have been associated with cardiotoxicity during anthracycline treatment (Conyers et al., 2018). In recent years, three studies have focused on *ABCB1*, *ABCC1*, *ABCC2*, *ABCC5*, *ABCG2*, *SLC28A3*, and *CYP3A5* (Krajinovic et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2017; Ruiz-Pinto et al., 2017).

A small Chinese study including 36 ALL patients showed no association between potential metabolizing *CYP3A* polymorphisms (*CYP3A5\*1-\*1*, *CYP3A5\*1-\*3*, *CYP3A5\*3-\*3*) and daunorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity (Huang et al., 2017). A study by Ruiz-Pinto et al. (2017) performed a GWAS with 93 pediatric cancer patients who had used doxorubicin, daunorubicin or epirubicin in the past. In this study, no association was found with transporter *ABCB1* and *SLC28A3* polymorphisms and chronic anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. A retrospective cohort study by Krajinovic et al. (Krajinovic et al., 2016) included 251 cALL patients and 44 cALL patients (validity set). Multiple polymorphisms in transporter genes *ABCC1*, *ABCC2*, *ABCC5*, *ABCB1*, and *ABCG2* were investigated for associations with doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. The *ABCC5* (rs7627754) was found to be significant associated with a lower ejection fraction (EF) and shortening fraction (SF) 3 years after diagnosis, suggesting a possible higher risk for cardiotoxicity with patients carrying this polymorphism.

#### Genetic Variants Involved in ROS Prevention

Genetic variants involved in ROS prevention have received much attention in past studies (Aminkeng et al., 2016; Bansal et al., 2017; Chang and Wang, 2018). These include genetic variations in NADPH oxidase, Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 2 (*RAC2*) (Aminkeng et al., 2015), neutrophil cytosolic factor 4 (*NCF4*) (Visscher et al., 2012), Cytochrome B-245 Alpha Chain (*CYBA*) (Visscher et al., 2012; Windsor et al., 2012; Armenian et al., 2013) and catalase (*CAT*) (Rajić et al., 2009; Aminkeng



et al., 2015; Aminkeng et al., 2016; Conyers et al., 2018). However, results in relation to these gene variants and anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity remain inconsistent. One recent study investigated the role of polymorphisms involved in ROS prevention. A study by Krajinovic et al. (2016) found a possible protective effect of *NOS3* (rs1799983) leading to lower risk of developing chronic doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity.

#### Other Polymorphisms

Four recent studies discussed polymorphisms in genes not clearly relatable to the known mechanisms of action of anthracyclines.

Wang et al. (2016) found an association between CUGBP Elav-Like Family Member 4 (*CELF4*) (rs1786814) and anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. *CELF4* is involved in cardiac dysfunction and fibrosis. In this study, patients carrying *CELF4* (rs1786814) had a higher risk of developing anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. This risk increased significantly when

patients received an anthracycline dose above 300 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. Hildebrandt et al. (2017) showed a significant protective effect of 1-Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate phosphodiesterase epsilon-1 (PLCE1) (rs932764) and ATPase Plasma Membrane Ca2+ Transporting 1 (ATP2B1) (rs17249754) in chronic anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. The anthracyclines used were not specified in this study. PLCE1 and ATP2B1 are involved in calcium signaling in cells. Krajinovic et al. (2016) showed no significant associations between polymorphisms in MutL homolog 1 (MLH1), MLH2 and GSTs and chronic doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. MLH1 and MLH2 are genes playing a role in DNA repair and GSTs are detoxifying enzymes. Another recent study by Singh et al. (2020) investigated the role of GSTM1 in chronic anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. They found that patients carrying GSTM1 null genotype (i.e. enzyme activity is absent) had an increased risk of cardiomyopathie. This risk did not increase with patients who received anthracycline-doses of  $\geq 250 \text{ mg/m}^2$ . Ruiz-Pinto et al.

(2017) showed a significant association between chronic anthracycline (i.e. doxorubicin, daunorubicin or epirubicin)-induced cardiotoxicity and G protein-coupled receptor family 35 (*GPR35*) (rs12468485) gene. Patients carrying *GRP35* (rs12468485) developed cardiotoxicity more frequently.

#### Other Anthracycline-Induced Toxicities

One recent study investigated the role of Glucose-6-fosfaatdehydrogenase (G6PD) (gene involved in the pathway of detoxifying ROS) normal or deficient enzyme function with daunorubicin-induced hematotoxicity. A retrospective study of Robinson et al. (2019) showed no association between G6PD normal of deficient function and daunorubicininduced hematotoxicity.

Most recent studies focused on polymorphisms in metabolism and transport genes. More recently, other genetic variants are discovered through GWAS which play a possible role in toxicities of anthracyclines. However, there is no consensus on the role of metabolism, transport and other gene variants in anthracycline-induced toxicities, and more research is needed to confirm associated findings and propose dose adjustments to minimalize anthracycline-induced (cardio)toxicity.

#### Asparaginase

Asparaginase is a chemotherapeutic agent derived from bacteria *E. Coli* (Oncaspar<sup>®</sup>) and *Erwinia chrysanthemi* (Erwinase<sup>®</sup>) and is used in the treatment for acute lymphatic leukemia (Verma et al., 2007). Asparaginase catalyzes the deamination of asparagine to aspartic acid and ammonia, leading to a reduced serum asparagine concentration and leukemic cell death (Hijiya and van der Sluis, 2016). Unfortunately, asparaginase causes severe toxicities such as hypersensitivity, hepatotoxicity, pancreatitis, and thrombosis. These toxicities lead to therapy resistance, treatment discontinuation and eventually poor clinical outcomes (Hijiya and van der Sluis, 2016; Rank et al., 2019). A study by Rank et al. (2019) showed that pancreatitis occurred in up to 11% of children treated with asparaginase and 44% of patients re-exposed to asparaginase experienced a second episode of pancreatitis.

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity

Over the last years, an increasing number of studies have reported associations between genetic variants and asparaginase toxicities (Abaji and Krajinovic, 2016; Lee and Yang, 2017; Lopez-Santillan et al., 2017; Rank et al., 2019). Genetic variants in asparagine synthase (*ASNS*), human leukocyte antigens (*HLA*) (Abaji and Krajinovic, 2016) and the glutamate Ionotropic Receptor AMPA Type Subunit 1 (*GRIA1*) have been found to influence asparaginase toxicity (Lee and Yang, 2017; Lopez-Santillan et al., 2017). Recently, eight studies investigated four asparaginase-induced toxicities (hypersensitivity, pancreatitis, thrombosis, and hepatotoxicity).

One GWAS by Abaji et al. (2017) assessed the association between asparaginase-induced hypersensitivity, pancreatitis, and thrombosis and polymorphisms. Three genetic variants, transporter SLC7A13 (rs9656982), Myb-binding protein 1A (MYBBP1A) (rs3809849) (involved in embryonic and cellular development such as mitosis) and YTH Domain Containing 2 (YTHDC2) (rs75714066) (involved in regulate mRNA translation and stability), were associated with a higher risk of developing hypersensitivity. Three polymorphisms, ADAM Metallopeptidase With Thrombospondin Type 1 Motif 17 (ADAMTS17) (rs72755233) (function unknown), MYBBP1A (rs3809849) (involved in many cellular processes such as syntheses of ribosomal DNA) and Sperm Antigen With Calponin Homology And Coiled-Coil Domains 1 (SPECC1) (rs9908032) (function unknown), were associated with a higher risk of pancreatitis. Six polymorphisms were associated with a higher risk of thrombosis. These were Polycystin 2 Like 1, Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel (PKD2L1) (rs6584356) (involved in cell-cell/ matrix interactions), Ras And Rab Interactor 3 (RIN3) (rs3742717) (functions as a guanine nucleotide exchange for genes RAB5B and RAB31), Sperm Flagellar 2 (SPEF2) (rs34708521) (involved in axoneme development), Macrophage Expressed 1 (MPEG1) (rs7926933) (involved in cell cycle), interleukin-16 (IL16) (rs11556218) (involved in immune system), and SLC39A12 (rs62619938).

A GWAS by Højfeldt et al. (2019) found a significant higher risk of hypersensitivity with CCR4-NOT Transcription Complex Subunit 3 (CNOT3) (rs73062673). Among other functions, this gene is involved in the regulation of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) gene transcription. While no significance was reached on a genome-wide significance level, Højfeldt et al. also discovered two gene risk variants (i.e. HLA-DQA1 (rs9272131) and the antigen peptide transporter 2 (TAP2) which showed a higher frequency of asparaginase hypersensitivity with patients carrying these variants. These results show that variants in the HLA regions as well as genes regulating expression of these variants are involved in asparaginase hypersensitivity. To further investigate the role of HLA gene variants and asparaginase hypersensitivity, a study by Kutszegi et al. (2017) investigated HLADRB1, HLADQB1, and HLADQA1 alleles (both HLA class II alleles). They showed a significant higher risk of developing hypersensitivity for HLA-DRB1\*07:01, HLA-DBQ1\*02:02, and HLA-DQA1\*02:01 carriers. Also, 27 amino acid positions in HLA class II alleles were found to be significant association with a higher risk for hypersensitivity as well as two haplotypes. These findings are replicated and also confirmed by Gagné et al. (2020).

Three GWAS studies analyzing multiple polymorphisms showed significant associations with asparaginase-induced pancreatitis (Liu et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2017; Wolthers et al., 2017). A GWAS by Liu et al. (2016) generated sixteen carboxypeptidase A2 (*CPA2*) single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) that were associated with pancreatitis (highest association with rs199695765). However, this could not be reproduced by Wolthers et al. (2017). Wolthers et al. (2017) found associations with fourteen SNPs in the theunc-51-like kinase 2 (*ULK2*) gene (highest association with rs281366) and one SNP in G-protein signaling 6 (*RGS6*) gene (rs17179470), nuclear factor of activated T cells 2 (*NFATC2*, rs62228256), pancreatic secretory trypsin

inhibitor (*SPINK1*, rs17107315), chymotrypsin C (*CTRC*, rs10436957), and Claudin-2 (*CLDN2*, rs4409525) (Wolthers et al., 2019). The proteases cationic and anionic (*PRSS1-PRSS2*, rs13228878, and rs10273639) reduced the risk of pancreatitis (Wolthers et al., 2019).

One GWAS by Liu et al. (2017) investigated the role of polymorphisms in hepatotoxicity during asparaginase treatment. They found that higher alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels were associated with patatin-like phospholipase domain-containing protein 3 (*PNPLA3*) (rs738409) (involved in the balance of energy usage and storage in adipocytes).

Studies included in this review added new knowledge to genes and polymorphisms that could play a role in asparaginase toxicity. Previous studies found associations between polymorphisms in asparagine synthase (*ASNS* gene), human leukocyte antigens (*HLA* gene) (Abaji and Krajinovic, 2016) and the glutamate receptor (*GRIA1* gene) and asparaginase toxicity (Lee and Yang, 2017; Lopez-Santillan et al., 2017; Hojfeldt et al., 2019).

#### **Methotrexate**

Methotrexate (MTX) is widely used in pediatric oncology treatment protocols of both hematological malignancies (including ALL) as well as solid tumors. MTX is administrated through various ways of administrations and dosages. These include high intravenous (IV) dosage (>500 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, up to 12 g/ m<sup>2</sup>), low oral dosages during the maintenance phase as well as intrathecal administration. The drug has shown great benefit in many cancer treatments, but is also associated with various toxicities, ranging from gastro-intestinal toxicity (including severe mucositis), hepatic toxicity, neurotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, and hematological toxicity. These toxicities show large inter-individual differences in pediatric patients. Not only toxicity has been found to be unpredictable, also variations in MTX activity and resistance or reduced sensitivity have been seen in clinical settings.

#### Metabolism and Transport

MTX acts by inhibiting the folate acid cycle, resulting in impairing nucleic acid syntheses. Its pharmacological action follows a complex pattern, with many metabolic enzymes, transporters, and targets. Genetic variants may influence the pharmacological action of MTX in several ways, and many candidate polymorphisms have been studied in relation to folate pathways or MTX metabolism, in search for correlation with response or toxicity of MTX.

#### **Genetic Variances and Toxicity**

MTX enters the cell through active transport through reduced folate carrier (*SLCO1B1/RFC1*). Efflux transporter gene belongs to the ABC superfamily, including ABC transporters such as *ABCB1*. The OATP transporter family is expressed in a variety of tissues and organs important for, among others, MTX elimination. Across the blood-brain barrier, MTX undergoes saturable efflux, presumably through *ABCG2* and organic anion transporter OAT3 (see **Figure 3**) (Mikkelsen et al., 2011; Franca et al., 2017; Methotrexate Pathway, 2020). MTX is intracellularly metabolized to its active polyglutamate form (MTX-PGs) by folylpolyglutamate-synthetase (*FPGS*) and gamma-glutamyl hydrolase (*GGH*) enzymes. GGH enzymes catalyzes the removal of polyglutamates

Polymorphism in genes, coding for these transporters, have been studied for associations with an altered clearance and sensitivity of MTX (e.g. *ABCB1* and *ABCC4* genes), but results have been inconsistent (Ramírez-Pacheco et al., 2016; Hegyi et al., 2017). Genetic polymorphism in the ABC-transporter genes are believed to result in failure of the excretory system, prolonged MTX exposure and have been associated with higher incidence of myelosuppression during MTX treatment (Mlakar et al., 2016).

Recently, *SLCO1B1* gene (encoding for OATP1B1 transporter) has gained interest. The OATP1B1 transporter, located on the membrane of human hepatocytes, mediates disposition of many medications. *SLCO1B1* polymorphisms have been associated with lower MTX clearance, nephrotoxicity, and GI toxicity (Liu et al., 2017). While the association for *SLCO1B1* could not be replicated by Razali et al. (2020), they did show a possible increased risk of leukopenia with *ABCC2* (rs717620) or the transcriptional factor of B lymphocyte progenitors (*ARID5B*, rs4948496) carriers. Patients with genetic variants in *SLCO1B1* may benefit from increased precautionary measures like more aggressive hydration and alkalization (Mlakar et al., 2016).

*SLCO1A2* (encoding for OATP1A2 transporter) plays a role in MTX elimination. A microRNA (miR) binding site polymorphism in *SLCO1A2* (rs4149009) showed delayed MTX excretion in Chinese population (Wang et al., 2018).

Preliminary evidence showed that *SLC19A1* polymorphism (*SLC19A1* 80G>A), an influx transporter involved in MTX uptake in gut and liver cells, may have a protective effect on the occurrence of mucositis (Park and Shin, 2016; Kotnik et al., 2017). *GGH* polymorphism (*GGH\_16T/C*) has been described in relation to MTX associated hepatotoxicity in osteosarcoma patients (Hattinger et al., 2016).

Based on recent studies, genetic variance in transporter or metabolizing enzymes is expected to have influence on the exposure of MTX and its toxicity. However, given the complex route of metabolism and transport of MTX, a simple PGx model will probably not suffice.

#### **Genetic Variances and Target**

Both MTX and MTX-PGs inhibit dihydrofolate reductase (*DHFR*), an enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of dihydrofolate to its active form tetrahydrofolate. Tetrahydrofolate deficiency leads to the depletion of intracellular folates, resulting in decreased synthesis of nucleic acids and cell death. MTX-PGs also interfere with methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (*MTHFR*), an enzyme which plays a major part in intracellular folate metabolism. Another enzyme target of MTX is thymidylate synthesise (*TYMS*), responsible for synthesis of a precursor of DNA synthesis.

Variants in *MTHFR* activity have been described and the role of *MTHFR* polymorphism (mainly C677T and A1298C genotypes) in relation to toxicity has been studied by several groups (Campbell et al., 2016; Ramírez-Pacheco et al., 2016;



Mahmoud et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2018; Yousef et al., 2019). However, recent reviews summarized the available data and showed ambiguous results (Umerez et al., 2017; Yao et al., 2019), concluding no clear correlation could be established between *MTHFR* polymorphism and MTX toxicity or relapse data.

*DHFR* and *TYMS* genes have also been studied in smaller cohorts in relation to hematological toxicity of MTX and to intrinsic resistance to MTX (Yousef et al., 2019). However, these results have also been inconclusive.

#### Neurotoxicity, Hepatotoxicity, and Mucositis

MTX and MTX-polyglutamates (MTX-PGs) interfere with the adenosine pathway by inhibiting 5-aminoimidazole-4-

carboxamide ribonucleotide formiltransferase (*ATIC*) and promoting adenosine release. This pathway has been implicated in MTX-associated neurotoxicity. Adenosine receptor *ADORA2A* polymorphisms have been associated with MTX related leukoencephalopathy in a small cohort study (Tsujimoto et al., 2016) and with an increased risk on hepatotoxicity (Franca et al., 2017). A study performed by Gutierrez-Camino et al. (2017b) replicated results showing an association between MTX-induced mucositis and miR-1206 variant (rs2114358) in ALL patients.

In summary, many efforts have been undertaken to associate polymorphism in enzymes involved in metabolic routes or targets of MTX with toxicity or activity. These were mainly based upon pediatric cohorts of patients with ALL or osteosarcoma. Despite several positive associations, replication in other cohorts has been difficult and evidence for the association between polymorphism and MTX toxicity is still inconsistent. Currently, pharmacokinetic (PK)/pharmacodynamic (PD) monitoring of MTX treatment is still mandatory as the genomic complexity associated with MTX treatment hampers the preemptive use of PGx to predict variability in toxicity or response in individual patients.

#### **Platinum Compounds**

In pediatric oncology, platinum compounds such as cisplatin and carboplatin are widely used in solid malignancy and neuro oncology treatments. Similar to alkylating agents, they cause DNA damage by establishing crosslinks within and between DNA strands. Characteristic toxicities of platinum compounds include nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, and ototoxicity.

#### Metabolism and Transport

Platinum compound transport is handled by several enzymes, including copper uptake protein 1 (CTR1), ABCC2, coppertransporting P-type ATPase (ATP7A), and ATP7B. Inside the nucleus, platinum-DNA adducts are formed. Several mechanisms influence the impact of DNA damage caused by platinum compounds, including recognition of platinum-DNA adducts (HMGB1), DNA mismatch repair (MSH2, MSH6, MLH1, and PMS1 Homolog 2, Mismatch Repair System Component (PMS2), nucleotide excision repair (X-Ray Repair Cross Complementing 1 (XRCC1), ERCC excision repair 1, endonuclease non-catalytic subunit (ERCC1), ERCC2, ERCC3, ERCC4, ERCC6, DNA Damage Recognition and Repair Factor (XPA) and SWItch/ Sucrose Non-Fermentable (SWI/SNF) and translesion synthesis (DNA Polymerase Eta (POLH) and DNA polymerase Beta (POBL). Furthermore, several genes (Myeloperoxidase (MPO), superoxide dismutase (SOD1), GSTM1, NQO1, GSTP1, GSTT1, MT1A, and MT2A) may lower the intracellular concentration of platinum compounds (Platinum Pathway Pharmacokinetics/ Pharmacodynamics, 2020).

## Genetic Variances and Toxicity *Nephrotoxicity*

Platinum compounds, mainly cisplatin, cause damage to the proximal tubules in the kidney, leading to acute kidney injury and electrolyte disturbances. Variants in *ERCC1* (rs3212986) (Khrunin et al., 2010; Tzvetkov et al., 2011), *EPHX1* (rs1051740) (Khrunin et al., 2014), organic cation transporter-2 (*OCT2*) (rs596881) and *CTR1* (rs12686377 and rs7851395) (Chang et al., 2017) have been associated with a reduced risk of renal toxicity in adult patients. All these genes play a role in platinum compound uptake and handling. No recent PGx studies were found regarding platinum compound nephrotoxicity in pediatric oncology populations.

#### Neurotoxicity

Platinum-induced peripheral neuropathy may lead to (irreversible) sensory and motor dysfunction. It is a dosedependent phenomenon, which could be progressive months after treatment, leading to significant long-term disability. In a cohort of adult testicular cancer survivors, a GWAS revealed a correlation between reduced expression of Regulation Of Nuclear Pre-MRNA Domain Containing 1B (*RPRD1B*) and cisplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy (Dolan et al., 2017). *RPRD1B* is thought to play an important role in several DNA repair mechanisms. There are no data available on PGx of platinum-induced neuropathy in children.

#### Ototoxicity

Among platinum compounds, cisplatin imposes the highest risk of irreversible sensorineural hearing loss. Known concomitant risk factors include higher cumulative dose, younger age, treatment with additional ototoxic drugs and cranial irradiation. Several genetic variants related to cisplatin ototoxicity, includes rs12201199 in *TPMT*, rs9332377 in catechol-O-methyltransferase (*COMT*) (Ross et al., 2009), and rs62283056 in Wolframin ER Transmembrane Glycoprotein (*WFS1*) (Wheeler et al., 2017). However, results concerning these genes are conflicting (Thiesen et al., 2017).

A genetic variant (rs1872328) in Acylphosphatase 2 (*ACYP2*), coding for a protein thought to be responsible for hair cell development, was found to be significantly associated with hearing loss in pediatric patients treated with cisplatin for embryonal tumors (Xu et al., 2015) and osteosarcomas (Vos et al., 2016). Recently, a variant in *GSTP1* (rs1695), coding for a detoxification enzyme, was found to be associated with an elevated risk of hearing loss in pediatric patients treated with cisplatin or carboplatin (Liberman et al., 2018). Another recent study investigated the role of genes responsible for nucleotide excision repair in DNA (Turan et al., 2019). However, no significant association between ototoxicity and *ERCC1* (rs25487), *ERCC2* (rs13181), and *XRCC1* (rs11615) was found.

Apart from genetic factors, epigenetic factors influencing cisplatin ototoxicity have recently come to attention. In a pediatric medulloblastoma and primitive neuroectodermal tumor patient cohort, Brown et al. (2017) found an association between increased cisplatin ototoxicity susceptibility and a methylation locus (cg14010619) in the P21 (RAC1) Activated Kinase 4 (*PAK4* gene). This gene is responsible for stereociliary bundle migration in inner and outer cochlear hair cells.

In conclusion, PGx studies concerning platinum compound toxicity in pediatric populations have so far focused on ototoxicity. The results of these studies, however, have not yet resulted in PGx based dosing recommendations.

## Glucocorticosteroids

Glucocorticosteroids (GCs) play a major role in the treatment of pediatric cancer. Despite significant benefits of high-dose GCs, treatment is associated with toxicities like hepatotoxicity, hypertension, muscle wasting, metabolic effects, neuropsychiatric effects, osteonecrosis, and osteoporosis.

#### Metabolism and Transport

Glucocorticoids (GC) exert their activity by reducing cell proliferation and promoting apoptosis or cell arrest by binding to intracytoplasmic glucocorticoid receptors (*GR/NR3C1*). Three polymorphisms in the *NR3C1* gene are known to be associated

with reduced sensitivity of GCs: *TthIIII* (rs10052957), *ER22/23K* (rs6189/rs6190), and *GR-9* $\beta$  (rs6198). In contrast, *N363S* (rs6195) and *BC1I* (rs41423247) are associated with an increased sensitivity to GC (van Rossum and Lamberts, 2004).

GCs are metabolized in the liver primarily *via CYP3A4*. Expression of *CYP3A4* varies between individuals and has been associated with outcome in adult cancers (Miyoshi et al., 2002). Differences in expression of *CYP3A4* may be explained by polymorphisms in nuclear receptors (*NR112*) that are involved in the transcriptional regulation of *CYP3A4* (Lamba et al., 2010).

GCs are mainly transported by a multidrug resistance protein encoded by *ABCB1*. Inter-individual variability in the expression of multidrug resistant gene (*MDR1*) is observed and may influence the efficacy of GCs. Furthermore, *GSTs* are involved in several cellular processes and genes of the BCL2 family are involved in the apoptotic response of GCs.

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity

Numerous studies have investigated the potential link between polymorphisms in the *NR3C1*, *CYP3A4*, *ABCB1*, *GST*, and *BCL2* genes and GC response and toxicity, but have yielded conflicting results and so far, none of the studied genetic variants has been implemented in the treatment of cancer. In the past four years only a few new studies have been published.

A recent study including 346 pediatric ALL patients showed that patients with N363S genotype in the *NR3C1* gene were more prone to steroid-induced toxicities during ALL treatment. Hepatotoxicity was significantly more frequent among patients with N363S genotype than non-carriers (Eipel et al., 2016). This underlines the hypothesis that increased GC sensitivity due to a polymorphism might lead to increased susceptibility to steroid-induced toxicity. A study by ElFayoumi et al. (2018) associated a polymorphism in the *ABCB1* (rs1045642 C3435T) gene with life-threatening infections due to GC treatment.

Bone fractures and osteonecrosis have most frequently been attributed to exposure to GCs. Two polymorphisms in the BCL2L11 gene (891T>G rs2241843 and 29201C>T rs724710), encoding Bim protein, were significantly associated with steroidinduced osteonecrosis in children with ALL. The 891T>G was also confirmed in a replication cohort and influenced in vitro Bim gamma isoform levels. Bim proteins are believed to be involved in the sensitivity of ALL cells to corticosteroid-induced apoptosis (Plesa et al., 2019). A GWAS in children with ALL and osteonecrosis showed that the SNP rs10989692 near the glutamate receptor GRIN3A locus, was associated with osteonecrosis (Karol et al., 2015). Glutamate receptor variants were previously associated with arterial embolism and thrombosis (Lin et al., 2013). GCs have been shown to induce the expression of glutamine synthetase in osteoblasts (Olkku et al., 2004). Hence, variations in the glutamate receptors may contribute to vascular events leading to osteonecrosis in patients exposed to GC therapy (Karol et al., 2015). Meanwhile bone toxicity has mainly been considered a consequence of exposure to corticosteroids during ALL therapy (Mattano et al., 2000; Girard et al., 2013). Recently, the TS variant 2R/2R was associated with increased rise of osteonecrosis among children younger than 10

years at diagnosis suggesting that MTX may play a pathophysiologic role in the development of osteonecrosis (Finkelstein et al., 2017). Although evidence is limited, published data describe a positive association between polymorphisms in GC pathways and the efficacy and toxicity of GCs. Its impact on outcome is debatable since resistance to GC might be overcome by the effect of combination drug therapy. Concerning GC-induced toxicity larger studies are needed to investigate the role of genetic polymorphisms in the development of GC-induced toxicity to avoid severe complications.

#### Thiopurines

6-Mercaptopurine (6MP) is the cornerstone of the maintenance phase of ALL treatment in children and is used more often than its analogue tioguanine (TG). 6MP is required continuously for 2 to 3 years in leukemia treatment and used in oral dosages varying between 25 and 75 mg/m<sup>2</sup>. Known for its narrow therapeutic window, 6MP is able to cause severe toxicities including myelosuppression, hepatotoxicity, and GI toxicity. 6MP treatment interruption is known to increase the risk of relapse. It is therefore of great importance to find and maintain the optimal 6MP dosage in ALL patients.

#### Metabolism and Transport

6MP is converted intracellularly by hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyl transferase (HPRT) into active 6-thioguanine nucleotides (6TG) which are incorporated into DNA, causing cell death. 6MP is methylated by the enzyme thiopurine S-methyltransferase (TPMT) into 6-methylmercapturine (6-MMP). Methylated 6MP metabolites also contribute to the cytotoxic effects of 6MP by inhibiting *de novo* synthesis of purines. Increased levels of 6-TGN and 6-MMP have been associated with an increased risk of toxicity (Koutsilieri et al., 2019).

TPMP activity is well studied and shown to be highly variable among individuals, although the incidence of genetic variants differs between ethnic populations (Jimenez-Morales et al., 2016). In Caucasians, 90% to 95% of subjects have a normal/ high TPMT activity, 5% to 10% reduced and around 0.5% an absent enzymatic activity (Franca et al., 2019). In Asian and Hispanic population, the incidence of variant TPMT genes is much lower (Koutsilieri et al., 2019).

Three variant alleles *TPMT\*2* (G238C), *TPMT\*3A* (G460A and A719G) and *TPMT\*3C* (A719G), account for more than 95% of the inherited variability in TPMT enzyme activity (Conyers et al., 2018), although more TPMT deficient variants have recently been identified, with a less frequent occurrence (Koutsilieri et al., 2019).

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity

Polymorphisms in TPMT are well studied in relation to the risk of toxicity (mostly severe myelosuppression) and corresponding dosage adjustments (Jimenez-Morales et al., 2016). This has lead to implementation of Federal Drugs Authority (FDA) and European Medical Agency (EMA) supporting clinical guidelines for preemptive testing of TPMT, corresponding with lower starting dosages of 6MP for poor and intermediate metabolizers (Relling et al., 2020). In this review, one study examining the tolerable dose and treatment outcome within patients carrying *TPMT* and nudix hydrolase 15 (*NUDT15*) genetic variants is included, while dose adjustments for *TPMT* and *NUDT15* intermediate and/or poor metabolizers are already used in practice (Liang et al., 2016).

The discovery of frequent thiopurine-induced myelosuppression in Asian populations, while TPMT variants rarely occur in these ethnic populations, has led to several studies on the role of NUDT15 and ITPA gene variants (Liang et al., 2016; Milosevic et al., 2018). NUDT15 dephosphorylates thiopurine active metabolites and reduces the formation of active 6TG nucleotides, whereas ITPA is assumed to stimulate the formation of 6TG nucleotides. Results with respect to the influence of ITPA polymorphism in relation to myelosuppression, hepatotoxicity or TGN formation have not been consistent and its clinical relevance is still controversial (Gerbek et al., 2018; Milosevic et al., 2018; Soler et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018; Khera et al., 2019; Wahlund et al., 2020). In contrast, in many recent studies, NUDT15 gene defects (rs116855232, rs186364861, rs869320766, rs201094029) have shown to result in increased TG availability for incorporation into DNA and have consistently been associated with TG toxicity including early myelosuppression (Chiengthong et al., 2016; Moriyama et al., 2016; Lee and Yang, 2017; Moriyama et al., 2017; Moriyama et al., 2017; Soler et al., 2018; Choi et al., 2019; Khera et al., 2019; Koutsilieri et al., 2019). The incidence of NUDT15 gene defects is higher in Asian and Hispanic populations, but NUDT15 genetic polymorphism has also been described in European patients (Schaeffeler et al., 2019). Therefore, the most recent CPIC guideline on thiopurines recommends both TPMT and NUDT genotyping (Koutsilieri et al., 2019; Relling et al., 2019).

Other SNPs that have been studied in relation to thiopurine sensitivity are variants within the phosphoribosylglycinamide formyltransferase (GART) gene (involved in folate cycle), Molybdenum Cofactor Sulfurase (MOCOS) gene (involved in thiopurine metabolism) and Protein Kinase C And Casein Kinase Substrate In Neurons 2 (PACSIN2) gene (involved in thiopurine metabolism (Smid et al., 2016; Franca et al., 2019). Polymorphisms in PACSIN2 have been associated with an increased risk of GI and hematologic toxicity during 6MP treatment. However, results have not been as convincing as TPMT and NUDT15 polymorphism (Choi et al., 2019). Genetic variants in Apurinic/Apyrimidinic Endodeoxyribonuclease 1 (APEX1) have been studied in relation to a more general sensitivity to antimetabolite active drugs, as human APEX1 is involved in DNA base excision repair pathway. In Asian populations APEX1 (rs2307486) variant resulted in an increased risk of 6MP-related early onset neutropenia (Kim et al., 2018).

Transporter genes have also been studied and variants in the *ABCB1* gene (C1236T) have found to be associated with increased sensitivity to 6MP (Gervasini et al., 2017), as well as variant genes in efflux transporter *ABCC4* (Kim et al., 2018; Tanaka et al., 2018). These findings have been reported in small studies and need confirmation before being introduced in clinical practice.

In conclusion, in recent years evidence for preemptive TPMT and NUDT15 genotyping in facilitating tailored thiopurine treatment has been firmly established.

#### **Topoisomerase Inhibitors** Topoisomerase I Inhibitors

Topoisomerase I (Top 1) inhibitors act by preventing ligation of single strand breaks in DNA. In pediatric oncology, topoisomerase I inhibitors (such as irinotecan and topotecan) are used in the treatment of multiple solid malignancies. Topoisomerase I inhibitors are known to cause serious toxicities, such as myelosuppression and severe diarrhea. As not much is known on pharmacogenetic mechanisms involved in topotecan metabolism, this section will focus on irinotecan.

#### Metabolism and Transport of Top 1 Inhibitors

Irinotecan is a prodrug that is transported over hepatocyte cell membranes by several transporters (*SLCO1B1, ABCB1, ABCC1, ABCC2,* and *ABCG2*). In the cytosol, it is converted to active compound SN-38 *via* carboxylesterase (*CES1*) and *CES2.* SN-38 actively inhibits topoisomerase I, forcing cells to arrest in S phase and leading to cell death. UGT1A1 detoxifies SN-38 through glucuronidation. UGT1A1 converts SN-38 into soluble and nontoxic SN-38 glucuronic acid, which is released into the intestines. As diarrhea is caused by accumulation of SN-38 in intestinal mucosa, detoxification to SN-38 glucuronic acid is important for limiting this toxicity. Furthermore, irinotecan itself can be converted to inactive metabolites APC and NPC by *CYP3A4* and *CYP3A5.* NPC can be converted to SN-38 by *CES1* and *CES2* (Mlakar et al., 2016).

#### Genetic Variances and Toxicity in Top 1 Inhibitors

Two genetic variants in UGT1A1 are known to significantly influence irinotecan metabolism. UGT1A1\*28 allele (rs8175347) is more prevalent in Caucasian and African American populations compared to East Asian populations (Zhang et al., 2007). It is a thymidine-adenosine (TA) repeat in the UGT1A1 promoter region, impairing transcription and therefore UGT1A1 enzyme function and SN-38 detoxification. This variant is associated with severe neutropenia and late diarrhea. According to the FDA drug label for irinotecan, dose reduction is recommended in adult UGT1A1\*28 poor metabolizers. However, evidence in a pediatric population showed no severe toxicity when a low dose of irinotecan was used (Stewart et al., 2007). UGT1A1\*6 allele (rs4148323) mainly occurs in East Asian populations. It is characterized by G71 to R substitution and causes decreased UGT1A1 enzyme function similar to the UGT1A1\*28 allele (Etienne-Grimaldi et al., 2015).

Efforts to identify genetic variants that influence irinotecan toxicity are ongoing. Trubicka et al. (2017) found that pediatric medulloblastoma patients with variants in DNA repair genes (such as *MSH2*, *RAD50*, nibrin (*NBN*), Fanconi anemia complementation group (*FANCM*), and exonuclease 1 (*EXO1*)) experienced significantly more adverse effects from treatment containing irinotecan. However, as these patients were treated with multiple drugs concomitantly, functional studies will be needed to elucidate the underlying mechanisms.

#### Pharmacogenomics: Update in Pediatric Oncology

#### **Topoisomerase II Inhibitors**

Topoisomerase II (Top 2) inhibitors, such as etoposide, prevent ligation of double strand breaks in DNA. Etoposide is widely used in the treatment of both solid and hematological malignancies in pediatric oncology. Toxicities include myelotoxicity and increased long-term risk of secondary malignancies (such as myeloid leukemia).

Although many enzymes are known to play a role in metabolism and transport of Top 2 inhibitors (among which are CYP3A4, CYP 3A5, and UGT1A), no variants of significant clinical impact have been identified to date (Khera et al., 2019).

#### Vinca Alkaloids

Vinca alkaloids are included in chemotherapy regimens of hematologic malignancies, solid tumors, and neuro-oncology. Their main mechanism lies in the disruption of microtubule function during cell division, leading to a metaphase arrest in the cell cycle and apoptosis (Moudi et al., 2013; van de Velde et al., 2017; Vinka Alkaloid Pathway, 2020). Peripheral neurotoxicity is a well-known side effect of vinca alkaloids, while primarily of vincristine (VCR). VCR-induced peripheral neuropathy has an incidence rate between 78% and 100% (Kandula et al., 2016) leading to muscle weakness and pain in hand and feet (van de Velde et al., 2017). It is dose-dependent and develops most severe at doses above 2 mg/m<sup>2</sup> (Park et al., 2013). Therefore, in pediatric oncology a dose maximum of vincristine is fixed at 2 mg to prevent severe neurotoxicity (Kandula et al., 2016).

Genetic polymorphisms are believed to play a role in a patients' sensitivity for VCR-induced neurotoxicity. These include genes involved in metabolism and transport out of (hepatic) cells of vinca alkaloids as well as genes involved in pharmacodynamics, stabilization, and formation of microtubules and nerves and inherited neuropathy genes (van de Velde et al., 2017). In this review we were only able to update vincristine (VCR) PGx in ALL patients as our literature search revealed no recent studies regarding vinblastine or vinorelbine or other pediatric cancer populations.

#### Metabolism

*CYP3A4* and *CYP3A5* enzymes are involved in the metabolism of vinca alkaloids in the liver and particularly known for VCR metabolism (Vinka Alkaloid Pathway, 2020). Four recent studies showed no association between vincristine (neuro)toxicity and polymorphisms in metabolizing enzymes.

In a retrospective study by Franca et al. (2017) 28 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and two deletions genes involved in efficacy and adverse effects were collected to find an association between the polymorphisms and grade III/IV gastrointestinal, hepatic, and neural toxicity. Before adjusting for multiple variables, four genes were found to be associated with vincristine related toxicities. *ITPA* (rs1127354) increased the risk of neurotoxicity and gastrointestinal toxicity, while *ADORA2A* (rs2236624) was found the associated with hepatic toxicity. After adjustment for multiple variables, none of the associations remained significant (Franca et al., 2017). McClain et al. (2016) performed a retrospective study with 239 Hispanic ALL patients, analyzing *CYP3A5* extensive (\*1/\*1), *CYP3A5* intermediate (\*1/

\*3, \*1/\*6, \*1/\*7) and *CYP3A5* poor metabolizers (\*3/\*3, \*3/\*6, \*3/ \*7). No significant association was found between *CYP3A5* polymorphisms and vincristine-induced peripheral neuropathy (VIPN). Skiles et al. (2018), included a cohort of 78 Kenyan children to find an association between *CYP3A5* and VIPN. Ninety one percent of the children were *CYP3A5* high-expresser genotypes and none developed neuropathy, leading to no conclusive results.

Results in the past are conflicting, showing associations as well as no associations between *CYP3A4*, *CYP3A4\*1B*, *CYP3A5*, *CYP3A5\*3*, and VIPN (Kandula et al., 2016; Mora et al., 2016; van de Velde et al., 2017; Conyers et al., 2018).

#### Transport

Vinca alkaloids are transported out of cells through *ABCB1*, *ABCC1*, *ABCC2*, *ABCC3*, *ABCC10*, and RalA-binding protein 1 (*RALBP1*). Seven recent studies investigated polymorphisms in transport genes and the risk on developing vincristine neurotoxicity. One study showed a significant association between *ABCC1* (rs3784867) and VIPN.

As stated above, Franca et al. (2017) investigated 28 SNPs and two deletions, including ABCC1 (rs35592, rs246240, rs3784864, rs11075291) and ABCC2 (rs17222723). Before adjustment for multiple variables, ABCC1 (rs246240) was associated with increased the risk of neurotoxicity. After adjustment, this result did not reach significance. Lopez-Lopez et al. (2016) performed a retrospective study including 152 B-cell ALL Spanish patients. In this study 150 genetic variants involved in VCR pharmacokinetics and 13 microRNAs were analyzed. A significant higher risk of developing neurotoxicity grades 1 to 4 during vincristine treatment was found for rs3740066 and rs12826 in the ABCC2 gene. Zgheib et al. (2018) assessed the association between grade II or higher VIPN and ABCB1 (rs1045642), ABCB1 (rs1128503) and ABCC2 (rs717620). The study included 133 Arab ALL patients, where 19.5% developed VIPN. None of the polymorphisms showed a significant association with VIPN. In a retrospective study by Wright et al. (2019), a higher risk of VIPN was associated with ABCC1 (rs3784867).

Gutierrez-Camino et al. (2017a) performed a retrospective study including 179 Spanish children with B-cell ALL. In this study, the authors analyzed 154 microRNAs (miRNAs) to find an association between the miRNAs and vincristine neurotoxicity. Three miRNAs were found most significant before corrections. These were miR-3117 (rs12402181) involved in *ABCC1* and RalAbinding protein 1 (*RALPBP1*) expression, miR-4481 (rs7896283), and miR-6067 (rs35650931). miR-3317 and miR-6067 were associated with a decrease risk of neurotoxicity during vincristine treatment, while miR-4481 was associated with a higher risk of neurotoxicity. After multivariable correction, none of the miRNAs produced a significant result.

## Pharmacodynamics, Stability of Microtubules and Neurotoxicity Sensitivity

Polymorphisms in pharmacodynamics (i.e. actin gamma 1 (*ACTG1*) (Ceppi et al., 2014), formation and stabilization of microtubules (i.e. Centrosomal Protein 72) (*CEP72*) (Diouf et al.,

2015), Microtubule Associated Protein 4 (*MAP4*) (Ceppi et al., 2014), Capping Actin Protein, Gelsolin Like (*CAPG*) (Ceppi et al., 2014) Tubulin Beta 1 Class VI (*TUBB1*), *TUBB2A*, *TUBB2B*, *TUBB3*, *TUBB4*) (Ceppi et al., 2014) and genes known to influence neurotoxicity sensitivity (i.e. Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease confirmed in adults) have in the past been associated with vincristine toxicology (Kandula et al., 2016; Lee and Yang, 2017). A special attention is drawn to the *CEP72* gene. In a past preliminary study with ALL children, genetic variants in the promotor region of *CEP72* were associated with a higher risk of developing VIPN (Diouf et al., 2015). This investigation has recently been replicated in more studies. Seven recent studies investigated genetic variations in pharmacodynamics, microtubules stability, and neurotoxicity sensitivity. Two studies found an association with VIPN.

Gutierrez-Camino (2016) showed no significant association between VIPN and CEP72 (rs924607) in a retrospective Spanish cohort with 142 B-cell ALL patients. McClain et al. (2016) also found no significance with polymorphisms in the CEP72 gene, while Wright et al. (2019) showed that CEP72 (rs924607), SLC547 (rs1013940) (choline transporter), and Alpha Tocopherol Transfer Protein (TTPA, binding to vitamin E) (rs1050436) were significant associated with a higher risk of developing neuropathy. No association was found by Zgheib et al. (2018) between VIPN and CEP72 (rs924607), Ewing's tumor-associated antigen 1 (ETAA1) (rs17032980) and Melatonin Receptor 1B (MTNR1B) (rs12786200).

Li et al. (2019) investigated two independent cohorts and used a meta-analysis to assess the association between multiple SNPs and VIPN. One SNP, rs1045644 (encoding for protein cochlin, which is associated with progressive hearing loss and vestibular imbalance), showed a protective effect against neuropathy, while rs7963521 (gene involved in angiogenesis) was associated with a higher risk of VIPN. Martin-Guerrero et al. (2019) used a retrospective cohort with 152 B-cell ALL patients to analyze 24 polymorphisms (in *TUBB1*, *TUBB2A*, *TUBB2B*, *TUBB3*, *TUBB4*, *MAPT*, *MIR146a*, *MIR202*, and *MIR411*). Before adjusting for false discovery rate, several gene variants have been associated with vincristine-induced neurotoxicity. Patients carrying *MAPT* (rs11867549), Mir-202 (rs12355840), and *TUBB3* (rs4395073) had a higher risk of developing neurotoxicity. Also several haplotypes were associated with neurotoxicity.

Abaji et al. (2018) screened retrospectively WES data of ALL patients to find possible new gene variants which could be associated with VIPN. In this study, three new gene variants are association with VIPN: Spectrin Repeat Containing Nuclear Envelope Protein 2 (*SYNE2*) (rs2781377), Mitochondrial Ribosomal Protein L47 (*MRPL47*) (rs10513762) and Bromo Adjacent Homology Domain Containing 1 (*BAHD1*) (rs3803357). While *SYNE2* (rs2781377) and *MRPL47* (rs10513762) were associated with a higher risk of developing VIPN, *BAHD1* (rs3803357) showed a protective effect. *SYNE2* is a protein involved in cellular cytoskeletons, DNA damage repair and other cellular processes. *MRPL47* plays a role in the mitochondrial protein synthesis. *BAHD1* is a protein involved in gene silencing

Studies investigated polymorphisms in metabolism, transport, pharmacodynamics, and sensitivity genes of patients to VIPN shows conflicting results. While CEP72 has drawn more attention, its role has yet to be confirmed. The new gene variants associated with VIPN showed by Abaji et al. needs to be replicated by other studies to include these gene variants as risk factors for developing VIPN.

## DISCUSSION

Chemotherapeutics are known for their narrow therapeutic window. While it is of utmost importance to use the right dose to sustain a favorable outcome in pediatric oncology, toxic doses cause poor outcomes, and a worse quality of life for pediatric cancer survivors. Based upon inter-individual differences in occurrence and severity of toxicity between pediatric cancer patients, the need for personalized treatment is apparent. PGx has been introduced to understand and facilitate individual treatments in pediatric oncology.

With this review, we present new developments over the past years concerning PGx within pediatric oncology. We included relevant literature from 2016 onward, revealing new genetic variations as well as new evidence for already known associated genetic variations with chemotherapeutics' toxicity.

Most studies have focused on genetic variations within metabolism or transport genes. Surprisingly, while CYP enzymes influence drug exposure significantly within other drug categories [e.g. selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (Relling et al., 2020)], associations with toxicities of alkylating agents, anthracyclines, topoisomerase inhibitors and vinca alkaloids were not consistently found in studies included in this review. ABC transporters play a role in the transport of anthracyclines, methotrexate, platinum compounds, glucocorticosteroids, thiopurines, topoisomerase inhibitors, and vinca alkaloids. SLC transporters are thought to play a role in the transport of anthracyclines, asparaginase, methotrexate, topoisomerase inhibitors, and vinca alkaloids. However, there is slight evidence for robust and reproducible correlations between transporter genes and efficacy or toxicity of chemotherapeutics.

The role of ontogeny in the activity of metabolic enzymes or transporters may play a part when studying patient populations of different age groups, especially in neonates and infants (Mlakar et al., 2016). In our review, we focused on pediatric populations but found no indication that (young) age was considered an independent factor that influences the role of PGx in toxicity of chemotherapeutic drugs. However, neonates and infants are underrepresented in pediatric oncology studies, because of limited occurrence of malignancies in these age groups. Strong evidence for associations between genetic variations in NUDT15 and TPMT and 6MP toxicity have been confirmed in our review and preemptive genetic testing for NUDT15 and TPMT variants should be implemented in standard clinical care. Future attention should be focused on standardizing corresponding dosing guidelines and exploring the relevance of less frequent occurring variants of TPMT and

*NUDT15*. Evidence has been established for the role of *UGT1A1* polymorphisms in irinotecan toxicity in adults, but this still need confirmation in pediatric populations.

Due to improvements in genomic sequencing technologies, research has shifted to genetic variations in pharmacodynamics and cytostatic targets as well as less apparent gene polymorphisms as an explanation for efficacy or toxicity differences of chemotherapeutics in pediatric cancer patients. Variations in genes coding for cytostatic targets (e.g. microtubule stabilization by VCR, glucocorticoid sensitivity, folate activity by MTX) have been included in this review and showed probable contribution to individual differences in response and toxicity. However, there were no decisive conclusions that could be drawn from these studies and recommendations on dose adjustments are not yet established.

We did not include studies on immunotherapy or supportive care drugs. The use of immunotherapy in pediatric oncology has increased in the past years, showing promising results. However, as with chemotherapeutics, individual differences in response and toxicity of immunotherapy within children are reported. In future years, the role of genetics will need to be further elucidated. Supportive care drugs are also of great importance in limiting chemotherapeutics' toxicities (e.g. neuropathy, diarrhea, infections due to neutropenia). Therefore, optimalization of supportive care dosages is needed and PGx may be beneficial in assessing the correct dosages. Currently, adult guidelines are used to assess the impact of PGx in dosing supportive care drugs in pediatric oncology.

Our review shows that pharmacogenomics in pediatric oncology is still facing challenges. The main problem is inconsistency in results, caused by small population sizes, differences in (statistical) interpretation, variations in sequencing technologies as well as in differences in definition of clinical outcomes. Lack of information on how to use genetic test results

#### REFERENCES

- Abaji, R., and Krajinovic, M. (2016). Current perspective on pediatric pharmacogenomics. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 12 (4), 363–365. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2016.1145656
- Abaji, R., Gagne, V., Xu, C. J., Spinella, J. F., Ceppi, F., Laverdiere, C., et al. (2017). Whole-exome sequencing identified genetic risk factors for asparaginaserelated complications in childhood ALL patients. *Oncotarget* 8 (27), 43752– 43767. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17959
- Abaji, R., Ceppi, F., Patel, S., Gagné, V., Xu, C. J., Spinella, J. F., et al. (2018). Genetic risk factors for VIPN in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients identified using whole-exome sequencing. *Pharmacogenomics* 19 (15), 1181–1193. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2018-0093
- Aminkeng, F., Bhavsar, A. P., Visscher, H., Rassekh, S. R., Li, Y., Lee, J. W., et al. (2015). A coding variant in RARG confers susceptibility to anthracyclineinduced cardiotoxicity in childhood cancer. *Nat. Genet.* 47 (9), 1079–1084. doi: 10.1038/ng.3374
- Aminkeng, F., Ross, C. J., Rassekh, S. R., Hwang, S., Rieder, M. J., Bhavsar, A. P., et al. (2016). Recommendations for genetic testing to reduce the incidence of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 82 (3), 683–695. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13008
- Anthracyclines and related substances (2020). PharmGKB (Accessed on Januari 07, 2020). Available from: https://www.pharmgkb.org/chemical/PA130620651.
- Armenian, S. H., Ding, Y., Mills, G., Sun, C., Venkataraman, K., Wong, F. L., et al. (2013). Genetic susceptibility to anthracycline-related congestive heart failure

to adjust the use or dose of chemotherapeutics hinders broad introduction in clinical practice (Relling et al., 2020). Also, pediatric cancer patients receive combinations of chemotherapeutics, making it difficult to discern the impact of individual genetic variances. Finally, most studies are performed in pediatric ALL patients, leading to limited data on other pediatric cancer types.

In conclusion, pharmacogenomics of chemotherapeutics is complex with multiple genes involved in the process of metabolism, transport and its target mechanisms. Future studies should focus on establishing comprehensive models, integrating pharmacogenomics with pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics data to aid dosing guidelines. Standardization of clinical outcome data and toxicity definitions within electronic health records combined with the increased availability of genomic sequences techniques in clinical practice will help to validate these models in larger populations.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EB developed the search codes (with libraries from Utrecht University Library) for the databases and collected the data. All authors reviewed the results and contributed to the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020. 01184/full#supplementary-material

in survivors of haematopoietic cell transplantation. Br. J. Haematol. 163 (2), 205–213. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12516

- Bansal, N., Amdani, S., Lipshultz, E. R., and Lipshultz, S. E. (2017). Chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity in children. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 13 (8), 817–832. doi: 10.1080/17425255.2017.1351547
- Blanco, J. G., Leisenring, W. M., Gonzalez-Covarrubias, V. M., Kawashima, T. I., Davies, S. M., Relling, M. V., et al. (2008). Genetic polymorphisms in the carbonyl reductase 3 gene CBR3 and the NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase 1 gene NQO1 in patients who developed anthracycline-related congestive heart failure after childhood cancer. *Cancer* 112 (12), 2789–2795. doi: 10.1002/ cncr.23534
- Blanco, J. G., Sun, C. L., Landier, W., Chen, L., Esparza-Duran, D., Leisenring, W., et al. (2012). Anthracycline-related cardiomyopathy after childhood cancer: role of polymorphisms in carbonyl reductase genes–a report from the Children's Oncology Group. J. Clin. Oncol. 30 (13), 1415–1421. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2011.34.8987
- Brown, A. L., Foster, K. L., Lupo, P. J., Peckham-Gregory, E. C., Murray, J. C., Okcu, M. F., et al. (2017). DNA methylation of a novel PAK4 locus influences ototoxicity susceptibility following cisplatin and radiation therapy for pediatric embryonal tumors. *Neuro-Oncology* 19 (10), 1372–1379. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox076
- Campbell, J. M., Bateman, E., Stephenson, M. D., Bowen, J. M., Keefe, D. M., and Peters, M. D. J. (2016). Methotrexate-induced toxicity pharmacogenetics: an umbrella review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 78 (1), 27–39. doi: 10.1007/s00280-016-3043-5

- Ceppi, F., Langlois-Pelletier, C., Gagné, V., Rousseau, J., Ciolino, C., De Lorenzo, S., et al. (2014). Polymorphisms of the vincristine pathway and response to treatment in children with childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenomics* 15 (8), 1105–1116. doi: 10.2217/pgs.14.68
- Chang, V. Y., and Wang, J. J. (2018). Pharmacogenetics of Chemotherapy-Induced Cardiotoxicity. *Curr. Oncol. Rep.* 20 (7), 52. doi: 10.1007/s11912-018-0696-8
- Chang, C., Hu, Y., Hogan, S. L., Mercke, N., Gomez, M., O'Bryant, C., et al. (2017). Pharmacogenomic Variants May Influence the Urinary Excretion of Novel Kidney Injury Biomarkers in Patients Receiving Cisplatin. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18 (7), 1333. doi: 10.3390/ijms18071333
- Chiengthong, K., Ittiwut, C., Muensri, S., Sophonphan, J., Sosothikul, D., Seksan, P., et al. (2016). NUDT15 c.415C>T increases risk of 6-mercaptopurine induced myelosuppression during maintenance therapy in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica* 101 (1), e24–e26. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2015.134775
- Choi, R., Sohn, I., Kim, M. J., Woo, H. I., Lee, J. W., Ma, Y., et al. (2019). Pathway genes and metabolites in thiopurine therapy in Korean children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 85 (7), 1585–1597. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13943
- Conyers, R., Devaraja, S., and Elliott, D. (2018). Systematic review of pharmacogenomics and adverse drug reactions in paediatric oncology patients. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 65 (4), 1–12. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26937
- CYP2B6 P (2020). *PharmVar* (Accessed on June 20, 2020). Available from: https:// www.pharmvar.org/haplotype/744.
- Diouf, B., Crews, K. R., Lew, G., Pei, D., Cheng, C., Bao, J., et al. (2015). Association of an inherited genetic variant with vincristine-related peripheral neuropathy in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Jama* 313 (8), 815–823. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.0894
- Dolan, M. E., El Charif, O., Wheeler, H. E., Gamazon, E. R., Ardeshir-Rouhani-Fard, S., Monahan, P., et al. (2017). Clinical and Genome-Wide Analysis of Cisplatin-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy in Survivors of Adult-Onset Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* 23 (19), 5757–5768. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-3224
- Doxorubicin Pathway (Cardiomyocyte Cell) P (2020). *PharmGKB* (Accessed Acessed on June 20, 2020). Available from: https://www.pharmgkb.org/ pathway/PA165292164.
- Doxorubicin Pathway, P. (2020). *PharmGKB* (Accessed Acessed on June 20, 2020). Available from: https://www.pharmgkb.org/pathway/PA165292177.
- Duflot, T., Marie-Cardine, A., Verstuyft, C., Filhon, B., Pereira, T., Massy-Guillemant, N., et al. (2018). Possible role of CYP2B6 genetic polymorphisms in ifosfamide-induced encephalopathy: report of three cases. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 32 (3), 337–342. doi: 10.1111/fcp.12345
- Edwardson, D. W., Narendrula, R., Chewchuk, S., Mispel-Beyer, K., Mapletoft, J. P., and Parissenti, A. M. (2015). Role of Drug Metabolism in the Cytotoxicity and Clinical Efficacy of Anthracyclines. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 16 (6), 412–426. doi: 10.2174/1389200216888150915112039
- Eipel, O., Hegyi, M., Csordás, K., Németh, K., Luczay, A., Török, D., et al. (2016). Some GCR polymorphisms (N363S, ER22/23EK, and Bcl-1) may influence steroid-induced toxicities and survival rates in children with ALL. *J. Pediatr. Hematol.* 38 (5), 334–340. doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000000535
- ElFayoumi, R. I., Hagras, M. M., Abozenadaha, A., Gari, M., Abosoudah, I., Shinawi, T., et al. (2018). The influence of polymorphisms in the drug transporter, ABCB1 on the toxicity of glucocorticoids in Saudi children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 71 (1), 90–95. doi: 10.1016/ j.pharep.2018.09.010
- Etienne-Grimaldi, M.-C., Boyer, J.-C., Thomas, F., Quaranta, S., Picard, N., Loriot, M.-A., et al. (2015). UGT1A1 genotype and irinotecan therapy: general review and implementation in routine practice. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 29 (3), 219–237. doi: 10.1111/fcp.12117
- Finkelstein, Y., Blonquist, T. M., Vijayanathan, V., Stevenson, K. E., Neuberg, D. S., Silverman, L. B., et al. (2017). A thymidylate synthase polymorphism is associated with increased risk for bone toxicity among children treated for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 64 (7), 1–9. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26393
- Franca, R., Rebora, P., Bertorello, N., Fagioli, F., Conter, V., Biondi, A., et al. (2017). Pharmacogenetics and induction/consolidation therapy toxicities in acute lymphoblastic leukemia patients treated with AIEOP-BFM ALL 2000 protocol. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 17 (1), 4–10. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.83

- Franca, R., Stocco, G., Favretto, D., Giurici, N., del Rizzo, I., Locatelli, F., et al. (2019). PACSIN2 rs2413739 influence on thiopurine pharmacokinetics: validation studies in pediatric patients. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 20, 415–425. doi: 10.1038/s41397-019-0130-0
- Gagne, V., St-Onge, P., Beaulieu, P., Laverdiere, C., Leclerc, J. M., Tran, T. H., et al. (2020). HLA alleles associated with asparaginase hypersensitivity in childhood ALL: a report from the DFCI Consortium. *Pharmacogenomics* 21 (8), 541–547. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2019-0195
- Gerbek, T., Ebbesen, M., Nersting, J., Frandsen, T. L., Appell, M. L., and Schmiegelow, K. (2018). Role of TPMT and ITPA variants in mercaptopurine disposition. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 81 (3), 579–586. doi: 10.1007/s00280-018-3525-8
- Gervasini, G., de Murillo, S. G., Jimenez, M., de la Maya, M. D., and Vagace, J. M. (2017). Effect of polymorphisms in transporter genes on dosing, efficacy and toxicity of maintenance therapy in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Gene* 628, 72–77. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2017.07.025
- Girard, P., Auquier, P., Barlogis, V., Contet, A., Poiree, M., Demeocq, F., et al. (2013). Symptomatic osteonecrosis in childhood leukemia survivors: prevalence, risk factors and impact on quality of life in adulthood. *Haematologica* 98 (7), 1089–1097. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.081265
- Gutierrez-Camino, A., Martin-Guerrero, I., Lopez-Lopez, E., Echebarria-Barona, A., Zabalza, I., Ruiz, I., et al. (2016). Lack of association of the CEP72 RS924607 TT genotype with vincristine-related peripheral neuropathy during the early phase of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia treatment in a Spanish population. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 26 (2), 100–102. doi: 10.1097/ FPC.000000000000191
- Gutierrez-Camino, A., Umerez, M., Martin-Guerrero, I., Garcia de Andoin, N., Santos, B., Sastre, A., et al. (2017a). Mir-pharmacogenetics of Vincristine and peripheral neurotoxicity in childhood B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 18 (6), 704–712. doi: 10.1038/s41397-017-0003-3
- Guttierez-Camino, A., Oosterom, N., Den Hoed, M. A., Lopez-Lopez, E., Martin-Guerrero, I., Pluijm, S. M., et al. (2017b). The miR-1206 microRNA variant is associated with methotrexate-induced oral mucositis in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenet Genomics.* 27 (8), 303–306. doi: 10.1097/FPC.00000000000291
- Haidar, C. E., Relling, M. V., and Hoffman, J. M. (2019). Preemptively Precise: Returning and Updating Pharmacogenetic Test Results to Realize the Benefits of Preemptive Testing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 106 (5), 942–944. doi: 10.1002/ cpt.1613
- Hattinger, C. M., Biason, P., Iacoboni, E., Gagno, S., Fanelli, M., Tavanti, E., et al. (2016). Candidate germline polymorphisms of genes belonging to the pathways of four drugs used in osteosarcoma standard chemotherapy associated with risk, survival and toxicity in non-metastatic high-grade osteosarcoma. Oncotarget 7 (38), 61970–61987. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget. 11486
- Hegyi, M., Arany, A., Semsei, A. F., Csordas, K., Eipel, O., Gezsi, A., et al. (2017). Pharmacogenetic analysis of high-dose methotrexate treatment in children with osteosarcoma. *Oncotarget* 8 (6), 9388–9398. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.11543
- Helsby, N. A., Hui, C.-Y., Goldthorpe, M. A., Coller, J. K., Soh, M. C., Gow, P. J., et al. (2010). The combined impact of CYP2C19 and CYP2B6 pharmacogenetics on cyclophosphamide bioactivation. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 70 (6), 844–853. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2010.03789.x
- Hesse, L. M., He, P., Krishnaswamy, S., Hao, Q., Hogan, K., von Moltke, L. L., et al. (2004). Pharmacogenetic determinants of interindividual variability in bupropion hydroxylation by cytochrome P450 2B6 in human liver microsomes. *Pharmacogenetics* 14 (4), 225–238. doi: 10.1097/00008571-200404000-00002
- Hijiya, N., and van der Sluis, I. M. (2016). Asparaginase-associated toxicity in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia Lymphoma* 57 (4), 748– 757. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2015.1101098
- Hildebrandt, T. M. A. T., Reyes, M., Wu, X., Pu, X., Thompson, K. A., Ma, J., et al. (2017). Hypertension Susceptibility Loci are Associated with Anthracyclinerelated Cardiotoxicity in Long-term Childhood Cancer Survivors. *Sci. Rep.* 7 (1), 9698. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09517-2
- Hojfeldt, S. G., Wolthers, B. O., Tulstrup, M., Abrahamsson, J., Gupta, R., Harila-Saari, A., et al. (2019). Genetic predisposition to PEG-asparaginase

hypersensitivity in children treated according to NOPHO ALL2008. Br. J. Haematol. 184 (3), 405-417. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15660

- Huang, Z., Wang, J., Qian, J., Li, Y., Xu, Z., Chen, M., et al. (2017). Effects of cytochrome P450 family 3 subfamily a member 5 gene polymorphisms on daunorubicin metabolism and adverse reactions in patients with acute leukemia. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 15 (6), 3493–3498. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.6470
- Jimenez-Morales, S., Ramirez-Florencio, M., Mejia-Arangure, J. M., Nunez-Enriquez, J. C., Bekker-Mendez, C., Torres-Escalante, J. L., et al. (2016). Analysis of Thiopurine S-Methyltransferase Deficient Alleles in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Patients in Mexican Patients. Arch. Med. Res. 47 (8), 615–622. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2016.11.018
- Kandula, T., Park, S. B., Cohn, R. J., Krishnan, A. V., and Farrar, M. A. (2016). Pediatric chemotherapy induced peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review of current knowledge. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 50, 118–128. doi: 10.1016/ j.ctrv.2016.09.005
- Karol, S. E., Yang, W., Van Driest, S. L., Chang, T. Y., Kaste, S., Bowton, E., et al. (2015). Genetics of glucocorticoid-associated osteonecrosis in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* 126 (15), 1770–1776. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-05-643601
- Khera, S., Trehan, A., Bhatia, P., Singh, M., Bansal, D., and Varma, N. (2019). Prevalence of TPMT, ITPA and NUDT 15 genetic polymorphisms and their relation to 6MP toxicity in north Indian children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 83 (2), 341–348. doi: 10.1007/ s00280-018-3732-3
- Khrunin, A. V., Moisseev, A., Gorbunova, V., and Limborska, S. (2010). Genetic polymorphisms and the efficacy and toxicity of cisplatin-based chemotherapy in ovarian cancer patients. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 10 (1), 54–61. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2009.45
- Khrunin, A. V., Khokhrin, D. V., Moisseev, A. A., Gorbunova, V. A., and Limborska, S. A. (2014). Pharmacogenomic assessment of cisplatin-based chemotherapy outcomes in ovarian cancer. *Pharmacogenomics* 15 (3), 329– 337. doi: 10.2217/pgs.13.237
- Kim, H., Seo, H., Park, Y., Min, B. J., Seo, M. E., Park, K. D., et al. (2018). APEX1 Polymorphism and Mercaptopurine-Related Early Onset Neutropenia in Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Res. Treat* 50 (3), 823–834. doi: 10.4143/crt.2017.351
- KNMP apothekersorganisatie (2020). Pharmacogenetics (Accessed Accessed on December 01, 2019). Available from: https://www.knmp.nl/patientenzorg/ medicatiebewaking/farmacogenetica/pharmacogenetics-1.
- Kotnik, B. F., Jazbec, J., Grabar, P. B., Rodriguez-Antona, C., and Dolzan, V. (2017). Association between SLC19A1 gene polymorphism and high dose methotrexate toxicity in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and non Hodgkin malignant lymphoma: Introducing a haplotype based approach. *Radiol. Oncol.* 51 (4), 455–462. doi: 10.1515/raon-2017-0040
- Koutsilieri, S., Caudle, K. E., Alzghari, S. K., Monte, A. A., Relling, M. V., and Patrinos, G. P. (2019). Optimizing thiopurine dosing based on TPMT and NUDT15 genotypes: It takes two to tango. *Am. J. Hematol.* 94 (7), 737–740. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25485
- Krajinovic, M., Elbared, J., Drouin, S., Bertout, L., Rezgui, A., Ansari, M., et al. (2016). Polymorphisms of ABCC5 and NOS3 genes influence doxorubicin cardiotoxicity in survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 16 (6), 530–535. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.63
- Kutszegi, N., Yang, X., Gézsi, A., Schermann, G., Erdélyi, D. J., Semsei, Á. F., et al. (2017). HLA-DRB1\*07:01–HLA-DQA1\*02:01–HLA-DQB1\*02:02 haplotype is associated with a high risk of asparaginase hypersensitivity in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica* 102 (9), 1578–1586. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2017.168211
- Lamba, V., Panetta, J. C., Strom, S., and Schuetz, E. G. (2010). Genetic Predictors of Interindividual Variability in Hepatic CYP3A4 Expression. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 332 (3), 1088. doi: 10.1124/jpet.109.160804
- Lang, T., Klein, K., Fischer, J., Nüssler, A. K., Neuhaus, P., Hofmann, U., et al. (2001). Extensive genetic polymorphism in the human CYP2B6 gene with impact on expression and function in human liver. *Pharmacogenetics* 11 (5), 399–415. doi: 10.1097/00008571-200107000-00004
- Lee, S. H. R., and Yang, J. J. (2017). Pharmacogenomics in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Best Pract. Res. Clin. Haematol. 30 (3), 229–236. doi: 10.1016/ j.beha.2017.07.007

- Li, L., Sajdyk, T., Smith, E. M. L., Chang, C. W., Li, C., Ho, R. H., et al. (2019). Genetic Variants Associated With Vincristine-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy in Two Populations of Children With Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105 (6), 1421–1428. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1324
- Liang, D. C., Yang, C. P., Liu, H. C., Jaing, T. H., Chen, S. H., Hung, I. J., et al. (2016). NUDT15 gene polymorphism related to mercaptopurine intolerance in Taiwan Chinese children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenom.* J. 16 (6), 536–539. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.75
- Liberman, P. H. P., Goffi-Gomez, M. V. S., Schultz, C., Jacob, P. L., de Paula, C. A. A., Sartorato, E. L., et al. (2018). Contribution of the GSTP1 c.313A>G variant to hearing loss risk in patients exposed to platin chemotherapy during childhood. *Clin. Transl. Oncol.* 21 (5), 630–635. doi: 10.1007/s12094-018-1964-7
- Lin, Y. J., Chang, J. S., Liu, X., Hung, C. H., Lin, T. H., Huang, S. M., et al. (2013). Association between GRIN3A gene polymorphism in Kawasaki disease and coronary artery aneurysms in Taiwanese children. *PloS One* 8 (11), e81384. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081384
- Liu, C., Yang, W., Devidas, M., Cheng, C., Pei, D., Smith, C., et al. (2016). Clinical and Genetic Risk Factors for Acute Pancreatitis in Patients With Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. J. Clin. Oncol. 34 (18), 2133–2140. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2015.64.5812
- Liu, Y., Fernandez, C. A., Smith, C., Yang, W., Cheng, C., Panetta, J. C., et al. (2017). Genome-Wide Study Links PNPLA3 Variant With Elevated Hepatic Transaminase After Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Therapy. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 102 (1), 131–140. doi: 10.1002/cpt.629
- Liu, S. G., Gao, C., Zhang, R. D., Zhao, X. X., Cui, L., Li, W. J., et al. (2017). Polymorphisms in methotrexate transporters and their relationship to plasma methotrexate levels, toxicity of high-dose methotrexate, and outcome of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncotarget* 8 (23), 37761–37772. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17781
- Lopez-Lopez, E., Gutierrez-Camino, A., Astigarraga, I., Navajas, A., Echebarria-Barona, A., Garcia-Miguel, P., et al. (2016). Vincristine pharmacokinetics pathway and neurotoxicity during early phases of treatment in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenomics* 17 (7), 731–741. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2016-0001
- Lopez-Santillan, M., Iparraguirre, L., Martin-Guerrero, I., Gutierrez-Camino, A., and Garcia-Orad, A. (2017). Review of pharmacogenetics studies of Lasparaginase hypersensitivity in acute lymphoblastic leukemia points to variants in the GRIA1 gene. Drug Metab. Pers. Ther. 32 (1), 1–9. doi: 10.1515/dmpt-2016-0033
- Mahmoud, L. B., Mdhaffar, M., Frikha, R., Ghozzi, H., Hakim, A., Sahnoun, Z., et al. (2018). Use of MTHFR C677T polymorphism and plasma pharmacokinetics to predict methotrexate toxicity in patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Adv. Clin. Exp. Med.* 27 (8), 1061–1068. doi: 10.17219/acem/69802
- Martin-Guerrero, I., Gutierrez-Camino, A., Echebarria-Barona, A., Astigarraga, I., Garcia de Andoin, N., Navajas, A., et al. (2019). Variants in vincristine pharmacodynamic genes involved in neurotoxicity at induction phase in the therapy of pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 19 (6), 564–569. doi: 10.1038/s41397-019-0081-5
- Mattano, L. A.Jr., Sather, H. N., Trigg, M. E., and Nachman, J. B. (2000). Osteonecrosis as a complication of treating acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children: a report from the Children's Cancer Group. J. Clin. Oncol. 18 (18), 3262–3272. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2000.18.18.3262
- McClain, C. A., Bernhardt, M. B., Berger, A., Winslow, R., Scheurer, M. E., and Schafer, E. S. (2016). Pharmacogenomic association with neurotoxicity in hispanic children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *Blood* 128 (22), 684–687. doi: 10.1182/blood.V128.22.3962.3962
- McGowan, J. V., Chung, R., Maulik, A., Piotrowska, I., Walker, J. M., and Yellon, D. M. (2017). Anthracycline Chemotherapy and Cardiotoxicity. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 31 (1), 63–75. doi: 10.1007/s10557-016-6711-0
- Methotrexate Pathway, P. (2020). *PharmGKB* (Accessed Accessed on June 20, 2020). Available from: https://www.pharmgkb.org/pathway/PA165816349.
- Mikkelsen, T. S., Thorn, C. F., Yang, J. J., Ulrich, C. M., French, D., Zaza, G., et al. (2011). PharmGKB summary: methotrexate pathway. *Pharmacogenet*. *Genomics* 21 (10), 679–686. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e328343dd93
- Milosevic, G., Kotur, N., Krstovski, N., Lazic, J., Zukic, B., Stankovic, B., et al. (2018). Variants in TPMT, ITPA, ABCC4 and ABCB1 Genes As Predictors

of 6-mercaptopurine Induced Toxicity in Children with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. J. Med. Biochem. 37 (3), 320-327. doi: 10.1515/jomb-2017-0060

- Miyoshi, Y., Ando, A., Takamura, Y., Taguchi, T., Tamaki, Y., and Noguchi, S. (2002). Prediction of response to docetaxel by CYP3A4 mRNA expression in breast cancer tissues. *Int. J. Cancer.* 97 (1), 129–132. doi: 10.1002/ijc.1568
- Mlakar, V., Curtis, P. H. D., Uppugunduri, C. R. S., Krajinovic, M., and Ansari, M. (2016). Pharmacogenomics in pediatric oncology: Review of gene—drug associations for clinical use. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17 (9), 1–34. doi: 10.3390/ ijms17091502
- Mora, E., Smith, E. M., Donohoe, C., and Hertz, D. L. (2016). Vincristine-induced peripheral neuropathy in pediatric cancer patients. *Am. J. Cancer Res.* 6 (11), 2416–2430.
- Moriyama, T., Nishii, R., Perez-Andreu, V., Yang, W., Klussmann, F. A., Zhao, X., et al. (2016). NUDT15 polymorphisms alter thiopurine metabolism and hematopoietic toxicity. *Nat. Genet.* 48 (4), 367–373. doi: 10.1038/ng.3508
- Moriyama, T., Yang, Y. L., Nishii, R., Ariffin, H., Liu, C., Lin, T. N., et al. (2017). Novel variants in NUDT15 and thiopurine intolerance in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia from diverse ancestry. *Blood* 130 (10), 1209–1212. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-05-782383
- Moriyama, T., Nishii, R., Lin, T. N., Kihira, K., Toyoda, H., Jacob, N., et al. (2017). The effects of inherited NUDT15 polymorphisms on thiopurine active metabolites in Japanese children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 27 (6), 236–239. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0000 00000000282
- Moudi, M., Go, R., Yien, C. Y. S., and Nazre, M. (2013). Vinca alkaloids. *Int. J. Prev. Med.* 4 (11), 1231–1235.
- Myers, A. L., Kawedia, J. D., Champlin, R. E., Kramer, M. A., Nieto, Y., Ghose, R., et al. (2017). Clarifying busulfan metabolism and drug interactions to support new therapeutic drug monitoring strategies: a comprehensive review. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 13 (9), 901–923. doi: 10.1080/17425255. 2017.1360277
- Nava, T., Kassir, N., Rezgui, M. A., Uppugunduri, C. R. S., Huezo-Diaz Curtis, P., Duval, M., et al. (2018). Incorporation of GSTA1 genetic variations into a population pharmacokinetic model for IV busulfan in paediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 84 (7), 1494– 1504. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13566
- Nishikawa, T., Yamaguchi, H., Ikawa, K., Nakayama, K., Higashi, E., Miyahara, E., et al. (2019). Influence of GST polymorphisms on busulfan pharmacokinetics in Japanese children. *Pediatr. Int.* 61 (6), 558–565. doi: 10.1111/ped.13859
- Olkku, A., Bodine, P., Linnala-Kankkunen, A., and Mahonen, A. (2004). Glucocorticoids induce glutamine synthetase expression in human osteoblastic cells: A novel observation in bone. *Bone* 34, 320–329. doi: 10.1016/j.bone.2003.09.010
- O'Leary, M., Krailo, M., Anderson, J. R., Reaman, G. H., and Children's Oncology, G. (2008). Progress in childhood cancer: 50 years of research collaboration, a report from the Children's Oncology Group. *Semin. Oncol.* 35 (5), 484–493. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2008.07.008
- Park, J. A., and Shin, H. Y. (2016). Influence of genetic polymorphisms in the folate pathway on toxicity after high-dose methotrexate treatment in pediatric osteosarcoma. *Blood Res.* 51 (1), 50–57. doi: 10.5045/br.2016.51.1.50
- Park, S. B., Goldstein, D., Krishnan, A. V., Lin, C. S. Y., Friedlander, M. L., Cassidy, J., et al. (2013). Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neurotoxicity: a critical analysis. *CA Cancer J. Clin.* 63 (6), 419–437. doi: 10.3322/caac.21204
- Platinum Pathway Pharmacokinetics/Pharmacodynamics (2020). *PharmGKB* (Accessed on December 15, 2019). Available from: https://www.pharm gkb.org/pathway/PA150642262.
- Plesa, M., Gagné, V., Glisovic, S., Younan, M., Sharif-Askari, B., Laverdière, C., et al. (2019). Influence of BCL2L11 polymorphism on osteonecrosis during treatment of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 19 (1), 33–41. doi: 10.1038/s41397-017-0002-4
- Pui, C.-H., Gajjar, A. J., Kane, J. R., Qaddoumi, I. A., and Pappo, A. S. (2011). Challenging issues in pediatric oncology. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 8 (9), 540–549. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2011.95
- Rajić, V., Aplenc, R., Debeljak, M., Prestor, V. V., Karas-Kuzelicki, N., Mlinaric-Rascan, I., et al. (2009). Influence of the polymorphism in candidate genes on late cardiac damage in patients treated due to acute leukemia in childhood. *Leuk. Lymphoma* 50 (10), 1693–1698. doi: 10.1080/10428190903177212

- Ramírez-Pacheco, A., Moreno-Guerrero, S., Alamillo, I., Medina-Sanson, A., Lopez, B., and Moreno-Galván, M. (2016). Mexican Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Pilot Study of the MDR1 and MTHFR Gene Polymorphisms and Their Associations with Clinical Outcomes. *Genet. Test. Mol. Biomarkers* 20 (10), 597–602. doi: 10.1089/gtmb.2015.0287
- Rank, C. U., Wolthers, B. O., Grell, K., Albertsen, B. K., Frandsen, T. L., Overgaard, U. M., et al. (2019). Asparaginase-Associated Pancreatitis in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Results From the NOPHO ALL2008 Treatment of Patients 1-45 Years of Age. J. Clin. Oncol. 13, Jco1902208. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.19.02208
- Razali, R. H., Noorizhab, M. N. F., Jamari, H., James, R. J., Teh, K. H., Ibrahim, H. M., et al. (2020). Association of ABCC2 with levels and toxicity of methotrexate in Malaysian Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL). *Pediatr. Hematol. Oncol.* 37 (3), 185–197. doi: 10.1080/08880018.2019.1705949
- Relling, M. V., and Klein, T. E. (2011). CPIC: Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium of the Pharmacogenomics Research Network. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 89 (3), 464–467. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2010.279
- Relling, M. V., Schwab, M., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Suarez-Kurtz, G., Pui, C. H., Stein, C. M., et al. (2019). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline for Thiopurine Dosing Based on TPMT and NUDT15 Genotypes: 2018 Update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105 (5), 1095–1105. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1304
- Relling, M. V., Klein, T. E., Gammal, R. S., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Hoffman, J. M., and Caudle, K. E. (2020). The Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium: 10 Years Later. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 107 (1), 171–175. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1651
- Robinson, K. M., Yang, W., Karol, S. E., Kornegay, N., Jay, D., Cheng, C., et al. (2019). No evidence that G6PD deficiency affects the efficacy or safety of daunorubicin in acute lymphoblastic leukemia induction therapy. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 66 (6), 1–5. doi: 10.1002/pbc.27681
- Roden, D. M., McLeod, H. L., Relling, M. V., Williams, M. S., Mensah, G. A., Peterson, J. F., et al. (2019). Pharmacogenomics. *Lancet* 394 (10197), 521–532. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31276-0
- Ross, C. J. D., Katzov-Eckert, H., Dubé, M.-P., Brooks, B., Rassekh, S. R., Barhdadi, A., et al. (2009). Genetic variants in TPMT and COMT are associated with hearing loss in children receiving cisplatin chemotherapy. *Nat. Genet.* 41 (12), 1345–1349. doi: 10.1038/ng.478
- Ruiz-Pinto, S., Pita, G., Patiño-García, A., Alonso, J., Pérez-Martínez, A., Cartón, A. J., et al. (2017). Exome array analysis identifies GPR35 as a novel susceptibility gene for anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in childhood cancer. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 27 (12), 445–453. doi: 10.1097/FPC.000 0000000000309
- Schaeffeler, E., Jaeger, S., Klumpp, V., Yang, J., Igel, S., Hinze, L., et al. (2019). Variants in nudix hydrolase 15 (NUDT15) and their importance for thiopurine-related haematotoxicity in an European cohort. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 392, S25. doi: 10.1038/s41436-019-0448-7
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D., and Jemal, A. (2019). Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J. Clin. 69 (1), 7–34. doi: 10.3322/caac.21551
- Singh, P., Wang, X., Hageman, L., Chen, Y., Magdy, T., Landier, W., et al. (2020). Association of GSTM1 null variant with anthracycline-related cardiomyopathy after childhood cancer-A Children's Oncology Group ALTE03N1 report. *Cancer* 1–8. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32948
- Skiles, J. L., Chiang, C., Li, C. H., Martin, S., Smith, E. L., Olbara, G., et al. (2018). CYP3A5 genotype and its impact on vincristine pharmacokinetics and development of neuropathy in Kenyan children with cancer. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 65 (3), 1–14. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26854
- Smid, A., Karas-Kuzelicki, N., Jazbec, J., and Mlinaric-Rascan, I. (2016). PACSIN2 polymorphism is associated with thiopurine-induced hematological toxicity in children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia undergoing maintenance therapy. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 30244. doi: 10.1038/srep30244
- Soler, A. M., Olano, N., Mendez, Y., Lopes, A., Silveira, A., Dabezies, A., et al. (2018). TPMT and NUDT15 genes are both related to mercaptopurine intolerance in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia patients from Uruguay. *Br. J. Haematol.* 181 (2), 252–255. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14532
- Stewart, C. F., Panetta, J. C., O'Shaughnessy, M. A., Throm, S. L., Fraga, C. H., Owens, T., et al. (2007). UGT1A1 promoter genotype correlates with SN-38 pharmacokinetics, but not severe toxicity in patients receiving low-dose irinotecan. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 25 (18), 2594–2600. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.10.2301

- Tanaka, Y., Nakadate, H., Kondoh, K., Nakamura, K., Koh, K., and Manabe, A. (2018). Interaction between NUDT15 and ABCC4 variants enhances intolerability of 6-mercaptopurine in Japanese patients with childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 18 (2), 275–280. doi: 10.1038/ tpj.2017.12
- Thiesen, S., Yin, P., Jorgensen, A. L., Zhang, J. E., Manzo, V., McEvoy, L., et al. (2017). TPMT, COMT and ACYP2 genetic variants in paediatric cancer patients with cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 27 (6), 213–222. doi: 10.1097/FPC.000000000000281
- Thorn, C. F., Oshiro, C., Marsh, S., Hernandez-Boussard, T., McLeod, H., Klein, T. E., et al. (2011). Doxorubicin pathways: pharmacodynamics and adverse effects. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 21 (7), 440–446. doi: 10.1097/ FPC.0b013e32833ffb56
- Trubicka, J., Zemojtel, T., Hecht, J., Falana, K., Piekutowska-Abramczuk, D., Ploski, R., et al. (2017). The germline variants in DNA repair genes in pediatric medulloblastoma: a challenge for current therapeutic strategies. *BMC Cancer* 17 (1), 239. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3211-y
- Tsujimoto, S., Yanagimachi, M., Tanoshima, R., Urayama, K. Y., Tanaka, F., Aida, N., et al. (2016). Influence of ADORA2A gene polymorphism on leukoencephalopathy risk in MTX-treated pediatric patients affected by hematological malignancies. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 63 (11), 1983–1989. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26090
- Turan, C., Kantar, M., Aktan, C., Kosova, B., Orman, M., Bilgen, C., et al. (2019). Cisplatin ototoxicity in children: risk factors and its relationship with polymorphisms of DNA repair genes ERCC1, ERCC2, and XRCC1. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 84 (6), 1333–1338. doi: 10.1007/s00280-019-03968-2
- Tzvetkov, M. V., Behrens, G., O'Brien, V. P., Hohloch, K., Brockmöller, J., and Benöhr, P. (2011). Pharmacogenetic analyses of cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity indicate a renoprotective effect of ERCC1 polymorphisms. *Pharmacogenomics* 12 (10), 1417–1427. doi: 10.2217/pgs.11.93
- Umerez, M., Gutierrez-Camino, Á, Muñoz-Maldonado, C., Martin-Guerrero, I., and Garcia-Orad, A. (2017). MTHFR polymorphisms in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: Influence on methotrexate therapy. *Pharmacogenom. Personalized Med.* 10, 69–78. doi: 10.2147/PGPM.S107047
- van de Velde, M. E., Kaspers, G. L., Abbink, F. C. H., Wilhelm, A. J., Ket, J. C. F., and van den Berg, M. H. (2017). Vincristine-induced peripheral neuropathy in children with cancer: A systematic review. *Crit. Rev. Oncol.* 114, 114–130. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2017.04.004
- van der Wouden, C. H., van Rhenen, M. H., Jama, W. O. M., Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Lauschke, V. M., Konta, L., et al. (2019). Development of the PGx-Passport: A Panel of Actionable Germline Genetic Variants for Pre-Emptive Pharmacogenetic Testing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 106 (4), 866–873. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1489
- van Rossum, E. F. C., and Lamberts, S. W. J. (2004). Polymorphisms in the glucocorticoid receptor gene and their associations with metabolic parameters and body composition. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 59, 333–357. doi: 10.1210/ rp.59.1.333
- Veal, G. J., Cole, M., Chinnaswamy, G., Sludden, J., Jamieson, D., Errington, J., et al. (2016). Cyclophosphamide pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenetics in children with B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Eur. J. Cancer (Oxford Engl.* 1990) 55, 56–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2015.12.007
- Verma, N., Kumar, K., Kaur, G., and Anand, S. (2007). L-asparaginase: a promising chemotherapeutic agent. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.* 27 (1), 45–62. doi: 10.1080/07388550601173926
- Vinka Alkaloid Pathway, P. (2020). *PharmGKB* (Accessed on December 23, 2019). Available from: https://www.pharmgkb.org/pathway/PA150981002.
- Visscher, H., Ross, C. J., Rassekh, S. R., Barhdadi, A., Dubé, M. P., Al-Saloos, H., et al. (2012). Pharmacogenomic prediction of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in children. J. Clin. Oncol. 30 (13), 1422–1428. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2010.34.3467
- Visscher, H., Ross, C. J., Rassekh, S. R., Sandor, G. S., Caron, H. N., van Dalen, E. C., et al. (2013). Validation of variants in SLC28A3 and UGT1A6 as genetic markers predictive of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in children. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 60 (8), 1375–1381. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24505
- Visscher, H., Rassekh, S. R., Sandor, G. S., Caron, H. N., van Dalen, E. C., Kremer, L. C., et al. (2015). Genetic variants in SLC22A17 and SLC22A7 are associated

with anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in children. *Pharmacogenomics* 16 (10), 1065–1076. doi: 10.2217/pgs.15.61

- Vos, H. I., Guchelaar, H. J., Gelderblom, H., De Bont, E. S. J. M., Kremer, L. C. M., Naber, A. M., et al. (2016). Replication of a genetic variant in ACYP2 associated with cisplatin-induced hearing loss in patients with osteosarcoma. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 26 (5), 243–247. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0000 00000000212
- Wahlund, M., Nilsson, A., Kahlin, A. Z., Broliden, K., Myrberg, I. H., Appell, M. L., et al. (2020). The Role of TPMT, ITPA, and NUDT15 Variants during Mercaptopurine Treatment of Swedish Pediatric Patients with Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. J. Pediatr. 216, 150–7.e1. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2019.09.024
- Wang, H., and Tompkins, L. M. (2008). CYP2B6: new insights into a historically overlooked cytochrome P450 isozyme. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 9 (7), 598–610. doi: 10.2174/138920008785821710
- Wang, X., Sun, C.-L., Quiñones-Lombraña, A., Singh, P., Landier, W., Hageman, L., et al. (2016). CELF4 Variant and Anthracycline-Related Cardiomyopathy: A Children's Oncology Group Genome-Wide Association Study. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 34 (8), 863–870. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.63.4550
- Wang, S. M., Zeng, W. X., Wu, W. S., Sun, L. L., and Yan, D. (2018). Association between a microRNA binding site polymorphism in SLCO1A2 and the risk of delayed methotrexate elimination in Chinese children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leuk. Res.* 65, 61–66. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2018.01.004
- Wheeler, H. E., Gamazon, E. R., Frisina, R. D., Perez-Cervantes, C., El Charif, O., Mapes, B., et al. (2017). Variants in WFS1 and Other Mendelian Deafness Genes Are Associated with Cisplatin-Associated Ototoxicity. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* 23 (13), 3325–3333. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2809
- Windsor, R. E., Strauss, S. J., Kallis, C., Wood, N. E., and Whelan, J. S. (2012). Germline genetic polymorphisms may influence chemotherapy response and disease outcome in osteosarcoma: a pilot study. *Cancer* 118 (7), 1856–1867. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26472
- Wolthers, B. O., Frandsen, T. L., Abrahamsson, J., Albertsen, B. K., Helt, L. R., Heyman, M., et al. (2017). Asparaginase-associated pancreatitis: A study on phenotype and genotype in the NOPHO ALL2008 protocol. *Leukemia* 31 (2), 325–332. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.203
- Wolthers, B. O., Frandsen, T. L., Patel, C. J., Abaji, R., Attarbaschi, A., Barzilai, S., et al. (2019). Trypsin-encoding PRSS1-PRSS2 variations influence the risk of asparaginase-associated pancreatitis in children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a Ponte di Legno toxicity working group report. *Haematologica* 104 (3), 556–563. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.199356
- Wright, G. E. B., Amstutz, U., Drögemöller, B. I., Shih, J., Rassekh, S. R., Hayden, M. R., et al. (2019). Pharmacogenomics of Vincristine-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy Implicates Pharmacokinetic and Inherited Neuropathy Genes. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105 (2), 402–410. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1179
- Xu, H., Robinson, G. W., Huang, J., Lim, J. Y.-S., Zhang, H., Bass, J. K., et al. (2015). Common variants in ACYP2 influence susceptibility to cisplatininduced hearing loss. *Nat. Genet.* 47 (3), 263–266. doi: 10.1038/ng.3217
- Yao, P., He, X., Zhang, R., Tong, R., and Xiao, H. (2019). The influence of MTHFR genetic polymorphisms on adverse reactions after methotrexate in patients with hematological malignancies: a meta-analysis. *Hematology* 24 (1), 10–19. doi: 10.1080/10245332.2018.1500750
- Yousef, A. M., Farhad, R., Alshamaseen, D., Alsheikh, A., Zawiah, M., and Kadi, T. (2019). Folate pathway genetic polymorphisms modulate methotrexateinduced toxicity in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 83 (4), 755–762. doi: 10.1007/s00280-019-03776-8
- Zgheib, N. K., Ghanem, K. M., Tamim, H., Aridi, C., Shahine, R., Tarek, N., et al. (2018). Genetic polymorphisms in candidate genes are not associated with increased vincristine-related peripheral neuropathy in Arab children treated for acute childhood leukemia: a single institution study. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 28 (8), 189–195. doi: 10.1097/FPC.000000000000345
- Zhang, D., Zhang, D., Cui, D., Gambardella, J., Ma, L., Barros, A., et al. (2007). Characterization of the UDP glucuronosyltransferase activity of human liver microsomes genotyped for the UGT1A1\*28 polymorphism. *Drug Metab. Disposition: Biol. Fate Chem.* 35 (12), 2270–2280. doi: 10.1124/dmd.107.017806
- Zhou, H., Li, L., Yang, P., Yang, L., Zheng, J. E., Zhou, Y., et al. (2018). Optimal predictor for 6-mercaptopurine intolerance in Chinese children with acute

lymphoblastic leukemia: NUDT15, TPMT, or ITPA genetic variants? *BMC Cancer* 18 (1), 516. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4398-2

- Zhu, C., Liu, Y. W., Wang, S. Z., Li, X. L., Nie, X. L., Yu, X. T., et al. (2018). Associations between the C677T and A1298C polymorphisms of MTHFR and the toxicity of methotrexate in childhood malignancies: a meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 18 (3), 450–459. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2017.34
- Zukunft, J., Lang, T., Richter, T., Hirsch-Ernst, K. I., Nussler, A. K., Klein, K., et al. (2005). A natural CYP2B6 TATA box polymorphism (-82T-> C) leading to enhanced transcription and relocation of the transcriptional start site. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 67 (5), 1772–1782. doi: 10.1124/mol.104. 008086

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bernsen, Hagleitner, Kouwenberg and Hanff. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Association of Apelin and Apelin Receptor Polymorphisms With the Risk of Comorbid Depression and Anxiety in Coronary Heart Disease Patients

Ying Wang<sup>1,2</sup>, Wenhui Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Yiwen Xiao<sup>1,2</sup>, Haiyan Yuan<sup>1,2</sup>, Feng Wang<sup>1,2</sup>, Pei Jiang<sup>3\*†</sup> and Zhiying Luo<sup>1,2\*†</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Henk-Jan Guchelaar, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Francesco Sessa, University of Foggia, Italy Yong Xu, First Hospital of Shanxi Medical University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Pei Jiang jiangpeicsu@sina.com Zhiying Luo Izhy199089@csu.edu.cn †These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics

**Received:** 06 May 2020 **Accepted:** 20 July 2020 **Published:** 11 August 2020

#### Citation:

Wang Y, Liu W, Xiao Y, Yuan H, Wang F, Jiang P and Luo Z (2020) Association of Apelin and Apelin Receptor Polymorphisms With the Risk of Comorbid Depression and Anxiety in Coronary Heart Disease Patients. Front. Genet. 11:893. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.00893 <sup>1</sup> Department of Pharmacy, The Second Xiangya Hospital of Central South University, Changsha, China, <sup>2</sup> Institute of Clinical Pharmacy, Central South University, Changsha, China, <sup>3</sup> Institute of Clinical Pharmacy & Pharmacology, Jining First People's Hospital, Jining Medical University, Jining, China

The Apelin (APLN)/apelin receptor (APLNR) signaling pathway is a newly identified regulator in various cardiovascular diseases, which is considered as a candidate pathway for the occurrence of coronary heart disease (CHD), depression, and anxiety. The goal of this study was to investigate the association between APLN/APLNR gene polymorphisms and the risk of depression and anxiety in CHD patients. To this end, a case-control study involving 269 CHD patients and 184 healthy control individuals was conducted. The 269 patients with CHD including 122 patients with and 147 patients without depression, and 56 patients with and 213 patients without anxiety Four single nucleotide polymorphisms were selected and successfully genotyped using Sanger sequencing. The APLN rs2235310T allele and APLNR rs9943582C allele were found to be associated with an increased risk of CHD after multiple test correction (Padjust < 0.05). The patients with CHD who carried the rs9943582C allele had a higher risk of depression, after adjusting for alcohol drinking habits, insomnia, hypertension, and stroke history, with the Bonferroni correction (P-adjust = 0.018). The APLNR rs2282623 T allele was associated with an increased risk of anxiety in CHD patients after adjusting for related disease complications, with the Bonferroni correction (Padjust = 0.022). We reported for the first time that the APLN rs2235310 and APLNR rs2282623 polymorphisms are associated with the risks of psychiatric disorders in CHD patients and may serve as novel biomarkers for therapy.

Keywords: coronary heart disease, depression, gene polymorphisms, apelin, anxiety

## INTRODUCTION

Coronary heart disease (CHD) is one of the most common chronic diseases, having a serious effect on human health and quality of life (Pezzella, 2010). Epidemiological studies show that CHD patients are more likely to suffer from psychiatric disorders, including depression and anxiety (Chauvet-Gélinier et al., 2013). Over the past few decades, an ever-expanding number of

52

prospective reports and meta-analyses have provided evidence that depression and anxiety are risk factors for the morbidity and mortality in patients with and without established CHD (Lichtman et al., 2008; Carney and Freedland, 2017; Hohls et al., 2020). Patients with CHD, who also have depression or anxiety, have worse outcomes than do those without depression and anxiety (Hare et al., 2014). Researchers have suggested that the risks of mortality and cardiovascular events are directly correlated with the severity of depression, the more severe depression associated with more severe cardiac events (Rugulies, 2002). Meanwhile, cognitive-behavioral treatment and positive psychology intervention have been showed to improve several psychological symptoms and reduced cardiac mortality for patients with CHD or coronary artery disease (CAD; Richards et al., 2018; Magan et al., 2020). Hence, it's quite important to disclose the relationship between CHD and psychical disorders.

Reasons for the relationship between CHD and psychical disorders are complicated, mainly including biological and behavioral mechanisms. An increasing number of studies show that CHD and psychiatric disorders share common biological mechanisms, including endothelial and platelet dysfunction, inflammation, autonomic dysfunction, and hypothalamuspituitary-adrenocortical axis dysfunction (Martinez-Quintana et al., 2020). The behavioral factors, including poor adherence to medical treatment and physical inactivity, associate with increased risk of both CHD and depression (Kamphuis et al., 2007). In recent decade, numbers studies have suggested that genetic factors are important determinants of CHD and psychiatric disorders (Han et al., 2019).

The APLN/APLNR signaling pathway is involved in various pathological processes and physiological functions, including cardiovascular disease, angiogenesis, energy metabolism, and central nervous system disease (Lv et al., 2020). A previous meta-analysis has shown that the circulating apelin level is a prominent athero-protective marker against the development of CAD, while the APLNR rs9943582 polymorphism in the APLNR promoter, is associated with an increased risk of CAD (Chen et al., 2017). Furthermore, increased levels of serum apelin have been shown to be significant independent predictors of the development of depression and anxiety in patients on peritoneal dialysis (Gok Oguz et al., 2016).

Thus, the APLN/APLNR signaling pathway is considered a candidate pathway for the occurrence of CHD, depression, and anxiety. Therefore, the present study aimed to evaluate the association between APLN and APLNR gene polymorphisms and the risk of comorbid depression and anxiety in Chinese patients with CHD.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Subjects**

A total of 269 patients with CHD and 184 matched healthy volunteers were enrolled in this study, which was conducted at the outpatient clinic of the Jining First People's Hospital in Shandong Province and at the Second Xiangya Hospital in Hunan Province to investigate the effects of genetic polymorphisms in



patients with CHD combination with depression and anxiety. This study was conducted in compliance with the stipulations of the Declaration of Helsinki, and the study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Jining First People's Hospital. Written informed consent was received from each participant prior to the study, and the participants were identified by numbers throughout the study.

#### **Study Design**

The study design of this research is shown in **Figure 1**. The sample size for this research was calculated using Power and Sample Size Calculation version 3.1.2 (*Department of Biostatistics, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States*) based on the following parameters: an independent case–control study; a type I error ( $\alpha$ ) of 0.05; a statistical power of 0.8; the probability of exposure in cases (p0) of 0.15; the probability of exposure in the control (p1) of 0.3; and the control to case ratio (m) of 0.8. Based on these parameters, the calculated minimum sample size was 137 experimental subjects and 110 control subjects.

## **Diagnosis of CHD**

The diagnosis of CHD was independently made by two experienced cardiologists based on the coronary angiographic findings in the patients. The reference standard for CHD diagnosis was the presence of severe coronary artery stenosis (more than 50%) in at least one major coronary artery or major branches. Patients were excluded if they had other serious disease including severe autoimmune disease, valvular heart disease, severe liver and/or kidney disease, and cancer.

## Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety

The presence of depression in the patients with CHD was evaluated by two experienced psychiatrists according to the criteria of the 5th Edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. The depression level was scored using the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), a nine-item questionnaire that is commonly used to screen for symptoms of depression in outpatients. To reduce the interference of environmental factors on

Polymorphisms in CHD-Associated Psychiatric Disorders

questionnaire performance, all patients were required to complete the questionnaire alone in a separate room, unless they required assistance with writing or reading. We set a threshold of the PHQ-9 scale >5 points to indicate the possibility of depression.

The seven-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7 (GAD-7) scale, which is widely used to measure anxiety symptoms in the general population, was used to assess symptoms of anxiety in the patients. The process of evaluating anxiety is the same as evaluating depression. A score of five or greater on the GAD-7 scale represented a cutoff point for identifying symptoms of anxiety.

#### **Control Group**

Healthy control individuals were selected among adults without CHD who had underwent several assessments including clinical physical examination, radiographic chest examination, electrocardiogram analysis, and evaluation of medical history. Moreover, all healthy volunteers completed questionnaires, including PHQ-9 and GAD-7 according to standard process. The presence of psychiatric disorders was evaluated by two independent psychiatrists based on the questionnaires. Finally, 184 age- and sex-matched healthy volunteers were enrolled in this study.

## **Data Collection**

Data were collected by reviewing the outpatient medical records. Clinical factors were mainly obtained from the electronic medical records, including demographic variables (e.g., age, sex, height, weight, and smoking and drinking habits) and coexisting diseases (e.g., hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and chronic gastritis).

# Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) Selection

We first systematically reviewed studies that reported genetic polymorphisms in the APLN/APLNR signaling pathway and selected previously investigated SNPs based on published studies found in PubMed. The SNP inclusion criteria were an association with a functional change, and a significantly associated with the risk of CHD and psychiatric disorders. The tag SNP strategy was further used to ensure a better detection rates, all the selected SNPs had a minor allele frequency >0.1 in Chinese or Asians. If several SNPs were in linkage disequilibrium (LD,  $r^2 > 0.8$ ), only one representative SNP was selected, e.g., rs2235309 was in a high LD with rs2235310, and rs7119375 was in a high LD with rs9943582. The final candidate tag SNPs were as follows: rs3115757 and rs2235310 in APLN, and rs9543582 and rs2282623 in APLNR.

## **DNA Extraction and Genotyping**

Peripheral venous blood (4 mL) was collected from each subject into an anticoagulation tube filled with sodium citrate. Genomic DNA was extracted using the TIANamp Blood DNA Kit (Tiangen, China) following the manufacturer's instructions. Primers for PCR amplification

Variables	CHD ( <i>N</i> = 269)	Control ( <i>N</i> = 184)	P-value
Age (years)	$61.24 \pm 12.08$	$59.82 \pm 11.79$	0.39
Gender (M/F)	144/127	45/39	0.78
Smoking	87 (32.34%)	54 (29.35%)	0.54
Drinking	90 (33.46%)	46 (25.00%)	0.06
BMI	$23.69 \pm 1.98$	$23.47\pm2.13$	0.67

CHD, coronary heart disease.

and sequencing are listed in **Supplementary Table S1**. The PCR reaction was performed in a total volume of 25  $\mu$ l reaction containing 2.5  $\mu$ l of 10 × PCR buffer (TaKaRa Bio Inc., Japan), 2  $\mu$ l dNTP mixture (TaKaRa Bio Inc.), 2  $\mu$ l genomic DNA, 0.2  $\mu$ l Taq polymerase (TaKaRa Bio Inc.), 0.5  $\mu$ l of each primer and 17.3  $\mu$ l of water. The PCR products were sequenced by Sanger sequencing, with the assisted of Shanghai Majorbio Bio-pharm Technology, Co., Ltd., Company.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics version 19.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). Data regarding the demographic, clinical, and genetic characteristics of the patients are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or counts (%) as appropriate. Differences in the demographic and clinical characteristics between the patients and healthy control individuals were evaluated using a *t*-test for continuous variables and x<sup>2</sup>-test for categorical variables. The Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) for polymorphisms was assessed using the  $\chi^2$  test. Pairwise LD analyses were carried out using SHEsis. The genotype distributions and allele frequencies in the patients with CHD and controls were analyzed using the  $\chi^2$  test. The Bonferroni adjustment was applied to correct for multiple comparisons. Differences in the risks of CHD and psychiatric disorders between groups were calculated using multivariate analysis of variance followed by the Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. P-values were adjusted for complications, when needed. Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals were also calculated.

## RESULTS

## **Characteristics of the Study Participants**

The demographic characteristics of the patients with CHD and healthy control individuals are provided in **Table 1**. No significant differences were observed between the patient and control groups (P > 0.05). The patients with CHD were further divided into the following subgroups, depending on whether comorbid depression (D) or anxiety (A) was present: CHD+D, CHD-D, CHD+A, and CHD-A. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients from these subgroups are shown in **Table 2**. Approximately 50% of the patients with CHD had depression or anxiety. Moreover, 51 of the 56 patients (91.7%) with anxiety had comorbid depression.

The patients with CHD who had depression had a markedly lower rate of alcohol intake than did those without depression (28.69% vs. 44.22%, respectively; P = 0.011). Furthermore, the patients with comorbid depression or anxiety had an increased rate of insomnia relative to those without these psychiatric disorders (47.54% vs. 24.49% and 50.00% vs. 30.98%, respectively; P < 0.05). We also found that patients with CHD who had depression had markedly lower rates of comorbid hypertension and a stroke history than did those without depression (50.82% vs. 99.32% and 7.38% vs. 15.65%, respectively; P < 0.001). Similarly, the patients with anxiety symptoms had lower rates of comorbid hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and a stroke history than did those without anxiety symptoms (57.14% vs. 82.63%, 16.07% vs. 20.19%, and 10.71% vs. 12.20%, respectively; P < 0.001).

#### Hardy–Weinberg Equilibrium Analysis

The following candidate tag SNPs were selected for analysis: rs3115757 and rs2235310 in APLN gene and rs9543582, and rs2282623 in APLNR gene. The genotypes of the four SNPs in the CHD and control groups were in HWE based on the  $\chi^2$  test results, suggesting that the cases enrolled in this

study were representative of the population as shown in **Table 3**. The LD analysis indicated that the SNPs studied were in a low LD with each other ( $r^2 < 0.8$ ), as shown in **Supplementary Figure S1**.

## Association Between Gene Polymorphisms and CHD Risk

The frequency distributions of the genotypes and alleles of the four selected SNPs between the patients with CHD and controls are shown in **Table 4**. The data showed that the C allele of the APLN rs2235310 polymorphism occurred less frequently in the former group (19.96% vs. 30.53%, respectively; P = 2.38E-4) and, thus, might be a protective factor against the development of CHD. After the Bonferroni correction, the *P*-value for the rs2235310 polymorphism and the risk of CHD was less than 0.01. By contrast, the CC genotype and C allele of the APLNR rs9943582 polymorphism were associated with an increased risk of CHD (P = 0.04 and P = 0.027, respectively). And the APLNR rs9943582 C allele was still significantly associated with the incidence of CHD after multiple test correction (P = 0.014). However, no significant relationships between the other two SNPs and the risk of CHD were observed.

TABLE 2 | Demographic and clinical characteristics among different coronary heart disease (CHD) groups.

Variables	CHD (N = 269)	CHD+D (N = 122)	CHD-D ( <i>N</i> = 147)	P <sub>1</sub> -value	CHD+A ( <i>N</i> = 56)	CHD-A (N = 213)	P <sub>2</sub> -value
Age (years)	$61.24 \pm 12.08$	$61.62 \pm 13.71$	$60.92 \pm 10.60$	0.64	$61.00 \pm 11.77$	$61.30 \pm 12.18$	0.87
Gender (M/F)	144/127	70/52	74/75	0.22	32/24	112/103	0.55
Smoking	87 (32.34%)	36 (29.51%)	51 (34.69)	0.43	16 (28.57%)	71 (33.33%)	0.53
Drinking	90 (33.46%)	35 (28.69%)	65 (44.22%)	0.011	17 (30.36%)	73 (34.27%)	0.64
BMI	$23.69 \pm 1.98$	$24.17\pm2.05$	$23.86\pm2.45$	0.34	$24.13\pm2.48$	$24.85\pm2.96$	0.26
Insomnia	94 (34.94%)	58 (47.54%)	36 (24.49%)	0.006	28 (50.00%)	66 (30.98%)	0.011
Hypertension	208 (77.3%)	62 (50.82%)	146 (99.32%)	6.77E-15	32 (57.14%)	176 (82.63%)	4.96E-62
Diabetes mellitus	52 (19.33%)	22 (18.03%)	30 (20.41%)	0.645	9 (16.07%)	43 (20.19%)	7.11E-57
Stroke	32 (11.90%)	9 (7.38%)	23 (15.65%)	0.039	6 (10.71%)	26 (12.20%)	3.18E-42

CHD+D, CHD patients with depression; CHD-D, CHD patients without depression; CHD+A, CHD patients with anxiety; CHD-A, CHD patients without anxiety.  $P_1$ -value: CHD+D versus CHD-D;  $P_2$ -value: CHD+A versus CHD-A. Bold values means: p < 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium analysis of studied single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in coronary heart disease (CHD) patients and controls.

SNP-ID	Genotype		CHD			Control	
		Number	X1 <sup>2</sup>	<i>P</i> <sub>1</sub>	Number	X <sub>2</sub> <sup>2</sup>	P <sub>2</sub>
APLN: rs3115757	GG GC CC	134 107 25	0.29	0.59	83 76 15	0.17	0.68
APLN: rs2235310	TT TC CC	167 79 14	1.29	0.26	115 59 9	0.16	0.69
APLNR: rs9943582	TT TC CC	122 107 38	1.37	0.24	94 73 12	2.18	0.14
APLNR: rs2282623	CC CT TT	121 112 35	3.08	0.079	89 73 18	0.28	0.59

APLNR, apelin receptor.

TABLE 4 | Association between APLNR/APLNR gene mutations and patients with CHD.

Gene	SNP-ID	CHD (N = 269)	Control (N = 184)	P-value	<i>P</i> -adjust
APLN	rs3115757				
	GG	134 (50.38%)	83 (47.70%)	0.77	1.00
	GC	107 (40.22%)	76 (43.68%)		
	CC	25 (9.39%)	15 (8.62)		
	G	375 (70.67%)	242 (69.54%)	0.76	1.00
	С	157 (29.33%)	106 (30.46%)		
	rs2235310				
	TT	167 (64.23%)	115 (62.84%)	0.91	1.00
	CT	79 (30.38%)	59 (31.24%)		
	CC	14 (5.39)	9 (5.12%)		
	Т	413 (80.04%)	289 (69.47%)	2.38E-4	<0.01
	С	103 (19.96%)	127 (30.53%)		
APLNR	rs9943582				
	Π	122 (45.69%)	94 (52.51%)	0.040	0.06
	TC	107 (40.07%)	73 (40.78%)		
	CC	38 (14.34%)	12 (6.71%)		
	Т	351 (65.73%)	261 (72.90%)	0.027	0.014
	С	183 (34.26%)	97 (27.10%)		
	rs2282623				
	CC	121 (45.15%)	89 (49.44%)	0.52	0.32
	CT	112 (41.79%)	73 (40.56%)		
	Π	35 (13.06%)	18 (10.00%)		
	С	374 (69.78%)	251 (69.72%)	0.35	0.21
	Т	188 (30.22%)	109 (30.28%)		

P-adjust means P-value adjusted with Bonferroni test. APLNR, apelin receptor; CHD, coronary heart disease; SNP, Single nucleotide polymorphism. Bold values means: p < 0.05.

# Influence of Gene Polymorphisms on the Risk of Depression in CHD Patients

The results of the association analysis between the selected polymorphisms and the risk of depression in patients with CHD are shown in Table 5. We found that only the rs9943582 data reached statistical significance at the P < 0.05 level. Both the CC genotype and C allele were associated with a higher risk of depression in patients with CHD (21.00% vs. 8.78% and 40.76% vs. 29.06%; P = 0.013 and P = 0.006, respectively). Furthermore, the association between rs9943582 and the risk of depression remained significant after adjusting for alcohol drinking habits, insomnia, hypertension, and the stroke history, with the Bonferroni correction (P-adjust = 0.042 and *P*-adjust = 0.018, respectively). We also examined the association of rs9943582 with the severity of depressive symptoms and found that the PHQ-9 scores were markedly higher in the patients with CC genotype than in those with the other genotypes (P < 0.001; Figure 2).

# Influence of Gene Polymorphisms on the Risk of Anxiety in CHD Patients

The results of the association analysis between the studied mutations and the risk of anxiety are shown in **Table 6**. The C allele of the rs9943582 polymorphism was associated with a lower risk of anxiety in patients with CHD (25.46% vs. 36.73%, respectively; P = 0.032). However, the association did not remain statistically significant after adjusting for insomnia, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and the stroke history, with

the Bonferroni correction (*P*-adjust = 0.081). The TT genotype and T allele of the APLNR rs2282623 polymorphism were associated with a higher risk of anxiety in patients with CHD (19.64% vs. 11.32% and 47.32% vs. 30.42%; *P* = 0.003 and *P* = 0.001, respectively). These associations remained statistically significant after adjusting for complications (*P*-adjust = 0.017 and *P*-adjust = 0.022, respectively). The rs2282623 polymorphism was also associated with the severity symptoms of anxiety, with the GAD-7 scores being higher in the CC genotype carriers than in the TT + TC genotype carriers (*P* = 0.013; **Figure 3**).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we investigated the associations of four promising polymorphisms in the APLN/APLNR pathway with the risks of depression and anxiety in patients with CHD. Our principal findings demonstrated that genetic polymorphisms in the APLN/APLNR pathway might result in a potential risk for depression and anxiety in patients with CHD. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first pilot study exploring the genetic contribution of the APLN/APLNR pathway to the susceptibility to depression and anxiety in Chinese patients with CHD.

We first found that patients with CHD who experienced insomnia had a high risk of comorbid depression and anxiety, which was consistent with previous findings, demonstrating that insomnia is frequently co-morbid with depression and anxiety (Gebara et al., 2018). Additionally, patients with CHD who has alcohol drinking habits were less likely to have

#### TABLE 5 | Genotype distribution of polymorphisms between CHD+D and CHD-D.

TABLE 6 | Genotype distribution of polymorphisms between CHD+A and CHD-A.

SNP	CHD+D (N = 121)	CHD-D (N = 148)	P-value	P-adjust*
rs3115757				
GG	61 (51.69%)	73 (49.32%)	0.80	1.00
GC	45 (38.13%)	62 (41.89)		
CC	12 (10.28%)	13 (8.79%)		
G	167 (70.76%)	208 (70.27%)	0.92	1.00
С	69 (29.24%)	88 (29.73%)		
rs2235310				
TT	78 (68.42%)	89 (60.96%)	0.45	0.62
CT	31 (27.19%)	48 (32.88%)		
CC	5 (4.39%)	9 (6.16%)		
Т	187 (82.02%)	226 (77.40%)	0.23	0.58
С	41 (17.98%)	66 (22.60%)		
rs9943582				
TT	47 (39.50%)	75 (50.68%)	0.013	0.042
TC	47 (39.50%)	60 (40.54%)		
CC	25 (21.00%)	13 (8.78%)		
Т	141 (59.24%)	210 (70.94%)	0.006	0.018
С	97 (40.76%)	86 (29.06%)		
rs2282623				
CC	61 (50.83%)	63 (43.45%)	0.42	0.74
CT	43 35.83)	63 (43.45%)		
TT	16 (13.16%)	19 (13.10%)		
С	165 (68.75%)	189 (65.17%)	0.40	0.98
Т	75 (31.25%)	101 (34.83%)		
	. ,			

SNP	CHD+A (N = 56)	CHD-A (N = 213)	P-value	P-adjust*
rs3115757				
GG	28 (50.0%)	106 (50.48%)	0.98	0.95
GC	23 (41.07%)	84 (40.09%)	1.00	1.00
CC	5 (8.93%)	20 (9.52%)		
G	79 (70.54%)	296 (70.48%)		
С	33 (29.46%)	124 (29.52%)		
rs2235310				
Π	33 (58.93%)	134 (65.69%)	0.61	0.53
CT	20 (35.71%)	59 (28.92%)	0.43	0.47
CC	3 (5.36%)	11 (5.39%)		
Т	86 (76.78%)	327 (80.15%)		
С	26 (23.22%)	81 (19.85%)		
rs9943582				
Π	32 (57.14%)	90 (42.65%)	0.088	0.24
TC	20 (35.71%)	87 (41.23%)	0.032	0.11
CC	4 (7.15%)	34 (16.12%)		
Т	82 (74.54%)	267 (63.27%)		
С	28 (25.46%)	155 (36.73%)		
rs2282623				
CC	14 (25.00%)	107 (50.47%)	0.003	0.017
CT	31 (55.36%)	81 (38.21%)	0.001	0.022
ΤΤ	11 (19.64%)	24 (11.32%)		
С	59 (52.68%)	295 (69.58%)		
Т	53 (47.32%)	129 (30.42%)		

\*P-value adjustment for drinking habit, insomnia, hypertension, and stroke history, multiple comparisons with Bonferroni test. CHD, coronary heart disease. Bold values means: p < 0.05.



with PHQ-9 scores in coronary heart disease (CHD) patients with comorbid depression. The filled circle means TT genotype carriers, the filled square means TC genotype carriers and the filled triangle means the CC genotype carriers. The red lines mean the mean  $\pm$  SD of PHQ-9 score of TT group, the green lines mean the mean  $\pm$  SD of PHQ-9 score of the TC group, and the blue lines mean the mean  $\pm$  SD of the PHQ-9 score of the CC group.

depression than were non-drinkers. This finding, however, deviates from previously published results, which suggested a causal relationship between alcohol use disorders and major \*P-value adjustment for drinking habit, insomnia, hypertension, and stroke history, multiple comparisons with Bonferroni test. Bold values means: p < 0.05.



**FIGURE 3** Association of apelin receptor (APLNR) rs2282623 polymorphism with generalized anxiety disorder 7 (GAD-7) scores in coronary heart disease (CHD) patients with comorbid anxiety. The filled circle means CC genotype carriers, the filled square means CT genotype carriers and the filled triangle means the TT genotype carriers. The red lines mean the mean  $\pm$  SD of GAD-7 score of CC group, the green lines mean the mean  $\pm$  SD of GAD-7 score of the CT group, and the blue lines mean the mean  $\pm$  SD of the GAD-7 score of the TT group.

depression (Agabio et al., 2018). Moreover, patients with CHD who had more complications were more likely to have depression or anxiety, which may be explained by the additional psychological stress that these patients experience.

Apelin is an endogenous peptide capable of binding to the apelin receptor. Both apelin and its receptor are widely distributed in various tissues, including the central nervous and cardiovascular systems, and play a dominant role in cardiovascular homeostasis and disease (Chen et al., 2015). The beneficial effects of the apelin/apelin receptor pathway are well established. Apelin treatment has been proven beneficial for conditions as diverse as hypertension, atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and other cardiovascular diseases (Zhou et al., 2016). Numerous studies have shown that APLN/APLNR polymorphisms are associated with the risk of several diseases such as hypertension, CAD, and diabetes mellitus (Nowzari et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). Our results demonstrated that the T allele of the rs2235310 polymorphism and the C allele of the rs9943582 polymorphism were risk factors in the development of CHD.

The association between rs9943582, a functional variant in the 5' flanking region (-154G/A) of APLNR, and the incidence of cardiovascular disease has been extensively studied; however, the results have been contradictory. One study showed that the rs9943582 polymorphism is associated with the expression levels of APLNR. In particular, C allele carriers had lower expression level of the APLNR because of a lower binding affinity of a transcription factor to the promoter of APLNR (Hata et al., 2007). A published meta-analysis showed that the T allele of rs9943582 is associated with an increased risk of CAD (P = 0.100) relative to that of the wild-type C allele (Chen et al., 2017). Additionally, a previous genome-wide association study conducted in a Japanese population, showed a significant association between rs9943582 and the risk of stroke (Hata et al., 2007), whereas no allelic or genotypic associations were found between rs9943582 and ischemic stroke in a Chinese Han population (Wang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2017). The APLN rs2234306 polymorphism was in a strong LD with the APLN rs3115757 polymorphism in the Chinese population from this study ( $r^2 > 0.9$ ), and both SNPs were located in APLN introns. Previous studies showed that the rs3115757 polymorphism is associated with the expression level of APLN (Liao et al., 2011) and the incidence of diabetes and hypertension (Huang et al., 2016; Zheng et al., 2016). Our findings support a moderate contribution of the APLN/APLNR pathway polymorphisms to the development of CHD in Chinese patients.

The APLN/APLNR pathway may also serve as a promising therapeutic target for the treatment of psychosis and neuropathy (Lv et al., 2020). We further investigated the influence of APLN/APLNR pathway polymorphisms on the risks of depression and anxiety in patients with CHD. Among the patients with CHD, the rs9943582 C-allele carriers had an increased risk of depression, whereas rs2282623 T-allele carriers had a higher risk of anxiety. This is the first pharmacogenomics study to examine the associations between polymorphisms located in genes of the APLN/APLNR pathway and the susceptibility to depression and anxiety in patients with CHD.

Apelin-13 has exhibited antidepressant and anxiolytic effects in different animal models (Telegdy and Jaszberenyi, 2014; Dai et al., 2018). A functional study of the rs2282623 SNP, located in the 3'UTR of APLNR, showed that the rs2282623 T-allele is associated with the decreased levels of apelin-13 and nitrite (Mishra et al., 2015). Moreover, another study demonstrated that the rs2282623 mutation is associated with diastolic blood pressure and the mean arterial pressure response to a low-sodium intervention (Zhao et al., 2010). In the current study, we showed that the SNPs associated with low apelin expression levels were also associated with an increased risk of depression or anxiety in patients with CHD.

However, other studies have shown controversial roles of APLN in psychosis. For example, patients on peritoneal dialysis, who had depression and anxiety, had higher serum apelin levels than those without depression and anxiety (Gok Oguz et al., 2016). Furthermore, apelin-13 exhibited depression-promoting effects in both forced swimming and tail suspension tests (Lv et al., 2012). Hence, additional pharmacogenomics studies with a larger sample size should be conducted to further validate the results of this study.

This study has several limitations. First, the candidate SNP approach was used to identify emotional disorder associated polymorphisms in patients with CHD. This approach might have missed mutations that are truly associated with the studied phenotypes. Second, although the final sample size was larger than the minimum calculated sample size, the results of this study should be verified using a larger sample size. More largesample-size, high-quality, multicenter clinical trials are urgently needed to validate the association of gene polymorphisms in the APLN/APLNR pathway on the risk of emotional disorders in patients with CHD.

## CONCLUSION

The present study supports the hypothesis that APLN/APLNR polymorphisms contribute to the susceptibility to depression and anxiety in Chinese patients with CHD. Replication studies with larger samples are required to verify the role of these polymorphisms in patients with CHD, who comorbid depression and anxiety.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Jining First People's Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ZL and PJ designed the experiments and drafted the manuscript. YW and WL accomplished works of the data collection, DNA extraction, and genotyping. YX and HY helped to enroll the all of the patients. FW guided to conduct the statistic works. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This project was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Hunan Province China (Grant No: 2017JJ3462).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all the patients and their families. The authors also thank the support from the doctors of Department

## REFERENCES

- Agabio, R., Trogu, E., and Pani, P. P. (2018). Antidepressants for the treatment of people with co-occurring depression and alcohol dependence. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 4:Cd008581. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD008581
- Carney, R. M., and Freedland, K. E. (2017). Depression and coronary heart disease. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 14, 145–155. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.181
- Chauvet-Gélinier, J. C., Trojak, B., Vergès-Patois, B., Cottin, Y., and Bonin, B. (2013). Review on depression and coronary heart disease. *Arch. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 106, 103–110. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2012.12.004
- Chen, L. J., Xu, R., Yu, H. M., Chang, Q., and Zhong, J. C. (2015). The ACE2/apelin signaling, MicroRNAs, and hypertension. *Int. J. Hypertens.* 2015:896861. doi: 10.1155/2015/896861
- Chen, T., Wu, B., and Lin, R. (2017). Association of apelin and apelin receptor with the risk of coronary artery disease\_ a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Oncotartet* 8, 57345–57355.
- Dai, T. T., Wang, B., Xiao, Z. Y., You, Y., and Tian, S. W. (2018). Apelin-13 upregulates BDNF against chronic stress-induced depression-like phenotypes by ameliorating HPA axis and hippocampal glucocorticoid receptor dysfunctions. *Neuroscience* 390, 151–159. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.08. 018
- Gebara, M. A., Siripong, N., DiNapoli, E. A., Maree, R. D., Germain, A., Reynolds, C. F., et al. (2018). Effect of insomnia treatments on depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Depress. Anxiety* 35, 717–731. doi: 10.1002/da.22776
- Gok Oguz, E., Akoglu, H., Ulusal Okyay, G., Yayar, O., Karaveli Gursoy, G., Buyukbakkal, M., et al. (2016). Serum apelin is associated with affective disorders in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Ren. Fail.* 38, 1059–1066. doi: 10.1080/ 0886022X.2016.1193873
- Han, W., Zhang, H., Gong, X., Guo, Y., Yang, M., Zhang, H., et al. (2019). Association of SGK1 polymorphisms with susceptibility to coronary heart disease in chinese han patients with comorbid depression. *Front. Genet.* 10:921. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2019.00921
- Hare, D. L., Toukhsati, S. R., Johansson, P., and Jaarsma, T. (2014). Depression and cardiovascular disease: a clinical review. *Eur. Heart J.* 35, 1365–1372. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht462
- Hata, J., Matsuda, K., Ninomiya, T., Yonemoto, K., Matsushita, T., Ohnishi, Y., et al. (2007). Functional SNP in an Sp1-binding site of AGTRL1 gene is associated with susceptibility to brain infarction. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 16, 630–639. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddm005
- Hohls, J. K., Beer, K., Arolt, V., Haverkamp, W., Kuhlmann, S. L., Martus, P., et al. (2020). Association between heart-focused anxiety, depressive symptoms, health behaviors and healthcare utilization in patients with coronary heart disease. J. Psychosom. Res. 131:109958. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.109958
- Huang, F., Zhu, P., Huang, Q., Yuan, Y., Lin, F., and Li, Q. (2016). Associations between gene polymorphisms of the apelin-APJ system and the risk of hypertension. *Blood Press* 25, 257–262. doi: 10.3109/08037051.2016.1156905
- Kamphuis, M. H., Geerlings, M. I., Tijhuis, M. A., Giampaoli, S., Nissinen, A., Grobbee, D. E., et al. (2007). Physical inactivity, depression, and risk of cardiovascular mortality. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 1693–1699. doi: 10.1249/ mss.0b013e3180f6109f
- Liao, Y. C., Chou, W. W., Li, Y. N., Chuang, S. C., Lin, W. Y., Lakkakula, B. V., et al. (2011). Apelin gene polymorphism influences apelin expression and obesity phenotypes in Chinese women. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 94, 921–928. doi: 10.3945/ ajcn.110.008813

of Cardiology, Jining First People's Hospital, Jining Medical University, China.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene. 2020.00893/full#supplementary-material

- Lichtman, J. H., Bigger, J. T. Jr., Blumenthal, J. A., Frasure-Smith, N., Kaufmann, P. G., Lespérance, F., et al. (2008). Depression and coronary heart disease: recommendations for screening, referral, and treatment: a science advisory from the American heart association prevention committee of the council on cardiovascular nursing, council on clinical cardiology, council on epidemiology and prevention, and interdisciplinary council on quality of care and outcomes research: endorsed by the American psychiatric association. *Circulation* 118, 1768–1775. doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.108.190769
- Lv, S.-Y., Chen, W.-D., and Wang, Y.-D. (2020). The Apelin/APJ system in psychosis and neuropathy. *Front. Pharmacol.* 11:320. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020. 00320
- Lv, S. Y., Qin, Y. J., Wang, H. T., Xu, N., Yang, Y. J., and Chen, Q. (2012). Centrally administered apelin-13 induces depression-like behavior in mice. *Brain Res. Bull.* 88, 574–580. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2012.06.003
- Magan, I., Casado, L., Jurado-Barba, R., Barnum, H., Redondo, M. M., Hernandez, A. V., et al. (2020). Efficacy of psychological interventions on psychological outcomes in coronary artery disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol. Med.* doi: 10.1017/S0033291720000598 [Epub ahead of print].
- Martinez-Quintana, E., Girolimetti, A., Jimenez-Rodriguez, S., Fraguela-Medina, C., Rodriguez-Gonzalez, F., and Tugores, A. (2020). Prevalence and predictors of psychological distress in congenital heart disease patients. *J. Clin. Psychol.* doi: 10.1002/jclp.22948 [Epub ahead of print].
- Mishra, A., Kohli, S., Dua, S., Thinlas, T., Mohammad, G., and Pasha, M. A. (2015). Genetic differences and aberrant methylation in the apelin system predict the risk of high-altitude pulmonary edema. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 6134–6139. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1422759112
- Nowzari, Z., Masoumi, M., Nazari-Robati, M., Akbari, H., Shahrokhi, N., and Asadikaram, G. (2018). Association of polymorphisms of leptin, leptin receptor and apelin receptor genes with susceptibility to coronary artery disease and hypertension. *Life Sci.* 207, 166–171. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.06.007
- Pezzella, A. T. (2010). Global aspects of cardiothoracic surgery with focus on developing countries. Asian Cardiovasc. Thorac. Ann. 18, 299–310. doi: 10. 1177/0218492310370060
- Richards, S. H., Anderson, L., Jenkinson, C. E., Whalley, B., Rees, K., Davies, P., et al. (2018). Psychological interventions for coronary heart disease: cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 25, 247–259. doi: 10.1177/2047487317739978
- Rugulies, R. (2002). Depression as a predictor for coronary heart disease. a review and meta-analysis. Am. J. Prev. Med. 23, 51–61. doi: 10.1016/s0749-3797(02) 00439-437
- Telegdy, G., and Jaszberenyi, M. (2014). Transmitter mediation of the anxiolytic action of apelin-13 in male mice. *Behav. Brain Res.* 263, 198–202. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbr.2014.01.009
- Wang, P., Wang, C., Li, S., Wang, B., Xiong, L., Tu, X., et al. (2017). Lack of association between the APLNR variant rs9943582 with ischemic stroke in the Chinese Han GeneID population. *Oncotarget* 8, 107678–107684. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.22588
- Wu, X. D., Zhang, N., Liang, M., Liu, W. L., Lin, B. B., Xiao, Y. R., et al. (2018). Gender-specific association between Apelin/APJ gene polymorphisms and hypertension risk in Southeast China. *Gene* 669, 63–68. doi: 10.1016/j.gene. 2018.05.079
- Zhang, H., Sun, L., Wang, H., Cai, H., Niu, G., Bai, Y., et al. (2017). A study of GWAS-supported variants of rs9943582 in a Chinese han population with ischemic stroke: no associations with disease onset and clinical outcomes.

J. Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 26, 2294–2299. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis. 2017.05.013

- Zhang, M., Peng, F., Lin, L., Yu, M., Huang, C., Hu, D., et al. (2019). Association study of apelin-APJ system genetic polymorphisms with incident metabolic syndrome in a Chinese population: a case-control study. *Oncotarget* 10, 3807– 3817. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24111
- Zhao, Q., Hixson, J. E., Rao, D. C., Gu, D., Jaquish, C. E., Rice, T., et al. (2010). Genetic variants in the apelin system and blood pressure responses to dietary sodium interventions: a family-based association study. J. Hypertens. 28, 756–763. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328337 0d32
- Zheng, H., Fan, X., Li, X., Zhang, Y., Fan, Y., Zhang, N., et al. (2016). The association between single nucleotide polymorphisms of the Apelin gene and diabetes mellitus in a Chinese population. J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab. 29, 1397–1402. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2015-2441
- Zhou, Q., Cao, J., and Chen, L. (2016). Apelin/APJ system: a novel therapeutic target for oxidative stress-related inflammatory diseases (Review). Int. J. Mol. Med. 37, 1159–1169. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2544

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Wang, Liu, Xiao, Yuan, Wang, Jiang and Luo. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Beyond Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: *CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7* Composite and *ABCB1* Haplotype Associations to Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics in Black and White Renal Transplant Recipients

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Henk-Jan Guchelaar, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Cristina Rodriguez-Antona, Spanish National Cancer Research Center (CNIO), Spain Julio Benitez, University of Extremadura, Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Daniel A. Brazeau brazeaud@marshall.edu †Deceased

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Genetics

**Received:** 19 May 2020 **Accepted:** 20 July 2020 **Published:** 11 August 2020

#### Citation:

Brazeau DA, Attwood K, Meaney CJ, Wilding GE, Consiglio JD, Chang SS, Gundroo A, Venuto RC, Cooper L and Tornatore KM (2020) Beyond Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms: CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 Composite and ABCB1 Haplotype Associations to Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics in Black and White Renal Transplant Recipients. Front. Genet. 11:889. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.00889 Daniel A. Brazeau<sup>1</sup>\*, Kristopher Attwood<sup>2</sup>, Calvin J. Meaney<sup>3,4</sup>, Gregory E. Wilding<sup>2</sup>, Joseph D. Consiglio<sup>2</sup>, Shirley S. Chang<sup>5,6</sup>, Aijaz Gundroo<sup>5,6</sup>, Rocco C. Venuto<sup>5,6†</sup>, Louise Cooper<sup>3,4</sup> and Kathleen M. Tornatore<sup>3,4,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pharmacy Practice, Administration and Research, School of Pharmacy, Marshall University, Huntington, WV, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biostatistics, School of Public Health and Health Professions, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, United States, <sup>3</sup> Immunosuppressive Pharmacology Research Program, Translational Pharmacology Research Core, NYS Center of Excellence in Bioinformatics and Life Sciences, Buffalo, NY, United States, <sup>4</sup> School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Buffalo, NY, United States, <sup>5</sup> Jacobs School of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, United States, <sup>6</sup> Erie County Medical Center, Buffalo, NY, United States

Interpatient variability in tacrolimus pharmacokinetics is attributed to metabolism by cytochrome P-450 3A5 (CYP3A5) isoenzymes and membrane transport by P-glycoprotein. Interpatient pharmacokinetic variability has been associated with genotypic variants for both CYP3A5 or ABCB1. Tacrolimus pharmacokinetics was investigated in 65 stable Black and Caucasian post-renal transplant patients by assessing the effects of multiple alleles in both CYP3A5 and ABCB1. A metabolic composite based upon the CYP3A5 polymorphisms: \*3(rs776746), \*6(10264272), and \*7(41303343), each independently responsible for loss of protein expression was used to classify patients as extensive, intermediate and poor metabolizers. In addition, the role of ABCB1 on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics was assessed using haplotype analysis encompassing the single nucleotide polymorphisms: 1236C > T (rs1128503), 2677G > T/A(rs2032582), and 3435C > T(rs1045642). Finally, a combined analysis using both CYP3A5 and ABCB1 polymorphisms was developed to assess their interrelated influence on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics. Extensive metabolizers identified as homozygous wild type at all three CYP3A5 loci were found in 7 Blacks and required twice the tacrolimus dose (5.6  $\pm$  1.6 mg) compared to Poor metabolizers  $[2.5 \pm 1.1 \text{ mg} (P < 0.001)]$ ; who were primarily Whites. These extensive metabolizers had 2-fold faster clearance (P < 0.001) with 50% lower AUC\* (P < 0.001) than Poor metabolizers. No differences in C<sub>12 h</sub> were found due to therapeutic drug monitoring. The majority of blacks (81%) were classified as either Extensive or Intermediate Metabolizers requiring higher tacrolimus doses to accommodate the more rapid

clearance. Blacks who were homozygous for one or more loss of function SNPS were associated with lower tacrolimus doses and slower clearance. These values are comparable to Whites, 82% of who were in the Poor metabolic composite group. The *ABCB1* haplotype analysis detected significant associations of the wildtype *1236T-2677T-3435T* haplotype to tacrolimus dose (P = 0.03), CL (P = 0.023), CL/LBW (P = 0.022), and AUC\* (P = 0.078). Finally, analysis combining *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* genotypes indicated that the presence of the *ABCB1* 3435 T allele significantly reduced tacrolimus clearance for all three CPY3A5 metabolic composite groups. Genotypic associations of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics can be improved by using the novel composite *CYP3A5\*3\*4\*5* and *ABCB1* haplotypes. Consideration of multiple alleles using *CYP3A5* metabolic composites and drug transporter ABCB1 haplotypes provides a more comprehensive appraisal of genetic factors contributing to interpatient variability in tacrolimus pharmacokinetics among Whites and Blacks.

Keywords: renal transplantation, immunosuppression, CYP3A5 genotypes, tacrolimus, race, tacrolimus pharmacokinetics, pharmacogenomics, ABCB1 haplotypes

## INTRODUCTION

The combination of tacrolimus and mycophenolic acid is the mainstay of maintenance immunosuppressive regimens to prevent renal allograft rejection (Hart et al., 2017; Jouve et al., 2018). Tacrolimus exhibits variable pharmacokinetics and clinical response, necessitating the use of therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) (Schiff et al., 2007; de Jonge et al., 2009; Shuker et al., 2015, 2016b; Vanhove et al., 2016). However, trough tacrolimus concentration versus effect relationships for clinical responses and adverse drug effects are not well defined in sub-populations stratified by sex or race (Bouamar et al., 2013; Vanhove et al., 2016). Tacrolimus pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability is attributed, in part to variation in both cytochrome P-450 3A5 isoenzymes and P-glycoprotein (P-gp) (Fredericks et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2006; Staatz et al., 2010a).

The duration of chronic renal allograft survival in Blacks is significantly shorter compared to other races receiving similar immunosuppression (Young and Gaston, 2000, 2002, 2005; Young and Kew, 2005; Eckhoff et al., 2007; Fan et al., 2010; Andrews et al., 2016). Contributing factors include socioeconomics, genomic variants, medication adherence, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variability, donorrecipient mismatches, time on dialysis and racial variation in immunodynamic responses (Young and Gaston, 2005; Young and Kew, 2005; Eckhoff et al., 2007; Page et al., 2012). Interestingly, Blacks require higher tacrolimus doses compared to Whites to achieve similar allograft outcomes (Neylan, 1998; Young and Gaston, 2005; Vadivel et al., 2007). Tacrolimus bioavailability is reduced in healthy Blacks (Fitzsimmons et al., 1998; Mancinelli et al., 2001). Though not examined here, sex is another recognized factor influencing the activity of CYP3A4/5 isoenzymes and P-glycoprotein (Cummins et al., 2002; Scandlyn et al., 2008; Hu and Zhao, 2010; Soldin et al., 2011; Momper et al., 2017).

Pharmacogenomic testing has been incorporated into clinical studies of calcineurin inhibitors (Barbarino et al., 2013; Hesselink et al., 2014; Bruckmueller et al., 2015; Andrews et al., 2016; Tang et al., 2016; Meng et al., 2018) and may be responsible for the differences among races. For example, the wild-type variant, CYP3A5\*1, is common in Blacks as compared to CYP3A5\*3 (rs776746) the major variant in Whites which is associated with loss of protein expression. This variant (CYP3A5\*3) contributes to interpatient tacrolimus pharmacokinetic variability as reflected in dose-normalized trough, area under the concentration vs. time curve (AUC) and clearance (MacPhee et al., 2004; Dai et al., 2006; Thervet et al., 2010; de Jonge et al., 2012; Andrews et al., 2016; Oetting et al., 2016; Shuker et al., 2016a). However, in Blacks, other CYP3A5 variants including CYP3A5\*6 (rs10264272) and CYP3A5\*7 (rs41303343), are associated with loss of function, and may also contribute to interracial variability in tacrolimus pharmacokinetics (Birdwell et al., 2015; Oetting et al., 2016; Sanghavi et al., 2017). Recent studies in Black recipients with CYP3A5\*1 alleles require higher daily tacrolimus doses than Whites with the variant CYP3A5\*3, or Blacks exhibiting variants *CYP3A5*\*3, *CYP3A5*\*6, and/or *CYP3A5*\*7 to achieve comparable troughs (Birdwell et al., 2015; Oetting et al., 2016; Sanghavi et al., 2017). Our group has recently reported the CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 metabolic composite to provide a comprehensive phenotypic representation (Campagne et al., 2018).

Pharmacokinetic estimates in these studies were limited to trough concentrations which has limitations in describing accurate tacrolimus exposures. Variable correlations between tacrolimus troughs and area under the concentration curve

**Abbreviations:** *ABCB1*, ATP binding cassette gene subfamily B member 1; AUC 0-12, Area under the concentration vs. time curve from 0 to 12 h; AUC<sup>\*</sup>, dose normalized AUC 0 to 12 h; AUC 0-4 hr, Area under the concentration vs. time curve from 0 to 4 h; AUC<sup>\*</sup> 0-4 hr, dose normalized AUC 0-4 hr; BMI, Body mass index; CNI, Calcineurin inhibitors; *CYP3A5*, Cytochrome P-450 3A5 isoenzymes; *CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7* metabolic composite: genotypic variants *CYP3A5\*3*, *CYP3A5\*6*, *CYP3A5\*7C*<sub>12</sub> h: 12 h trough concentration; C 2 h, 2 h concentration; C max, Maximum concentration; CLss, steady state oral clearance; ECMPS, enteric Coated Mycophenolate Sodium; MPA, Mycophenolic Acid; N, Number of patients; P-gp, P glycoprotein; LBW, Lean body Weight; SNP, Single Nucleotide Polymorphism; Std, Standard Deviation; T<sub>max</sub>, Time to maximum concentration; TBW, Total Body Weight.

(AUC) have been reported contributing to interpatient pharmacokinetic variability (Schiff et al., 2007; Staatz et al., 2010b). Therefore, an alternative study design that uses intensive sampling to characterize tacrolimus AUC or drug exposure in African American and Caucasian recipients is needed to guide further development of dosing strategies in relation to wild-type *CYP3A5\*1* and variant *CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7* genotypes (Birdwell et al., 2015).

In contrast to the relationship of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics to CYP3A5\*1/\*3 variants, the relationship of the ATP binding cassette gene subfamily B member 1(ABCB1) variants, as surrogate markers for P-gp has an unclear relationship to calcineurin inhibitor pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (Staatz et al., 2010b; Knops et al., 2013; Hesselink et al., 2014). P-glycoprotein serves as an adenosine triphosphate (ATP)dependent efflux pump for substrates, such as calcineurin inhibitors(CNI), resulting in reduction of systemic exposure and lower intracellular drug accumulation (Huang et al., 2010; Cascorbi, 2011; Hodges et al., 2011; Barbarino et al., 2013). Extensive P-gp tissue distribution, reinforces its functional contribution in the development of adverse effects (Haufroid et al., 2006; Provenzani et al., 2011; Knops et al., 2013; Hesselink et al., 2014; Stefanovic et al., 2015; Venuto et al., 2015). Alterations in P-gp expression or function have been attributed to genetic polymorphisms, race, sex, environment, or endogenous inhibitors (Cattaneo et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2010; Hodges et al., 2011; Barbarino et al., 2013; Hesselink et al., 2014). Reports regarding the influence of common ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs): 1236C > T (rs1128503), 2677G > T/A(rs2032582), and 3435C > T (rs1045642) have focused on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics or renal pharmacodynamics including acute rejection and nephrotoxicity (Staatz et al., 2010b; Hesselink et al., 2014). Conflicting reports have examined individual SNPs, an approach that may not include the effect of multiple ABCB1 polymorphisms and their interrelationship to selected tacrolimus pharmacokinetics or associated adverse effects (Staatz et al., 2010b; Knops et al., 2013). These commonly evaluated ABCB1 SNPs are inherited as a haplotype with distinct racial frequencies (Kim et al., 2001; Kimchi-Sarfaty et al., 2007a; Hodges et al., 2011). Due to linkage disequilibrium, the 1236T-2677T-3435T (TTT) haplotype is the most prevalent variant, and is associated with significant reductions in P-gp activity compared to wild type (Kimchi-Sarfaty et al., 2007b). This haplotype variant is postulated to decrease P-gp activity and subsequently impact systemic tacrolimus exposure and increase intracellular drug exposure with the potential for increased adverse effects (Staatz et al., 2010b; Picard and Marquet, 2011; Hesselink et al., 2014). Different frequencies of ABCB1 SNPs and haplotypes between Blacks and Whites have been described and should be considered in pharmacogenomic analysis (Kim et al., 2001; Keskitalo et al., 2008; Woodahl et al., 2008; Kassogue et al., 2013). The inclusion of ABCB1 haplotypes may provide more insightful associations to pharmacokinetic and adverse effects phenotypes during tacrolimus immunosuppression (Kimchi-Sarfaty et al., 2007a; Liu et al., 2008, 2009; Staatz et al., 2010b). Most studies including ABCB1 SNPs or haplotypes have investigated either tacrolimus dose-normalized troughs

or daily doses and acute rejection with no evaluation of the important non-renal adverse effects (Staatz et al., 2010b; Hesselink et al., 2014).

The objectives of this study were to assess: (1) the influence of CYP3A5 metabolic composite genotypes combining three common loss of function SNPs, *CYP3A5\*3* (rs776746), *CYP3A5\*6* (rs10264272), and *CYP3A5\*7* (rs41303343) on tacrolimus pharmacokinetic phenotypes; (2) to assess tacrolimus pharmacokinetics in association to *ABCB1* haplotypes; and (3) an integrated analysis combining the novel CYP3A5 metabolic composite and *ABCB1* 3435 (*rs1045642*) to assess the combined role of the two loci to tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Population**

Sixty-five (33 Black and 32 White) stable male and female renal transplant recipients receiving tacrolimus (Prograf) and mycophenolic acid as enteric-coated mycophenolate sodium (ECMPS; (Myfortic) for  $\geq 6$  months participated in a 12h pharmacokinetics-pharmacogenomic study. Patients were recruited by a nephrologist during their transplant clinic visit if they demonstrated clinical stability in renal function, clinical laboratory tests and concurrent disorders. Physical exams, comprehensive metabolic panels including liver and renal function tests, electrolytes, glucose, albumin and protein concentrations with complete blood counts and differentials were used to confirm clinical stability. Tacrolimus doses were adjusted to 4-9 ng/ml troughs based upon time post-transplant and clinical response using a program-specific minimization protocol. ECMPS was dose adjusted based upon clinical response. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (e-GFR) was calculated using the four-factor MDRD equation (Levey et al., 1999). Medication adherence was verified by transplant nurse clinician and medication adherence assessment by transplant pharmacist at enrollment. Ethnicity for two previous generations was verified prior to study.

Inclusion criteria were:  $(1) \ge 6$  months post-renal transplant; (2) age 25–70 years; (3) first or second deceased-donor or living allograft recipient; (4) same immunosuppressive doses for  $\ge 7$  days; (5) Serum creatinine  $\le 3.25$  mg/dl with no change > 0.25 mg/dl during prior 2 visits; (6) leukocyte count  $\ge 3000/\text{mm}^3$  and hemoglobin  $\ge 8.0$  g/dl. Exclusion criteria were: (1) infection or acute rejection within 2 weeks; (2) drugs interfering with tacrolimus or MPA absorption; (3) cytochrome P4503A4/3A5 or P-glycoprotein inhibitors or inducers within 4 weeks; (5) significant medical or psychiatric diseases that would limit participation.

## **Study Procedure**

This was a cross-sectional, open-label pharmacokineticpharmacogenomic study in stable male and female Black and White recipients conducted at the University at Buffalo (UB) Renal Research Center at the Erie County Medical Center (ECMC). The UB Health Sciences Institutional Review Board approved the study (IRB# PHP0599703-4) which was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards for human subjects and the 1964 Helsinki Declaration. Upon enrollment, patients provided written consent after review of the study purpose, risks and benefits.

All patients were at steady-state conditions for both tacrolimus and ECMPS. Patients were enrolled only if they had received the same dose of tacrolimus and ECMPS for  $\geq$ 7 days prior to study. This was assumed to be sufficient to approach steady-state plasma concentrations. Proton pump inhibiters, H<sub>2</sub> antagonists and antacids were discontinued at least 36 h prior to study. Patients took immunosuppressives between 5:30 to 6:30 PM prior to study, fasted and abstained from caffeine and alcohol for 12 h prior to study. At 6:00 AM, patients were admitted, vital signs documented and an intravenous angiocatheter inserted. A 0 h sample (~15 ml) was collected prior to immunosuppressives for drug troughs and laboratory tests (ECMC Clinical Chemistry Laboratory). Oral study medications [(single lot of tacrolimus (Prograf) and ECMPS (Myfortic)] were administered at 7:00 AM. Patients remained upright throughout the study. Standardized low fat meals were provided after 4 h. Antihypertensives were administered after 1.5 h and non-immunosuppressives after 4 h. Blood samples (7 ml) were collected at 0 h and 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12 h after drug administration. Whole blood samples were aliquoted within 30 minutes and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until analysis.

Blood was collected in cell preparation tubes (CPT- BD Vacationer) with sodium citrate pre-dose for separation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) according to processing protocol at 25°C. Plasma was aspirated with PBMC harvested; immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C until genotype analysis.

#### **Genetic Analysis**

All blood samples provided viable DNA for genotyping and were analyzed at the University of New England Genomics Research Core. Genomic DNA was isolated from 600 µl of PBMCs per manufacturers' protocol (Wizard§ Genomic DNA Purification. Promega Madison, WI). Personnel with no knowledge of clinical data assayed for CYP3A5 variants, CYP3A5\*3 (rs776746), CYP3A5\*6 (rs10264272), and CYP3A5\*7 (rs41303343) and ABCB1 SNPs: 1236C > T(rs1128503), 2677G > T/A (rs2032582), and 3435C > T (rs1045642). Ten ng of patient genomic DNA was used to characterize each single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs) using validated TaqMan allelic discrimination assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) with Bio-Rad Laboratories CFX96 Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction Detection System (Hercules, CA). For each SNP assay, duplicate samples were analyzed. All protocols and sample handling were in accordance with published guidelines. Allele frequencies for all SNPs were confirmed to be in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium when adjusted for race.

Given the known linkage among all three *ABCB1* SNPs, haplotype analysis was conducted. Haplotype analysis provides greater power to detect potential unknown functional variants than SNPs alone (Venuto et al., 2015). *ABCB1* haplotype estimation was determined using the THESIAS program (Tregouet et al., 2004; Tregouet and Garelle, 2007). THESIAS uses a maximum likelihood algorithm for the simultaneous estimation of haplotype frequencies and their association

to tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters. Significant associations for tacrolimus pharmacokinetics as phenotypic means with confidence intervals for each haplotype on a single chromosome were reported.

## Metabolic Composite *CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7* Analysis

The variants, CYP3A5\*3, CYP3A5\*6, and CYP3A5\*7, all result in loss of protein gene expression (Birdwell et al., 2015). Loss of protein function due to any one of these variants can occur independent of allelic status at the other two loci; thus assessment of any single SNP may be misleading as an indicator of enzyme function. Patients were assigned a metabolic composite designation as described earlier (Campagne et al., 2018) based upon the combined allelic status at all three independent loci (Figure 1). The Extensive Metabolizer phenotype was assigned to individuals with functional genes on both chromosomes. Patients were assigned the Poor Metabolizer phenotype if they were homozygous for the variant allele at any one of the three SNPs and thus CYP3A5 genes on both chromosomes are nonfunctional (Figure 1C). Patients were designated as Intermediate Metabolizer if they were heterozygous for one loss of function SNP at any of the three loci (Figure 1B). Finally, for patients who were heterozygous at two or more of the SNPs responsible for loss of function, the level of enzyme is dependent upon the arrangement of the variant alleles on each chromosome (Figure 1D). For example, if all of the loss of function SNP's are located on the same chromosome, this individual would have one "functional" gene similar to the single heterozygote. For this analysis double heterozygotes (Figure 1D) were conservatively assigned as an Intermediate Metabolizer since individuals could either be poor or intermediate metabolizers.

#### Combined CYP3A5 Metabolic Composite and ABCB1 and Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics

To assess the role of both *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* variants on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics the *CYP3A5* metabolic composite groups and the *ABCB1 3435C* > *T* (rs1045642) were included in a single analysis. The *ABCB1 3435C* > *T* variant was used as a proxy for wildtype *ABCB1* haplotype in this combined analysis since the haplotype assignment algorithm, THESIAS, does not assign individual haplotype scores to individuals. Significant effects of both *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* variants on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics was assessed using multivariate analysis of variance.

## Assay Methodology for Tacrolimus

Tacrolimus troughs and pharmacokinetic concentrations were analyzed within 24 h at the ECMC Clinical Laboratory using the *ARCHITECT* tacrolimus assay (Abbott, Abbott Park, IL), a chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay. The lower limit of detection was 0.5 ng/ml and intraday assay variability was <7%. The calibration standard curve ranged from 1 to 30 ng/ml and quality controls (QC) were 3.0, 12.0, and 25 ng/mL (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, United States). The interday coefficient of variation (CV) for each QC was <4% and intra-day CV was



<5%. Selected troughs and peaks (N = 40 samples) were analyzed using a validated LCMSMS assay by a CLIA certified external analytical laboratory and compared to the results generated from the *ARCHITECT* tacrolimus assay with excellent agreement ( $R^2 = 0.98$ ). For the tacrolimus LCMSMS assay, the interday and intraday CV were <5% at the low and high concentration QC.

## **Pharmacokinetic Analysis**

Pharmacokinetic parameters included area under the concentration versus time curve 0 to 12 h (AUC<sub>0-12</sub> h), dose-normalized AUC<sub>0-12</sub> (AUC<sup>\*</sup>); 12-h trough (C<sub>12</sub> h) and peak concentration (C<sub>max</sub>) with dose normalization and time to peak (T max). Oral clearance of tacrolimus was the ratio of dose to AUC<sub>0-12</sub> h. Tacrolimus clearances were adjusted for TBW and LBW. AUC<sub>0-12</sub> was determined by the linear trapezoidal rule using non-compartmental methods (*Phoenix WINNONLIN* Version 6.3. *Pharsight Corp, Mountain View, Calif*). C<sub>12</sub> h, C<sub>max</sub>, AUC<sub>0-4</sub> h, and AUC<sub>0-12</sub> were dose-normalized to 1 mg dose equivalent.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All patient demographics and tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters were summarized by metabolic composite score for  $CYP3A5^*3^*6^*7$  using the mean and standard deviation for continuous variables. The potential trend between metabolic composite genotypes and association to tacrolimus pharmacokinetics were evaluated using the two-sided Jonckheere-Terpstra test for trends (Jonckheere,

1983). Post hoc pairwise comparisons were made using Holm-Bonferroni adjusted Wilcoxon rank sum tests (*version* 9.3, SAS Institute, Cary, NC). Significant combined effects reflecting composite metabolic CYP3A5 and ABCB1 variants on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics was assessed using multivariate analysis of variance (Littell et al., 2006). Significant effects are shown in bold.

## RESULTS

## Patients

Sixty-five recipients completed the study with no statistical differences in age or time post-transplant albumin, liver function tests and hematologic parameters were within normal range for patients with no group differences (**Table 1**). Mean MPA doses were not different among groups.

## *CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7* Genotype Associations With Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics

As previously described, the CYP3A5 metabolic composite (Campagne et al., 2018; **Figure 1**), was used to assess the role of multiple genotypes on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics. There were no significant differences among metabolic composite groups for age, gender and time post-transplant as well as clinical measures (**Table 1**). Frequency differences among metabolic composite groups between races were significant.

#### **TABLE 1** | Patient demographics clinical characteristics adjusted for CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 metabolic composite groups.

		CYP3A5	*3*6*7 Metabolic	Groups		
		Poor	Intermediate	Extensive	Overall	JT Trend P-value
	N (%)	35 (53.8)	23 (35.4)	7 (10.8)	65 (100%)	
Age (yrs)	Mean/Std/N	49.8/12.6/35	48.5/11.0/23	45.4/9.0/7	48.9/11.6/65	0.426
Gender	Male	16 (45.7%)	9 (39.1%)	4 (57.1%)	29 (44.6%)	
	Female	19 (54.3%)	14 (60.9%)	3 (42.9%)	36 (55.4%)	0.690
Race	Black	6 (17.1%)	20 (87.0%)	7 (100.0%)	33 (50.8%)	
	White	29 (82.9%)	3 (13.0%)		32 (49.2%)	<0.001
Time Post-Transplant (y	rs) Mean/Std/N	2.9/3.0/35	3.4/2.0/23	2.5/1.9/7	3.0/2.6/65	
						P-value
Serum Creatinine (mg.	(dl)	1.3 (0.3)	1.6 (0.40	1.7 (0.4)	1.4 (0.4)	0.001
Estimated Glomerular	Filtration Rate ADJ Black Female (ml/min/1.73 m <sup>2</sup> )	58.4 (14.3)	54.0 (17.4)	48.4 (13.1)	55.8 (15.5)	0.237
Glucose (mg/dl)		114.7 (68.8)	122.8 (79.3)	93.0 (20.8)	115.3 (69.2)	0.449
Total White Blood Cell	s (x10 <sup>3</sup> cells/mm <sup>3</sup> )	5.4 (2.1)	4.9 (1.7)	5.9 (1.9)	5.3 (1.9)	0.361
Platelets (cells x 10 <sup>6</sup> )		196.4 (46.5)	195.6 (60.6)	213.0 (45.4)	197.9 (51.3)	0.472
Hemoglobin (g/dl)		12.4 (1.4)	12.2 (1.4)	12.2 (1.2)	12.3 (1.4)	0.870
Body Mass Index (kg/	m <sup>2</sup> )	29.8 (5.5)	30.1 (6.9)	31.6 (6.6)	30.1 (6.1)	0.758
Albumin (g/dl)		4.1 (0.3)	4.1 (0.30	4.1 (0.3)	4.1 (0.3)	0.874
Prednisone N(%)		5 (14.3%)	6 (26.1%)	2 (28.6%)	13 (20.0%)	0.457
MPA trough at 12 h (n	nca/dl)	3.2 (1.7)	4.1 (2.2)	4.2 (2.9)	3.7 (2.0)	0.305

P-values from two-sided Jonckheere–Terpstra Trend (JT) test.

TABLE 2 | CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 metabolic composite groups and associations to tacrolimus pharmacokinetics.

	Composite C	YP3A5*3*6*7 Metab	oolic Groups		Group Pa	airwise Con	nparison*
Tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters	Poor (1)	Intermediate (2)	Extensive (3)	JT Trend <i>P</i> -value	1 vs. 2	1 vs.3	2 vs. 3
	Mean/Std/N	Mean/Std/N	Mean/Std/N				
Study dose (mg)	2.46/1.06/35	4.07/1.57/23	5.64/1.60/7	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.039
Study dose/TBW (mg/kg)	0.03/0.02/35	0.05/0.02/23	0.07/0.02/7	<0.001	0.004	0.004	0.062
C <sub>12h</sub> (ng/ml)	6.99/1.83/35	7.70/1.88/23	6.77/1.67/7	0.550	0.737	0.808	0.808
C <sub>12</sub> /dose (ng/ml/mg)	3.32/1.64/35	2.13/0.81/23	1.31/0.63/7	<0.001	0.005	<0.001	0.011
Cmax (ng/ml)	16.89/6.90/35	20.41/8.14/23	20.81/13.48/7	0.129	0.249	1.000	1.000
Cmax/Dose (ng/ml/mg)	7.69/3.33/35	5.49/2.23/23	4.00/2.69/7	<0.001	0.029	0.016	0.155
T max (hr)	1.81/0.81/35	2.17/1.50/23	1.52/0.54/7	0.954	0.729	0.729	0.580
AUC <sub>0-12</sub> (ng.hr/ml)	119.66/28.73/35	135.75/35.14/23	125.66/31.30/7	0.261	0.515	1.000	1.000
AUC* (ng.hr/ml/mg)	56.03/24.69/35	37.06/12.83/23	24.26/10.80/7	<0.001	0.005	0.002	0.019
CL_F (L/hr)	21.14/8.02/35	30.79/12.19/23	47.43/17.30/7	<0.001	0.008	0.002	0.019
CL/LBW (L/hr/kg)	0.38/0.16/35	0.55/0.27/23	0.91/0.40/7	<0.001	0.036	0.003	0.044
AUC <sub>0-4</sub> (ng.hr/ml/mg)	51.20/15.22/35	60.77/20.07/23	56.89/19.24/7	0.153	0.285	1.000	1.000
AUC* <sub>0-4</sub> hr (ng.hr/ml/mg)	23.77/10.53/35	16.46/6.22/23	11.02/5.24/7	<0.001	0.016	0.004	0.056

P-values from two-sided Jonckheere–Terpstra Trend (JT) test. \*Post hoc pairwise comparisons using Holm-Bonferroni adjusted Wilcoxon rank sum tests.

For the metabolic composite *CYP3A5*\*3\*6\*7 frequencies Extensive Metabolizers were identified in 7 Blacks with no Extensive Metabolizers among White patients. Twenty-three patients were genotyped as Intermediate Metabolizers with 20 Blacks and 3 Whites. Poor Metabolizers consisted of 29 Whites and 6 Blacks.

Significant associations of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics with  $CYP3A5^*3^*6^*7$  metabolic composite are summarized in **Table 2**. Extensive Metabolizers exhibited a 2-fold greater tacrolimus dose (P < 0.001) and Dose/TBW (P < 0.001) compared to

Poor Metabolizers. Although no difference was noted with troughs between the 3 metabolic composite groups (**Figure 2C**), a 2.5-fold greater dose normalized trough (Cp<sub>12*hr*</sub>/dose) (P = 0.0016) was found in Poor compared to Extensive Metabolizers (**Table 2**). Tacrolimus clearance (P < 0.001) was twice as rapid in Extensive Metabolizers compared to Poor Metabolizers (**Figure 2A**). The dose-adjusted AUC<sub>0-12 *h*</sub> (P < 0.001) was 2 fold higher in Poor than Extensive metabolizers (**Figure 2B**), though no difference between groups was found with AUC<sub>0-12 *h*</sub> (**Figure 2D**).



**FIGURE 2 | (A–D)** Metabolic Composite for CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 and associations to tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters – (**A**) represents tacrolimus clearance classified by 3 metabolic composite groups for CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7. The Extensive Metabolizers are all Blacks with more rapid clearance than Poor Metabolizers (P < 0.001), who were primarily Whites. (**B**) depicts dose normalized AUC <sub>0-12</sub> with Poor Metabolizers with twice the dose normalized tacrolimus exposure compared to Extensive Metabolizers (P < 0.001); (**C**) presents tacrolimus troughs divided by metabolic composite groups using the target range of >4 ng/ml and <15 ng/ml for our study. No difference was found between these groups. Note that 64 of 65 patients are within the therapeutic trough range. (**D**) depicts AUC<sub>0-12</sub> *h* graphs of the metabolic composite groups using the tacrolimus target of >120 and  $\leq$ 200 ng.hr/ml (Wallemacq et al., 2009). Note that 17/32(53%) of Whites and 10/33(30%) of Blacks had 12-h tacrolimus exposures <120 ng.hr/ml distributed across all groups in spite of the therapeutic troughs (**C**). OPEN Circle = Whites; CLOSED Circle = Blacks.

## ABCB1 Variants and Associations With Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetic Parameters

The *ABCB1* SNPs:1236C > *T*(*rs1128503*), 2677G > *T/A* (*rs2032582*), and 3435C > *T* (*rs1045642*) were assessed using validated TaqMan allelic discrimination assays. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was confirmed for allele frequencies at each position. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) among the three *ABCB1* SNPs was found to be significant and ranged from 0.89 (*ABCB1* 2677–3435) to 0.72 (*ABCB1* 1236–3435). Estimated *ABCB1* haplotype frequencies (*n* = 65) are summarized in **Figure 3** and do not vary significantly compared to previously reported estimated frequencies (Venuto et al., 2015). The most frequent variant haplotype (TTT) displayed significantly different frequencies between Whites and Blacks compared to the wild-type CGC (Venuto et al., 2015).

The significant associations of tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters with *ABCB1* variants are summarized in **Table 3**. A significant association of the TTT variant was found with maximum concentration/dose (Cmax/Dose) (p = 0.050) with

no sex or race association. With sex-adjusted Thesias analysis, significant associations of TTT haplotypes were found with tacrolimus study dose (P = 0.03), oral clearance at steady state (P = 0.023), CL/LBW (P = 0.022) with lower doses and slower clearances in Whites. With race adjusted Thesias analysis, an association of TTT was noted with AUC<sub>0-4</sub> (P = 0.041) and a trend noted with AUC<sup>\*</sup> (p = 0.078) with lowest exposures found in White males.

# Combined Role of *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* on Tacrolimus Pharmacokinetics

The combined role of both *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* variants on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics was assessed by including both the *CYP3A5* metabolic composite groups and the *ABCB1 3435C* > *T* (*rs1045642*) in a single analysis. As observed in the individual CYP3A5 composite analysis above, significant associations of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics with *CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7* metabolic composite were again observed even with the inclusion of *ABCB1* variants (**Table 4**). Significantly, for apparent clearance (Tac



CL\_F L\_hr) both the *ABCB1* variant and the CYP3A5 metabolic composite had a significant effect. Across all 3 metabolic composite groups, the presence of an *ABCB1 3435 T* allele significantly reduced tacrolimus clearance beyond that accounted for by CYP3A5 variants alone (**Figure 4**).

#### DISCUSSION

P-glycoprotein interacts with gastrointestinal and hepatic cytochrome P450 3A isoenzymes to modulate tacrolimus pharmacokinetics which impacts systemic and cellular drug distribution (Fan et al., 2010; Hesselink et al., 2014; Shuker et al., 2016b). Thus both *ABCB1* and *CYP3A5* variants play an essential role in modulation of intracellular tacrolimus

concentrations (Kim et al., 2001; Fredericks et al., 2006; Cattaneo et al., 2009; Hesselink et al., 2014) and overall systematic tacrolimus exposure. Therefore, assessments of the multiple polymorphisms in both genes may assist in understanding tacrolimus pharmacokinetics. We present a pharmacogenetic analysis employing a  $CYP3A5^*3^*6^*7$  composite and ABCB1 haplotypes to clinically identify rapid versus poor metabolizers of tacrolimus.

The majority of Blacks required higher daily doses and exhibited more rapid tacrolimus clearance attributed to CYP3A5 in Extensive and Intermediate metabolic groups compared to Poor Metabolizers. The Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) has provided guidelines to incorporate these individual genotypic variants with tacrolimus dosing to account for inter-patient pharmacokinetic variability (Birdwell et al., 2015). We report the association of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics to the CYP3A5 metabolic composite. Approximately 17% of Blacks were identified as Poor Metabolizers due to the presence of CYP3A5\*6/\*7 variants. These individuals were similar to White Poor metabolizers whose reduced CYP3A5 function is due primarily to a different allele (CYP3A5\*3). With increasing admixture among racial groups, the presence of multiple loss of function alleles will warrant the use of composite scoring. Studies investigating troughs as a surrogate marker for drug exposure in Black recipients have demonstrated associations with CYP3A5\*1 alleles with higher dose requirements to achieve therapeutic troughs comparable to CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 (Oetting et al., 2016). While limited to troughs, these studies also did not include sex specific analysis or intensive sampling to accurately verify tacrolimus exposure over the 12-h dosing interval achieved during maintenance immunosuppression. Therefore, utility of these genotype-based dosing models may have limitations (Oetting et al., 2016; Sanghavi et al., 2017). Our study reinforces the interpatient variability in tacrolimus exposure with approximately 40% of patients exhibiting AUC<sub>0-12</sub>  $_{h}$  below the recommended therapeutic range in spite of achieving target troughs (Figure 2D).

This is the first prospective study to incorporate *ABCB1* haplotype analysis with a CYP3A5 composite phenotype with

TABLE 3 ABCB1 haplotype	associations with	n tacrolimus	pharmacokinetics.
-------------------------	-------------------	--------------	-------------------

Tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameter	Wild Type Haplotype <sup>a</sup> (CGC) Association to Phenotypic Mean <sup>b</sup> [95% CI]	Variant Haploty	/pe <sup>a</sup> and Phenotypic Mean <sup>b</sup> (95% Cl)	P-value <sup>c</sup>
		Variant haplotype	Phenotypic mean (95% Cl)	
Study dose (mg)	2.45 [1.74 – 3.16]*	ттт	1.58 [0.71 – 2.45]*	0.03
CL_F (L/hr)	20.4 [14.5 - 26.3]*	TTT	13.99 [7.87 – 20.11]*	0.023
Clearance/LBW (L/hr/kg)	0.48 [0.37 – 0.60]*	TTT	0.36 [0.23 – 0.47]*	0.022
AUC* (ng.hr/ml/mg)	80.0[68.8 - 91.1]	TTT	92.2 [74.6 – 109.8]	0.078
AUC <sub>0-4</sub> (ng.hr/ml/mg)	36.59 [30.2 – 42.9]	TTT	43.9 [33.4 - 54.4]	0.041
C max/Dose (ng/ml/mg)	3.01[2.42 - 3.59]	TTT	4.06[3.19 - 4.93]	0.050

The phenotypic means of the wildtype haplotype (CGC) vs. phenotypic means for variant haplotype (TTT). <sup>a</sup> Haplotypes displayed at positions 1236-2677-3435. Wild-type is C-G-C. <sup>b</sup>Phenotypic mean estimated from maximum likelihood methods by THESIAS; Phenotype reported as contribution of single haplotype (one chromosome). <sup>c</sup>P value represents variant haplotype comparison to wild-type by THESIAS. \*Sex-adjusted analysis; +race-adjusted analysis.

		ABCB1 3534 CC			ABCB1 3534 CT and TT	F	Sig	Significance
	CYP3A5 Poor	CYP3A5 Intermediate	CYP3A5 Extensive	CYP3A5 Poor	CYP3A5 Intermediate	CYP3A5 Extensive	ABCB1 3435	CYP3A5 Composite
z	13	10	9	20	10	9		
Study dose (mg)	2.46 (0.36)	4.00 (0.41)	5.67 (0.53)	2.35 (0.29)	3.55 (0.41)	5.08 (0.53)	0.281	2.2E-08
Study Dose/TBW (mg/kg)	0.03 (0.01)	0.05 (0.01)	0.07 (0.01)	0.03 (0.00)	0.04 (0.01)	0.06 (0.01)	0.846	1.3E-05
C <sub>12hr</sub> (ng/ml)	6.94 (0.50)	7.55 (0.58)	7.40 (0.74)	6.81 (0.41)	8.37 (0.58)	6.58 (0.74)	0.930	0.107
C <sub>12hr</sub> /dose (ng/ml/mg)	3.44 (0.37)	2.16 (0.43)	1.43 (0.55)	3.30 (0.30)	2.40 (0.43)	1.57 (0.55)	0.814	2.3E-04
Cmax (ng/ml)	15.68 (2.23)	18.62 (2.54)	16.97 (3.29)	16.96 (1.80)	23.33 (2.54)	23.67 (3.29)	0.057	0.099
Cmax/Dose (ng/ml)	7.20 (0.81)	5.21 (0.92)	3.36 (1.19)	8.09 (0.65)	6.61 (0.92)	4.95 (1.19)	0.105	0.002
Tmax (hr)	1.94 (0.31)	1.87 (0.35)	1.78 (0.46)	1.72 (0.25)	2.29 (0.35)	2.03 (0.46)	0.628	0.740
AUC* (ng.hr/ml)	116.68 (8.54)	130.75 (9.73)	121.82 (12.57)	117.75 (6.88)	150.30 (9.73)	129.45 (12.57)	0.263	0.036
AUC <sub>0-12</sub> Dose (ng.hr/ml/mg)	56.39 (5.64)	36.76 (6.43)	23.95 (8.30)	56.80 (4.55)	42.94 (6.43)	28.97 (8.30)	0.485	1.1E-04
CL_F (L/hr)	22.61 (2.94)	31.30 (3.35)	48.23 (4.32)	20.09 (2.37)	24.49 (3.35)	39.53 (4.32)	0.040	2.8E-07
CL/LBW (L/hr/kg)	0.37 (0.06)	0.55 (0.07)	0.90 (0.09)	0.39 (0.05)	0.41 (0.07)	0.79 (0.09)	0.218	7.2E-07
AUC 0-4 h (ng.hr/mL/mg)	48.59 (4.75)	57.57 (5.41)	51.85 (6.99)	50.96 (3.83)	68.17 (5.41)	61.47 (6.99)	0.110	0.032



intensive tacrolimus pharmacokinetics. Evaluation of ABCB1 genotypes and in some cases, haplotypes, as indirect markers of cellular P-gp has been used to identify patients at higher risk for calcineurin inhibitor associated adverse effects including nephrotoxicity, gingival hyperplasia and neurotoxicity with tacrolimus dose normalized troughs or daily doses with conflicting results (Yamauchi et al., 2002; Drozdzik et al., 2004; Hauser et al., 2005; Kotrych et al., 2005; De Iudicibus et al., 2008; Garcia et al., 2013; Venuto et al., 2015). The validity of haplotypebased analysis has been widely accepted in association studies of unrelated individuals (Shuker et al., 2016a). Haplotype analyses using maximum likelihood methods combined with Stochastic Expectation-Maximization (SEM) algorithms have recently been used to assess candidate genes with specific phenotypes (Tregouet et al., 2004; Venuto et al., 2015). Haplotypic data provide greater power to detect associations compared to single genotypes especially when analyzed in conjunction with demographic and clinical covariates (Akey et al., 2001; Little et al., 2009). Inclusion of the 3 loci as ABCB1 haplotypes improves detection probability relative to the pharmacokinetic parameters. The significant associations of TTT haplotypes to tacrolimus pharmacokinetics provides novel and important information that needs to be evaluated in a larger renal transplant population.

Although haplotype association studies provide a comprehensive view of genetic variants, limitations do exist. These limitations reflect small sample sizes, inconsistent use of haplotype analyses, and multiple testing. Due to our sample size, some of the rare haplotypes were poorly represented and may limit our ability to detect significant effects for those very rare haplotypes. Individual *ABCB1* SNPs: *rs1045642* (*C3435T*) and *rs203582* (*G2677A*) have variable outcomes as pharmacogenomic predictors with different drug substrates;

TABLE 4 | Tacrolimus pharmacokinetics stratified by CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 metabolic composite groups and ABCB1 3435 genotypes

thus, the haplotype approach may improve detection ability for phenotypic differences (Chinn and Kroetz, 2007).

Given the role of both CYP3A5 and ABCB1 variants on tacrolimus pharmacokinetics, a combined analysis using both genotypes were examined. While the role of CYP3A5, as determined by the metabolic composite had the largest effect of tacrolimus clearance (Tac CL\_F L \_hr), the presence of the ABCB1 3435 T allele (here used as a proxy for the wildtype haplotype) was significantly associated with reduced tacrolimus clearance for all metabolic composite groups (Figure 4). Fredericks et al. (2006) found a minor effect due to ABCB1 haplotypes on tacrolimus dose requirements. This effect was lost when the analysis further included patients who were classified as producers or non-producers of CYP3A5 (based upon the presence of the CYP3A5\*3 allele). Our significant finding may be due to (1) the inclusion of genotypic data for CYP3A5\*6 and \*7 and both studies had Black patients where these alleles are common; (2) the use of a metabolic composite score; and (3) the comparison of different pharmacokinetic parameters.

The advantages of our study include the prospective enrollment of stable patients at steady state dosing conditions during intensive 12-h pharmacokinetic evaluation that quantitated actual drug exposure reflecting therapeutic drug monitoring of trough concentrations. All patients were enrolled using pre-determined Inclusion and Exclusion criteria which is an important advantage. Multivariate analysis also incorporated common clinical covariates to further identify patients at risk for adverse effects or variability in tacrolimus pharmacokinetics. Another advantage is the inclusion of ABCB1 haplotype analysis to minimize the limitations of multiple allele test of individual variants and phenotypic endpoints. The use of intensive pharmacokinetic profiles in patients was combined with adherence assessment and tacrolimus concentrations measured in a single CLIA certified drug analysis laboratory provides an important study advantage. Using this approach provides consistency and accuracy for drug concentration analysis to use in determination of comprehensive tacrolimus pharmacokinetic parameters and systematic exposure. Finally, the inclusion of a metabolic composite to represent loss of function due to combinations of CYP3A5\*3\*6\*7 SNPs further identified factors that influence interpatient variability in tacrolimus pharmacokinetics in the groups. Our statistical model incorporated use of pair-wise group comparisons to substantiate differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacogenomic associations that may improve our understanding of sub-population differences.

There are some limitations that should be considered from the findings of this report. Our assignment of CYP3A5 metabolic composites for the double heterozygotes is hampered by the fact that the use of individual genetic assays for each SNP do not provide information on the chromosomal arrangement of the variant alleles. Similarly, the use of Thesias to estimate *ABCB1* haplotype phenotypic effects is necessary since chromosomal arrangement of the three *ABCB1* SNPs are not known given the individual genetic assays used. Sequencing could solve this problem but would be prohibitively time consuming and expensive for even this study with this modest sample size. This study provides support for a more comprehensive inclusion of multiple alleles either by utilizing composite metabolic scores for *CYP3A5* where multiple alleles such as \*3, \*6 and \*7 likely have the loss of function phenotype and with the *ABCB1* haplotype analysis in situations where linkage combines alleles of unknown effects that may impact systemic distribution of tacrolimus. The combining of tacrolimus pharmacokinetics with a more inclusive representation of multiple alleles that reflect proteins that impact drug metabolism and distribution may provide more clinical utility in therapeutic drug monitoring of this immunosuppressive post-transplant.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets for this article are not publicly available because access to de-identified patient data from this clinical study cannot be provided due to stipulations in the sponsor specific agreement from Astellas Scientific and Medical Affairs, Inc. Requests to access this data can be addressed to the corresponding author.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University at Buffalo Health Sciences Institutional Review Board (IRB# PHP0599703-4). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DB, RV, GW, and KT were involved in the study design of this project. RV, SC, AG, and KT were involved in recruitment and clinical evaluation of patients. DB, KA, GW, CM, JC, LC, and KT were involved in the data analysis of this project. DB, KA, GW, CM, JC, LC, RV, SC, AG, and KT were involved in writing this manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from NIDDK ARRA R21: DK077325-01A1 (KMT-PI) and an Investigator Initiated Research Grant (KMT-PI) from Astellas Scientific and Medical Affairs, Inc.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

CM was an Immunosuppressive Pharmacology Fellow in the Immunosuppressive Pharmacology Research Program at the School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences and New York State Center of Excellence for Bioinformatics and Life Sciences. SC was an ECRIP Transplant Fellow during this research study in the UB Department of Medicine, Nephrology Division. JC was a Ph.D. student during this research project. The assistance of the following individuals is greatly appreciated: Lisa Venuto PA, Louise Cooper RPh, Vanessa Gray RN, Brenda

#### REFERENCES

- Akey, J., Jin, L., and Xiong, M. (2001). Haplotypes vs single marker linkage disequilibrium tests: what do we gain? *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 9, 291–300. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200619
- Andrews, L. M., De Winter, B. C., Van Gelder, T., and Hesselink, D. A. (2016). Consideration of the ethnic prevalence of genotypes in the clinical use of tacrolimus. *Pharmacogenomics* 17, 1737–1740. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2016-0136
- Barbarino, J. M., Staatz, C. E., Venkataramanan, R., Klein, T. E., and Altman, R. B. (2013). PharmGKB summary: cyclosporine and tacrolimus pathways. *Pharmacogenet. Genom.* 23, 563–585. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e328364db84
- Birdwell, K. A., Decker, B., Barbarino, J. M., Peterson, J. F., Stein, C. M., Sadee, W., et al. (2015). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation consortium (CPIC) guidelines for CYP3A5 genotype and tacrolimus dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 98, 19–24. doi: 10.1002/cpt.113
- Bouamar, R., Shuker, N., Hesselink, D. A., Weimar, W., Ekberg, H., Kaplan, B., et al. (2013). Tacrolimus predose concentrations do not predict the risk of acute rejection after renal transplantation: a pooled analysis from three randomizedcontrolled clinical trials (dagger). *Am. J. Trans.* 13, 1253–1261. doi: 10.1111/ajt. 12191
- Bruckmueller, H., Werk, A. N., Renders, L., Feldkamp, T., Tepel, M., Borst, C., et al. (2015). Which genetic determinants should be considered for tacrolimus dose optimization in kidney transplantation? A combined analysis of genes affecting the CYP3A locus. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 37, 288–295. doi: 10.1097/FTD. 000000000000142
- Campagne, O., Mager, D. E., Brazeau, D., Venuto, R. C., and Tornatore, K. M. (2018). Tacrolimus population pharmacokinetics and multiple CYP3A5 genotypes in black and white renal transplant recipients. *J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 58, 1184–1195. doi: 10.1002/jcph.1118
- Cascorbi, I. (2011). "P-glycoprotein: tissue distribution, substrates, and functional consequences of genetic variations," in *Drug Transporters. Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, Vol. 201, eds M. Fromm and R. Kim (Berlin: Springer), 261–284.
- Cattaneo, D., Ruggenenti, P., Baldelli, S., Motterlini, N., Gotti, E., Sandrini, S., et al. (2009). ABCB1 genotypes predict cyclosporine-related adverse events and kidney allograft outcome. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 20, 1404–1415. doi: 10.1681/asn. 2008080819
- Chinn, L. W., and Kroetz, D. L. (2007). ABCB1 pharmacogenetics: progress, pitfalls, and promise. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 81, 265–269. doi: 10.1038/sj.clpt. 6100052
- Cummins, C. L., Wu, C. Y., and Benet, L. Z. (2002). Sex-related differences in the clearance of cytochrome P450 3A4 substrates may be caused by P-glycoprotein. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 72, 474–489. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2002.128388
- Dai, Y., Hebert, M. F., Isoherranen, N., Davis, C. L., Marsh, C., Shen, D. D., et al. (2006). Effect of CYP3A5 polymorphism on tacrolimus metabolic clearance in vitro. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 34, 836–847. doi: 10.1124/dmd.105.008680
- De Iudicibus, S., Castronovo, G., Gigante, A., Stocco, G., Décor ti, G., Di Lenarda, R., et al. (2008). Role of MDR1 gene polymorphisms in gingival overgrowth induced by cyclosporine in transplant patients. *J. Periodontal Res.* 43, 665–672. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0765.2008.01068.x
- de Jonge, H., de Loor, H., Verbeke, K., Vanrenterghem, Y., and Kuypers, D. R. (2012). In vivo CYP3A4 activity, CYP3A5 genotype, and hematocrit predict tacrolimus dose requirements and clearance in renal transplant patients. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 92, 366–375. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2012.109
- de Jonge, H., Naesens, M., and Kuypers, D. R. (2009). New insights into the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the calcineurin inhibitors and mycophenolic acid: possible consequences for therapeutic drug monitoring in solid organ transplantation. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 31, 416–435. doi: 10.1097/FTD. 0b013e3181aa36cd
- Drozdzik, M., Mysliwiec, K., Lewinska-Chelstowska, M., Banach, J., Drozdzik, A., and Grabarek, J. (2004). P-glycoprotein drug transporter MDR1 gene polymorphism in renal transplant patients with and without gingival

Pawl LPN, Ellen Kendricks RN, Kris Reed RN, Jean Meyers, and Joseph Kabacinski, MBA from Erie County Medical Center and Renal Division.

overgrowth. J. Clin. Periodontol. 31, 758–763. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-051x.2004. 00554.x

- Eckhoff, D. E., Young, C. J., Gaston, R. S., Fineman, S. W., Deierhoi, M. H., Foushee, M. T., et al. (2007). Racial disparities in renal allograft survival: a public health issue? *J. Am. Coll. Surg.* 204, 894–902. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2007. 01.024
- Fan, P. Y., Ashby, V. B., Fuller, D. S., Boulware, L. E., Kao, A., Norman, S. P., et al. (2010). Access and outcomes among minority transplant patients, 1999-2008, with a focus on determinants of kidney graft survival. *Am. J. Transp.* 10(4 Pt 2), 1090–1107. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.03009.x
- Fitzsimmons, W. E., Bekersky, I., Dressler, D., Raye, K., Hodosh, E., and Mekki, Q. (1998). Demographic considerations in tacrolimus pharmacokinetics. *Transp. Proc.* 30, 1359–1364. doi: 10.1016/s0041-1345(98)00275-9
- Fredericks, S., Moreton, M., Reboux, S., Carter, N. D., Goldberg, L., Holt, D. W., et al. (2006). Multidrug resistance gene-1 (MDR-1) haplotypes have a minor influence on tacrolimus dose requirments. *Transplantation* 82, 705–708. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000234942.78716.c0
- Garcia, M., Macias, R. M., Cubero, J. J., Benitez, J., Caravaca, F., and Gervasini, G. (2013). ABCB1 polymorphisms are associated with cyclosporine-induced nephrotoxicity and gingival hyperplasia in renal transplant recipients. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 69, 385–393.
- Hart, A. S. J., Smith, J. M., Skeans, M. A., Gustafson, S. K., Wilk, A. R., Robinson, A., et al. (2017). OPTN/SRTR 2015 annual data report: kidney. Am. J. Trans. 17(Suppl. 1), 21–116.
- Haufroid, V., Wallemacq, P., VanKerckhove, V., Elens, L., De Meyer, M., Eddour, D., et al. (2006). *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* polymorphisms and tacrolimus pharmacokinetics in renal transplant candidates: guidelines from an experimental study. *Am. J. Trans.* 6, 2706–2713. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2006. 01518.x
- Hauser, I. A., Schaeffeler, E., Gauer, S., Scheuermann, E. H., Wegner, B., Gossmann, J., et al. (2005). ABCB1 genotype of the donor but not of the recipient is a major risk factor for cyclosporine-related nephrotoxicity after renal transplantation. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16, 1501–1511. doi: 10.1681/asn.2004100882
- Hesselink, D. A., Bouamar, R., Elens, L., van Schaik, R. H., and van Gelder, T. (2014). The role of pharmacogenetics in the disposition of and response to tacrolimus in solid organ transplantation. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 53, 123–139. doi: 10.1007/s40262-013-0120-3
- Hodges, L. M., Markova, S. M., Chinn, L. W., Gow, J. M., Kroetz, D. L., Klein, T. E., et al. (2011). Very important pharmacogene summary: ABCB1 (MDR1, P-glycoprotein). *Pharmacogenet. Genom.* 21, 152–161.
- Hu, Z. Y., and Zhao, Y. S. (2010). Sex-dependent differences in cytochrome P450 3A activity as assessed by midazolam disposition in humans: a meta-analysis. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 38, 817–823. doi: 10.1124/dmd.109.03 1328
- Huang, S. M., Zhang, L., and Giacomini, K. M. (2010). The International Transporter Consortium: a collaborative group of scientists from academia, industry, and the FDA. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 87, 32–36. doi: 10.1038/clpt. 2009.236
- Jonckheere, P. W. (1983). "Tests for ordered alternatives," in *Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences*, eds S. Kotz and C. B. Read (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons).
- Jouve, T., Noble, J., Rostaing, L., and Malvezzi, P. (2018). Tailoring tacrolimus therapy in kidney transplantation. *Expert Rev. Clin. Pharmacol.* 11, 581–588. doi: 10.1080/17512433.2018.1479638
- Kassogue, Y., Dehbi, H., Nassereddine, S., Quachouh, M., and Nadifi, S. (2013). Genotype variability and haplotype frequency of MDR1 (*ABCB1*) gene polymorphism in Morocco. *DNA Cell Biol.* 32, 582–588. doi: 10.1089/dna.2013. 2108
- Keskitalo, J. E., Kurkinen, K. J., Neuvoneni, P. J., and Niemi, M. (2008). ABCB1 haplotypes differentially affect the pharmacokinetics of the acid and lactone forms of simvastatin and atorvastatin. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 84, 457–461. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2008.25
- Kim, R. B., Leake, B. F., Choo, E. F., Dresser, G. K., Kubba, S. V., Schwarz, U. I., et al. (2001). Identification of functionally variant MDR1 alleles among European Americans and African Americans. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 70, 189–199. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2001.117412
- Kimchi-Sarfaty, C., Marple, A. H., Shinar, S., Kimchi, A. M., Scavo, D., Roma, M. I., et al. (2007a). Ethnicity-related polymorphisms and haplotypes in the human ABCB1 gene. *Pharmacogenomics* 8, 29–39. doi: 10.2217/14622416.8.1.29
- Kimchi-Sarfaty, C., Oh, J. M., Kim, I. W., Sauna, Z. E., Calcagno, A. M., Ambudkar, S. V., et al. (2007b). A "silent" polymorphism in the MDR1 gene changes substrate specificity. *Science* 315, 525–528. doi: 10.1126/science.1135308
- Knops, N., Levtchenko, E., van den Heuvel, B., and Kuypers, D. (2013). From gut to kidney: transporting and metabolizing calcineurin-inhibitors in solid organ transplantation. *Intern. J. Pharmaceut.* 452, 14–35. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013. 05.033
- Kotrych, K., Domanski, L., Gornik, W., and Drozdzik, M. (2005). MDR1 gene polymorphism in allogeenic kidney transplant patients with tremor. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 57, 241–245.
- Levey, A. S., Bosch, J. P., Lewis, J. B., Greene, T., Rogers, N., and Roth, D. (1999). A more accurate method to estimate glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine: a new prediction equation. Modification of diet in renal disease study group. Ann. Intern. Med. 130, 461–470.
- Littell, R. M. G., Stroup, W., Wolfinger, R., and Schabenberger, O. (2006). SAS for Mixed Model. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Little, J., Higgins, J. P., Ioannidis, J. P., Moher, D., Gagnon, F., von Elm, E., et al. (2009). STrengthening the REporting of genetic association studies (STREGA): an extension of the STROBE Statement. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 150, 206–215.
- Liu, N., Zhang, D., and Zhao, H. (2009). Genotyping error detection in samples of unrelated individuals without replicate genotyping. *Hum. Hered.* 67, 154–162. doi: 10.1159/000181153
- Liu, N., Zhang, K., and Zhao, H. (2008). Haplotype-association analysis. Adv. Genet. 60, 335-405.
- MacPhee, I. A., Fredericks, S., Tai, T., Syrris, P., Carter, N. D., Johnston, A., et al. (2004). The influence of pharmacogenetics on the time to achieve target tacrolimus concentrations after kidney transplantation. *Am. J. Trans.* 4, 914– 919. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00435.x
- Mancinelli, L. M., Frassetto, L., Floren, L. C., Dressler, D., Carrier, S., Bekersky, I., et al. (2001). The pharmacokinetics and metabolic disposition of tacrolimus: a comparison across ethnic groups. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 69, 24–31. doi: 10.1067/mcp.2001.113183
- Meng, Y., Mouze, L., Wei, Z., and Yingzi, M. (2018). Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and pharmacogenetics of tacrolimus in kidney transplantation. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 19, 513–522. doi: 10.2174/ 1389200219666180129151948
- Momper, J. D., Misel, M. L., and McKay, D. B. (2017). Sex differences in transplantation. *Trans. Rev.* 31, 145–150. doi: 10.1016/j.trre.2017.02.003
- Neylan, J. F. (1998). Racial differences in renal transplantation after immunosuppression with tacrolimus versus cyclosporine FK506 kidney transplant study group. *Transplantation* 65, 515–523. doi: 10.1097/00007890-199802270-00011
- Oetting, W. S., Schladt, D. P., Guan, W., Miller, M. B., Remmel, R. P., Dorr, C., et al. (2016). Genomewide association study of tacrolimus concentrations in African american kidney transplant recipients identifies multiple CYP3A5 alleles. *Am. J. Trans.* 16, 574–582. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13495
- Page, T. F., Woodward, R. S., and Brennan, D. C. (2012). The impact of Medicare's lifetime immunosuppression coverage on racial disparities in kidney graft survival. Am. J. Trans. 12, 1519–1527. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011. 03974.x
- Picard, N., and Marquet, P. (2011). The influence of pharmacogenetics and cofactors on clinical outcomes in kidney transplantation. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 7, 731–743. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2011. 570260
- Provenzani, A., Notarbartolo, M., Labbozzetta, M., Poma, P., Vizzini, G., Salis, P., et al. (2011). Influence of *CYP3A5* and *ABCB1* gene polymorphisms and other factors on tacrolimus dosing in Caucasian liver and kidney transplant patients. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 28, 1093–1102.
- Sanghavi, K., Brundage, R. C., Miller, M. B., Schladt, D. P., Israni, A. K., Guan, W., et al. (2017). Genotype-guided tacrolimus dosing in African-American kidney transplant recipients. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 17, 61–68. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.87

- Scandlyn, M. J., Stuart, E. C., and Rosengren, R. J. (2008). Sex-specific differences in CYP450 isoforms in humans. *Expert. Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 4, 413–424. doi: 10.1517/17425255.4.4.413
- Schiff, J., Cole, E., and Cantarovich, M. (2007). Therapeutic monitoring of calcineurin inhibitors for the nephrologist. *Clin. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 2, 374–384. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03791106
- Shuker, N., Bouamar, R., van Schaik, R. H., Clahsen-van Groningen, M. C., Damman, J., Baan, C. C., et al. (2016a). A randomized controlled trial comparing the efficacy of Cyp3a5 Genotype-based with body-weight-based tacrolimus dosing after living donor kidney transplantation. *Am. J. Trans.* 16, 2085–2096. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13691
- Shuker, N., Shuker, L., van Rosmalen, J., Roodnat, J. I., Borra, L. C., Weimar, W., et al. (2016b). A high intrapatient variability in tacrolimus exposure is associated with poor long-term outcome of kidney transplantation. *Trans. Int.* 29, 1158–1167. doi: 10.1111/tri.12798
- Shuker, N., van Gelder, T., and Hesselink, D. A. I. (2015). ntra-patient variability in tacrolimus exposure: causes, consequences for clinical management. *Trans. Rev.* 29, 78–84. doi: 10.1016/j.trre.01.002
- Soldin, O. P., Chung, S. H., and Mattison, D. R. (2011). Sex differences in drug disposition. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2011:187103. doi: 10.1155/2011/187103
- Staatz, C. E., Goodman, L. K., and Tett, S. E. (2010a). Effect of CYP3A and ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of calcineurin inhibitors: Part I. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 49, 141–175. doi: 10.2165/11317350-000000000-00000
- Staatz, C. E., Goodman, L. K., and Tett, S. E. (2010b). Effect of CYP3A and ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of calcineurin inhibitors: Part II. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 49, 207–221. doi: 10.2165/11317550-000000000-00000
- Stefanovic, N., Cvetkovic, T., Jevtovic-Stoimenov, T., Ignjatovic, A., Paunovic, G., and Velickovic, R. (2015). Investigation of CYP3A5 and ABCB1 gene polymorphisms in the long-term following renal transplantation: effects on tacrolimus exposure and kidney function. *Exper. Ther. Med.* 10, 1149–1156. doi: 10.3892/etm.2015.2598
- Tang, J. T., Andrews, L. M., van Gelder, T., Shi, Y. Y., van Schaik, R. H., Wang, L. L., et al. (2016). Pharmacogenetic aspects of the use of tacrolimus in renal transplantation: recent developments, and ethnic considerations. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 12, 555–565. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2016.1170808
- Thervet, E., Loriot, M. A., Barbier, S., Buchler, M., Ficheux, M., Choukroun, G., et al. (2010). Optimization of initial tacrolimus dose using pharmacogenetic testing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 87, 721–726. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2010.17
- Tregouet, D. A., Escolano, S., Tiret, L., Mallet, A., and Golmard, J. L. (2004). A new algorithm for haplotype-based association analysis: the stochastic-EM algorithm. *Ann. Hum. Genet.* 68(Pt 2), 165–177. doi: 10.1046/j.1529-8817.2003. 00085.x
- Tregouet, D. A., and Garelle, V. (2007). A new JAVA interface implementation of THESIAS: testing haplotype effects in association studies. *Bioinformatics* 23, 1038–1039. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btm058
- Vadivel, N., Garg, A., Holt, D. W., Chang, R. W., and MacPhee, I. A. (2007). Tacrolimus dose in black renal transplant recipients. *Transplantation* 83, 997– 999. doi: 10.1097/01.tp.0000259248.60448.8a
- Vanhove, T., Annaert, P., and Kuypers, D. R. (2016). Clinical determinants of calcineurin inhibitor disposition: a mechanistic review. *Drug Metab. Rev.* 48, 88–112. doi: 10.3109/03602532.2016.1151037
- Venuto, R. C., Meaney, C. J., Chang, S., Leca, N., Consiglio, J. D., Wilding, G. E., et al. (2015). Association of extrarenal adverse effects of posttransplant immunosuppression with Sex and *ABCB1* haplotypes. *Medicine* 94:e1315. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001315
- Wallemacq, P., Armstrong, V. W., Brunet, M., Haufroid, V., Holt, D. W., Johnston, A., et al. (2009). Opportunities to optimize tacrolimus therapy in solid organ transplantation: report of the European consensus conference. *Ther Drug Monit.* 31, 139–152. doi: 10.1097/FTD.0b013e318198d092
- Wang, J., Zeevi, A., McCurry, K., Schuetz, E., Zheng, H., Iacono, A., et al. (2006). Impact of ABCB1 (MDR1) haplotypes on tacrolimus dosing in adult lung transplant patients who are CYP3A5 \*3/\*3 nonexpressors. Trans. Immunol. 15, 235–240. doi: 10.1016/j.trim.2005.08.001
- Woodahl, E. L., Hingorani, S. R., Wang, J., Guthrie, K. A., McDonald, G. B., Batchelder, A., et al. (2008). Pharmacogenomic associations in ABCB1 and CYP3A5 with acute kidney injury and chronic kidney disease after

myeloablative hematopoietic cell transplantation. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 8, 248–255. doi: 10.1038/sj.tpj.6500472

- Yamauchi, A., Ieiri, I., Kataoka, Y., Tanabe, M., Nishizaki, T., Oishi, R., et al. (2002). Neurotoxicity induced by tacrolimus after liver transplantation: relation to genetic polymorphisms of the ABCB1 (MDR1) gene. *Transplantation* 74, 571–572. doi: 10.1097/00007890-200208270-00024
- Young, C. J., and Gaston, R. S. (2000). Renal transplantation in black Americans. N. Engl. J. Med. 343, 1545–1552. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200011233432107
- Young, C. J., and Gaston, R. S. (2002). African Americans and renal transplantation: disproportionate need, limited access, and impaired outcomes. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* 323, 94–99. doi: 10.1097/00000441-200202000-00007
- Young, C. J., and Gaston, R. S. (2005). Understanding the influence of ethnicity on renal allograft survival. Am. J. Trans. 5, 2603–2604. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143. 01118.x

Young, C. J., and Kew, C. (2005). Health disparities in transplantation: focus on the complexity and challenge of renal transplantation in African Americans. *Med. Clin. North Am.* 89, 1003–1031. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna 2005.05.002

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Brazeau, Attwood, Meaney, Wilding, Consiglio, Chang, Gundroo, Venuto, Cooper and Tornatore. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Pharmacogenetics in Psychiatry:** An Update on Clinical Usability

Ron H. N. van Schaik<sup>1\*</sup>, Daniel J. Müller<sup>2,3</sup>, Alessandro Serretti<sup>4</sup> and Magnus Ingelman-Sundberg<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Chemistry, Erasmus MC, University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Pharmacogenetics Research Clinic, Campbell Family Mental Health Research Institute, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Department of Biomedical and NeuroMotor Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, <sup>5</sup> Pharmacogenetics Section, Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

Using pharmacogenetics in guiding drug therapy experiences a steady increase in uptake, although still leads to discussions as to its clinical use. Psychiatry constitutes a field where pharmacogenomic testing might help in guiding drug therapy. To address current challenges, this minireview provides an update regarding genotyping (SNP analysis/ arrays/NGS), structural variant detection (star-alleles/CNVs/hybrid alleles), genotype-tophenotype translations, cost-effectiveness, and actionability of results (FDA/CPIC/ PharmGKB) regarding clinical importance of pre-emptive pharmacogenomic testing for prescription of antidepressants and antipsychotics.

# **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Henk-Jan Guchelaar. Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Britt Drogemoller. University of Manitoba, Canada Félix Javier Jiménez-Jiménez, Hospital Universitario del Sureste, Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Ron H. N. van Schaik r.vanschaik@erasmusmc.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 23 June 2020 Accepted: 25 August 2020 Published: 11 September 2020

#### Citation:

van Schaik RHN, Müller DJ, Serretti A and Ingelman-Sundberg M (2020) Pharmacogenetics in Psychiatry: An Update on Clinical Usability. Front. Pharmacol. 11:575540. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.575540

Keywords: pharmacogenetics, cytochrome P450, CYP2D6, CYP2C19, depression, psychiatry, antidepressant

# INTRODUCTION

Regarding DNA testing for guiding drug therapy, the value of CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotyping for optimizing drug treatment in psychiatry has been a focus point. Mental illness is a major health issues and has great individual and social-economical impact. In 2010, costs of mental disorders in US were USD\$ 2.5 billion, and these are expected to increase considerably (Corponi et al., 2018). Rate of response to initial antidepressant treatment was only 49.6% (STAR\*D trial (Rush et al., 2006)), and a systematic review showed that non-responders to one or more treatments have a 15% likelihood of suicide ideation compared to 6% of patients with treatment-responsive depression and 1% in the general population (Mrazek et al., 2014). Costs for managing nonresponders are USD \$10,000/year/patient higher as compared to responsive patients (Mrazek et al., 2014). Currently, >200 drugs are available for treatment of psychiatric/neurologic patients (Hiemke et al., 2018). Use of this medication is hampered by side-effects and lack of effectivity, leaving therapeutic outcomes nonsatisfactory. Only 30% of patients suffering from major depressive disorder (MDD), bipolar disorder (BD), and schizophrenia remain compliant with medication and reach full and stable remission (Corponi et al., 2018), whereas 30-50% of patients with MDD do not respond to their first antidepressant (Rush et al., 2006). Remission rates for SSRI's are as low as 37% (Thase et al., 2010). Regarding side effects, 25,000 patients in US present to the emergency department each year due to antidepressant-induced adverse events (Hampton et al., 2014). A major determinant affecting side effects and lack of efficacy is the relation between dosage and systemic exposure to the drug.

74

Therapeutic drug monitoring can be used to guide antidepressant therapy. Most antidepressants/antipsychotics are being metabolized by CYP2D6, CYP2C19, and CYP3A4 enzymes in the liver (Hiemke et al., 2018). Because of the strong relation between genetic variants and enzymatic activity, analysis of *CYP2D6* and *CYP2C19* has been an early focus for the clinical use of pharmacogenetics in psychiatry. A summary of the relation between *CYP2D6/CYP2C19* genotypes and adjusted dose was published in 2013 (Stingl et al., 2013). Several evidence-based dosing guidelines for using pharmacogenetics for antidepressants/ antipsychotics have been published (Swen et al., 2008; Swen et al., 2011; Hicks et al., 2013; Hicks et al., 2017). This minireview addresses the latest developments in pharmacogenetics for psychiatry and discusses some challenges to be faced in the near future.

# PROSPECTIVE RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED CLINICAL TRIALS FOR ANTIDEPRESSANTS

The relation between genotype and enzymatic activity is undisputed, as is the relationship between genotype and plasma concentration of a drug upon a specific dose. Yet, a major argument hampering clinical guidelines is evidence for improving clinical outcome. One of the first studies addressing clinical benefit of using pharmacogenetic information to guide drug therapy was published by Hall-Flavin et al. in 2013, showing a significant increase in responders after 8 weeks of antidepressant therapy when genetic information on CYP2D6, CYP2C19, CYP1A2, SLC6A4, and HTR2A was used to dose patients (n = 114) as compared to standard treatment (n = 113) (Hall-Flavin et al., 2013). In a recent meta-analysis, taking into account five prospective randomized-controlled trials on depressive symptom remission, published between 2013 and 2019 (Winner et al., 2013; Singh, 2015; Perez et al., 2017; Bradley et al., 2018; Greden et al., 2019), these initial findings were confirmed: in a total of 1,737 subjects, patients receiving pharmacogenetic-guided therapy (n = 887) were 1.71 times more likely to achieve symptom remission as compared to patients receiving usual treatment (p = 0.005) (Bousman C. A. et al., 2019). In a study on 2,066 patients, the CYP2C19 UMs and CYP2C19 PMs were more prone to switch escitalopram to another drug (Jukic et al., 2018). These studies indicate additional value of using genetics in guiding antidepressant therapy. However, it is important to realize that also negative results have been published. An excellent overview of positive and negative studies is summarized in a recent systematic review by Solomon et al. (2019), analyzing 16 studies published between 2013 and 2018. Some explanations mentioned for lack of positive associations were: non-randomization and underpowered studies, time of measuring the investigated endpoint, concomitant use of herbal remedies, unjustified exclusion of patients from the study, focus on particular ethnic groups, or more complex pharmacokinetics in relation to clinical outcome (i.e., venlafaxine metabolism).

# RETROSPECTIVE, CONFIRMATORY COHORT-STUDY FOR ANTIPSYCHOTICS

A recent study on aripiprazole and risperidone (both CYP2D6 substrates) using data from 2005 to 2018 from Diakonhjemmet Hospital, Oslo, Norway, showed that, without prior knowledge of CYP2D6 genotype at the time of treatment, clinicians reduced the daily risperidone dose for CYP2D6 poor metabolizers by an average of 19% (95% CI, 5–35; p = 0.010) and for aripiprazole by 15% (95% CI, 1–28; p = 0.033). The estimated dose reduction based on pharmacogenetic constitution of the patients would have been 40 and 35%, respectively (Jukic et al., 2019). The large number of patients (725 risperidone-treated and 890 aripiprazole-treated patients) makes this one of the larger studies in the field. The incidence of switching of risperidone to another antipsychotic was significantly higher in CYP2D6 ultra-rapid metabolizers (OR, 2.9; 95% CI, 1.4-6.0; p = 0.003) and for CYP2D6 poor metabolizers (OR, 1.9; 95% CI, 1.1-3.1; p = 0.015), indicating that, at least for risperidone, CYP2D6 genotype status has a clinical impact.

# FDA, CPIC, PHARMGKB, AND DPWG

Translating published evidence on pharmacogenetics into clinical actions is an important aspect needed for successful implementation. Both the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG; started in 2005) and the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC; started in 2009) use thorough review of the literature by a combination of experts in a transparent way. DPWG now has dosing advice for 94 drugs<sup>1</sup> and CPIC for 54 drugs<sup>2</sup>. DPWG published evidence-based dosing recommendations on CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotypes for antidepressants and antipsychotics in 2008, with an update in 2011 (Swen et al., 2008; Swen et al., 2011). These recommendations are currently used in the Netherlands by all pharmacists to advice patients and physicians on drug choice and drug dosing. The Clinical Pharmacogenetic Implementation Consortium (CPIC<sup>3</sup>) published guidance for using genetic information in drug therapy for Psychiatry (Hicks et al., 2013; Leckband et al., 2013; Hicks et al., 2015; Hicks et al., 2017; Phillips et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2019). Information on enzymes involved in drug metabolism is also present in the drug label of more than 160 drugs<sup>4</sup>, but usually no specific dose recommendations are included. It must, however, be emphasized that recommendations on dosing based on genotype are not always the same between the different expert groups, and for some drugs to a great extent disparate from each other. In addition, the implementation of pharmacogenetic information into the product characteristic (SmPCs) is only found in about 50% of cases (Ingelman-Sundberg, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>www.pharmgkb.org - Clinical annotations (accessed June 1, 2020) <sup>2</sup>www.pharmgkb.org - Clinical annotations (accessed June 1, 2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https//cpicpgx.org (accessed June 1, 2020)

 $<sup>^4\,\</sup>rm www.fda.org$  – Table of Pharmacogenomic Biomarkers in Drug Labelling (accessed June 1, 2020)

The PharmGKB website hosts a huge amount of relevant information on pharmacogenetics, with at present 753 drug label annotations, 154 clinical guideline annotations, 149 curated pathways, and 700 annotated drugs. In 2018, the FDA issued a safety communication indicating a lack of clinical evidence supporting the utility of pharmacogenetic testing, specifically addressing the use of pharmacogenetics for antidepressants. This letter highlighted difference in opinion exist when judging published evidence, as stated in the recent perspective on antidepressant pharmacotherapy (Hicks et al., 2020). To create clarity, FDA published in 2020 a Table of Pharmacogenetic Associations<sup>5</sup>, distinguishing three different categories: (a) pharmacogenetic associations for which data support therapeutic management recommendations, (b) pharmacogenetic associations for which data indicate a potential impact on safety or response, and c) pharmacogenetic associations for which data demonstrate a potential impact on pharmacokinetic properties only. Comparing this list with CPIC guidelines and DPWG recommendations (Supplementary Table 1), not all drugs are present in the FDA listing. Also, it can be seen in this table for which gene/drugs pairs there is agreement in proposed action, and where there is a difference in opinion. Although the FDA table is helpful in distinguishing which drugs could benefit from a pharmacogenetic test, it also shows difficulties in reaching a uniform guidance, even within the FDA. The FDA-statement from 2018 that "the relationship between DNA variations and the effectiveness of antidepressant medication has never been established"<sup>6</sup> seems to be a direct contradiction of the randomized-controlled clinical trials on antidepressants mentioned earlier in this paper. Also, the note from the FDA that "the relationship between CYP2C19 genotype and drug response to escitalopram and sertraline is not established, and this relationship is not described in the FDAapproved labelling of the drug" seems to conflict with the FDA product label for escitalopram that mentions that "the exposure under supratherapeutic 30-mg dose is similar to the steady-state concentrations expected in CYP2C19 poor metabolizers following a therapeutic dose of 20 mg", as pointed out by Hicks et al. (2020). Also, for sertraline, which is not mentioned in the FDA table, there is substantial scientific evidence that indicates that CYP2C19 poor metabolizers have an approximately three-fold higher exposure to the drug as compared to normal metabolizers (Hicks et al., 2020). Indeed, plasma levels of antidepressants are associated with clinical outcome (Florio et al., 2017; De Donatis et al., 2019) and genetic pharmacokinetic variants showed a clinically relevant effect (Fabbri et al., 2018). Both CPIC and DPWG have adjusted dosing recommendations based on literature for sertraline and CYP2C19 PMs (Supplementary Table 1). Also interesting is that for tetrabenazine, for which genetic testing is required according to FDA, neither a PharmGKB clinical annotation nor a

CPIC or DPWG guideline is available. It will be clear that the clinical field would benefit from clinical decision support tools, such as, for example, GeneSight, Translational Software, Corriel, PillCheck, OneOme, and Abomics. However, it should be clear which guidelines and which interpretations these dose recommendations originate from, to avoid conflicts in dosing advice. Again, harmonization would greatly help the field.

# COST EFFECTIVENESS OF PHARMACOGENETIC TESTING

An important aspect of using pharmacogenetics, besides helping patients to reach therapeutic drug concentrations more quickly, are costs associated with this approach. One of the challenges is that pricing of health care costs as well as pharmacogenetic testing will differ between laboratories and across countries. This causes conflicting reports, as discussed by Rosenblat et al. (2017) and Peterson et al. (2017). A recent paper of Maciel et al. (2018), addressing cost savings of pharmacogenetic testing for depression in a real-world clinical setting, calculated a saving of USD\$3,962 annually per patient, assuming a test cost of USD \$ 2,000 (NeuroID genetix panel with 10 genes). Hornberger et al. (2015) calculated savings of USD \$3,647 per patient using a USD \$2,000 PGx testing panel. For comparison, cost of CYP2D6/ CYP2C19 genotyping in The Netherlands is between €100 and €300, thus much lower, strongly reducing expenses as compared to the US study. The impression is thus that indeed pharmacogenetic testing may be highly beneficial, also from an economical point of view. Developing countries can benefit from the knowledge obtained from developed countries, and in such implement pharmacogenetics into their healthcare system thus preventing adverse drug reactions and associated costs but also because a once in a lifetime genetic test can be more easily performed as compared to measuring drug concentrations. An approach to consider would be CYP2B6 genotyping for efavirenz therapy, in the battle against HIV. Yet, costs, logistics, and knowledge about specific variants occurring in these countries are challenges to be addressed. The potential for implementation of pharmacogenetics in developing countries is reflected upon in several publications (Mitropoulos et al., 2011; Roederer et al., 2011; Mizzi et al., 2016; Mitropoulos et al., 2017).

In general, a more cost-effective approach might be to have for each patient a DNA passport for medication, covering most polymorphic genes involved in commonly prescribes drugs, and for which dosing recommendations are available. This would increase the benefit of pharmacogenetic tests, also beyond psychiatry, and would avoid that each separate clinical field would have to worry about cost effectiveness. In fact, the large European trial Ubiquitous  $PGx^7$  is investigating this approach, monitoring both medical benefits and cost-effectiveness. The outcome of this study is expected in 2020/2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/precision-medicine/table-pharma cogenetic-associations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/safety-communications/fda-warnsagainst-use-many-genetic-tests-unapproved-claims-predict-patient-responsespecific (accessed June 1, 2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>www.upgx.eu

# **GENOTYPING CHALLENGES**

In laboratory settings, it is advocated that only tests are performed that are clinically actionable. For psychiatry, this holds true for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19. The genotyping field has identified which variants per gene should be investigated, since the reliability of the predicted phenotype "Normal metabolizer" will depend on the number of variants investigated. The more variants analyzed (and found absent), the stronger the prediction "normal metabolizer" will be. Although there is a substantial agreement on this, each laboratory may have its own additional variants analyzed, usually depending on the genotyping platform used. It is therefore important that each laboratory also reports which SNPs were investigated. Clinical use of pharmacogenetics may benefit from consensus as to which variants should minimally be investigated. In 2018, the American Molecular Pathology (AMP) published a guideline for CYP2C19 testing, giving as Tier 1 CYP2C19\*2, \*3, and \*17 variant alleles and as Tier 2 CYP2C19\*4A-\*4B, \*5, \*6, \*7, \*8, \*9, \*10 and \*35 alleles (Pratt et al., 2018). Tier 1 variant alleles were defined as those having: (i) well-characterized alteration of CYP2C19 activity that has been shown to have an effect on drug response and for which the functional variant is known, (ii) appreciable minor allele frequencies in a patient population, and (iii) available reference materials. Tier 2 alleles were defined as alleles that meet at least one, but not all of the criteria for inclusion in Tier 1 and are considered optional for expanded clinical genotyping panels. These include normal function variant alleles, low frequency alleles and alleles without available reference materials. In their recommendations, the differences in allele frequencies in different populations are taken into account. A similar initiative from AMP is currently ongoing for CYP2D6 genotyping, but has not yet been published. In a recent article by Bousman C. et al. (2019), it was suggested that, in addition to CYP2C19 and CYP2D6, CYP2C9 (for phenytoin) and HLA-A/HLA-B gene variants should be considered for a 'minimum, evidence-based genetic testing panel' (Bousman C. et al., 2019).

Important is the conversion of SNPs into variant alleles using star allele assignments, with \*1 being a default value, encoding active enzyme. There are currently 131 variant CYP2D6 alleles described, which can be divided into active, decreased activity and inactive variants (Nofziger et al., 2020). Although polymorphisms affecting mRNA or protein expression will be following such a general categorization, it is important to keep in mind that particular variants causing amino acid substitutions may also cause changes in enzyme activity that are substrate dependent. A way to fine tune predicted phenotypes is an activity score (AS) assignment, with values 0 for non-functional alleles, 0.25, 0.5, and 0.75 for decreased activity alleles to 1.0 for active alleles (Gaedigk et al., 2008). The total score will indicate whether an individual is poor metabolizer (AS = 0), intermediate metabolizer (AS = 0.25-1.25), normal metabolizer (AS = 1.5-2.25), or ultra-rapid metabolizer (AS > 2.25). The challenge here is whether this conversion to PM, IM, NM, and UM should be maintained, as it lowers the information grade. Yet, clinicians may be accustomed to working with these phenotyping groups. Therefore, it remains to be seen whether the AS system will be adopted in routine clinical practice. In addition, one need to consider that most variants are detected by SNP analysis, and these analyses focus on the frequent variants described in literature. Next generation sequencing (NGS) would be helpful is analyzing CYP alleles in detail, also detecting not yet described variants. However, especially the CYP2D6 locus seems to be complex to analyze, partly because of high homology with CYP2D7 and CYP2D8 pseudogenes. Lauschke and Ingelman-Sundberg (2019) reported on the value of NGS, now also successfully used for CYP2D6, stressing the value of rare variants. Of course this poses another challenge, as to assign a clinical relevance to rare variants identified that have not previously been characterized. Recent evidence suggests that bioinformatic tools may successfully be applied to NGS (Fabbri et al., 2020a). Specific programs that can be used for this are Aldy, Astrolable, and Stargazer. The value of NGS is that also rare variants can be detected. A drawback, however, can be that in a clinical setting, a variant cannot be assigned to a specific predicted phenotype, complicating the actions from a prescriber point of view. Another challenge for CYP2D6 is the occurrence of gene deletions, multiplications, and CYP2D6/7 hybrid alleles, excellently documented in a recent PharmVar review on CYP2D6 (Nofziger et al., 2020). Copy number variation in CYP2D6 can be investigated by using CNV assays investigating signal strength at exon 9 or by analysis of specific PCR products, as done by XL-PCR (i.e., Autogenomics or Luminex). Approaches using two probes for CNV, like for intron 2 and exon 9, or the VeriDose approach (Agena BioSciences) utilizing 13 CYP2D6 probes can be useful to get detailed information on the existence of hybrid alleles. The technical complexities of CYP2D6 genotyping highlight the need for harmonization.

# **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

It is challenging to harmonize the genotyping, since different platforms are in use, but it is clear that methods should be used that at least includes the AMP Tier 1 and 2 alleles that can detect hybrid alleles and that is FDA/CE-IVD approved. This then combined with clinical decision support software for conversion of genotyping to a specific dosing advice to help clinicians to better target their therapies. Of course, pharmacogenetics can be expanded from *CYP2D6* and *CYP2C19* genotypes to other genes, encoding enzymes, receptors, drug transporters, or other downstream molecules. From that point of view, there is still a lot to be discovered, with the challenge to see which genes do significantly improve therapeutic outcome. Implementation of *CYP2D6/CYP2C19* genotyping in psychiatry constitutes, in our opinion, an important first step in this.

# CONCLUSION

Analyzing today's progress in clinical use of pharmacogenetics, we identify expert agreement on many aspects, but also still

differences in opinion. As indicated, this concerns genotyping itself (SNP analysis/arrays/NGS), structural variant detection (haplotypes/CNVs/hybrids), genotype-to-phenotype translation, cost-effectiveness, and actionability (FDA/CPIC/PharmGKB lists). Notably, this paper did not discuss pharmacodynamic gene variants, since the clinical relevance is still under investigation (Fabbri et al., 2020b). Despite the challenges described, there is an increase in uptake for clinical care, making harmonization and clinical guidelines important to bring this field further in facilitating effective and safe treatment of patients.

### REFERENCES

- Bousman, C. A., Arandjelovic, K., Mancuso, S. G., Eyre, H. A., and Dunlop, B. W. (2019). Pharmacogenetic Tests and Depressive Symptom Remission: a Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Pharmacogenomics* 20 (1), 37–47. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2018-0142
- Bousman, C., Maruf, A. A., and Muller, D. J. (2019). Towards the Integration of Pharmacogenetics in Psychiatry: a Minimum, Evidence-Based Genetic Testing Panel. Curr. Opin. Psychiatry 32 (1), 7–15. doi: 10.1097/YCO.000000000000465
- Bradley, P., Shiekh, M., Mehra, V., Vrbicky, K., Layle, S., Olson, M. C., et al. (2018). Improved Efficacy With Targeted Pharmacogenetic-Guided Treatment of Patients With Depression and Anxiety: a Randomized Clinical Trial Demonstrating Clinical Utility. J. Psychiatr. Res. 96, 100–107. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychires.2017.09.024
- Brown, J. T., Bishop, J. R., Sangkuhl, K., Nurmi, E. L., Mueller, D. J., Dinh, J. C., et al. (2019). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline for Cytochrome P450 (CYP)2D6 Genotype and Atomoxetine Therapy. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 106 (1), 94–102. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1409
- Corponi, F., Fabbri, C., and Serretti, A. (2018). Pharmacogenetics in Psychiatry. Adv. Pharmacol. 83, 297–331. doi: 10.1016/bs.apha.2018.03.003
- De Donatis, D., Florio, V., Porcelli, S., Saria, A., Mercolini, L., Serretti, A., et al. (2019). Duloxetine Plasma Level and Antidepressant Response. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 92, 127–132. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2019.01.001
- Fabbri, C., Tansey, K. E., Perlis, R. H., Hauser, J., Henigsberg, N., Maier, W., et al. (2018). Effect of Cytochrome CYP2C19 Metabolizing Activity on Antidepressant Response and Side Effects: Meta-Analysis of Data From Genome-Wide Association Studies. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 28 (8), 945–954. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.05.009
- Fabbri, C., Kasper, S., Kautzky, A., Zohar, J., Souery, D., Montgomery, S., et al. (2020a). A Polygenic Predictor of Treatment-Resistant Depression Using Whole Exome Sequencing and Genome-Wide Genotyping. *Transl. Psychiatry* 10 (1), 50. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0738-5
- Fabbri, C., Montgomery, S., Lewis, C. M., and Serretti, A. (2020b). Genetics and Major Depressive Disorder: Clinical Implications for Disease Risk, Prognosis and Treatment. *Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 35 (5), 233–242. doi: 10.1097/YIC.000000 0000000305
- Florio, V., Porcelli, S., Saria, A., Serretti, A., and Conca, A. (2017). Escitalopram Plasma Levels and Antidepressant Response. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 27 (9), 940–944. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2017.06.009
- Gaedigk, A., Simon, S. D., Pearce, R. E., Bradford, L. D., Kennedy, M. J., and Leeder, J. S. (2008). The CYP2D6 Activity Score: Translating Genotype Information Into a Qualitative Measure of Phenotype. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 83 (2), 234–242. doi: 10.1038/sj.clpt.6100406
- Greden, J. F., Parikh, S. V., Rothschild, A. J., Thase, M. E., Dunlop, B. W., Debattista, C., et al. (2019). Impact of Pharmacogenomics on Clinical Outcomes in Major Depressive Disorder in the GUIDED Trial: a Large, Patient- and Rater-Blinded, Randomized, Controlled Study. J. Psychiatr. Res. 111, 59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.01.003
- Hall-Flavin, D. K., Winner, J. G., Allen, J. D., Carhart, J. M., Proctor, B., Snyder, K. A., et al. (2013). Utility of Integrated Pharmacogenomic Testing to Support the Treatment of Major Depressive Disorder in a Psychiatric Outpatient Setting. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 23 (10), 535–548. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e3283649b9a

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020.575540/full#supplementary-material

- Hampton, L. M., Daubresse, M., Chang, H. Y., Alexander, G. C., and Budnitz, D. S. (2014). Emergency Department Visits by Adults for Psychiatric Medication Adverse Events. *JAMA Psychiatry* 71 (9), 1006–1014. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2014.436
- Hicks, J. K., Swen, J. J., Thorn, C. F., Sangkuhl, K., Kharasch, E. D., Ellingrod, V. L., et al. (2013). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 Genotypes and Dosing of Tricyclic Antidepressants. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 93 (5), 402–408. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2013.2
- Hicks, J. K., Bishop, J. R., Sangkuhl, K., Muller, D. J., Ji, Y., Leckband, S. G., et al. (2015). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) Guideline for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 Genotypes and Dosing of Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 98 (2), 127–134. doi: 10.1002/cpt.147
- Hicks, J. K., Sangkuhl, K., Swen, J. J., Ellingrod, V. L., Muller, D. J., Shimoda, K., et al. (2017). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline (CPIC) for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 Genotypes and Dosing of Tricyclic Antidepressants: 2016 Update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 102 (1), 37– 44. doi: 10.1002/cpt.597
- Hicks, J. K., Bishop, J. R., Gammal, R. S., Sangkuhl, K., Bousman, C. A., Leeder, J. S., et al. (2020). A Call for Clear and Consistent Communications Regarding the Role of Pharmacogenetics in Antidepressant Pharmacotherapy. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 107 (1), 50–52. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1661
- Hiemke, C., Bergemann, N., Clement, H. W., Conca, A., Deckert, J., Domschke, K., et al. (2018). Consensus Guidelines for Therapeutic Drug Monitoring in Neuropsychopharmacology: Update 2017. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 51 (1-02), 9–62. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-116492.
- Hornberger, J., Li, Q., and Quinn, B. (2015). Cost-Effectiveness of Combinatorial Pharmacogenomic Testing for Treatment-Resistant Major Depressive Disorder Patients. Am. J. Manag. Care 21 (6), E357–E365.
- Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (2020). Translation of Pharmacogenomic Drug Labels Into the Clinic. *Curr. Problems Pharmacol. Res.* 153, 104620. doi: 10.1016/ j.phrs.2019.104620.
- Jukic, M. M., Haslemo, T., Molden, E., and Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (2018). Impact of CYP2C19 Genotype on Escitalopram Exposure and Therapeutic Failure: a Retrospective Study Based on 2,087 Patients. Am. J. Psychiatry 175 (5), 463– 470. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2017.17050550
- Jukic, M. M., Smith, R. L., Haslemo, T., Molden, E., and Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (2019). Effect of CYP2D6 Genotype on Exposure and Efficacy of Risperidone and Aripiprazole: a Retrospective, Cohort Study. *Lancet Psychiatry* 6 (5), 418– 426. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30088-4
- Lauschke, V. M., and Ingelman-Sundberg, M. (2019). Prediction of Drug Response and Adverse Drug Reactions: From Twin Studies to Next Generation Sequencing. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 130, 65–77. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2019.01.024
- Leckband, S. G., Kelsoe, J. R., Dunnenberger, H. M., George, A. L. Jr., Tran, E., Berger, R., et al. (2013). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guidelines for HLA-B Genotype and Carbamazepine Dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 94 (3), 324–328. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2013.103
- Maciel, A., Cullors, A., Lukowiak, A. A., and Garces, J. (2018). Estimating Cost Savings of Pharmacogenetic Testing for Depression in Real-World Clinical Settings. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat* 14, 225–230. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S145046
- Mitropoulos, K., Johnson, L., Vozikis, A., and Patrinos, G. P. (2011). Relevance of Pharmacogenomics for Developing Countries in Europe. *Drug Metabol. Drug Interact.* 26 (4), 143–146. doi: 10.1515/DMDI.2011.028

- Mitropoulos, K., Cooper, D. N., Mitropoulou, C., Agathos, S., Reichardt, J. K. V., Al-Maskari, F., et al. (2017). Genomic Medicine Without Borders: Which Strategies Should Developing Countries Employ to Invest in Precision Medicine? a New "Fast-Second Winner" Strategy. OMICS 21 (11), 647–657. doi: 10.1089/omi.2017.0141
- Mizzi, C., Dalabira, E., Kumuthini, J., Dzimiri, N., Balogh, I., Basak, N., et al. (2016). A European Spectrum of Pharmacogenomic Biomarkers: Implications for Clinical Pharmacogenomics. *PloS One* 11 (9), E0162866. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162866
- Mrazek, D. A., Hornberger, J. C., Altar, C. A., and Degtiar, I. (2014). A Review of the Clinical, Economic, and Societal Burden of Treatment-Resistant Depression: 1996-2013. *Psychiatr. Serv.* 65 (8), 977–987. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201300059
- Nofziger, C., Turner, A. J., Sangkuhl, K., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Agundez, J. A. G., Black, J. L., et al. (2020). Pharmvar Genefocus: CYP2D6. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 107 (1), 154–170. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1643
- Perez, V., Salavert, A., Espadaler, J., Tuson, M., Saiz-Ruiz, J., Saez-Navarro, C., et al. (2017). Efficacy of Prospective Pharmacogenetic Testing in the Treatment of Major Depressive Disorder: Results of a Randomized, Double-Blind Clinical Trial. *BMC Psychiatry* 17 (1), 250. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1412-1
- Peterson, K., Dieperink, E., Anderson, J., Boundy, E., Ferguson, L., and Helfand, M. (2017). Rapid Evidence Review of the Comparative Effectiveness, Harms, and Cost-Effectiveness of Pharmacogenomics-Guided Antidepressant Treatment Versus Usual Care for Major Depressive Disorder. *Psychopharmacol. (Berl.)* 234 (11), 1649–1661. doi: 10.1007/s00213-017-4622-9
- Phillips, E. J., Sukasem, C., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Muller, D. J., Dunnenberger, H. M., Chantratita, W., et al. (2018). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guideline for HLA Genotype and Use of Carbamazepine and Oxcarbazepine: 2017 Update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 103 (4), 574–581. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1004
- Pratt, V. M., Del Tredici, A. L., Hachad, H., Ji, Y., Kalman, L. V., Scott, S. A., et al. (2018). Recommendations for Clinical CYP2C19 Genotyping Allele Selection: a Report of the Association for Molecular Pathology. *J. Mol. Diagn.* 20 (3), 269– 276. doi: 10.1016/j.jmoldx.2018.01.011
- Roederer, M. W., Sanchez-Giron, F., Kalideen, K., Kudzi, W., Mcleod, H. L., Zhang, W., et al. (2011). Pharmacogenetics and Rational Drug Use Around the World. *Pharmacogenomics* 12 (6), 897–905. doi: 10.2217/pgs.11.17
- Rosenblat, J. D., Lee, Y., and Mcintyre, R. S. (2017). Does Pharmacogenomic Testing Improve Clinical Outcomes for Major Depressive Disorder? a Systematic Review of Clinical Trials and Cost-Effectiveness Studies. J. Clin. Psychiatry 78 (6), 720–729. doi: 10.4088/JCP.15r10583
- Rush, A. J., Trivedi, M. H., Wisniewski, S. R., Nierenberg, A. A., Stewart, J. W., Warden, D., et al. (2006). Acute and Longer-Term Outcomes in Depressed

Outpatients Requiring One or Several Treatment Steps: a STAR\*D Report. Am. J. Psychiatry 163 (11), 1905–1917. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2006.163.11.1905

- Singh, A. B. (2015). Improved Antidepressant Remission in Major Depression Via a Pharmacokinetic Pathway Polygene Pharmacogenetic Report. *Clin. Psychopharmacol. Neurosci.* 13 (2), 150–156. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2015.13.2.150
- Solomon, H. V., Cates, K. W., and Li, K. J. (2019). Does Obtaining CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 Pharmacogenetic Testing Predict Antidepressant Response or Adverse Drug Reactions? *Psychiatry Res.* 271, 604–613. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres. 2018.12.053.
- Stingl, J. C., Brockmoller, J., and Viviani, R. (2013). Genetic Variability of Drug-Metabolizing Enzymes: the Dual Impact on Psychiatric Therapy and Regulation of Brain Function. *Mol. Psychiatry* 18 (3), 273–287. doi: 10.1038/ mp.2012.42
- Swen, J. J., Wilting, I., De Goede, A. L., Grandia, L., Mulder, H., Touw, D. J., et al. (2008). Pharmacogenetics: From Bench to Byte. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 83 (5), 781–787. doi: 10.1038/sj.clpt.6100507
- Swen, J. J., Nijenhuis, M., De Boer, A., Grandia, L., Maitland-Van Der Zee, A. H., Mulder, H., et al. (2011). Pharmacogenetics: From Bench to Byte–An Update of Guidelines. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 89 (5), 662–673. doi: 10.1038/clpt. 2011.34
- Thase, M. E., Nierenberg, A. A., Vrijland, P., Van Oers, H. J., Schutte, A. J., and Simmons, J. H. (2010). Remission With Mirtazapine and Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors: a Meta-Analysis of Individual Patient Data From 15 Controlled Trials of Acute Phase Treatment of Major Depression. *Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 25 (4), 189–198. doi: 10.1097/YIC.0b013e328330adb2
- Winner, J. G., Carhart, J. M., Altar, C. A., Allen, J. D., and Dechairo, B. M. (2013). A Prospective, Randomized, Double-Blind Study Assessing the Clinical Impact of Integrated Pharmacogenomic Testing for Major Depressive Disorder. *Discovery Med.* 16 (89), 219–227.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 van Schaik, Müller, Serretti and Ingelman-Sundberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Diagnostic Test Criteria for HLA Genotyping to Prevent Drug Hypersensitivity Reactions: A Systematic Review of Actionable HLA Recommendations in CPIC and DPWG Guidelines

### Lisanne E. N. Manson<sup>1,2</sup>, Jesse J. Swen<sup>1,2</sup> and Henk-Jan Guchelaar<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Pharmacy & Toxicology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Leiden Network for Personalized Therapeutics, Leiden, Netherlands

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Vita Dolzan, University of Ljubljana, Slovenia

#### Reviewed by:

Vijay Suppiah, University of South Australia, Australia Ursula Amstutz, University of Bern, Switzerland

> \*Correspondence: Henk-Jan Guchelaar H.J.Guchelaar@lumc.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 29 May 2020 Accepted: 25 August 2020 Published: 23 September 2020

#### Citation:

Manson LEN, Swen JJ and Guchelaar H-J (2020) Diagnostic Test Criteria for HLA Genotyping to Prevent Drug Hypersensitivity Reactions: A Systematic Review of Actionable HLA Recommendations in CPIC and DPWG Guidelines. Front. Pharmacol. 11:567048. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.567048 **Introduction:** Certain HLA variants are associated with an increased risk of hypersensitivity reactions to specific drugs. Both the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) and the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) have issued actionable HLA gene – drug interaction guidelines but diagnostic test criteria remain largely unknown. We present an overview of the diagnostic test criteria of the actionable HLA – drug pairs.

**Methods:** A systematic literature search was conducted in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science and Cochrane Library. Original case-control and cohort studies were selected and sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV) and number needed to genotype (NNG) were calculated for the actionable HLA-drug pairs.

**Results:** In general, the HLA tests show high specificity and NPV for predicting hypersensitivity reactions. The sensitivity of HLA tests shows a wide range, from 0-33% for HLA-B\*1502 testing to predict lamotrigine induced SJS/TEN up to 100% for HLA-B\*5701 to predict immunologically confirmed abacavir hypersensitivity syndrome (ABC-HSR). PPV is low for all tests except for HLA-B\*5701 and ABC-HSR which is approximately 50%. HLA-B\*5701 to predict ABC-HSR shows the lowest NNG followed by HLA-B\*5801 for allopurinol induced severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions and HLA-B\*1502 for carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN.

**Discussion:** This is the first overview of diagnostic test criteria for actionable HLA-drug pairs. Studies researching HLA genes and hypersensitivity are scarce for some of the HLA-drug pairs in some populations and patient numbers in studies are small. Therefore, more research is necessary to calculate the diagnostic test criteria more accurately.

Keywords: HLA genes, pharmacogenomics, hypersensitivity, antiepileptic drugs, abacavir, allopurinol, flucloxacillin

# INTRODUCTION

Adverse drug reactions (ADRs) are an important cause of hospitalization and mortality in modern healthcare. ADRs can be classified as type A or type B. Type A reactions are often common and can be predicted from the drug's pharmacological mechanism of action. Type B reactions, also known as idiosyncratic or hypersensitivity reactions, are usually much rarer and unpredictable and therefore pose a serious risk for patients as they can even be life-threatening.

The hypersensitivity reactions included in this review are: Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS) and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN), drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS), maculopapular exanthema (MPE), abacavir hypersensitivity syndrome (ABC-HSR) and drug-induced liver injury (DILI).

Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS) and toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN) are the most serious types of severe cutaneous adverse drug reaction (SCAR). Both SJS and TEN are characterized by fever and mucocutaneous lesions leading to necrosis and sloughing of the epidermis. The two diseases are separated based on the percentage of body surface area detached: 1%–10% detachment defines SJS, 10%–30% detachment defines SJS/TEN overlap, and >30% detachment defines TEN. The mortality of SJS/ TEN is estimated to be approximately 25%, ranging from 5%–10% for SJS to more than 30% for TEN (Sekula et al., 2013; Mahar et al., 2014; High, 2020; Mockenhaupt, 2020).

Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS), also belonging to the term SCAR, describes a potentially life-threatening syndrome including a severe skin eruption, fever, hematologic abnormalities and involvement of internal organs. The mortality of DRESS is estimated to be about 5%–10% (Chen et al., 2010; Cacoub et al., 2011; Mockenhaupt, 2020). Another term used for DRESS is drug-induced hypersensitivity syndrome (DIHS).

Maculopapular exanthema (MPE) is a milder form of cutaneous ADR. It is the most common type of cutaneous ADR, occurring in approximately 2 percent of individuals exposed to drugs. MPE is characterized by erythematous macules and papules. Systemic symptoms include pruritus, low-grade fever, and mild eosinophilia. Usually the rash develops 5 to 14 days after starting treatment, but it may occur within one or two days. The rash usually improves within 2 weeks after withdrawal of the culprit drug.

Abacavir hypersensitivity (ABC-HSR) has several similar features as DRESS but does not have all the major criteria for DRESS. ABC-HSR is usually a combination of symptoms: Fever is almost always present and patients also often suffer from dizziness, headache, malaise and gastrointestinal symptoms. Respiratory symptoms and rash can be present as well. In the early use of abacavir, ABC-HSR became the main reason for drug discontinuation in approximately 8 percent of treated patients (Symonds et al., 2002; Young et al., 2008; Elizabeth J Phillips, 2020).

Drug-induced liver injury (DILI) is rare and has an estimated annual incidence between 10 and 15 per 10,000 to 100,000 persons exposed to prescription medications. Acute presentations of DILI include mild, asymptomatic liver test abnormalities but also liver failure. DILI accounts for approximately 10 percent of all cases of acute hepatitis. DILI is also a frequent reason for withdrawal of medications from the market (Larson, 2020).

The discovery of the first ADR-HLA genotype association, HLA-B\*5701 associated with abacavir hypersensitivity, and its mandatory testing as obliged in the drug label initiated a whole new field of research leading to additional significant HLA-variant – ADR associations in the last decade.

Both the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) and the Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) have issued actionable HLA gene – drug interaction guidelines. The HLA-drug pairs considered as actionable by CPIC and/or DPWG are: HLA-B\*5701-abacavir, HLA-B\*5701-flucloxacillin, HLA-B\*5801- allopurinol, HLA-A\*3101-carbamazepine, HLA-B\*1511- carbamazepine, HLA-B\*1502-carbamazepine, HLA-B\*1502-oxcarbazepine, HLA-B\*1502-lamotrigine and HLA-B\*1502-phenytoin.

These guidelines are based upon different types of studies including case-control studies and cohort studies. While there is evidence for the association between HLA variants and the occurrence of ADRs, HLA testing is not yet being performed pre-emptively, except for HLA-B\*5701 and abacavir and HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepine in some Asian populations. Preemptively testing HLA-A\*3101 is recommended by the Canadian and Swiss drug label for some populations but it is not mandatory, We hypothesize that an important reason for a lack of implementation of pre-emptive HLA testing is the fact that diagnostic test criteria for the tests remain largely unknown. We have found one other review with an overview of diagnostic test criteria but this study has focused on antiepileptic drugs only and not on all drugs with actionable HLA gene – drug interactions (Mullan et al., 2019).

Therefore, we aim to present an overview of the diagnostic test criteria, namely the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV) and the number needed to genotype (NNG) for all actionable HLA – drug pairs.

# METHODS

We conducted a systematic literature search in PubMed, Embase, Web of Science and the Cochrane Library for case-control studies and prospective and retrospective cohort studies that evaluated known HLA - ADR associations. Based on the CPIC and DPWG guidelines for actionable HLA-drug pairs we restricted our search to articles concerning abacavir, allopurinol, flucloxacillin, carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine and phenytoin. Search terms consisted of "drug name" AND drug hypersensitivity AND HLA and included synonyms of these terms (see Supplementary File 1). Records were screened on title and abstract. Duplicates, comments, editorials, narrative reviews, letters without original data and publications in languages other than English were excluded. Papers reporting original data with a minimum of 40 patients of which at least 10 hypersensitivity cases in total were included. We selected only studies where the HLA variants were genotyped directly. Studies that used a variant in linkage with the causal HLA variant were excluded since linkage

disequilibrium is not known for all populations and shows considerable variation. We only selected studies where tolerant controls were available to calculate the diagnostic test criteria most accurately. All diagnostic test criteria were calculated by using the tolerant controls data while the population controls, if available, were used to calculate allele carrier frequencies in the general population. Calculation of sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV and NNG were done according to Tonk et al., and Steinberg et al. (Steinberg et al., 2009; Tonk et al., 2017) using the data described in the original articles. Considered endpoints included SCAR, SJS/ TEN, DRESS, MPE, ABC-HSR and DILI. The endpoints used in the calculation of the diagnostic test criteria are similar to the endpoints mentioned in the specific CPIC and DPWG guidelines. For instance when the CPIC and/or DPWG guidelines only mention an association with SJS/TEN, other endpoints are not included in the results section.

To calculate the NPV, PPV and NNG, the incidence of the ADR is required. However, the incidence is not always available. Therefore we extracted the incidence from literature in one of the following ways and in this order:

- i. Directly from the included article itself when the article is a cohort study
- ii. From the DPWG or CPIC guideline based on a review, meta-analysis or original article
- iii. Derived from an original article in a similar population

In the tables in the result section, the source used for the incidence is mentioned.

# RESULTS

## **Study Selection**

**Figure 1** shows the result of the study selection. Initially, 1,383 publications were identified. The publications were first screened by title and abstract and then the full-text articles were assessed for eligibility. In total, 69 studies matched the inclusion criteria for analysis in this systematic review. Of these 69 studies, only the 56 studies investigating the same endpoints as the CPIC and/ or DPWG guidelines and having the data needed for calculating the diagnostic test criteria were used in the *Results* section of this systematic review.

# Abacavir

Abacavir is a nucleoside analog reverse-transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) used to treat and prevent HIV and is always used in combination with other antiretroviral drugs. To date, it is the only drug for which a pre-emptive HLA test is mandatory according to the drug label. Abacavir is contraindicated for patients who have been tested positive for the HLA-B\*5701 variant or for patients who have not been tested because a positive test result is strongly associated with abacavir hypersensitivity syndrome (ABC-HSR) (Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020a). ABC-HSR occurs in 4%–8% of patients receiving abacavir prior to implementation of pre-emptive HLA-B\*5701 testing

(Hetherington et al., 2001; Mallal et al., 2008). The incidence of ABC-HSR seems to be much higher in Caucasian populations due to a higher frequency of the HLA-B\*5701 allele than in non-Caucasian populations (To et al., 2013; Zhang H. et al., 2015; Youssoufi et al., 2017; Agbaji et al., 2019).

We have identified nine articles that met our inclusion criteria, all but one only in Caucasians. The results are summarized in **Table 1** for clinically diagnosed ABC-HSR and in **Table 2** for immunologically confirmed ABC-HSR.

Almost all the included studies were performed in Caucasians but the reported incidence of abacavir hypersensitivity differs between the studies. Therefore different incidences (1.4%–9.0% for Caucasian populations) are used for calculating the PPV, NPV, and NNG.

The specificity of the HLA-B\*5701 test is high in all studies: 90-100%, as is the NPV: 95%–100% in clinically diagnosed and 100% in immunologically confirmed subjects. The sensitivity of the HLA-B\*5701 test for abacavir HSR differs greatly between the studies and is between 31% and 90% for clinically diagnosed Caucasian patients. However, for immunologically confirmed HSR the sensitivity increases to 100%. The PPV is around 50%. The number of new abacavir users needed to genotype to prevent one case of ABC-HSR is 14–90 in Caucasians but ~10 times higher in Blacks.

## Allopurinol

Allopurinol is the most commonly used drug for the treatment of gout and hyperuricemia. However, a great safety concern of allopurinol is the risk of SCAR which is estimated to be 0.1%–0.4% among new users. (Hershfield et al., 2013) It has been proven that HLA-B\*58:01 is associated with an increased risk for allopurinol induced SCAR. Nineteen studies are identified using the inclusion criteria described in the methods. Of these 19 studies, 14 are included in the results tables whereas the others investigated other endpoints or did not genotype cases and tolerant controls. The results of the HLA-B\*5801 test criteria are shown in **Table 3** for SCAR, **Table 4** for DRESS, and **Table 5** for SJS-TEN.

The incidence of SCAR is 0.1%–0.4% according to the CPIC guideline (Hershfield et al., 2013). Based on the results of a PubMed search the incidence of SJS/TEN is estimated to be 0.16% for SJS/TEN and 0.05% for DRESS (Sunicha Limkobpaiboon and Naruemon Dhana, 2010; Saokaew et al., 2014; Chong et al., 2018). Thus we use an incidence of 0.21% for SCAR (Min et al., 2015; Ke et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2019).

HLA-B\*5801 testing in Asian populations shows high sensitivity and high specificity for allopurinol induced SCAR: 88%–100% and 82%–94% respectively. The only identified study in a non-Asian population, a Portuguese population, shows a lower sensitivity of 64% but a high specificity of 94%. The PPV is low (1.1% - 3.0%) while the NPV is approximately 1. The frequency of carriers of the HLA-B\*5801 allele is lower in the Portuguese population than in Asian populations (4% versus 10%-20% respectively). If HLA-B\*5801 is the only SNP associated with allopurinol induced SJS/ TEN, the incidence of SCAR in this population is expected to be lower, leading to a higher NNG. In the Portuguese population also other HLA variants may be of importance. The calculated NNG for SCAR is 476-540 in Asian populations and is assumed to be much higher in the Portuguese population and other populations with a lower frequency of the HLA-B\*5801 allele.



The high sensitivity and specificity are seen for both SJS/TEN and DRESS, as shown in **Table 4** (DRESS) and **Table 5** (SJS/TEN).

Sensitivity and specificity for the HLA-B\*5801 test for allopurinol induced DRESS and SJS/TEN are comparable to the numbers mentioned above for SCAR. Sensitivity for allopurinol induced DRESS and SJS/TEN is 91.7%–100% and 80.0%–100% respectively in Asians. Specificity is between 82.1% and 96.0%. Due to the low incidence of allopurinol induced DRESS the NNG to prevent one case of DRESS is 2,000–2,182 in Asian populations. The NNG for allopurinol induced SJS/TEN is 625–781 in Asian populations.

## Flucloxacillin

Flucloxacillin is a penicillin antibiotic used for treating infections caused by Gram-positive bacteria such as staphylococci or streptococci. Although extremely rare, flucloxacillin has been associated with drug-induced liver injury (DILI). DILI is a collective term of different liver injuries as adverse drug reactions (ADRs) due to various drugs. The drug label of flucloxacillin mentions a clear correlation between HLA-B\*5701 and flucloxacillin-induced liver damage but does not advise routine pre-emptive testing due to the rarity of DILI and the low PPV of 0.12% (Aurobindo Pharma, 2019). The incidence of DILI is estimated to be about 8.5/100,000 in new flucloxacillin users (Russmann et al., 2005). The DPWG has issued recommendations for HLA-B\*5701 and flucloxacillin induced DILI. The

recommendations indicate to monitor liver function more regularly and switch to an alternative when liver enzymes or bilirubin increase (Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020b). The CPIC however has not defined an actionable guideline about this drug-gene interaction.

Only one article is identified meeting our inclusion criteria. The results are shown in **Table 6**.

The HLA-B\*5701 test has relatively high sensitivity and specificity (84.3% and 93.8% respectively) for flucloxacillin induced DILI. However, due to the rarity of flucloxacillin induced DILI, the test has a very low PPV of 0.11% and high NPV (99.99%). The low incidence of DILI results in a high NNG for DILI of 13,953.

# **Antiepileptic Drugs**

Epilepsy is one of the most common chronic neurological disorders affecting millions of people worldwide. Many epileptic people use antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) to treat their condition. But these AEDs, especially carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, phenytoin and lamotrigine are, along with allopurinol, the most common cause of cutaneous adverse drug reactions (cADRs) including the previously mentioned severe SJS/TEN and DRESS but also a milder form of cADR called macopapular exanthema (MPE). Carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine and phenytoin induced cADRs are associated with HLA-B\*1502 (Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020c;

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Sensitivity Specificity	ЪРV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Berka et al. (2012)	Canada	Prospective cohort study. $N = 489$	06.0	-	÷	0.996	0.037 i	27	<b>4.1</b> (Berka et al., 2012)
Hetherington et al.	North America	Case-control study. 85 cases + 115 controls	0.554	0.988	0.666	0.980	0.043 <sup>iii</sup>	42	7.2 (USA NMDP European Caucasian)
(2002)							(Hetherington et al., 2001)		(McCabe et al., 2020)
Hughes et al.	ĽK L	Case-control study. 13 cases + 51 controls	0.462	0.902	0.153	0.978	0.037 <sup>iii</sup>	59	9.0 (England Blood Donors of Mixed Ethnicity)
(2004)							(Symonds et al., 2002)		(McCabe et al., 2020)
Mallal et al. (2002)	West Australia	West Australia Cohort study. N = 200. 18 cases.	0.778	0.976	0.778	0.976	0.090 <sup>i</sup>	14	8.7 (Mallal et al., 2002)
Martin et al. (2004)	West Australia	Cohort study. N = 248. Includes Mallal et al. (2002)	0.947	0.983	0.818	0.996	0.073	14	8.5 (Martin et al., 2004)
		patients. Mallal's cases were reassessed using updated diagnostic criteria							
Mallal et al. (2008)	19 countries.	Randomized clinical trial. 980 prospectively	0.455	0.976	0.612	0.955	0.078	29	5.6 (Mallal et al., 2008)
	Mostly white.	genotyped + 976 control group retrospectively							
		genotyped							
Rauch et al. (2008)	Switzerland	prospective cohort study. N= 1,877 of which 149	0.309	0.986	0.244	0.990	0.0794	41	6.0 (Rauch et al., 2008)
		suspected cases (of which 27 likely). 140							
		controls. Clinically suspected							
		Clinically likely	0.778	0.986	0.827	0.981	0.0144	89	
Rodriguez et al.	Spain	case-control study. 26 cases + 27 controls.	0.423	0.963	0.491	0.952	0.078 <sup>iii</sup>	30	4.7 (Spain (Catalunya, Navarra, Extremadura,
(2007)							(Mallal et al., 2008)		Aaragón, Cantabria), (McCabe et al., 2020)
Saag et al. (2008)	US White	case-control study. 130 white cases + 202	0.442	0.960	0.492	0.952	0.080 <sup>iii</sup>	28	7.2 (USA NMDP European Caucasian)
		controls					(Brothers C et al., 2006)		(McCabe et al., 2020)
Saag et al. (2008)	US Black	case-control study. 69 black cases + 206	0.145	0.990	0.358	0.969	0.036 <sup>iii</sup>	192	1.4 (USA NMDP African American pop 2)
		controle					(Brothers C. et al. 2006)		(McCabe et al. 2020)

Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020d; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020e; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020f). For carbamazepine induced cADRs also associations with HLA-B\*1511 and HLA-A\*3101 have been shown.

There is evidence of cross-sensitivity among the AEDs carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine and phenytoin (Bloch et al., 2014). In a Norwegian retrospective study of medical records it was found that phenytoin, carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine caused rashes in 27%-35% of patients with a history of another AED related rash (Alvestad et al., 2008). Lamotrigine was with 17% less involved in cross-sensitivity than carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine and phenytoin. A retrospective study of medical records in China also found high cross-sensitivity rates between the four AEDs, especially when carbamazepine and phenytoin were involved (Wang et al., 2010). There was a highly significant mutual risk for cross-sensitivity for CBZ and PHT, and OXC, and LTG. The substantial evidence for cross-sensitivity means caution is needed when prescribing these AEDs, especially when switching from one of these AEDs to another due to an cADR.

#### Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine is a widely used drug approved for the treatment of epilepsy, bipolar disorder and neuropathic pain. It is however known to be able to cause cADRs. Associations have been shown between HLA-B\*1502 in Asian populations and SJS/TEN (Leckband et al., 2013; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020c). Also in some populations HLA-B\*1511 has been shown to be associated with SJS/TEN (Kim et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2012). In contrast, in European and Japanese populations not HLA-B alleles but HLA-A\*3101 has been shown to be associated with SJS/ TEN. This variant has also been shown to be associated with DRESS and MPE. The DPWG does not give an actionable advice on MPE, but the CPIC guideline on the other hand does state that an HLA-A\*3101 positive carbamazepine user has a higher chance of MPE as well as SJS/TEN and DRESS. In the drug label HLA-B\*1502 and HLA-A\*3101 testing is advised in high risk patients. Patients are deemed to be at risk when they come from countries with a high prevalence of the HLA-B\*1502 allele such as Hong Kong, Thailand, Taiwan, Malaysia, and parts of the Philippines. The drug label states the use of carbamazepine and other AEDs associated with SJS/TEN should be avoided in patients who test positive for the HLA-A\*3101 or HLA-B\*1502 alleles (ULC MP, 2015). The CPIC's advice is the same whereas the DPWG guideline also advises to consider an alternative in HLA-B\*1511 positive patients (Hershfield et al., 2013; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020c). The Swiss and Canadian drug label strongly recommend testing HLA-A\*3101 in high risk populations. The Swiss label considers Japanese, Caucasians, American indigenous population and patients of Spanish, Portuguese, South Indian and Arabic ancestry to be at high risk.

The incidence of SJS/TEN is 0.005% in European Caucasian populations (Genin et al., 2014; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020c) and in Chinese and other some Asian populations it is 0.25% (Genin et al., 2014; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering

**TABLE 1** | HLA-B\*5701 and clinically diagnosed abacavir hypersensitivity reaction

Manson et al

TABLE 2   HLA-B*5701 and immunologica	lly confirmed abacavir hypersensitivity reaction.
---------------------------------------	---

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Mallal et al. (2008)	19 countries. Mostly white.	Randomized clinical trial. 980 prospectively genotyped. 976 control group (retrospectively genotyped)	1	0.969	0.479	1	0.027 <sup>i</sup>	37	5.6 (Mallal et al., 2008)
Saag et al. (2008)	US White	Case control study. 130 white cases + 202 controls	1	0.960	0.406	1	0.026 <sup>i,iii</sup> (Brothers C et al., 2006)	38	7.2 (USA NMDP European Caucasian) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Saag et al. (2008)	US. Black	Case-control study. 69 black cases + 206 controls	1	0.990	0.206	1	0.0025 <sup>i,iii</sup> (Brothers C et al., 2006)	397	1.4 (USA NMDP African American pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)

der Pharmacie, 2020c). To be able to calculate NPV, PPV and NNG for other Asian populations such as Vietnamese and Malaysian, an incidence of 0.25% is assumed. The incidence of SJS/TEN in non-European Caucasians is assumed to be 0.005%.

The results of studies studying the association of HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN are summarized in **Table 7**.

In general, studies find a relatively high sensitivity (67-100%) and specificity (73-100%) for HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN. However in some populations such as Korean, Canadians of diverse ancestry, Indonesian, North east Chinese and Indians in Malaysia lower sensitivities of 14-57% are found (Kim et al., 2011; Amstutz et al., 2013; He et al., 2013; Khor et al., 2017; Khosama et al., 2017). In these populations, the allele frequency is lower than in the other Asian populations which may indicate that in these populations also other HLA variants may be of importance, for instance the HLA-A\*3101 or HLA-B\*1511 variants. In the study from Genin et al. the sensitivity in Europeans is zero and the specificity is 100% since there were no Europeans positive for HLA-B\*1502 in this study.

Due to the low incidence, the PPV is low (0.14%–7.8%) while the NPV is high (99.2%–100%). The NNG is 400–2,800 in Asian populations of which most studies lead to a NNG of 400–700. In Canadians, the NNG is 60,000.

Studies about the association of carbamazepine induced SJS/ TEN and HLA-B\*1511 are scarce. Only two studies meet our inclusion criteria. See **Table 8**.

In southern Han Chinese, the HLA-B\*1511 test shows very low sensitivity (7.1%) for carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN. In a Korean population the sensitivity is higher but still low (42.9%). The low sensitivity in southern Han Chinese can be explained by the low allele frequency of HLA-B\*1511 in this population (0.4%). The low sensitivity indicates that testing only HLA-B\*1511 in carbamazepine initiators might be insufficient to predict SJS/TEN, because of the influence of other HLA-genes such as HLA-B\*1502. Specificity in both studies is high and so is the NPV. The PPV is low. The NNG in the study by Kim et al. is 933 while in the study among Southern Han Chinese from Shi et al. it is 5,600 (Kim et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2012).

The results of carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN and HLA-A\*3101 are summarized in **Table 9**.

HLA-A\*3101 testing shows high specificity (86.0%–96.7%) but mostly low sensitivity (0.0%–83.3%) for carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN. Only in Japanese, Korean and Indian Malaysian relatively high sensitivities are found (42.9%–83.3%). The PPV is 0%–1.6% while the NPV is close to 100.0% in all studies. The NNG shows a high variability and is between 480 and 133,333.

The results of carbamazepine induced DRESS and HLA-A\*3101 are summarized in **Table 10**. The incidence of DRESS is assumed to be 0.05% in both Asian and Caucasian populations (Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020c).

Sensitivity for HLA-A\*3101 and carbamazepine induced DRESS is about 50% in several populations (30.4%–70.0%) while specificity is high (86%–97%). The exception is the study by Ihtisham et al. with a sensitivity of 0. However, this study only had two DRESS cases which both did not carry the HLA-A\*3101 allele Ihtisham et al. (2019). The NNG is high in all studies (2,857–6,571).

The results of HLA-A\*3101 and carbamazepine induced MPE are summarized in **Table 11**. The incidence of MPE is assumed to be 10% in Caucasian users and 4.4% in Chinese and other Asian users (Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020c).

Sensitivity for HLA-A\*3101 and carbamazepine induced MPE is low (1%–23%). The sensitivity is higher in Europeans, Canadians of mixed ethnicities and Indian populations than in Chinese populations. Specificity is high in all populations (94%–99%). PPV is low (3%–44%) while NPV is consistently high (91%–98%). Due to the high incidence of MPE, the NNG is low, especially in Canadians and Europeans (Locharernkul et al., 2008; GlaxoSmithKline, 2009; US Food and Drug Administration, 2009; He et al., 2012; Shi et al., 2012; Amstutz et al., 2013; He et al., 2013; Lv et al., 2013; Caudle et al., 2014; Genin et al., 2014; ULC MP, 2015; Moon et al., 2016; Pfizer, 2016; Chen et al., 2017; Khor et al., 2017; Khosama et al., 2017; Deng et al., 2018; Fowler et al., 2019). But NNG is also low in North India (An et al., 2010) due to a relatively high sensitivity (22.2%). In the other study populations NNG is 166-1818.

#### Oxcarbazepine

Oxcarbazepine is an AED structurally related to carbamazepine. Therefore it might not be surprising that there is also evidence of an association of HLA-B\*1502 and oxcarbazepine induced SJS/TEN leading to CPIC and DPWG guidelines about this association (Leckband et al., 2013; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020e). The drug label of oxcarbazepine warns to only use the drug in HLA-B\*1502 positive patients when the benefits clearly outweigh the risk (US Food and Drug Administration, 2009).

#### TABLE 3 | HLA-B\*5801 and allopurinol induced severe cutaneous adverse drug reaction (SCAR).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence <sup>ii,iii</sup>	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Chen et al. (2015)	Eastern China	17 SCAR cases + 31 tolerant controls +120 population controls	0.882	0.935	0.0280	0.9997	0.0021	540	14.2 (Chen et al., 2015)
Cheng et al. (2015)	Han Chinese	92 SCAR cases + 75 tolerant controls + 99 population controls	0.946	0.880	0.0163	0.9999	0.0021	504	10.1 (Cheng et al., 2015)
Zhang X. et al. (2015)	Han Chinese	48 SCAR cases + 133 controls + 280 population controls	0.938	0.925	0.0256	0.9999	0.0021	508	12.1 (Zhang X. et al., 2015)
Chiu et al. (2012)	Hong Kong Han Chinese	19 SCAR cases + 30 controls	1	0.867	0.0155	1	0.0021	476	14.2 (Hong Kong Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Jung et al. 2011)	Korea	Retrospective cohort study. N = 448. 9 cases.	1	0.905	0.0217	1	0.0021	476	12.2 (Jung et al., 2011)
Kang et al. (2011)	Korea	26 SCAR cases + 57 controls	0.923	0.895	0.0181	0.9998	0.0021	516	11.8 (South Korea pop 10) (McCabe et al., 2020
Gonçalo et al. (2013)	Portugal	25 SCAR cases + 23 controls	0.640	0.957	0.0300	0.9992	0.0021	744	4.0 (Portugal Center) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Cao et al. (2012)	Southern Han Chinese	16 SCAR cases + 63 controls	1	0.889	0.0186	1	0.0021	476	14.0 (Cao et al., 2012)
Chung et al. (2015)	Taiwan	48 cases + 138 controls	0.958	0.826	0.0115	0.9999	0.0021	497	20.0 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020
Hung et al. (2005)	Taiwan	51 cases + 135 tolerant controls + 93 population controls	1	0.852	0.0140	1	0.0021	476	20.4 (Hung et al., 2005)
Ng et al. (2016)	Taiwan	106 cases + 285 controls	0.906	0.821	0.0105	0.9998	0.0021	526	20.0 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Saksit et al. (2017)	Thailand	86 cases + 182 controls	0.965	0.885	0.0173	0.9999	0.0021	493	14.8 (Thailand) (McCabe et al., 2020)

TABLE 4 | HLA-B\*5801 and allopurinol induced drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence <sup>ii,iii</sup>	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Kang et al. (2011)	Korea	21 DIHS cases + 57 controls	0.952	0.895	0.0045	1.0000	0.0005	2100	11.8 (South Korea pop 10) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Gonçalo et al. (2013)	Portugal	19 DRESS cases + 23 controls	0.632	0.957	0.0072	0.9998	0.0005	3167	4.0 (Portugal Center) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Cao et al. (2012)	Southern Han Chinese	3 DRESS cases + 63 tolerant controls + 572 population controls	1	0.889	0.0045	1	0.0005	2000	14.0 (Cao et al., 2012)
Chung et al. (2015)	Taiwan	22 DRESS cases + 138 controls	1	0.826	0.0029	1	0.0005	2000	20.0 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Ng et al. (2016)	Taiwan	60 DRESS cases + 285 controls	0.917	0.821	0.0026	0.9999	0.0005	2182	20.0 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Sukasem et al. (2016)	Thailand	6 DRESS cases + 100 tolerant controls +1095 population controls	1	0.960	0.0124	1	0.0005	2000	10.1 (Sukasem et al., 2016)
Saksit et al. (2017)	Thailand	19 DRESS cases + 182 controls	1	0.885	0.0043	1	0.0005	2000	14.8 (Thailand) (McCabe et al., 2020)

TABLE 5	HLA-B*5801	and allopurinol induced	d Stevens–Johnson s	yndrome (SJS	S)/toxic epidermal nec	rolysis (TEN).
---------	------------	-------------------------	---------------------	--------------	------------------------	----------------

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence <sup>i,iii</sup>	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Kang et al. (2011)	Korea	5 SJS/TEN cases + 57 controls	0.800	0.895	0.0120	0.9996	0.0016	781	11.8 (South Korea pop 10) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Gonçalo et al. (2013)	Portugal	6 SJS/TEN cases + 23 controls	0.667	0.957	0.0240	0.9994	0.0016	938	4.0 (Portugal Center) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Cao et al. (2012)	Southern Han Chinese	13 SJS/TEN cases + 63 tolerant controls + 572 population controls	1	0.889	0.0142	1	0.0016	625	14.0 (Cao et al., 2012)
Chung et al. (2015)	Taiwan	26 SJS/TEN cases + 138 controls	0.923	0.826	0.0084	0.9999	0.0016	677	20.0 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Ng et al. (2016)	Taiwan	46 SJS/TEN cases + 285 controls	0.891	0.821	0.0079	0.9998	0.0016	701	20.0 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Sukasem et al. (2016)	Thailand	13 SJS-TEN cases + 100 tolerant controls + 1095 population controls	1	0.96	0.0385	1	0.0016	625	10.1 (Sukasem et al., 2016)
Tassaneeyakul et al. (2009)	Thailand	27 SJS/TEN cases + 54 controls	1	0.870	0.0122	1	0.0016	625	14.8 (Thailand) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Saksit et al. (2017)	Thailand	67 SJS/TEN cases + 182 controls	0.955	0.885	0.0131	0.9999	0.0016	654	14.8 (Thailand) (2020)

TABLE 6 | HLA-B\*5701 and flucloxacillin induced drug-induced liver injury (DILI).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence <sup>iii</sup>	NNG
Daly et al. (2009)	White European	51 DILI cases + 64 tolerant controls	0.843	0.938	0.0011	0.9999	0.000085	13953

However, only four studies for oxcarbazepine and hypersensitivity are identified. Three of these four studies were studying oxcarbazepine induced MPE and only one study investigated oxcarbazepine induced SJS/TEN (He et al., 2012; Lv et al., 2013; Moon et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2017). This may be due to the fact oxcarbazepine-induced SJS/TEN is less common than carbamazepine-induced SJS/TEN. Results of the study can be found in **Table 12**. The incidence used for calculations is 0.0826% (Chen et al., 2017; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020e).

Chen et al. investigated the association of HLA-B\*1502 and oxcarbazepine induced cutaneous adverse drug reactions including SJS/TEN in Taiwanese and Thai Han Chinese. However, because there were only three Thai cases and no tolerant controls, we do not report this data. Sensitivity for Taiwanese Han Chinese is 70.6% and specificity is 92.1%. The NNG for Taiwanese Han Chinese 1715.

### Lamotrigine

Lamotrigine is approved for epilepsy and for bipolar disorders. There is evidence HLA-B\*1502 is associated with lamotrigine induced SJS/TEN. The drug label of lamotrigine does give a warning about serious skin rashes including SJS usually occurring within 2–8 weeks of initiation of lamotrigine. The incidence is higher in pediatric patients than adults. Interestingly, HLA-B\*1502 is not mentioned in the drug label at all (GlaxoSmithKline, 2009).

We have identified nine articles about lamotrigine and hypersensitivity that meet our inclusion criteria. Of these only five articles report information about the association of HLA-B\*1502 and lamotrigine induced SJS/TEN, the other studies investigate other endpoints such as DRESS or MPE. The results of the studies investigating SJS/TEN can be found in **Table 13**.

The incidence of lamotrigine induced SJS/TEN is assumed to be 0.1% (Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020d).

The HLA-B\*1502 test shows low sensitivity (0%-33.3%) but high specificity (81.4%-100%) in various populations. the NNG is with 3,000–4,400 much higher than for carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine.

### Phenytoin

Phenytoin is an AED but is in some countries also approved as a class 1b antiarrhythmic. There is evidence HLA-B\*1502 is associated with phenytoin induced SJS/TEN as mentioned in the DPWG and CPIC guidelines (Caudle et al., 2014; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020f). Also the drug label mentions this association but states that the evidence is weak. The label mentions consideration should be given to avoid phenytoin as an alternative for carbamazepine in patients positive for HLA-B\*1502 (Pfizer, 2016).

We have identified 10 articles about phenytoin and hypersensitivity that meet our inclusion criteria. Of these 10 articles, eight articles report information about the association of HLA-B\*1502 and phenytoin induced SJS/TEN. The results of these studies can be found in **Table 14**.

The incidence of phenytoin induced SJS/TEN is assumed to be 0.24% in Asians and 0.069% in Caucasians (Fowler et al., 2019; Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie, 2020f).

The sensitivity of HLA-B\*1502 for phenytoin induced SJS/TEN in the included studies differs from 12.8% to 100%. Of note, the study of Locharernkul et al. (2008) reporting a sensitivity of 100% has only four SJS cases. The second highest sensitivity found is only 61.5%. The specificity is 77.5%–94.9% which is quite low compared

TABLE 7 | HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepine induced Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS)/toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Amstutz et al. (2013)	Canada	42 cases (9 SJS/TEN, 6 HSS, 26 MPE, 1 AGEP) + 92 controls	0.333	0.989	0.0014	0.99996	0.00005	60000	No data available of Canadians or North Americans of mixed ethnicity. (McCabe et al., 2020)
Wu et al. (2010)	Central China	36 cases (8 SJS/TEN + 28 MPE) + 50 tolerant controls + 71 population controls	1	0.92	0.0303	1	0.0025	400	8.5 (Wu et al., 2010)
He et al. (2013)	China Northeast Han Chinese	35 SJS/TEN cases + 125 controls	0.229	0.984	0.0346	0.9980	0.0025	1750	3.8 (China North Han) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Shi et al. (2012)	China Southern Han Chinese	18 SJS/TEN cases + 93 controls	0.722	0.886	0.0160	0.992	0.0025	554	13.7 (China South Han) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Shi et al. (2017)	China Southern Han Chinese	56 SJS/TEN cases + 180 controls	0.696	0.844	0.0110	0.9991	0.0025	574	13.7 (China South Han) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Cheung et al. (2013)	Hong Kong Han Chinese	26 SJS/TEN cases + 135 controls	0.923	0.881	0.0191	0.9998	0.0025	433	17.9 (Hong Kong Chinese BMDR) (McCabe et al., 2020
Khosama et al. (2017)	Indonesia	14 SJS/TEN cases + 53 controls	0.571	0.736	0.0054	0.9985	0.0025	700	22.9 (Indonesia Java Western) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Kim et al. (2011)	Korea	24 SCAR cases (7 SJS, 17 HSS) + 50 tolerant controls + 485 population controls	0.143	1	1	0.9979	0.0025	2800	0.4 (Kim et al., 2011)
Khor et al. (2017)	Malaysia	28 SJS/TEN cases + 227 controls	0.714	0.899	0.0174	0.9992	0.0025	560	
	Malaysia Chinese	6 cases + 106 controls	0.667	0.877	0.0134	0.9990	0.0025	600	11.3 (Malaysia Peninsular Chinese) (McCabe et al., 202
	Malaysia Indian	6 cases + 57 controls	0.333	0.965	0.0233	0.9983	0.0025	1200	5.2. (Malaysia Peninsular Indian) (McCabe et al., 2020)
	Malaysia Malaysian	16 cases + 64 controls	0.875	0.875	0.0172	0.9996	0.0025	457	22.3 (Malaysia Peninsular Malay) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Wang et al. (2011)	Southern Han Chinese	48 cases (9 SJS/TEN, 39 MPE) + 80 tolerant controls + 62 population controls	1	0.863	0.0179	1	0.0025	400	17.7 (Wang et al., 2011)
Chung et al. (2004)	Taiwan Han Chinese	44 SJS cases + 101 tolerant controls + 93 population controls	1	0.970	0.0781	1	0.0025	400	8.6 (Chung et al., 2004)
Hsiao et al. (2014)	Taiwan Han Chinese	194 cases (51 MPE, 112 SJS/TEN, 8 other) + 152 controls	0.884	0.928	0.0297	0.9997	0.0025	453	8.8 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Kulkantrakorn et al. (2012)	Thailand	34 SJS/TEN cases + 40 controls	0.941	0.825	0.0133	0.9998	0.0025	425	16.1 (Thailand Northeast pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Locharernkul et al. (2008)	Thailand	15 cases (6 SJS, 9 MPE) + 42 controls	1	0.810	0.0130	1	0.0025	400	16.1 (Thailand Northeast pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Sukasem et al. (2018)	Thailand	38 cases (17 MPE, 16 SJS/TEN, 5 DRESS) + 271 tolerant controls + 470 population controls	0.75	0.959	0.0443	0.993	0.0025	533	15.1 (Sukasem et al., 2018)
Tassaneeyakul et al. (2010)	Thailand	42 SJS/TEN cases and 42 controls	0.881	0.881	0.0182	0.9997	0.0025	454	16.1 (Thailand Northeast pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Nguyen et al. (2015)	Vietnam	38 cases (20 SJS, 7 TEN, 8 SJS-TEN, 3 DRESS) + 25 controls	0.914	0.760	0.0095	0.997	0.0025	438	25,2 (Vietnam Hanoi Kinh pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Genin et al. (2014)	European	20 SJS/TEN cases, 10 DRESS cases + 43 tolerant controls from other study + 8862 population controls	0	1	-	1	0.00005	-	0.05 (Genin et al., 2014)
Genin et al. (2014)	Chinese from Taiwan	53 SJS/TEN cases, 10 DRESS cases + 72 tolerant controls + 710 population controls	0.774	0.44	0.033	0.994	0.0025	517	8.5 (Genin et al., 2014)

TABLE 8 | HLA-B\*1511 and carbamazepine induced Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS)/toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Kim et al. (2011)	Korea	24 SCAR cases (7 SJS, 17 HSS) + 50 tolerant controls + 485 population controls	0.429	0.96	0.0262	0.9985	0.0025	933	3.9 (Kim et al., 2011)
Shi et al. (2012)	China Southern Han Chinese	56 SJS/TEN cases + 180 controls	0.071	0.843	0.0011	0.9972	0.0025	5600	0.4 (China South Han) (McCabe et al., 2020)

TABLE 9 | HLA-A\*3101 and carbamazine induced Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS)/toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Amstutz et al. (2013)	Canada	42 cases (9 SJS/TEN, 6 HSS, 26 MPE, 1 AGEP) + 92 controls	0	0.967	0	0.9999	0.00005	_	No data available of Canadians or North Americans of mixed ethnicity.
Hsiao et al. (2014)	Han Chinese from Taiwan	194 cases (51 MPE, 112 SJS/TEN, 8 other) + 152 controls (investigates associations)	0.018	0.967	0.0014	0.9974	0.0025	22400	5.5 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Ozeki et al. (2011)	Japan	77 cADR cases (36 DIHS, 6 SJS/TEN, 35 other) + 420 controls	0.833	0.871	0.0160	0.9995	0.0025	480	16.1 (Japan pop 16) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Kim et al. (2011)	Korea	24 SCAR cases (7 SJS, 17 HSS) + 50 tolerant controls + 485 population controls	0.429	0.86	0.0076	0.9983	0.0025	933	10.3 (Kim et al., 2011)
Khor et al. (2017)	Malaysia	28 SJS/TEN cases + 227 controls	0.107	0.947	0.0051	0.9976	0.0025	3733	
· /	Malaysia Chinese	6 cases + 106 controls	0	0.972	0	0.9974	0.0025	-	2.6 (Malaysia Peninsular Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
	Malaysia Indian	6 cases + 57 controls	0.500	0.912	0.0141	0.9986	0.0025	800	4.1 (Malaysia Peninsular Indian) (McCabe et al., 2020)
	Malaysia Malaysian	16 cases + 64 controls	0	0.938	0	0.9973	0.0025	-	0.8 (Malaysia Peninsular Malay) (McCabe et al., 2020)
lhtisham et al. (2019)	North India	35 cases (27 MPE/6 SJS- TEN/2 DRESS) +70 controls	0	0.957	0	0.9974	0.0025	-	3.8 (India North pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Genin et al. (2014)	European	20 SJS/TEN cases, 10 DRESS cases + 257 tolerant controls + 8862 population controls	0.150	0.961	0.0002	0.99996	0.00005	133333	4.5 (Genin et al., 2014)
Genin et al. (2014)	Chinese from Taiwan	53 SJS/TEN cases, 10 DRESS cases + 72 tolerant controls + 710 population controls	0.019	0.958	0.0011	0,9974	0.0025	21200	3.7 (Genin et al., 2014)

to the other drug-gene interactions in this review. The PPV is low (0.2%-1.4%) meaning false positives are common. The NNG to prevent one case of phenytoin induced SJS/TEN is 417–3,250.

## DISCUSSION

In this review we provide a systematic overview of the diagnostic test criteria for HLA- genotyping to prevent drug hypersensitivity reactions. We have focused on the seven drugs for which actionable CPIC and/or DPWG guidelines are available. In general, specificity of all included HLA tests for drug hypersensitivity is high (80%–100%). Sensitivity shows a larger variability ranging from 100%

for HLA-B\*5701 testing and immunologically confirmed ABC-HSR to less than 30% for HLA-B\*5701 testing and lamotrigine induced SJS/TEN. For allopurinol induced SCAR and HLA-B\*5801 and flucloxacillin induced DILI and HLA-B\*5701 sensitivity is high. For the other drugs and associated HLA variants, a wide range of sensitivities are found. Due to the rarity of some of the included hypersensitivity reactions, the NNG is very high for some drugs, especially for flucloxacillin and lamotrigine. Taking into consideration the low NNG of around 40 in combination with the severity of the side effect, it may not be surprising that HLA-B\*1502 testing is mandatory for abacavir. Pre-emptively testing HLA-B\*1502 for Asian carbamazepine initiators and HLA-B\*5801 for high-risk allopurinol initiators could also be worthwhile.

#### TABLE 10 | HLA-B\*3101 and carbamazepine induced drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Amstutz et al. (2013)	Canada	42 cases (9 SJS/TEN, 6 HSS, 26 MPE, 1 AGEP) + 92 controls	0.5	0.967	0.0075	0.9997	0.0005	4000	No data available of Canadians or North Americans of mixed ethnicity.
Genin et al. (2014)	Chinese from Taiwan	53 SJS/TEN cases, 10 DRESS cases + 72 tolerant controls + 710 population controls	0.5	0.958	0.0060	0.9997	0.0005	4000	3.7 (Genin et al., 2014)
Genin et al. (2014)	European	20 SJS/TEN cases, 10 DRESS cases + 257 tolerant controls from other study + 8,862 population controls	0.7	0.961	0,0089	0.9998	0.0005	2857	4.5 (Genin et al., 2014)
Hsiao et al. (2014)	Han Chinese from Taiwan	194 cases (51 MPE, 112 SJS/TEN, 8 other) + 152 controls	0.304	0.967	0.0046	0.9996	0.0005	6571	5.5 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Ozeki et al. (2011)	Japan	77 cADR cases (36 DIHS, 6 SJS/TEN, 35 other) + 420 controls	0.583	0.871	0.0023	0.9998	0.0005	3429	16.1 (Japan pop 16) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Kim et al. (2011)	Korea	24 SCAR cases (7 SJS, 17 HSS) + 50 tolerant controls + 485 population controls	0.588	0.86	0.0021	0.0098	0.0005	3400	10.3 (Kim et al., 2011)
ltisham et al. (2019)	North India	35 cases (27 MPE/6 SJS-TEN/2 DRESS) +70 controls	0	0.957	0	0.9995	0.0005	-	3.8 (India North pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)

#### TABLE 11 | HLA-B\*3101 and carbamazepine induced maculopapular exanthema (MPE).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Amstutz et al. (2013)	Canada with diverse ethnic background	42 cases (9 SJS/TEN, 6 HSS, 26 MPE, 1 AGEP) + 92 controls	0.231	0.967	0.438	0.919	0.1	43	No data available of Canadians or North Americans of mixed ethnicity.
Li et al. (2013)	China Han Chinese	40 MPE cases + 52 controls + 72 population controls (allele frequency instead of carrier frequency)	0.013	0.990	0.056	0.956	0.044	1818	3.0 (China Sichuan HIV negative (McCabe et al., 2020)
McCormack et al. (2018)	European descended	95 MPE cases + 869 controls	0.168	0.969	0.376	0.913	0.1	59	4.6 (Poland BMR) (McCabe et al., 2020)
McCormack et al. (2018)	Han Chinese descended	85 MPE cases + 197 controls	0.043	0.940	0.032	0.955	0.044	523	12.2 (China Han HIV negative) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Hsiao et al. (2014)	Han Chinese from Taiwan	194 cases (51 MPE, 112 SJS/TEN, 8 other) + 152 controls (investigates associations)	0.137	0.967	0.161	0.961	0.044	166	5.5 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)
ltisham et al. (2019)	North India	35 cases (27 MPE/6 SJS-TEN/2 DRESS) +70 controls	0.222	0.957	0.193	0.964	0.044	102	<b>3.8 (India North pop 2) (</b> McCabe et al., 2020)

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence <sup>i,iii</sup>	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Chen et al. (2017)	Taiwan Han Chinese	50 cADR cases (20 SJS- TEN, 6 DRESS, 22 MPE, 2 BDFE) + 101 controls	0.706	0.921	0.0073	0.9997	0.000826	1715	8.8 (Taiwan Han Chinese) (McCabe et al., 2020)

TABLE 12 | HLA-B\*1502 and oxcarbazepine induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome (SJS)/toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN)

To our knowledge, this is the first overview of the diagnostic test criteria of drug-HLA interactions for the actionable CPIC and/or DPWG guidelines. A review by Mullan et al. (2019) provides diagnostic test criteria but is limited to four AEDs. A strength of our study is that we calculated the diagnostic test criteria using the original data of genotyping results in cases and controls instead of only reporting diagnostic criteria if they were reported in the original studies. Also, some of the original studies did not take into account the incidence of the endpoint in the general population for calculating the NPV and PPV when this correction should be performed in case of a case-control design (Steinberg et al., 2009; Tonk et al., 2017).

A limitation of the available data is that most of the included studies have a limited sample size with mostly positive results, indicating a high likelihood of publication bias. Therefore presented results may be inflated and true effects may be lower than reported in this review. We included original studies which did not find a significant association of the variant but appeared significant in meta-analyses. This was particularly the case for lamotrigine where none of the selected original studies show a significant association of HLA-B\*1502 and lamotrigine-induced SJS/TEN. However, in two meta-analyses, a significant association has been shown (Zeng et al., 2015; Deng et al., 2018). It must be noted however that also in these meta-analyses, the total number of patients was still low. The first meta-analysis had only 12 cases and 128 controls where the other meta-analysis had 54 cases and 313 controls. Besides the sample size of the studies, the number of studies found may also be a limitation. For flucloxacillin and oxcarbazepine results from only one study are available. Nevertheless, CPIC and/or DWPG released actionable guidelines for these gene-drug interactions and therefore the studies are included in this review. To better estimate the sensitivity, specificity, NPV, PPV and NNG, more and larger studies are warranted.

It should be noted that in the studies investigating HLA genedrug interactions the studied endpoint is often a clinically diagnosed endpoint and the criteria of these endpoints may differ between studies. For example, the symptoms of ABC-HSR are nonspecific and may be difficult to objectify. In a study by Martin et al. (2004) data of some of the patients of the study by Mallal et al. (2002) are re-analyzed with stricter criteria for abacavir hypersensitivity. As a result Martin et al. reports a higher sensitivity of 94.7% instead of 77.8% in the original study. Also the difference of sensitivity between clinically diagnosed and immunologically diagnosed abacavir hypersensitivity further confirms the challenges related to the use of a clinical diagnosis as endpoint. Obviously, this has major influence on the estimated parameters such as sensitivity and specificity. When ABC-HSR is immunologically confirmed the sensitivity is 100%, however when clinically diagnosed, the sensitivity is much lower: 31%-90%. Also with conditions such as DRESS and SJS/TEN, the clinically diagnosed endpoint may differ

between studies resulting in both over- or underestimation. The fact that clinically diagnosing hypersensitivity reactions is difficult is also exemplified by lamotrigine induced SJS. The drug label of lamotrigine states when 14 cases of serious rash associated with hospitalization were reviewed by three expert dermatologists, one dermatologist considered 7 of the 14 cases as SJS, while another dermatologist considered none of the cases to be SJS (GlaxoSmithKline, 2009). In many studies, SCAR is considered to be one endpoint even though it is a composite endpoint combining DRESS and SJS/TEN which are potentially related to two different biomarkers. Because of this, incidence rates of the separate conditions were sometimes hard to find. In this review we report numbers for allopurinol induced-SCAR but we also looked at DRESS and SJS/TEN separately. Sensitivity is high for both SJS/ TEN and DRESS suggesting HLA-B\*5801 is an appropriate biomarker for both endpoints.

For our analysis to calculate NPV, PPV and NNG for casecontrol studies, data on the incidence of the hypersensitivity reaction is needed. The incidence of drug hypersensitivity differs greatly between populations which can be explained by the differences in allele carrier frequencies. For example, the carrier frequency of HLA-B\*5801 in the Portuguese population is approximately 4% while this is lower in most other European populations. In an Irish population and a German population for instance the carrier frequency of HLA-B\*5801 is only 1%. Also in a Spanish population, geographically close to Portugal, the carrier frequency is already lower with 2.2%. This exemplifies that diagnostic test criteria should not be extrapolated. Since incidences of ADRs in specific populations are sometimes unknown, the best we could do is to assume these incidence figures from the general population. This assumption may influence the calculated NPV, PPV and NNG with the highest potential impact on the latter. The effect on the NPV and PPV will probably be low since NPV is already close to 1 and PPV close to 0. In these cases, we have made a best estimate based on results of incidence rates in similar populations. We used a systematic three-step approach. First, if available, we used the incidence mentioned in the original article. Next, we would take the incidence from the DPWG or CPIC guideline. Lastly, if no incidence or only a wide range was described in the guidelines, we used the incidence from a similar population derived from an original article. Therefore, we believe our study uses the most accurate incidence figures available for calculating NPV, PPV, and NNG.

Theoretically, in case of rare ADRs such as investigated here, population controls could be an alternative for the methodologically preferred tolerant controls. However, our search revealed the availability of tolerant controls for most gene-drug pairs and therefore we consistently chose using tolerant controls as to avoid confounding since mostly it is unknown if the ADR is also associated with disease susceptibility.

TABLE 13   HLA-B*1502 and lamotrigine induced Stevens-Jol	hnson syndrome (SJS)/toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN).
---	--

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence <sup>i</sup>	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Kazeem et al. (2009)	European	22 cases (10 SJS, 12 HSR) + 43 controls	0	1	-	0.9990	0.001	-	0.0 (Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Germany, Ireland Northern, Netherlands, Poland DKMS) (McCabe et al., 2020)
An et al. (2010)	Han Chinese	25 cases (3 SJS/TEN, 22 MPE) + 21 tolerant controls + 71 population controls	0.333	0.952	0.0070	0.9993	0.001	3000	8.5 (Koomdee et al., 2017)
Shi et al. (2011)	Han Chinese	14 cADR cases (2 SJS/TEN + 12 MPE) + 28 tolerant controls + 264 population controls	0	0.931	0	0.9989	0.001	-	14.1 (Shi et al., 2011)
Shi et al. (2017)	Southern Han Chinese	22 SJS cases + 102 controls	0.227	0.814	0.0012	0.9991	0.001	4400	13.7 (China South Han) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Koomdee et al. (2017)	Thailand	15 cADR cases (4 SJS, 1 dress, 10 MPE) + 50 tolerant controls + 986 population controls	0.25	0.88	0.0021	0.9991	0.001	4000	15.5 (Koomdee et al., 2017)

Frontiers in Pharmacology | www.frontiersin.org

#### TABLE 14 | HLA-B\*1502 and phenytoin induced Stevens–Johnson syndrome (SJS)/toxic epidermal necrolysis (TEN).

Article	Population	Description	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	Incidence	NNG	Frequency carriers in population (%)
Chang et al. (2017)	Malaysia	16 SCAR cases (13 SJS/TEN, 3 DRESS) + 32 tolerant controls + 300 population controls	0.615	0.781	0.0067	0.9988	0.0024	677	15.7 (Chang et al., 2017)
Cheung et al. (2013)	Hong Kong Han Chinese	15 SJS/TEN cases + 75 controls	0.467	0.8	0.0056	0.9984	0.0024	893	17.9 (Hong Kong Chinese BMDR) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Hung et al. (2010)	Taiwan Han Chinese	26 SJS/TEN cases + 113 tolerant controls + 93 population controls	0.308	0.920	0.0092	0.9982	0.0024	1354	7.5 (Hung et al., 2010)
Locharernkul et al. (2008)	Thailand	16 SJS or MPE cases (4 SJS, 12 MPE) + 45 controls	1	0.822	0.0134	1	0.0024	417	16.1 (Thailand Northeast pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Shi et al. (2017)	China, Southern Han Chinese	13 SJS/TEN cases + 40 controls	0.462	0.775	0.0049	0.9983	0.0024	903	13.7 (China South Han) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Su et al. (2019)	Taiwan	128 SCAR (65 SJS/TEN, 63 DRESS) cases + 107 MPE cases + 376 controls	0.308	0.949	0.0144	0.9982	0.0024	1354	10.1 (Taiwan pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Tassaneeyakul et al. (2016)	Thailand	60 cases (39 SJS/TEN + 21 DRESS)+ 92 controls	0.128	0.859	0.0022	0.9976	0.0024	3250	16.1 (Thailand Northeast pop 2) (McCabe et al., 2020)
Yampayon et al. (2017)	Thailand	36 cases (15 SJS + 21 DRESS) + 100 tolerant controls + 758 population controls	0.333	0.820	0.0044	0.9980	0.0024	1250	14.2

For a predictive HLA test to be implemented for pre-emptive testing, the NNG should be low, the clinical endpoint to be prevented should be of high severity and/or mortality and alternative treatments are available. The posterchild example of HLA testing is pre-emptive HLA-B\*5701 testing for abacavir. The HLA-B\*5701 test has a low NNG (~40). Besides, due to the high incidence of ABC-HSR, the test has a relatively high PPV of about 50%. Therefore when testing positive, there is a 50% chance the patient will develop abacavir hypersensitivity. The first symptoms of ABC-HSR are relatively mild composing of rash, fever, gastrointestinal disturbances and non-specific complaints as malaise, dizziness and headache. However, re-exposure is potentially fatal. Among patients who received abacavir in clinical trials, the mortality rate was 0.03 percent while the mortality among patients experiencing hypersensitivity symptoms after a rechallenge was around 5% (Hetherington et al., 2001). Also the mandatory testing as mentioned in the abacavir drug label has greatly stimulated HLA-B\*5701 testing.

By pre-emptively testing patients who are at increased risk of developing hypersensitivity, a lower NNG can be reached. Therefore, based on our results we recommend to consider preemptively testing HLA-B\*5801 in high risk allopurinol initiators and HLA-B\*1502 in Asian carbamazepine initiators. The NNG for HLA-B\*5801 and allopurinol induced SCAR is relatively low, approximately 500. However, due to the rarity of SCAR, the PPV is low. Therefore, allopurinol should only be withheld after a positive test result when alternative drugs for treatment are available. The NNG can be reduced 5-10 folds when testing only high risk patients such as patients with chronic renal insufficiency. Two studies find an incidence of allopurinol induced SCAR of 1%-2% in patients with chronic renal insufficiency, which is 5-10 times higher than the incidence in the overall allopurinol initiators (Jung et al., 2011; Park et al., 2019). By pre-emptively testing only patients with chronic renal insufficiency who are at higher risk of developing SCAR, the NNG would decrease to 50-100 patients.

For Asian carbamazepine initiators we consider the NNG of 500 to be low enough for pre-emptively testing. In this situation, the availability of alternative drugs for treatment is of major importance. When a patient is HLA-\*1502 positive, the CPIC and/or DPWG recommendations advise to avoid the use of carbamazepine and to also avoid lamotrigine, phenytoin and oxcarbazepine when possible. Due to the rarity of the outcome, the positive predictive value is lower than 1% for HLA-B\*1502 and SJS/TEN so false positives are common. This means for every 100 patients who switch to another AED, only one case of SJS/TEN is prevented while the alternative therapy may be suboptimal for the particular patient. The NNG can be lower than 500 when testing only in patients who are at higher risk such as patients with an Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection. Patients with HIV infection have been reported to have a 100-fold higher risk of SJS/TEN than the general population. Also patients with active malignancy have an increased risk of SJS/TEN (High, 2020).

The aim of our review is to give an overview of diagnostic test criteria and this may help clinicians to decide which HLA tests could be implemented. The DPWG introduced the clinical implication score to assist this decision (Swen et al., 2018). The clinical implication score takes into account the clinical effect of the drug-gene interaction, the level of evidence, the NNG and pharmacogenetics information included in the drug label. Druggene pairs can be scored as essential, beneficial and potentially beneficial. When scored as essential, the DPWG concludes genotyping must be performed before initiation of drug therapy. For beneficial drug-gene interactions the DPWG recommends genotyping the patients before or directly after initiation of drug therapy. When scored as potentially beneficial, the DPWG states genotyping should be considered on an individual patient basis, but when genetic information is available, they recommend adhering to the guideline. The DPWG considers HLA-B\*5701 testing essential for abacavir. HLA-B\*1502 testing for oxcarbazepine and lamotrigine were scored to be beneficial. Other HLA-drug interactions have not yet been given a clinical implication score.

In this review we provide a systematic overview of the diagnostic test criteria for actionable drug-HLA gene interactions. In general, specificity and NPV of the HLA tests to predict drug hypersensitivity reactions are high whereas sensitivity shows a wide range across the different tests, ranging from 0-33% for HLA-B\*1502 testing to predict lamotrigine induced SJS/TEN up to 100% for HLA-B\*5701 to predict immunologically confirmed ABC-HSR. PPV is low for all tests where HLA-B\*5701 testing for abacavir has the highest PPV of approximately 50%. The NNG is low for HLA-B testing for flucloxacillin and lamotrigine. HLA-B\*5701 testing to predict ABC-HSR shows the lowest NNG followed by HLA-B\*5801 for allopurinol induced SCAR and HLA-B\*1502 for carbamazepine induced SJS/TEN.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LM performed the literature review and systemic analysis and contributed to writing the manuscript. JS and H-JG contributed to writing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

The research leading to these results has received funding from the European Community's Horizon 2020 Programme under grant agreement No. 668353 (U-PGx).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the assistance for the search terms given by Jan Schoones of the Walaeus library (LUMC).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020.567048/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- Agbaji, O. O., Akanbi, M. O., Otoh, I., Agaba, P. E., Akinsola, R., Okolie, V., et al. (2019). Absence of human leukocyte antigen-B\*57:01 amongst patients on antiretroviral therapy in Nigeria: Implications for use of abacavir. *Nigerian Postgrad. Med. J.* 26 (4), 195–198. doi: 10.4103/npmj.npmj\_75\_19
- Alvestad, S., Lydersen, S., and Brodtkorb, E. (2008). Cross-reactivity pattern of rash from current aromatic antiepileptic drugs. *Epilepsy Res.* 80 (2-3), 194–200. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2008.04.003
- Amstutz, U., Ross, C. J., Castro-Pastrana, L. I., Rieder, M. J., Shear, N. H., Hayden, M. R., et al. (2013). HLA-A 31:01 and HLA-B 15:02 as genetic markers for carbamazepine hypersensitivity in children. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 94 (1), 142– 149. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2013.55
- An, D. M., Wu, X. T., Hu, F. Y., Yan, B., Stefan, H., and Zhou, D. (2010). Association study of lamotrigine-induced cutaneous adverse reactions and HLA-B\*1502 in a Han Chinese population. *Epilepsy Res.* 92 (2-3), 226–230. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2010.10.006
- Aurobindo Pharma, B. V. (2019). Floxapen, poeder voor orale suspensie 125 mg / 5 ml. (Baarn, Netherlands).
- Berka, N., Gill, J. M., Liacini, A., O'Bryan, T., and Khan, F. M. (2012). Human leukocyte antigen (HLA) and pharmacogenetics: screening for HLA-B\*57:01 among human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients from southern Alberta. *Hum. Immunol.* 73 (2), 164–167. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2011.12.002
- Bloch, K. M., Sills, G. J., Pirmohamed, M., and Alfirevic, A. (2014). Pharmacogenetics of antiepileptic drug-induced hypersensitivity. *Pharmacogenomics* 15 (6), 857-868. doi: 10.2217/pgs.14.65
- Brothers C, W. P., Sutherland-Phillips, D., and Hernandez, J. (2006) Lower reported rate of suspected hypersensitivity reaction (HSR) to abacavir (ABC) among black patients [abstract H-1065]. In Program and abstracts of the 46th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. (San Francisco).
- Cacoub, P., Musette, P., Descamps, V., Meyer, O., Speirs, C., Finzi, L., et al. (2011). The DRESS syndrome: a literature review. Am. J. Med. 124 (7), 588–597. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.01.017
- Cao, Z. H., Wei, Z. Y., Zhu, Q. Y., Zhang, J. Y., Yang, L., Qin, S. Y., et al. (2012).
  HLA-B\*58:01 allele is associated with augmented risk for both mild and severe cutaneous adverse reactions induced by allopurinol in Han Chinese. *Pharmacogenomics* 13 (10), 1193–1201. doi: 10.2217/pgs.12.89
- Caudle, K. E., Rettie, A. E., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Smith, L. H., Mintzer, S., Lee, M. T., et al. (2014). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation consortium guidelines for CYP2C9 and HLA-B genotypes and phenytoin dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 96 (5), 542–548. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2014.159
- Chang, C. C., Ng, C. C., Too, C. L., Choon, S. E., Lee, C. K., Chung, W. H., et al. (2017). Association of HLA-B\*15:13 and HLA-B\*15:02 with phenytoininduced severe cutaneous adverse reactions in a Malay population. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 17 (2), 170–173. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2016.10
- Chen, Y. C., Chiu, H. C., and Chu, C. Y. (2010). Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms: a retrospective study of 60 cases. *Arch. Dermatol.* 146 (12), 1373–1379. doi: 10.1001/archdermatol.2010.198
- Chen, Z., Zhang, S., Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Xue, L., and Miao, L. (2015). Rs9263726 is a specific genetic marker for allopurinol-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions in Chinese patients. *Personalized Med.* 12 (6), 585–592. doi: 10.2217/ pme.15.38
- Chen, C. B., Hsiao, Y. H., Wu, T., Hsih, M. S., Tassaneeyakul, W., Jorns, T. P., et al. (2017). Risk and association of HLA with oxcarbazepine-induced cutaneous adverse reactions in Asians. *Neurology* 88 (1), 78–86. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000003453
- Cheng, L., Xiong, Y., Qin, C. Z., Zhang, W., Chen, X. P., Li, J., et al. (2015). HLA-B\*58:01 is strongly associated with allopurinol-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions in Han Chinese patients: a multicentre retrospective casecontrol clinical study. Br. J. Dermatol. 173 (2), 555–558. doi: 10.1111/bjd.13688
- Cheung, Y. K., Cheng, S. H., Chan, E. J., Lo, S. V., Ng, M. H., and Kwan, P. (2013). HLA-B alleles associated with severe cutaneous reactions to antiepileptic drugs in Han Chinese. *Epilepsia* 54 (7), 1307–1314. doi: 10.1111/epi.12217
- Chiu, M. L., Hu, M., Ng, M. H., Yeung, C. K., Chan, J. C., Chang, M. M., et al. (2012). Association between HLA-B\*58:01 allele and severe cutaneous adverse reactions with allopurinol in Han Chinese in Hong Kong. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 167 (1), 44–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.10894.x

- Chong, H. Y., Lim, Y. H., Prawjaeng, J., Tassaneeyakul, W., Mohamed, Z., and Chaiyakunapruk, N. (2018). Cost-effectiveness analysis of HLA-B\*58: 01 genetic testing before initiation of allopurinol therapy to prevent allopurinolinduced Stevens-Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrolysis in a Malaysian population. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 28 (2), 56–67. doi: 10.1097/ fpc.000000000000319
- Chung, W. H., Hung, S. I., Hong, H. S., Hsih, M. S., Yang, L. C., Ho, H. C., et al. (2004). Medical genetics: a marker for Stevens-Johnson syndrome. *Nature* 428 (6982), 486. doi: 10.1038/428486a
- Chung, W. H., Chang, W. C., Stocker, S. L., Juo, C. G., Graham, G. G., Lee, M. H., et al. (2015). Insights into the poor prognosis of allopurinol-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions: the impact of renal insufficiency, high plasma levels of oxypurinol and granulysin. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 74 (12), 2157–2164. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205577
- Daly, A. K., Donaldson, P. T., Bhatnagar, P., Shen, Y., Pe'er, I., Floratos, A., et al. (2009). HLA-B\*5701 genotype is a major determinant of drug-induced liver injury due to flucloxacillin. *Nat. Genet.* 41 (7), 816–819. doi: 10.1038/ng.379
- Deng, Y. L., Li, S. P., Zhang, L., Jin, H., and Zou, X. Y. (2018). Association between HLA alleles and lamotrigine-induced cutaneous adverse drug reactions in Asian populations: A meta-analysis. *Seizure-European J. Epilepsy* 60, 163–171. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2018.06.024
- Elizabeth, J., and Phillips, S. A. M. (2020). "Abacavir hypersensitivity reaction," in *UpToDate*. Ed. T. W. Post (Waltham, MA: UpToDate).
- Fowler, T., Bansal, A. S., and Lozsadi, D. (2019). Risks and management of antiepileptic drug induced skin reactions in the adult out-patient setting. *Seizure* 72, 61–70. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2019.07.003
- Genin, E., Chen, D. P., Hung, S. I., Sekula, P., Schumacher, M., Chang, P. Y., et al. (2014). HLA-A\*31:01 and different types of carbamazepine-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions: an international study and meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 14 (3), 281–288. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2013.40
- GlaxoSmithKline. (2009). Lamictal (lamotrigine): full prescribing information (GlaxoSmithKline).
- Goncalo, M., Coutinho, I., Teixeira, V., Gameiro, A. R., Brites, M. M., Nunes, R., et al. (2013). HLA-B\*58:01 is a risk factor for allopurinol-induced DRESS and Stevens-Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrolysis in a Portuguese population. Br. J. Dermatol. 169 (3), 660–665. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12389
- He, N., Min, F. L., Shi, Y. W., Guo, J., Liu, X. R., Li, B. M., et al. (2012). Cutaneous reactions induced by oxcarbazepine in Southern Han Chinese: incidence, features, risk factors and relation to HLA-B alleles. *Seizure* 21 (8), 614–618. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2012.06.014
- He, X. J., Jian, L. Y., He, X. L., Wu, Y., Xu, Y. Y., Sun, X. J., et al. (2013). Association between the HLA-B\*15:02 allele and carbamazepine-induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrolysis in Han individuals of northeastern China. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 65 (5), 1256–1262. doi: 10.1016/S1734-1140(13)71483-X
- Hershfield, M. S., Callaghan, J. T., Tassaneeyakul, W., Mushiroda, T., Thorn, C. F., Klein, T. E., et al. (2013). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium guidelines for human leukocyte antigen-B genotype and allopurinol dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 93 (2), 153–158. doi: 10.1038/ clpt.2012.209
- Hetherington, S., McGuirk, S., Powell, G., Cutrell, A., Naderer, O., Spreen, B., et al. (2001). Hypersensitivity reactions during therapy with the nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor abacavir. *Clin. Ther.* 23 (10), 1603–1614. doi: 10.1016/ S0149-2918(01)80132-6
- Hetherington, S., Hughes, A. R., Mosteller, M., Shortino, D., Baker, K. L., Spreen, W., et al. (2002). Genetic variations in HLA-B region and hypersensitivity reactions to abacavir. *Lancet (London England)* 359 (9312), 1121–1122. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(02)08158-8
- High, W. A. (2020). "Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis: Pathogenesis, clinical manifestations, and diagnosis," in *UpToDate*. Ed. T. W. Post (Waltham, MA: UpToDate).
- Hsiao, Y. H., Hui, R. C., Wu, T., Chang, W. C., Hsih, M. S., Yang, C. H., et al. (2014). Genotype-phenotype association between HLA and carbamazepineinduced hypersensitivity reactions: strength and clinical correlations. *J. Dermatol. Sci.* 73 (2), 101–109. doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2013.10.003
- Hughes, D. A., Vilar, F. J., Ward, C. C., Alfirevic, A., Park, B. K., and Pirmohamed, M. (2004). Cost-effectiveness analysis of HLA B\*5701 genotyping in preventing abacavir hypersensitivity. *Pharmacogenetics* 14 (6), 335–342. doi: 10.1097/ 00008571-200406000-00002

- Hung, S. I., Chung, W. H., Liou, L. B., Chu, C. C., Lin, M., Huang, H. P., et al. (2005). HLA-B\*5801 allele as a genetic marker for severe cutaneous adverse reactions caused by allopurinol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102 (11), 4134– 4139. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409500102
- Hung, S. I., Chung, W. H., Liu, Z. S., Chen, C. H., Hsih, M. S., Hui, R. C., et al. (2010). Common risk allele in aromatic antiepileptic-drug induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis in Han Chinese. *Pharmacogenomics* 11 (3), 349–356. doi: 10.2217/pgs.09.162
- Ihtisham, K., Ramanujam, B., Srivastava, S., Mehra, N. K., Kaur, G., Khanna, N., et al. (2019). Association of cutaneous adverse drug reactions due to antiepileptic drugs with HLA alleles in a North Indian population. *Seizure* 66, 99–103. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2019.02.011
- Jung, J. W., Song, W. J., Kim, Y. S., Joo, K. W., Lee, K. W., Kim, S. H., et al. (2011). HLA-B58 can help the clinical decision on starting allopurinol in patients with chronic renal insufficiency. *Nephrol. Dial Transplant.* 26 (11), 3567–3572. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr060
- Kang, H. R., Jee, Y. K., Kim, Y. S., Lee, C. H., Jung, J. W., Kim, S. H., et al. (2011). Positive and negative associations of HLA class I alleles with allopurinolinduced SCARs in Koreans. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 21 (5), 303–307. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e32834282b8
- Kazeem, G. R., Cox, C., Aponte, J., Messenheimer, J., Brazell, C., Nelsen, A. C., et al. (2009). High-resolution HLA genotyping and severe cutaneous adverse reactions in lamotrigine-treated patients. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 19 (9), 661–665. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e32832c347d
- Ke, C. H., Chung, W. H., Tain, Y. L., Huang, Y. B., Wen, Y. H., Chuang, H. Y., et al. (2019). Utility of human leukocyte antigen-B\*58: 01 genotyping and patient outcomes. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 29 (1), 1–8. doi: 10.1097/FPC.000000000000359
- Khor, A. H., Lim, K. S., Tan, C. T., Kwan, Z., Tan, W. C., Wu, D. B., et al. (2017). HLA-A\*31: 01 and HLA-B\*15:02 association with Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis to carbamazepine in a multiethnic Malaysian population. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 27 (7), 275–278. doi: 10.1097/ FPC.000000000000287
- Khosama, H., Budikayanti, A., Khor, A. H. P., Lim, K. S., Ng, C. C., Mansyur, I. G., et al. (2017). HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepine induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome/toxic epidermal necrolysis in Indonesia. *Neurol. Asia* 22 (2), 113– 116. doi: 10.2217/pgs-2017-0103
- Kim, S. H., Lee, K. W., Song, W. J., Kim, S. H., Jee, Y. K., Lee, S. M., et al. (2011). Carbamazepine-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions and HLA genotypes in Koreans. *Epilepsy Res.* 97 (1-2), 190–197. doi: 10.1016/ j.eplepsyres.2011.08.010
- Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie (2020a). ABACAVIR HLA -B\*5701 2019. (KNMP). Available at: https://kennisbank. knmp.nl/article/farmacogenetica/2356.html.
- Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie (2020b). FLUCLOXACILLINE HLA -B\*5701 2017. (KNMP). Available at: https:// kennisbank.knmp.nl/article/farmacogenetica/4652.html, updated 2017, November 20.
- Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie (2020c). CARBAMAZEPINE HLA -B\*1502-A\*3101-B\*1511 2016. (KNMP). Available at: https://kennisbank.knmp.nl/article/farmacogenetica/6237-6238-6239.html, updated 2016, October 31.
- Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie (2020d). LAMOTRIGINE HLA -B\*1502 2018. (KNMP). Available at: https:// kennisbank.knmp.nl/article/farmacogenetica/6932.html, updated 2018, May 14.
- Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie (2020e). OXCARBAZEPINE HLA -B\*1502 2018. (KNMP). Available at: https:// kennisbank.knmp.nl/article/farmacogenetica/6931.html, updated 2018, May 14.
- Koninklijke Nederlandse Maatschappij ter bevordering der Pharmacie (2020f). *FENYTOINE HLA -B\*1502 2018.* (KNMP). Available at: https://kennisbank. knmp.nl/article/farmacogenetica/6927.html, updated 2018, May 14.
- Koomdee, N., Pratoomwun, J., Jantararoungtong, T., Theeramoke, V., Tassaneeyakul, W., Klaewsongkram, J., et al. (2017). Association of HLA-A and HLA-B Alleles with Lamotrigine-Induced Cutaneous Adverse Drug Reactions in the Thai Population. *Front. Pharmacol.* 8, 879. doi: 10.3389/ fphar.2017.00879

- Kulkantrakorn, K., Tassaneeyakul, W., Tiamkao, S., Jantararoungtong, T., Prabmechai, N., Vannaprasaht, S., et al. (2012). HLA-B\*1502 strongly predicts carbamazepine-induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis in Thai patients with neuropathic pain. *Pain Pract.* 12 (3), 202–208. doi: 10.1111/j.1533-2500.2011.00479.x
- Larson, A. M. (2020). "Drug-induced liver injury," in *UpToDate*. Ed. K. D. Lindor (Waltham, MA: UpToDate).
- Leckband, S. G., Kelsoe, J. R., Dunnenberger, H. M., George, A. L. Jr., Tran, E., Berger, R., et al. (2013). Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium guidelines for HLA-B genotype and carbamazepine dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 94 (3), 324–328. doi: 10.1038/clpt.2013.103
- Li, L. J., Hu, F. Y., Wu, X. T., An, D. M., Yan, B., and Zhou, D. (2013). Predictive markers for carbamazepine and lamotrigine-induced maculopapular exanthema in Han Chinese. *Epilepsy Res.* 106 (1-2), 296–300. doi: 10.1016/ j.eplepsyres.2013.05.004
- Limkobpaiboon, S., Panomvana Na Ayudhya, D., Dhana, N., and Jongjareanprasert, K. (2010). Prevalence and mortality rate of severe cutaneous adverse reactions at Siriraj hospital. *Chula Med. J.* 54, 467 –4 77.
- Lin, C. W., Huang, W. I., Chao, P. H., Chen, W. W., and Hsiao, F. Y. (2019). Risk of cutaneous adverse reactions associated with allopurinol or febuxostat in real-world patients: A nationwide study. *Int. J. Clin. Pract.* 73 (5), e13316. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13316
- Locharernkul, C., Loplumlert, J., Limotai, C., Korkij, W., Desudchit, T., Tongkobpetch, S., et al. (2008). Carbamazepine and phenytoin induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome is associated with HLA-B\*1502 allele in Thai population. *Epilepsia* 49 (12), 2087–2091. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01719.x
- Lv, Y. D., Min, F. L., Liao, W. P., He, N., Zeng, T., Ma, D. H., et al. (2013). The association between oxcarbazepine-induced maculopapular eruption and HLA-B alleles in a northern Han Chinese population. *BMC Neurol.* 13, 75. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-13-75
- Mahar, P. D., Wasiak, J., Hii, B., Cleland, H., Watters, D. A., Gin, D., et al. (2014). A systematic review of the management and outcome of toxic epidermal necrolysis treated in burns centres. *Burns J. Int. Soc. Burn Injuries* 40 (7), 1245–1254. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2014.02.006
- Mallal, S., Nolan, D., Witt, C., Masel, G., Martin, A. M., Moore, C., et al. (2002). Association between presence of HLA-B\*5701, HLA-DR7, and HLA-DQ3 and hypersensitivity to HIV-1 reverse-transcriptase inhibitor abacavir. *Lancet* (London England) 359 (9308), 727–732.
- Mallal, S., Phillips, E., Carosi, G., Molina, J. M., Workman, C., Tomazic, J., et al. (2008). HLA-B\*5701 screening for hypersensitivity to abacavir. *New Engl. J. Med.* 358 (6), 568–579. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0706135
- Martin, A. M., Nolan, D., Gaudieri, S., Almeida, C. A., Nolan, R., James, I., et al. (2004). Predisposition to abacavir hypersensitivity conferred by HLA-B\*5701 and a haplotypic Hsp70-Hom variant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. States America* 101 (12), 4180–4185. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0307067101
- McCabe, A., Santos, E. J., Jones, J., Takeshita, L. Y., Ortega-Rivera, N. D., Del Cid-Pavon, G. M., et al. (2020). Allele frequency net database (AFND) 2020 update: gold-standard data classification oagdanqtG-GF. *Nucleic Acid Res.* 48, D783– D788. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz1029
- McCormack, M., Gui, H., Ingason, A., Speed, D., Wright, G. E. B., Zhang, E. J., et al. (2018). Genetic variation in CFH predicts phenytoin-induced maculopapular exanthema in European-descent patients. *Neurology* 90 (4), e332–ee41. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000004853
- Min, H. K., Lee, B., Kwok, S. K., Ju, J. H., Kim, W. U., Park, Y. M., et al. (2015). Allopurinol hypersensitivity syndrome in patients with hematological malignancies: characteristics and clinical outcomes. *Korean J. Intern Med.* 30 (4), 521–530. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2015.30.4.521
- Mockenhaupt, M. The current understanding of Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 20117 (6), 803–813. quiz 14-5. doi: 10.1586/eci.11.66
- Mockenhaupt, M. (2020). "Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS)," in *UpToDate*. Ed. T. W. Post (Waltham, MA: UpToDate).
- Moon, J., Kim, T. J., Lim, J. A., Sunwoo, J. S., Byun, J. I., Lee, S. T., et al. (2016). HLA-B\*40:02 and DRB1\*04:03 are risk factors for oxcarbazepine-induced maculopapular eruption. *Epilepsia* 57 (11), 1879–1886. doi: 10.1111/epi.13566

- Mullan, K. A., Anderson, A., Illing, P. T., Kwan, P., Purcell, A. W., and Mifsud, N. A. (2019). HLA-associated antiepileptic drug-induced cutaneous adverse reactions. *Hla* 93 (6), 417–435. doi: 10.1111/tan.13530
- Ng, C. Y., Yeh, Y. T., Wang, C. W., Hung, S. I., Yang, C. H., Chang, Y. C., et al. (2016). Impact of the HLA-B(\*)58:01 Allele and Renal Impairment on Allopurinol-Induced Cutaneous Adverse Reactions. J. Invest. Dermatol. 136 (7), 1373–1381. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.02.808
- Nguyen, D. V., Chu, H. C., Nguyen, D. V., Phan, M. H., Craig, T., Baumgart, K., et al. (2015). HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepine-induced severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions in Vietnamese. *Asia Pac. Allergy* 5 (2), 68–77. doi: 10.5415/apallergy.2015.5.2.68
- Ozeki, T., Mushiroda, T., Yowang, A., Takahashi, A., Kubo, M., Shirakata, Y., et al. (2011). Genome-wide association study identifies HLA-A\*3101 allele as a genetic risk factor for carbamazepine-induced cutaneous adverse drug reactions in Japanese population. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20 (5), 1034–1041. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq537
- Park, H. W., Kim, D. K., Kim, S. H., Kim, S., Chae, D. W., Yang, M. S., et al. (2019). Efficacy of the HLA-B(\*)58:01 Screening Test in Preventing Allopurinol-Induced Severe Cutaneous Adverse Reactions in Patients with Chronic Renal Insufficiency-A Prospective Study. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. Pract. 7 (4), 1271– 1276. doi: 10.1016/j.jaip.2018.12.012
- Pfizer. (2016). DILANTIN-125<sup>®</sup> (phenytoin) oral suspension [package insert] (New York: Pfizer).
- Rauch, A., Nolan, D., Thurnheer, C., Fux, C. A., Cavassini, M., Chave, J. P., et al. (2008). Refining abacavir hypersensitivity diagnoses using a structured clinical assessment and genetic testing in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. *Antiviral Ther.* 13 (8), 1019–1028.
- Rodriguez-Novoa, S., Garcia-Gasco, P., Blanco, F., Gonzalez-Pardo, G., Castellares, C., Moreno, V., et al. (2007). Value of the HLA-B\*5701 allele to predict abacavir hypersensitivity in Spaniards. AIDS research and human retroviruses. 23 (11), 1374–1376. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2012.00868.x
- Russmann, S., Kaye, J. A., Jick, S. S., and Jick, H. (2005). Risk of cholestatic liver disease associated with flucloxacillin and flucloxacillin prescribing habits in the UK: cohort study using data from the UK General Practice Research Database. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 60 (1), 76–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02370.x
- Saag, M., Balu, R., Phillips, E., Brachman, P., Martorell, C., Burman, W., et al. (2008). High sensitivity of human leukocyte antigen-b\*5701 as a marker for immunologically confirmed abacavir hypersensitivity in white and black patients. *Clin. Infect. Dis. Off. Publ. Infect. Dis. Soc. America* 46 (7), 1111– 1118. doi: 10.1086/529382
- Saksit, N., Tassaneeyakul, W., Nakkam, N., Konyoung, P., Khunarkornsiri, U., Chumworathayi, P., et al. (2017). Risk factors of allopurinol-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions in a Thai population. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 27 (7), 255–263. doi: 10.1097/FPC.00000000000285
- Saokaew, S., Tassaneeyakul, W., Maenthaisong, R., and Chaiyakunapruk, N. (2014). Cost-effectiveness analysis of HLA-B\*5801 testing in preventing allopurinol-induced SJS/TEN in Thai population. *PloS One* 9 (4), e94294. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094294
- Sekula, P., Dunant, A., Mockenhaupt, M., Naldi, L., Bouwes Bavinck, J. N., Halevy, S., et al. (2013). Comprehensive survival analysis of a cohort of patients with Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 133 (5), 1197–1204. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.510
- Shi, Y. W., Min, F. L., Liu, X. R., Zan, L. X., Gao, M. M., Yu, M. J., et al. (2011). Hla-B alleles and lamotrigine-induced cutaneous adverse drug reactions in the Han Chinese population. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 109 (1), 42–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2011.00681.x
- Shi, Y. W., Min, F. L., Qin, B., Zou, X., Liu, X. R., Gao, M. M., et al. (2012). Association between HLA and Stevens-Johnson syndrome induced by carbamazepine in Southern Han Chinese: genetic markers besides B\*1502? *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 111 (1), 58–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-7843.2012.00868.x
- Shi, Y. W., Min, F. L., Zhou, D., Qin, B., Wang, J., Hu, F. Y., et al. (2017). HLA-A\*24:02 as a common risk factor for antiepileptic drug-induced cutaneous adverse reactions. *Neurology* 88 (23), 2183–2191. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000 00004008
- Stainsby, C. M., Perger, T. M., Vannappagari, V., Mounzer, K. C., Hsu, R. K., Henegar, C. E., et al. (2019). Abacavir Hypersensitivity Reaction Reporting

Rates During a Decade of HLA-B\*5701 Screening as a Risk-Mitigation Measure. *Pharmacotherapy* 39 (1), 40–54. doi: 10.1002/phar.2196

- Steinberg, D. M., Fine, J., and Chappell, R. (2009). Sample size for positive and negative predictive value in diagnostic research using case-control designs. *Biostatistics* 10 (1), 94–105. doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxn018
- Sukasem, C., Jantararoungtong, T., Kuntawong, P., Puangpetch, A., Koomdee, N., Satapornpong, P., et al. (2016). HLA-B (\*) 58:01 for Allopurinol-Induced Cutaneous Adverse Drug Reactions: Implication for Clinical Interpretation in Thailand. *Front. Pharmacol.* 7, 186. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00186
- Sukasem, C., Chaichan, C., Nakkrut, T., Satapornpong, P., Jaruthamsophon, K., Jantararoungtong, T., et al. (2018). Association between HLA-B Alleles and Carbamazepine-Induced Maculopapular Exanthema and Severe Cutaneous Reactions in Thai Patients. J. Immunol. Res. 2018, 2780272. doi: 10.1155/2018/ 2780272
- Swen, J. J., Nijenhuis, M., van Rhenen, M., de Boer-Veger, N. J., Buunk, A. M., Houwink, E. J. F., et al. (2018). Pharmacogenetic Information in Clinical Guidelines: The European Perspective. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 103 (5), 795– 801. doi: 10.1002/cpt.1049
- Symonds, W., Cutrell, A., Edwards, M., Steel, H., Spreen, B., Powell, G., et al. (2002). Risk factor analysis of hypersensitivity reactions to abacavir. *Clin. Ther.* 24 (4), 565–573. doi: 10.1016/S0149-2918(02)85132-3
- Tassaneeyakul, W., Jantararoungtong, T., Chen, P., Lin, P. Y., Tiamkao, S., Khunarkornsiri, U., et al. (2009). Strong association between HLA-B\*5801 and allopurinol-induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis in a Thai population. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 19 (9), 704–709. doi: 10.1097/FPC.0b013e328330a3b8
- Tassaneeyakul, W., Tiamkao, S., Jantararoungtong, T., Chen, P., Lin, S. Y., Chen, W. H., et al. (2010). Association between HLA-B\*1502 and carbamazepineinduced severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions in a Thai population. *Epilepsia* 51 (5), 926–930. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02533.x
- Tassaneeyakul, W., Prabmeechai, N., Sukasem, C., Kongpan, T., Konyoung, P., Chumworathayi, P., et al. (2016). Associations between HLA class I and cytochrome P450 2C9 genetic polymorphisms and phenytoin-related severe cutaneous adverse reactions in a Thai population. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 26 (5), 225–234. doi: 10.1097/FPC.000000000000211
- To, S. W., Chen, J. H., Wong, K. H., Chan, K. C., Tsang, O. T., and Yam, W. C. (2013). HLA-B\*5701 genetic screening among HIV-1 infected patients in Hong Kong: is this a practical approach in Han-Chinese? *Int. J. STD AIDS* 24 (1), 50–52. doi: 10.1258/ijsa.2012.012102
- Tonk, E. C. M., Gurwitz, D., Maitland-van der Zee, A. H., and Janssens, A. (2017). Assessment of pharmacogenetic tests: presenting measures of clinical validity and potential population impact in association studies. *Pharmacogenom. J.* 17 (4), 386–392. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2016.34
- ULC MP (2015). Product Monograph Mylan-carbamazepine CR.
- US Food and Drug Administration (2009). Official Drug Label: Trileptal (oxcarbazepine). (East Hanover, New Jersey: Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation).
- Wang, X. Q., Lang, S. Y., Shi, X. B., Tian, H. J., Wang, R. F., and Yang, F. (2010). Cross-reactivity of skin rashes with current antiepileptic drugs in Chinese population. *Seizure* 19 (9), 562–566. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2010.09.003
- Wang, Q., Zhou, J. Q., Zhou, L. M., Chen, Z. Y., Fang, Z. Y., Chen, S. D., et al. (2011). Association between HLA-B\*1502 allele and carbamazepine-induced severe cutaneous adverse reactions in Han people of southern China mainland. *Seizure* 20 (6), 446–448. doi: 10.1016/j.seizure.2011.02.003
- Wu, X. T., Hu, F. Y., An, D. M., Yan, B., Jiang, X., Kwan, P., et al. (2010). Association between carbamazepine-induced cutaneous adverse drug reactions and the HLA-B\*1502 allele among patients in central China. *Epilepsy Behav.* 19 (3), 405–408. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2010.08.007
- Yampayon, K., Sukasem, C., Limwongse, C., Chinvarun, Y., Tempark, T., Rerkpattanapipat, T., et al. (2017). Influence of genetic and non-genetic factors on phenytoin-induced severe cutaneous adverse drug reactions. *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 73 (7), 855–865. doi: 10.1007/s00228-017-2250-2
- Young, B., Squires, K., Patel, P., Dejesus, E., Bellos, N., Berger, D., et al. (2008). First large, multicenter, open-label study utilizing HLA-B\*5701 screening for abacavir hypersensitivity in North America. *AIDS (London England)* 22 (13), 1673–1675. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32830719aa
- Youssoufi, F., El Annaz, H., Laraqui, A., Bajjou, T., Hjira, N., Atouf, O., et al. (2017). The prevalence of human leukocyte antigen-B\*57:01 allele in HIV-1-

infected Moroccan subjects. Gene Rep. 9, 108-110. doi: 10.1016/ j.genrep.2017.09.007

- Zeng, T., Long, Y. S., Min, F. L., Liao, W. P., and Shi, Y. W. (2015). Association of HLA-B\*1502 allele with lamotrigine-induced Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis in Han Chinese subjects: a meta-analysis. *Int. J. Dermatol.* 54 (4), 488–493. doi: 10.1111/ijd.12570
- Zhang, H., Zhang, T., Zhao, H., Han, N., Zhou, H., He, Y., et al. (2015). Low prevalence of human leukocyte antigen-B\*5701 in HIV-1-infected Chinese subjects: a prospective epidemiological investigation. *AIDS Res. Ther.* 12, 28. doi: 10.1186/s12981-015-0064-9
- Zhang, X., Ma, H., Hu, C., Yu, B., Ma, W., Wu, Z., et al. (2015). Detection of HLA-B\*58:01 with TaqMan assay and its association with allopurinol-induced sCADR. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 53 (3), 383–390. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2014-0251

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer UA declared a past collaboration with one of the authors JS to the handling editor.

Copyright © 2020 Manson, Swen and Guchelaar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Genetic Variants in DNA Repair Pathways as Potential Biomarkers in Predicting Treatment Outcome of Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy in Patients With Colorectal Peritoneal Metastasis: A Systematic Review

Emma C. Hulshof<sup>1,2</sup>, Lifani Lim<sup>2</sup>, Ignace H. J. T. de Hingh<sup>3,4</sup>, Hans Gelderblom<sup>5</sup>, Henk-Jan Guchelaar<sup>2,6</sup> and Maarten J. Deenen<sup>1,2\*</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luis Abel Quiñones, University of Chile, Chile

#### Reviewed by:

Patricia Esperon, Universidad de la República, Uruguay Theodora Katsila, National Hellenic Research Foundation, Greece

> \*Correspondence: Maarten J. Deenen

maarten.deenen@catharinaziekenhuis.ni

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 30 June 2020 Accepted: 27 August 2020 Published: 06 October 2020

#### Citation:

Hulshof EC, Lim L, de Hingh IHJT, Gelderblom H, Guchelaar H-J and Deenen MJ (2020) Genetic Variants in DNA Repair Pathways as Potential Biomarkers in Predicting Treatment Outcome of Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy in Patients With Colorectal Peritoneal Metastasis: A Systematic Review. Front. Pharmacol. 11:577968. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.577968 <sup>1</sup> Department of Clinical Pharmacy, Catharina Hospital, Eindhoven, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Pharmacy and Toxicology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>3</sup> Department of Surgical Oncology, Catharina Hospital, Eindhoven, Netherlands, <sup>4</sup> GROW, School for Oncology and Development Biology, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands, <sup>5</sup> Department of Medical Oncology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>6</sup> Leiden Network for Personalized Therapeutics, Leiden, Netherlands

**Background:** The introduction of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) with either oxaliplatin or mitomycin C for patients with colorectal peritoneal metastasis (CPM) has resulted in a major increase in overall survival. Nonetheless, despite critical patient selection, the majority of patients will develop recurrent disease within one year following CRS + HIPEC. Therefore, improvement of patient and treatment selection is needed and may be achieved by the incorporation of genetic biomarkers. This systematic review aims to provide an overview of genetic biomarkers in the DNA repair pathway that are potentially predictive for treatment outcome of patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases treated with CRS + HIPEC with oxaliplatin or mitomycin C.

**Methods:** A systematic review was conducted according to the PRISMA guidelines. Given the limited number of genetic association studies of intraperitoneal mitomycin C and oxaliplatin in patients with CPM, we expanded the review and extrapolated the data from biomarker studies conducted in colorectal cancer patients treated with systemic mitomycin C– and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy.

**Results:** In total, 43 papers were included in this review. No study reported potential pharmacogenomic biomarkers in patients with colorectal cancer undergoing mitomycin C–based chemotherapy. For oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy, a total of 26 genetic biomarkers within 14 genes were identified that were significantly associated with treatment outcome. The most promising genetic biomarkers were *ERCC1* rs11615, *XPC* rs1043953, *XPD* rs13181, *XPG* rs17655, *MNAT* rs3783819/rs973063/rs4151330, MMR status, ATM protein expression, *HIC1* tandem repeat D17S5, and *PIN1* rs2233678.

**Conclusion:** Several genetic biomarkers have proven predictive value for the treatment outcome of systemically administered oxaliplatin. By extrapolation, these genetic biomarkers may also be predictive for the efficacy of intraperitoneal oxaliplatin. This should be the subject of further investigation.

Keywords: biomarker, colorectal cancer, DNA repair, hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy, mitomycin C, oxaliplatin, treatment outcome

# INTRODUCTION

Colorectal peritoneal metastasis (CPM) is associated with a poor prognosis and affects approximately 10-20% of colorectal cancer patients (Chu et al., 1989; Jayne et al., 2002; Verwaal et al., 2003; Lemmens et al., 2011). The introduction of cytoreductive surgery (CRS) followed by hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) with either oxaliplatin or mitomycin C for patients with isolated CPM has led to a major increase in overall survival and even cure in up to 15% of patients (Sugarbaker, 1995; Goere et al., 2013). Therefore, CRS + HIPEC is at present considered standard of care for patients with limited peritoneal metastases. Currently, patient selection for CRS + HIPEC is mainly based on the peritoneal carcinomatosis index (PCI) and performance status (Froysnes et al., 2016; Kwakman et al., 2016; Kusamura et al., 2016). In addition, several clinical and pathological prognostic biomarkers have been identified, including completeness of cytoreduction, locoregional lymph node status and signet ring cell differentiation (Simkens et al., 2017). Nonetheless, despite critical patient selection, the majority of patients will develop recurrent disease within one year following CRS + HIPEC (Konigsrainer et al., 2013; Braam et al., 2014). In addition, post-operative surgical complications following CRS + HIPEC are frequent, including mortality in about 1-2% of patients (Chua et al., 2009).

Knowledge of genetic biomarkers that are predictive or prognostic for treatment outcome may be of additional value in patient and treatment selection, allowing further improvement of treatment outcome for the individual patient. In contrast to thousands of pharmacogenetic association studies that have been conducted in cancer patients treated with systemic chemotherapy, almost no data exist of genetic biomarkers in patients treated with intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Following intraperitoneal administration, oxaliplatin and mitomycin exert their anti-tumor effect locally at the tumor site. Both drugs share a comparable mechanism of action in that they both interfere with DNA synthesis and repair. Thereby, genetic variation in genes involved in DNA repair may reduce the functional activity of certain DNA repair genes, making tumor cells more susceptible for drug-induced DNA damage and hence increased drug efficacy (Kweekel et al., 2005; D'Andrea, 2014). The DNA repair system is divided into six major DNA repair pathways, i.e. base-excision repair (BER), nucleotide-excision repair (NER), mismatch repair (MMR), homologous recombination (HR), nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ), and translesion DNA synthesis (TLS). In addition, pathways on damage response and DNA synthesis exist (D'Andrea, 2014).

Notwithstanding the in general increasingly applied knowledge of genetic biomarkers in cancer therapy as a proven tool for patient and treatment selection, almost no predictive or prognostic data of genetic biomarkers for treatment outcome exist in patients with CPM treated with intraperitoneal chemotherapy. Therefore, we conducted a systematic review to provide an overview of genetic biomarkers in the DNA repair pathway that are potentially predictive for treatment outcome of patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases treated with CRS + HIPEC with oxaliplatin or mitomycin C.

# **METHODS**

A systematic literature review was conducted according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (Moher et al., 2009).

Of the studies on the use of mitomycin C and oxaliplatin in HIPEC treatment, only two studies were found that have reported biomarkers related to DNA repair (Massalou et al., 2017; Shannon et al., 2019). Data obtained from genetic association studies conducted in other than CPM patients treated with oxaliplatin or mitomycin C may potentially be extrapolated to patients with CPM. Therefore, we expanded this review with studies investigating the association between genetic biomarkers related to DNA repair and treatment outcome in patients with colorectal cancer undergoing mitomycin C– and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy.

We searched PubMed until February 2020 without any limitations on publication year using the following search terms: "biomarker," "oxaliplatin," "mitomycin C," "colorectal cancer," and "treatment outcome." The full search string is provided in the **Supplementary Material**. In addition, reference lists in original articles and review articles were manually searched to identify additional potentially relevant publications. Literature was reviewed by two independent reviewers (LL and EH). In case of inconsistencies, results were discussed with a third reviewer (MD).

All publications were screened on title and abstract. Only studies that included patients with colorectal cancer were included, and studies that were retracted and studies that did not provide original data or case reports were excluded. The remaining publications were assessed based on screening of the full text. Only studies that reported on the association between genetic biomarkers related to DNA repair and treatment outcome undergoing mitomycin C- and oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy were included. To provide a total overview of the available evidence, we included studies on various types of genetic biomarkers including genetic polymorphism, mRNA expression, and protein expression. Treatment outcome had to be reported as overall survival (OS), progression-free survival (PFS), or disease-free survival (DFS).

Risk of bias assessment was performed and adapted from the Q-genie tool and was based on the following bias items: clear phenotype and outcome definition and correct nomenclature of genotype. We decided not to exclude studies because of small sample size, ethnic differences, differences in treatment regimens or type of biomarker, or no correction for covariates affecting treatment outcome due to scarcity of data.

All identified genetic biomarkers were subdivided into either one of the six described major DNA-repair pathways (Mendelsohn et al., 2015), i.e., NER, BER, MMR, HR, NHEJ, TLS, or otherwise into a category of genes involved in DNA damage response and DNA synthesis (D'Andrea, 2014). Results were summarized and presented per gene including a mechanistic background for the drug-gene interaction. The following information per study or genetic biomarker was reported: sample size, CRC type, treatment schedule, biomarker, type of sample, type of assay, rs number (if applicable), reference group and comparator group, and treatment outcome. Treatment outcomes were expressed as hazard ratios, relative risks, or differences in median survival with 95% confidence intervals and p-values, whichever was available.

The most promising genetic biomarkers were extracted from the results and summarized in a table. Evidence for these biomarkers had to meet the following 2 criteria: (1) no or almost none conflicting data and (2) an association with treatment outcome was reported in at least two studies or in one study with sufficient power (arbitrarily defined in this review as a minimum number of 300 patients) or the study included a control group with non-oxaliplatin based–chemotherapy in which no association or an association in the opposite direction was seen compared to the group with oxaliplatinbased chemotherapy.

# RESULTS

## **Study Selection**

The search string in the PubMed database resulted in a total of 346 identified articles. **Figure 1** provides the selection procedure of relevant articles. An additional 17 studies were added that were identified from meta-analyses. After screening the title and abstract, 122 studies were excluded leaving 241 articles for further evaluation. After reviewing the full-text, 198 articles were excluded, resulting in a total of 43 studies that were included in this systematic review. The percent agreement between the two reviewers was 97%, and Cohen's kappa was 0.87.

# **Main Results**

The identified potential genetic biomarkers for treatment outcome of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy could be divided over four out of the six major DNA-repair pathways, i.e., NER, BER, MMR, and HR or were involved in DNA damage response or DNA synthesis, respectively. No studies were identified that reported on the association between genetic biomarkers and treatment outcome of mitomycin C-based chemotherapy in CRC patients. From all eligible studies, a total of 26 genetic biomarkers within 14 genes were identified in which at least one study had reported a significant association with treatment outcome. The most promising genetic biomarkers belonged to the NER, MMR, or DNA damage response pathway and are summarized in Table 1 and explained in more detail below; in contrast to biomarkers that belong to the BER, HR, or DNA synthesis pathway, which seem less promising due to lack of evidence or conflicting results. The results from all included studies are summarized in Figure 2, discussed per gene below, and reported in detail in the Supplementary Material—Tables S1-S10.

### **NER** Pathway

### ERCC1

Oxaliplatin DNA adducts are mainly removed by the NER pathway (Shirota et al., 2001). Excision repair crosscomplementation group 1 (ERCC1) is a key protein in the NER pathway that is encoded by the *ERCC1* gene. Together with xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group F (XPF), ERCC1 forms a heterodimer complex that can incise damaged DNA strands at the 5' side of the lesion (Sijbers et al., 1996). In addition to their involvement in the NER pathway, the XPF/ ERCC1 complex is also involved in double strand break repair (DSBR) (Ahmad et al., 2008). Therefore, the expression of *ERCC1* is potentially associated with treatment outcome of oxaliplatin in CRC patients.

In two preclinical studies, elevated ERCC1 protein level was suggested to correlate with oxaliplatin-resistance in cells (Boyer et al., 2004; Lin et al., 2012). Alteration in single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) is expected to have an effect in gene expression level and function. Several ERCC1 SNPs have been evaluated for their association with treatment outcome of oxaliplatin in CRC patients (Supplementary Material-Table S1). The most commonly investigated nucleotide polymorphism is rs11615 (Stoehlmacher et al., 2004; Ruzzo et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2008; Martinez-Balibrea et al., 2008; Pare et al., 2008; Chang et al., 2009; Chua et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2010; Liang et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2011; Lamas et al., 2011; Farina Sarasqueta et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012; Kumamoto et al., 2013; Nishina et al., 2013; van Huis-Tanja et al., 2014; Zaanan et al., 2014; Rao et al., 2019). A total of 10 studies showed a significant association between this polymorphism and treatment outcome (Stoehlmacher et al., 2004; Ruzzo et al., 2007; Martinez-Balibrea et al., 2008; Pare et al., 2008; Chang et al., 2009; Chua et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012; Rao et al., 2019). Most studies, six out of 10, reported the mutant CC genotype to be the favorable genotype, with significantly better DFS, PFS, and OS (Stoehlmacher et al., 2004; Chang et al., 2009; Chua et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012). However, a few studies showed contradictory results. Three studies (Martinez-Balibrea et al., 2008; Pare et al., 2008;



TABLE 1   Overview of most promising genetic biomarkers within DNA repair for treatment outcome of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in colorectal cancer
patients.

Biomarker	Location	Pathway	Favorable genotype/expression		
ERCC1 c.354T>C <sup>A</sup>	rs11615	NER	CC		
XPC c.*463A>G	rs1043953	NER	GG		
XPD c.2251A>C <sup>B</sup>	rs13181	NER	AA		
XPG c.3310G>C	rs17655	NER	GG		
MNAT1 c.688-30168A>G <sup>C</sup>	rs3783819	NER	GG		
MNAT1 c.562-88A>G <sup>C</sup>	rs973063	NER	GG		
MNAT1 c.809+24992A>G <sup>C</sup>	rs4151330	NER	GG		
MMR status	n.a.	MMR	MMR deficient		
ATM protein expression	ion n.a. DNA damage response		Loss of ATM expression		
HIC1 tandem repeat	D17S5	DNA damage response	≤4 tandem repeats		
PIN1 NC_000019.9:g.9945179G>C rs2233678 DNA damage response		DNA damage response	GG		

<sup>A</sup>Six studies reported that the CC genotype was favorable, and three studies reported that the TT genotype was favorable.

<sup>B</sup>Eight studies reported that the AA genotype was favorable, three studies reported that the CC genotype was favorable.

<sup>C</sup>SNPs are in high linkage disequilibrium.



Rao et al., 2019) reported that patients with the CC genotype had a worse treatment outcome in terms of PFS and OS. Another contradicting result was reported by Ruzzo et al. (2007) where the rs11615 TT genotype was associated with prolonged PFS in univariate analysis and shorter PFS in multivariate analyses.

Two other reported polymorphisms of *ERCC1* are at codon 259 and 504 (Monzo et al., 2007; Nishina et al., 2013). Both polymorphisms showed no significant association with treatment outcome. Moreover, two (Kassem et al., 2017; Rao et al., 2019) out of five (Basso et al., 2013; Li et al., 2014; Sfakianaki et al., 2019) studies based on mRNA or protein expression level of ERCC1 showed a significant association between low ERCC1 expression and prolonged PFS and OS.

### XPC

*Xeroderma pigmentosum group C (XPC)*, located at chromosome 3p25, encodes for another important protein in the early steps of the NER pathway. XPC binds to RAD23B to form the heterodimeric complex, which is the first NER factor to facilitate the recognition of DNA damage and the initiation of DNA repair (Sugasawa et al., 1998). As DNA damage recognition is the rate-limiting step in the NER pathway, the XPC protein

plays a critical role in proper DNA repair. Therefore, genetic biomarkers in *XPC* may have potential value in predicting response for oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy.

In **Table S3** (**Supplementary Material**), three SNPs in the *XPC* gene that are potentially predictive of treatment response to oxaliplatin-based therapy in CRC patients are reported (Liu et al., 2012; Kap et al., 2015; Hu et al., 2019). Only one SNP was significantly associated with survival. In the study by Kap et al. (2015), patients carrying the variant allele rs1043953 had a longer OS after treatment with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy compared to non-carriers after adjusting for multiple testing, while the opposite association was found in patients who were treated with non-oxaliplatin based–chemotherapy.

### XPD/ERCC2

The xeroderma pigmentosum group D (XPD), or excision repair cross complementation group 2 (ERCC2) gene, encodes for a helicase protein of 761 amino acids located on chromosome 19q13.3 (Weber et al., 1990). The XPD protein is a part of the general transcription factor IIH complex, which is involved in the NER pathway by opening DNA double helix after damage recognition by XPC-RAD23B (Oksenych and Coin, 2010). SNPs in *XPD* gene can alter the efficiency of DNA repair capacity and could thus be used as a predictive factor for oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy.

SNPs affecting codons 156, 312, and 751 (rs238406, rs1799793, and rs13181, respectively) proved to be extensively studied for their predictive value in CRC treatment (Supplementary Material-Table S4). XPD rs238406 SNP was significantly associated with treatment outcome in one (Kjersem et al., 2016) out of three studies (Park et al., 2001; Stoehlmacher et al., 2004). The second SNP, rs1799793, was also significantly associated with treatment outcome in one (Liu et al., 2019) out of three studies (Park et al., 2001; Ruzzo et al., 2007). The wild type GG genotype seemed to be the favorable genotype. Sixteen studies assessed the predictive value of XPD rs13181polymorphism. In most studies a worse treatment outcome was observed in C allele carriers (Park et al., 2001; Stoehlmacher et al., 2004; Le Morvan et al., 2007; Ruzzo et al., 2007; Pare et al., 2008; Lai et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2010; Kumamoto et al., 2013). Le Morvan et al. compared oxaliplatin treatment with irinotecan treatment and reported that the CC genotype was associated with a lower OS in patients treated with oxaliplatin, in contrast this was not observed in the same patient category treated with irinotecan (Le Morvan et al., 2007). However, the opposite association was observed in three studies (Lamas et al., 2011; Gan et al., 2012; Li et al., 2012), and five studies did not find significant associations with treatment outcome (Monzo et al., 2007; Martinez-Balibrea et al., 2008; Etienne-Grimaldi et al., 2010; Farina Sarasqueta et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2011). Lastly, one study assessed mRNA expression level of XPD for its association with treatment outcome, and no significant association was observed (Kassem et al., 2017).

### XPG/ERCC5

The *xeroderma pigmentosum group* G (*XPG*) gene, also known as *ERCC5* (*excision repair cross complementation group* 5), is one of the eight core functional genes in the NER pathway. The *XPG* gene, located at chromosome 13q32-33, encodes for a structure specific endonuclease protein that cleaves the 3' side of the damaged nucleotide during NER (Aboussekhra et al., 1995). The low expression level of *XPG* has been shown to be associated with response to platinum-based chemotherapy in ovarian cancer (Stevens et al., 2008; Walsh et al., 2008).

Four studies reported on the association between four different SNPs in the *XPG* gene and treatment outcome of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in CRC patients (**Supplementary Material—Table S5**). The -763A>G and +25A>G polymorphisms in the promoter region of *ERCC5* were significantly associated with PFS and OS in patients treated with oxaliplatin (Chen et al., 2016). Also, SNPs in rs1047768 and rs17655 were significantly associated with treatment outcome (Monzo et al., 2007; Kweekel et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012).

### MNAT1

The *MNAT1* gene encodes for the ménage à trois-1 (MAT1) enzyme that is involved in the assembly of the cyclin dependent kinase-activating kinase (CAK) complex. Together with XPD and other subunits, the CAK-complex forms the TFIIH complex that is involved in the NER pathway (Marinoni et al., 1997).

Kap et al. (2015) found three predictive SNPs, rs3783819, rs973063, and rs4151330 of the *MNAT1* gene for OS in CRC patients treated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy compared to CRC patients with non-oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (**Supplementary Material—Table S6**). All three SNPs are in high linkage disequilibrium, and p-values were corrected for multiple testing. Compared to non-carriers, carriership of these genetic variants was associated with longer OS, but not in patients who received non-oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy.

### **MMR** Pathway

### MMR Status

The DNA mismatch repair (MMR) system recognizes and repairs genetic mismatches that occur during DNA replication and DNA damage. MMR status is defined as deficient (dMMR) when one or more MMR protein (MLH1, MSH2, PMS2, and MSH6) expression is lost (Ionov et al., 1993). Germline mutations in MMR genes were found to be the driving mechanism for Lynch syndrome, also known as hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) (Pino et al., 2009). A defective MMR system will result in DNA replication errors, particularly in the short tandem repeat of DNA sequences of the genome referred to as microsatellites, which may lead to microsatellite instability (MSI). It has been suggested that MSI positively affects the clinical outcome of CRC. Mechanistically, oxaliplatin treatment is expected to be more effective in patients with defective MMR protein status as platinum adducts formed by oxaliplatin cannot be repaired.

A total of three studies, evaluating the predictive ability of MMR status in relation to oxaliplatin-based treatment, are included in **Table S9** (**Supplementary Material**). In two out of three studies, OS was significantly higher in multivariate analysis in dMMR patients treated with oxaliplatin-based therapy (Gallois et al., 2018; Sfakianaki et al., 2019). In contrast, Kim et al. did not find an association between dMMR and treatment outcome of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy (Kim et al., 2010).

## DNA Damage Response

### ATM

Ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) is a serine/threonine protein kinase that is recruited and activated by the MRN complex during DNA DSBR (Uziel et al., 2003). The activation of the *ATM* gene leads to the phosphorylation of several key proteins that mediates the effect of ATM protein on DNA repair, cell cycle arrest, or apoptosis (Shiloh, 2003). Loss of *ATM* in preclinical models seems to increase sensitivity to DNA damaging agents, including platinum-based chemotherapy and ATM inhibitors (Reaper et al., 2011).

Two studies reported a significant association of *ATM* with treatment outcome of oxaliplatin in CRC patients (**Supplementary Material—Table S10**) (Kweekel et al., 2009; Sundar et al., 2018). Sundar et al. (2018) reported that loss of ATM protein expression in CRC resulted in favorable OS when treated with first line oxaliplatin chemotherapy (49 vs. 32 months; HR: 2.52 [1.00–6.37]). It is important to note that loss of ATM expression did not result in favorable OS among patients

treated with first line irinotecan-based therapy (24 vs. 33 months; HR: 0.72 [0.28–1.84]). In addition, the explorative study by Kweekel et al. (2009) found a significantly shorter PFS for homozygous carriers of the *ATM* rs1801516 SNP, for OS no differences were found.

### HIC1

The hypermethylated in cancer 1 (HIC1) protein plays an important role in the DNA repair through its direct binding to the Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) promoter, thereby suppressing its transcription. SIRT1 is a deacetylase of XPA protein, a component of the NER pathway (Fan and Luo, 2010). Since the variable number of tandem repeats near the promoter lesion of HIC1, which is associated with *HIC1* gene expression, there is a potential value of *HIC1* as a predictive biomarker for oxaliplatin efficacy.

In a study by Okazaki et al. (2017), shown in **Table S10** (**Supplementary Material**), patients treated with oxaliplatinbased chemotherapy with at least five tandem repeats of *HIC1*, in both alleles of the *HIC1* promoter region, had a significantly shorter PFS. In a control group who received irinotecan-based chemotherapy this difference in PFS was not seen. However, no significant association with OS was found.

### PIN1

Peptidyl-prolyl cis/trans isomerase NIMA-interacting 1 (PIN1) is an enzyme encoded by the *PIN1* gene. It interacts with prominent DSBR factors and is involved in the regulation of HR and non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) of DNA DSBR. Previous study showed that the overexpression of PIN1 suppresses HR and its depletion reduces NHEJ by promoting CtIP polyubiquitylation and subsequent proteasomal degradation (Steger et al., 2013).

A study by Suenaga et al. (2018), shown in **Table S10** (**Supplementary Material**), reported that genetic polymorphism in *PIN1* was associated with treatment outcome of oxaliplatin. Patients treated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy carrying the *PIN1* rs2233678 C allele had a shorter PFS and OS compared to wild type patients. For OS this was replicated in a validation cohort. In contrast, in a control group treated with non-oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy patients with a C allele had longer median PFS than wild type patients.

### Miscellaneous

Following our selection criteria, for XPA in the NER pathway (Stoehlmacher et al., 2004; Monzo et al., 2007; Hu et al., 2019), SRBC in the HR pathway (Moutinho et al., 2014) and MGMT in the DNA synthesis pathway (Park et al., 2010) results remain inconclusive because the observed associations have not yet been replicated and the studies itself were relatively small (<300 patients).

For XRCC1 in the BER pathway a total of nine studies were identified that assessed the association between the *XRCC1* gene and treatment outcome of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in CRC patients, and showed conflicting results (Suh et al., 2006; Martinez-Balibrea et al., 2008; Chua et al., 2009; Liang et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2011; Lamas et al., 2011; Gan et al., 2012; Zaanan et al., 2014).

All nine studies investigated the *1196A*>*G* polymorphism, and three studies showed a significant association (Suh et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2011; Gan et al., 2012). However, two out of three studies (Suh et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2011) found a significantly longer OS for the GG genotype, whereas the other study (Gan et al., 2012) a longer OS for the AA genotype.

For XRCC3 (Ruzzo et al., 2007; Martinez-Balibrea et al., 2008), MRE11 (Ihara et al., 2016), and RAD51 (Ihara et al., 2016) in the HR pathway, no significant associations with treatment outcome were reported.

# DISCUSSION

The majority of patients with peritoneal metastases of colorectal cancer treated with CRS + HIPEC will develop recurrent disease despite critical patient selection. Therefore, improvement of patient and treatment selection is needed and further investigation of genetic biomarkers that are predictive or prognostic for treatment outcome may be of aid herein. We conducted a systematic review to provide an overview of genetic biomarkers in the DNA repair pathway that are potentially predictive for treatment outcome of patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases treated with CRS + HIPEC with oxaliplatin or mitomycin C.

We expanded our review with studies investigating the association between genetic biomarkers related to DNA repair and treatment outcome in patients with colorectal cancer undergoing systemic chemotherapy, because only two studies could be retrieved that investigated the association of biomarkers related to DNA repair and intraperitoneally administered mitomycin C or oxaliplatin. The most promising genetic biomarkers were *ERCC1* rs11615, *XPC* rs1043953, *XPD* rs13181, *XPG* rs17655, *MNAT* rs3783819/rs973063/rs4151330, MMR status, ATM protein expression, *HIC1* tandem repeat D17S5 and *PIN1* rs2233678. Combination studies of two DNA repair genes have also been studied and showed significant associations with treatment outcome.

Our findings for *ERCC1* rs11615 and *XPD* rs13181 are supported in four meta-analyses (Yin et al., 2011; Qian et al., 2014; Ma et al., 2015; Shahnam et al., 2016). The other biomarkers have not been studied as extensively. To our knowledge the current review is the first to summarize the available evidence for these markers.

Our results showed that genetic biomarkers in the DNA repair pathway seem of added value in predicting oxaliplatin treatment outcome in colorectal cancer patients. Since the mechanism of action of oxaliplatin is irrespective of the route of administration, it is assumed very reasonable to extrapolate these associations to patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases treated with CRS + HIPEC. In our opinion, single genetic biomarkers within DNA repair should be incorporated into a polygenic risk profile because the effect of a single gene polymorphism may be partially overcome by compensation mechanisms. Comparable to the study by Kap et al., in which the predictive value of the model significantly improved by including more genetic variants (Kap et al., 2015). Moreover, besides DNA repair, other pathways may also be of relevance in predicting treatment outcome, such as genetic variation in pharmacokinetic genes (Hulshof et al., 2020).

For some genetic biomarkers conflicting results were reported. This might partially be explained by ethnic discrepancy as has been suggested (Yin et al., 2011; Ma et al., 2015). In addition, studies with small sample sizes and differences in treatment regimens between studies may also attribute to these conflicting results. However, for the selection of the most promising genetic biomarkers, we only selected biomarkers for which no or almost none conflicting data existed and results had to be replicated in at least two studies or in one study with sufficient power (>300 patients) or the study had to have a control group with non-oxaliplatin based chemotherapy.

Moreover, genetic variants in the DNA repair pathway seem to affect cancer susceptibility, prognosis and treatment outcome (Dai et al., 2015). Therefore, it is difficult to distinguish between prognostic effects of these genetic variants or predictive effects on treatment outcome of oxaliplatin. To differentiate between these prognostic effects and predictive effects, a control group consisting of a patient cohort treated with non-oxaliplatin based chemotherapy should be added. Most of the studies that were included had no control group. Nonetheless, the studies that did include a control group with non-oxaliplatin basedchemotherapy did find differences in the association between the genetic biomarker (XPC rs1043953, XPD rs13181, MNAT rs3783819/rs973063/rs4151330, ATM protein expression, HIC1 tandem repeat D17S5, and PIN1 rs2233678) and treatment outcome of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy and nonoxaliplatin based-chemotherapy, thereby suggesting these biomarkers to be more likely predictive than prognostic.

In addition, we included various types of biomarkers such as genetic polymorphism, mRNA expression and protein expression, these are quite different assays and normally we would not pile together these various types of biomarkers. However, our aim was to give a complete overview of all genetic biomarkers in order to provide a selection of potential promising genetic biomarkers for further research.

As data scarcity and sparsity were encountered, we decided to expand our search from intraperitoneal chemotherapy to systemic chemotherapy. No formal search in other databases than PubMed was conducted, since it was assumed that the majority of relevant literature was identified using this database. However, this might be considered a limitation of our study.

## REFERENCES

- Aboussekhra, A., Biggerstaff, M., Shivji, M. K., Vilpo, J. A., Moncollin, V., Podust, V. N., et al. (1995). Mammalian DNA nucleotide excision repair reconstituted with purified protein components. *Cell* 80 (6), 859–868. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90289-9
- Ahmad, A., Robinson, A. R., Duensing, A., van Drunen, E., Beverloo, H. B., Weisberg, D. B., et al. (2008). ERCC1-XPF endonuclease facilitates DNA double-strand break repair. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 28 (16), 5082–5092. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.00293-08

Moreover, the addition of gray literature could have been of added value in terms of data scarcity and publication bias. Nonetheless, gray literature is mostly not peer-reviewed and not always traceable. In addition, the quality of data could potentially be improved by applying a standardized tool for the risk of bias assessment. However, as described in the methods section, a customized assessment of bias was performed which was mainly based on the Q-genie tool.

Lastly, not all studies corrected for additional covariates affecting treatment outcome such as clinical, molecular, and pathological patient and tumor characteristics. This might have influenced the effect of the genetic biomarkers on treatment outcome. Therefore, additional prospective research including a multivariate analysis is needed, especially in patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases treated with CRS + HIPEC as literature is scarce in this population.

In this review, several genetic biomarkers in the DNA repair pathway were identified that showed promise for predicting outcome in colorectal cancer patients treated with oxaliplatin. These findings might be extrapolated to patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases treated with CRS + HIPEC and should be the subject of further investigation.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**; further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Study design: EH and MD. Literature search, data interpretation, and data analysis: EH, LL, and MD. Manuscript writing: EH, LL, and MD, Critical revision of data presentation and manuscript: IH, HG, and HJG. Approval final version of manuscript: EH, LL, IH, HG, HJG, and MD.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020.577968/ full#supplementary-material

- Basso, M., Strippoli, A., Orlandi, A., Martini, M., Calegari, M. A., Schinzari, G., et al. (2013). KRAS mutational status affects oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy independently from basal mRNA ERCC-1 expression in metastatic colorectal cancer patients. Br. J. Cancer 108 (1), 115–120. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.526
- Boyer, J., McLean, E. G., Aroori, S., Wilson, P., McCulla, A., Carey, P. D., et al. (2004). Characterization of p53 wild-type and null isogenic colorectal cancer cell lines resistant to 5-fluorouracil, oxaliplatin, and irinotecan. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 10 (6), 2158–2167. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0362
- Braam, H. J., van Oudheusden, T. R., de Hingh, I. H., Nienhuijs, S. W., Boerma, D., Wiezer, M. J., et al. (2014). Patterns of recurrence following complete cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy in

patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J. Surg. Oncol. 109 (8), 841–847. doi: 10.1002/jso.23597

- Chang, P. M., Tzeng, C. H., Chen, P. M., Lin, J. K., Lin, T. C., Chen, W. S., et al. (2009). ERCC1 codon 118 C->T polymorphism associated with ERCC1 expression and outcome of FOLFOX-4 treatment in Asian patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* 100 (2), 278–283. doi: 10.1111/ j.1349-7006.2008.01031.x
- Chen, Y. C., Tzeng, C. H., Chen, P. M., Lin, J. K., Lin, T. C., Chen, W. S., et al. (2010). Influence of GSTP1 1105V polymorphism on cumulative neuropathy and outcome of FOLFOX-4 treatment in Asian patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* 101 (2), 530–535. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009. 01418.x
- Chen, J., Luo, X., Xie, G., Chen, K., Jiang, H., Pan, F., et al. (2016). Functional Analysis of SNPs in the ERCC5 Promoter in Advanced Colorectal Cancer Patients Treated With Oxaliplatin-Based Chemotherapy. *Med. (Baltimore)* 95 (19), e3652. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000003652
- Chu, D. Z., Lang, N. P., Thompson, C., Osteen, P. K., and Westbrook, K. C. (1989). Peritoneal carcinomatosis in nongynecologic malignancy. A prospective study of prognostic factors. *Cancer* 63 (2), 364–367. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142 (19890115)63:2<364::aid-cncr2820630228>3.0.co;2-v
- Chua, T. C., Yan, T. D., Saxena, A., and Morris, D. L. (2009). Should the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis by cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy still be regarded as a highly morbid procedure?: a systematic review of morbidity and mortality. *Ann. Surg.* 249 (6), 900–907. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181a45d86
- Chua, W., Goldstein, D., Lee, C. K., Dhillon, H., Michael, M., Mitchell, P., et al. (2009). Molecular markers of response and toxicity to FOLFOX chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 101 (6), 998–1004. doi: 10.1038/ sj.bjc.6605239
- Dai, Q., Luo, H., Li, X. P., Huang, J., Zhou, T. J., and Yang, Z. H. (2015). XRCC1 and ERCC1 polymorphisms are related to susceptibility and survival of colorectal cancer in the Chinese population. *Mutagenesis* 30 (3), 441–449. doi: 10.1093/mutage/geu088
- D'Andrea, A. D. (2014). "DNA Repair Pathways and Human Cancer," in *The Molecular Basis of Cancer*. Eds. P. M. H. John Mendelsohn, B. Craig, J. Thompson, W. Gray and M. A. Israel (Philadelphia, PA: Saunders), 47–66.
- Etienne-Grimaldi, M. C., Milano, G., Maindrault-Goebel, F., Chibaudel, B., Formento, J. L., Francoual, M., et al. (2010). Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR) gene polymorphisms and FOLFOX response in colorectal cancer patients. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 69 (1), 58–66. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2125.2009.03556.x
- Fan, W., and Luo, J. (2010). SIRT1 regulates UV-induced DNA repair through deacetylating XPA. Mol. Cell 39 (2), 247-258. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2010.07.006
- Farina Sarasqueta, A., van Lijnschoten, G., Lemmens, V. E., Rutten, H. J., and van den Brule, A. J. (2011). Pharmacogenetics of oxaliplatin as adjuvant treatment in colon carcinoma: are single nucleotide polymorphisms in GSTP1, ERCC1, and ERCC2 good predictive markers? *Mol. Diagn. Ther.* 15 (5), 277–283. doi: 10.1007/BF03256419
- Froysnes, I. S., Larsen, S. G., Spasojevic, M., Dueland, S., and Flatmark, K. (2016). Complete cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastasis in Norway: Prognostic factors and oncologic outcome in a national patient cohort. J. Surg. Oncol. 114 (2), 222–227. doi: 10.1002/jso.24290
- Gallois, C., Taieb, J., Le Corre, D., Le Malicot, K., Tabernero, J., Mulot, C., et al. (2018). Prognostic Value of Methylator Phenotype in Stage III Colon Cancer Treated with Oxaliplatin-based Adjuvant Chemotherapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 24 (19), 4745–4753. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0866
- Gan, Y., Li, X. R., Chen, D. J., and Wu, J. H. (2012). Association between polymorphisms of XRCC1 Arg399Gln and XPD Lys751Gln genes and prognosis of colorectal cancer in a Chinese population. *Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev.* 13 (11), 5721–5724. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2012.13.11.5721
- Goere, D., Malka, D., Tzanis, D., Gava, V., Boige, V., Eveno, C., et al. (2013). Is there a possibility of a cure in patients with colorectal peritoneal carcinomatosis amenable to complete cytoreductive surgery and intraperitoneal chemotherapy? *Ann. Surg.* 257 (6), 1065–1071. doi: 10.1097/ SLA.0b013e31827e9289

- Hu, X., Qin, W., Li, S., He, M., Wang, Y., Guan, S., et al. (2019). Polymorphisms in DNA repair pathway genes and ABCG2 gene in advanced colorectal cancer: correlation with tumor characteristics and clinical outcome in oxaliplatinbased chemotherapy. *Cancer Manag. Res.* 11, 285–297. doi: 10.2147/ CMAR.S181922
- Huang, M. Y., Huang, M. L., Chen, M. J., Lu, C. Y., Chen, C. F., Tsai, P. C., et al. (2011). Multiple genetic polymorphisms in the prediction of clinical outcome of metastatic colorectal cancer patients treated with first-line FOLFOX-4 chemotherapy. *Pharmacogenet. Genomics* 21 (1), 18–25. doi: 10.1097/ FPC.0b013e3283415124
- Hulshof, E. C., Lurvink, R. J., Caserta, N., de Hingh, I., van Wezel, T., Bohringer, S., et al. (2020). Identification of pharmacogenetic biomarkers for efficacy of cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic intraperitoneal mitomycin C in patients with colorectal peritoneal metastases. *Eur. J. Surg. Oncol.* doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2020.04.019
- Ihara, K., Yamaguchi, S., Ueno, N., Tani, Y., Shida, Y., Ogata, H., et al. (2016). Expression of DNA double-strand break repair proteins predicts the response and prognosis of colorectal cancer patients undergoing oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. Oncol. Rep. 35 (3), 1349–1355. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.4488
- Ionov, Y., Peinado, M. A., Malkhosyan, S., Shibata, D., and Perucho, M. (1993). Ubiquitous somatic mutations in simple repeated sequences reveal a new mechanism for colonic carcinogenesis. *Nature* 363 (6429), 558–561. doi: 10.1038/363558a0
- Jayne, D. G., Fook, S., Loi, C., and Seow-Choen, F. (2002). Peritoneal carcinomatosis from colorectal cancer. Br. J. Surg. 89 (12), 1545–1550. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.2002.02274.x
- Kap, E. J., Seibold, P., Richter, S., Scherer, D., Habermann, N., Balavarca, Y., et al. (2015). Genetic variants in DNA repair genes as potential predictive markers for oxaliplatin chemotherapy in colorectal cancer. *Pharmacogenomics J*. 15 (6), 505–512. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.8
- Kassem, A. B., Salem, S. E., Abdelrahim, M. E., Said, A. S., Salahuddin, A., Hussein, M. M., et al. (2017). ERCC1 and ERCC2 as predictive biomarkers to oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in colorectal cancer patients from Egypt. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 102 (1), 78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2017.01.006
- Kim, S. T., Lee, J., Park, S. H., Park, J. O., Lim, H. Y., Kang, W. K., et al. (2010). Clinical impact of microsatellite instability in colon cancer following adjuvant FOLFOX therapy. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 66 (4), 659–667. doi: 10.1007/s00280-009-1206-3
- Kjersem, J. B., Thomsen, M., Guren, T., Hamfjord, J., Carlsson, G., Gustavsson, B., et al. (2016). AGXT and ERCC2 polymorphisms are associated with clinical outcome in metastatic colorectal cancer patients treated with 5-FU/oxaliplatin. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 16 (3), 272–279. doi: 10.1038/tpj.2015.54
- Konigsrainer, I., Horvath, P., Struller, F., Forkl, V., Konigsrainer, A., and Beckert, S. (2013). Risk factors for recurrence following complete cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC in colorectal cancer-derived peritoneal surface malignancies. *Langenbecks Arch. Surg.* 398 (5), 745–749. doi: 10.1007/s00423-013-1065-6
- Kumamoto, K., Ishibashi, K., Okada, N., Tajima, Y., Kuwabara, K., Kumagai, Y., et al. (2013). Polymorphisms of GSTP1, ERCC2 and TS-3'UTR are associated with the clinical outcome of mFOLFOX6 in colorectal cancer patients. *Oncol. Lett.* 6 (3), 648–654. doi: 10.3892/ol.2013.1467
- Kusamura, S., Torres Mesa, P. A., Cabras, A., Baratti, D., and Deraco, M. (2016).
  The Role of Ki-67 and Pre-cytoreduction Parameters in Selecting Diffuse Malignant Peritoneal Mesothelioma (DMPM) Patients for Cytoreductive Surgery (CRS) and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy (HIPEC).
   Ann. Surg. Oncol. 23 (5), 1468–1473. doi: 10.1245/s10434-015-4962-9
- Kwakman, R., Schrama, A. M., van Olmen, J. P., Otten, R. H., de Lange-de Klerk, E. S., de Cuba, E. M., et al. (2016). Clinicopathological Parameters in Patient Selection for Cytoreductive Surgery and Hyperthermic Intraperitoneal Chemotherapy for Colorectal Cancer Metastases: A Meta-analysis. Ann. Surg. 263 (6), 1102–1111. doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000001593
- Kweekel, D. M., Gelderblom, H., and Guchelaar, H. J. (2005). Pharmacology of oxaliplatin and the use of pharmacogenomics to individualize therapy. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 31 (2), 90–105. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2004.12.006
- Kweekel, D. M., Antonini, N. F., Nortier, J. W., Punt, C. J., Gelderblom, H., and Guchelaar, H. J. (2009). Explorative study to identify novel candidate genes related to oxaliplatin efficacy and toxicity using a DNA repair array. *Br. J. Cancer* 101 (2), 357–362. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605134

- Lai, J. I., Tzeng, C. H., Chen, P. M., Lin, J. K., Lin, T. C., Chen, W. S., et al. (2009). Very low prevalence of XPD K751Q polymorphism and its association with XPD expression and outcomes of FOLFOX-4 treatment in Asian patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* 100 (7), 1261–1266. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01186.x
- Lamas, M. J., Duran, G., Balboa, E., Bernardez, B., Touris, M., Vidal, Y., et al. (2011). Use of a comprehensive panel of biomarkers to predict response to a fluorouracil-oxaliplatin regimen in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Pharmacogenomics* 12 (3), 433–442. doi: 10.2217/pgs.10.196
- Le Morvan, V., Smith, D., Laurand, A., Brouste, V., Bellott, R., Soubeyran, I., et al. (2007). Determination of ERCC2 Lys751Gln and GSTP1 Ile105Val gene polymorphisms in colorectal cancer patients: relationships with treatment outcome. *Pharmacogenomics* 8 (12), 1693–1703. doi: 10.2217/14622416. 8.12.1693
- Lemmens, V. E., Klaver, Y. L., Verwaal, V. J., Rutten, H. J., Coebergh, J. W., and de Hingh, I. H. (2011). Predictors and survival of synchronous peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal origin: a population-based study. *Int. J. Cancer* 128 (11), 2717–2725. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25596
- Li, H. Y., Ge, X., Huang, G. M., Li, K. Y., Zhao, J. Q., Yu, X. M., et al. (2012). GSTP1, ERCC1 and ERCC2 polymorphisms, expression and clinical outcome of oxaliplatin-based adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal cancer in Chinese population. Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev. 13 (7), 3465–3469. doi: 10.7314/ APJCP.2012.13.7.3465
- Li, S., Zhu, L., Yao, L., Xia, L., and Pan, L. (2014). Association between ERCC1 and TS mRNA levels and disease free survival in colorectal cancer patients receiving oxaliplatin and fluorouracil (5-FU) adjuvant chemotherapy. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 14, 154. doi: 10.1186/1471-230X-14-154
- Liang, J., Lv, H., Yao, R., Liang, H., and Wu, G. (2008). ERCC1 Asn118Asn polymorphism as predictor for cancer response to oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. *Chinese-German* J. Clin. Oncol. 7 (8), 455–459. doi: 10.1007/s10330-008-0086-z
- Liang, J., Jiang, T., Yao, R. Y., Liu, Z. M., Lv, H. Y., and Qi, W. W. (2010). The combination of ERCC1 and XRCC1 gene polymorphisms better predicts clinical outcome to oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 66 (3), 493–500. doi: 10.1007/s00280-009-1186-3
- Lin, Y. L., Liau, J. Y., Yu, S. C., Ou, D. L., Lin, L. I., Tseng, L. H., et al. (2012). KRAS mutation is a predictor of oxaliplatin sensitivity in colon cancer cells. *PLoS One* 7 (11), e50701. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050701
- Liu, D., Wu, H. Z., Zhang, Y. N., Kang, H., Sun, M. J., Wang, E. H., et al. (2012). DNA repair genes XPC, XPG polymorphisms: relation to the risk of colorectal carcinoma and therapeutic outcome with Oxaliplatin-based adjuvant chemotherapy. *Mol. Carcinog.* 51 (Suppl 1), E83–E93. doi: 10.1002/mc.21862
- Liu, Z., Kong, J., Kong, Y., Cai, F., Xu, X., Liu, J., et al. (2019). Association of XPD Asp312Asn polymorphism and response to oxaliplatin-based first-line chemotherapy and survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Adv. Clin. Exp. Med.* 28 (11), 1459–1468. doi: 10.17219/acem/108552
- Ma, S. C., Zhao, Y., Zhang, T., Ling, X. L., and Zhao, D. (2015). Association between the ERCC1 rs11615 polymorphism and clinical outcomes of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapies in gastrointestinal cancer: a meta-analysis. *Onco. Targets Ther.* 8, 641–648. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S80913
- Marinoni, J. C., Roy, R., Vermeulen, W., Miniou, P., Lutz, Y., Weeda, G., et al. (1997). Cloning and characterization of p52, the fifth subunit of the core of the transcription/DNA repair factor TFIIH. *EMBO J.* 16 (5), 1093–1102. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.5.1093
- Martinez-Balibrea, E., Abad, A., Aranda, E., Sastre, J., Manzano, J. L., Diaz-Rubio, E., et al. (2008). Pharmacogenetic approach for capecitabine or 5-fluorouracil selection to be combined with oxaliplatin as first-line chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer. *Eur. J. Cancer* 44 (9), 1229–1237. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.03.025
- Massalou, D., Benizri, E., Chevallier, A., Duranton-Tanneur, V., Pedeutour, F., Benchimol, D., et al. (2017). Peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer: novel clinical and molecular outcomes. *Am. J. Surg.* 213 (2), 377–387. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2016.03.008
- Mendelsohn, J., Gray, J. W., Howley, P. M., Israel, M. A., and Thompson, C. B. (2015). The molecular basis of cancer, 4th ed. 1, online resource. (Elsevier Inc.).
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., and Group, P. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* 6 (7), e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097

- Monzo, M., Moreno, I., Navarro, A., Ibeas, R., Artells, R., Gel, B., et al. (2007). Single nucleotide polymorphisms in nucleotide excision repair genes XPA, XPD, XPG and ERCC1 in advanced colorectal cancer patients treated with first-line oxaliplatin/fluoropyrimidine. Oncology 72 (5-6), 364–370. doi: 10.1159/000113534
- Moutinho, C., Martinez-Cardus, A., Santos, C., Navarro-Perez, V., Martinez-Balibrea, E., Musulen, E., et al. (2014). Epigenetic inactivation of the BRCA1 interactor SRBC and resistance to oxaliplatin in colorectal cancer. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 106 (1), djt322. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt322
- Nishina, T., Takano, Y., Denda, T., Yasui, H., Takeda, K., Ura, T., et al. (2013). A phase II clinical study of mFOLFOX6 plus bevacizumab as first-line therapy for Japanese advanced/recurrent colorectal cancer patients. *Jpn. J. Clin. Oncol.* 43 (11), 1080–1086. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyt127
- Okazaki, S., Schirripa, M., Loupakis, F., Cao, S., Zhang, W., Yang, D., et al. (2017). Tandem repeat variation near the HIC1 (hypermethylated in cancer 1) promoter predicts outcome of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer* 123 (22), 4506–4514. doi: 10.1002/ cncr.30880
- Oksenych, V., and Coin, F. (2010). The long unwinding road: XPB and XPD helicases in damaged DNA opening. *Cell Cycle* 9 (1), 90–96. doi: 10.4161/ cc.9.1.10267
- Pare, L., Marcuello, E., Altes, A., del Rio, E., Sedano, L., Salazar, J., et al. (2008). Pharmacogenetic prediction of clinical outcome in advanced colorectal cancer patients receiving oxaliplatin/5-fluorouracil as first-line chemotherapy. *Br. J. Cancer* 99 (7), 1050–1055. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604671
- Park, D. J., Stoehlmacher, J., Zhang, W., Tsao-Wei, D. D., Groshen, S., and Lenz, H. J. (2001). A Xeroderma pigmentosum group D gene polymorphism predicts clinical outcome to platinum-based chemotherapy in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 61 (24), 8654–8658.
- Park, J. H., Kim, N. S., Park, J. Y., Chae, Y. S., Kim, J. G., Sohn, S. K., et al. (2010). MGMT -535G>T polymorphism is associated with prognosis for patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 136 (8), 1135–1142. doi: 10.1007/s00432-010-0760-8
- Pino, M. S., Mino-Kenudson, M., Wildemore, B. M., Ganguly, A., Batten, J., Sperduti, I., et al. (2009). Deficient DNA mismatch repair is common in Lynch syndrome-associated colorectal adenomas. *J. Mol. Diagn.* 11 (3), 238–247. doi: 10.2353/jmoldx.2009.080142
- Qian, Y. Y., Liu, X. Y., Pei, D., Xu, J. L., Shen, H., Chen, X. F., et al. (2014). The XPD Lys751Gln polymorphism has predictive value in colorectal cancer patients receiving oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy: a systemic review and meta-analysis. Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev. 15 (22), 9699–9706. doi: 10.7314/ APJCP.2014.15.22.9699
- Rao, D., Mallick, A. B., Augustine, T., Daroqui, C., Jiffry, J., Merla, A., et al. (2019). Excision repair cross-complementing group-1 (ERCC1) induction kinetics and polymorphism are markers of inferior outcome in patients with colorectal cancer treated with oxaliplatin. *Oncotarget* 10 (53), 5510–5522. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.27140
- Reaper, P. M., Griffiths, M. R., Long, J. M., Charrier, J. D., Maccormick, S., Charlton, P. A., et al. (2011). Selective killing of ATM- or p53-deficient cancer cells through inhibition of ATR. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 7 (7), 428–430. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.573
- Ruzzo, A., Graziano, F., Loupakis, F., Rulli, E., Canestrari, E., Santini, D., et al. (2007). Pharmacogenetic profiling in patients with advanced colorectal cancer treated with first-line FOLFOX-4 chemotherapy. J. Clin. Oncol. 25 (10), 1247– 1254. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.08.1844
- Sfakianaki, M., Papadaki, C., Tzardi, M., Trypaki, M., Alam, S., Lagoudaki, E. D., et al. (2019). Loss of LKB1 Protein Expression Correlates with Increased Risk of Recurrence and Death in Patients with Resected, Stage II or III Colon Cancer. *Cancer Res. Treat* 51 (4), 1518–1526. doi: 10.4143/crt.2019.008
- Shahnam, A., Ridha, Z., Wiese, M. D., Kichenadasse, G., and Sorich, M. J. (2016). Pharmacogenetic and ethnicity influence on oxaliplatin therapy for colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenomics* 17 (15), 1725–1732. doi: 10.2217/ pgs-2016-0102
- Shannon, N. B., Tan, J. W., Tan, H. L., Wang, W., Chen, Y., Lim, H. J., et al. (2019). A set of molecular markers predicts chemosensitivity to Mitomycin-C following cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy for colorectal peritoneal metastasis. *Sci. Rep.* 9 (1), 10572. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46819-z
- Shiloh, Y. (2003). ATM and related protein kinases: safeguarding genome integrity. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3 (3), 155-168. doi: 10.1038/nrc1011
- Shirota, Y., Stoehlmacher, J., Brabender, J., Xiong, Y. P., Uetake, H., Danenberg, K. D., et al. (2001). ERCC1 and thymidylate synthase mRNA levels predict survival for colorectal cancer patients receiving combination oxaliplatin and fluorouracil chemotherapy. J. Clin. Oncol. 19 (23), 4298–4304. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2001.19.23.4298
- Sijbers, A. M., de Laat, W. L., Ariza, R. R., Biggerstaff, M., Wei, Y. F., Moggs, J. G., et al. (1996). Xeroderma pigmentosum group F caused by a defect in a structure-specific DNA repair endonuclease. *Cell* 86 (5), 811–822. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80155-5
- Simkens, G. A., Rovers, K. P., Nienhuijs, S. W., and de Hingh, I. H. (2017). Patient selection for cytoreductive surgery and HIPEC for the treatment of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer. *Cancer Manag. Res.* 9, 259–266. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S119569
- Steger, M., Murina, O., Huhn, D., Ferretti, L. P., Walser, R., Hanggi, K., et al. (2013). Prolyl isomerase PIN1 regulates DNA double-strand break repair by counteracting DNA end resection. *Mol. Cell* 50 (3), 333–343. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2013.03.023
- Stevens, E. V., Nishizuka, S., Antony, S., Reimers, M., Varma, S., Young, L., et al. (2008). Predicting cisplatin and trabectedin drug sensitivity in ovarian and colon cancers. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 7 (1), 10–18. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-0192
- Stoehlmacher, J., Park, D. J., Zhang, W., Yang, D., Groshen, S., Zahedy, S., et al. (2004). A multivariate analysis of genomic polymorphisms: prediction of clinical outcome to 5-FU/oxaliplatin combination chemotherapy in refractory colorectal cancer. Br. J. Cancer 91 (2), 344–354. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601975
- Suenaga, M., Schirripa, M., Cao, S., Zhang, W., Yang, D., Cremolini, C., et al. (2018). Potential role of PIN1 genotypes in predicting benefit from oxaliplatinbased and irinotecan-based treatment in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 18 (5), 623–632. doi: 10.1038/s41397-018-0030-8
- Sugarbaker, P. H. (1995). Peritonectomy procedures. Ann. Surg. 221 (1), 29–42. doi: 10.1097/0000658-199501000-00004
- Sugasawa, K., Ng, J. M., Masutani, C., Iwai, S., van der Spek, P. J., Eker, A. P., et al. (1998). Xeroderma pigmentosum group C protein complex is the initiator of global genome nucleotide excision repair. *Mol. Cell* 2 (2), 223–232. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80132-X
- Suh, K. W., Kim, J. H., Kim, D. Y., Kim, Y. B., Lee, C., and Choi, S. (2006). Which gene is a dominant predictor of response during FOLFOX chemotherapy for the treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer, the MTHFR or XRCC1 gene? *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 13 (11), 1379–1385. doi: 10.1245/s10434-006-9112-y
- Sundar, R., Miranda, S., Rodrigues, D. N., Chenard-Poirier, M., Dolling, D., Clarke, M., et al. (2018). Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated Protein Loss and

Benefit From Oxaliplatin-based Chemotherapy in Colorectal Cancer. Clin. Colorectal Cancer 17 (4), 280–284. doi: 10.1016/j.clcc.2018.05.011

- Uziel, T., Lerenthal, Y., Moyal, L., Andegeko, Y., Mittelman, L., and Shiloh, Y. (2003). Requirement of the MRN complex for ATM activation by DNA damage. *EMBO J.* 22 (20), 5612–5621. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg541
- van Huis-Tanja, L. H., Kweekel, D. M., Lu, X., Franken, K., Koopman, M., Gelderblom, H., et al. (2014). Excision Repair Cross-Complementation group 1 (ERCC1) C118T SNP does not affect cellular response to oxaliplatin. *Mutat. Res.* 759, 37–44. doi: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2013.11.001
- Verwaal, V. J., van Ruth, S., de Bree, E., van Sloothen, G. W., van Tinteren, H., Boot, H., et al. (2003). Randomized trial of cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy and palliative surgery in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 21 (20), 3737–3743. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2003.04.187
- Walsh, C. S., Ogawa, S., Karahashi, H., Scoles, D. R., Pavelka, J. C., Tran, H., et al. (2008). ERCC5 is a novel biomarker of ovarian cancer prognosis. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 26 (18), 2952–2958. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.13.5806
- Weber, C. A., Salazar, E. P., Stewart, S. A., and Thompson, L. H. (1990). ERCC2: cDNA cloning and molecular characterization of a human nucleotide excision repair gene with high homology to yeast RAD3. *EMBO J.* 9 (5), 1437–1447. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1990.tb08260.x
- Yin, M., Yan, J., Martinez-Balibrea, E., Graziano, F., Lenz, H. J., Kim, H. J., et al. (2011). ERCC1 and ERCC2 polymorphisms predict clinical outcomes of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapies in gastric and colorectal cancer: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17 (6), 1632–1640. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-10-2169
- Zaanan, A., Dalban, C., Emile, J. F., Blons, H., Flejou, J. F., Goumard, C., et al. (2014). ERCC1, XRCC1 and GSTP1 Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms and Survival of Patients with Colon Cancer Receiving Oxaliplatin-Based Adjuvant Chemotherapy. J. Cancer 5 (6), 425–432. doi: 10.7150/jca.8594

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hulshof, Lim, de Hingh, Gelderblom, Guchelaar and Deenen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Risperidone-Induced Obesity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder: Genetic and Clinical Risk Factors

Natchaya Vanwong<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Nattawat Ngamsamut<sup>4</sup>, Nopphadol Nuntamool<sup>5</sup>, Yaowaluck Hongkaew<sup>1,2</sup>, Rattanaporn Sukprasong<sup>1,2</sup>, Apichaya Puangpetch<sup>1,2</sup>, Penkhae Limsila<sup>4</sup> and Chonlaphat Sukasem<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Pharmacogenomics and Personalized Medicine, Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine Ramathibodi Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Laboratory for Pharmacogenomics, Somdech Phra Debaratana Medical Center (SDMC), Ramathibodi Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Chemistry, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>4</sup>Yuwaprasart Waithayopathum Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Hospital, Department of Mental Health Services, Ministry of Public Health, Samut Prakan, Thailand, <sup>5</sup>Department of Pharmaceutical Care, Faculty of Pharmacy, Payap University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

José A. G. Agúndez, University of Extremadura, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Melih O. Babaoglu, Hacettepe University, Turkey Xi Wu, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China

\*Correspondence:

Chonlaphat Sukasem chonlaphat.suk@mahidol.ac.th

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 23 May 2020 Accepted: 23 September 2020 Published: 06 November 2020

#### Citation:

Vanwong N, Ngamsamut N, Nuntamool N, Hongkaew Y, Sukprasong R, Puangpetch A, Limsila P and Sukasem C (2020) Risperidone-Induced Obesity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder: Genetic and Clinical Risk Factors. Front. Pharmacol. 11:565074. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.565074 **Aims:** Obesity is a significant problem for patients taking atypical antipsychotics. There were two aims of our study. The first aim was to compare the prevalence of overweight and obesity between children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) treated with risperidone with the general pediatric population. The second aim was to investigate the association of the *HTR2C -759C>T*, *ABCB1 1236C>T*, *ABCB1 2677G>T/A*, and *ABCB1 3435C>T* polymorphisms with risperidone-induced overweight and obesity in children and adolescents with ASD.

**Methods:** Body weight and height were measured in 134 subjects. Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents were classified using the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) criteria. Genotyping was performed by TaqMan real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR).

**Results:** Our study found that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was significantly higher in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone compared with healthy individuals (p = 0.01 and p = 0.002). The genetic polymorphisms of *HTR2C* –759C>T, ABCB1 1236C>T, ABCB1 2677G>T/A, and ABCB1 3435C>T were not associated with overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone after adjustment for multiple comparisons by the method of Bonferroni. Additionally, haplotype analysis revealed that there was no significant association between *ABCB1 3435T-267TT/A-1236T* haplotype and overweight/obesity. In multivariate logistic regression, after adjustment by the Bonferroni correction, there was only the duration of risperidone treatment that was significantly associated with overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD.

**Conclusions:** The findings suggest that children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone are at a higher risk of obesity, especially patients with extended treatment with risperidone. For the pharmacogenetic factors, -759C>T polymorphism of *HTR2C* gene

109

and 1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms of ABCB1 gene were not likely to be associated with the susceptibility to overweight/obesity in children and adolescents treated with risperidone. Due to the small sample size, further studies with a larger independent group are needed to confirm these findings.

Keywords: obesity, children and adolescents, autism spectrum disorder, risperidone, ABCB1, HTR2C

## INTRODUCTION

The use of atypical antipsychotics (AAPs) in children and adolescents has increased sharply over the last decade (Comer et al., 2010; Olfson et al., 2010). Risperidone is an AAP approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for treating behavioral disturbances in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) (Hsia et al., 2014; LeClerc and Easley, 2015). A particularly concerning side effect of AAPs is weight gain (Calarge et al., 2009; Correll et al., 2009) as childhood obesity is one of the most significant public health concerns (Chia and Boston, 2006; Güngör, 2014). Weight gain and obesity pose health risks in children and adolescents including sleepdisordered breathing (Bixler et al., 2009), hypertension (Friedemann et al., 2012), dyslipidemia (Friedemann et al., 2012), type 2 diabetes (Goran et al., 2003), cardiovascular disease (Umer et al., 2017), cancer (Weihrauch-Blüher et al., 2019), and reduced lifespan regardless of adult weight status (Must et al., 2012). Obesity also presents a major economic burden (Trasande and Chatterjee, 2009; Wang and Dietz, 2002). Therefore, the prevention and management of overweight and obesity are necessary for children and adolescents undergoing treatment with AAPs.

There is significant inter-individual susceptibility to AAPinduced weight gain in childhood (Correll et al., 2009), yet the pharmacogenomics underlying this relationship is still poorly understood. Several studies have examined the relationship between genetic factors and AAP-induced weight gain. Genetic variations of AAP target receptors have been widely studied for their potential use as genetic markers to predict side effects such as weight gain and obesity. Risperidone is a potent antagonist of the serotonin receptor 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor 2C (HTR2C) (Di Matteo et al., 2002), a proposed target for AAPinduced weight gain (Tecott et al., 1995). Studies in adult patients have shown that genetic polymorphisms in the HTR2C gene are associated with inter-individual differences in antipsychoticinduced weight gain. Reynolds and colleagues found that the HTR2C -759T>C allele is protective against weight gain in patients with schizophrenia treated with antipsychotics (Reynolds et al., 2002). However, previous studies have failed to establish a consistent effect of the -759C>T polymorphism in AAP-induced weight gain (Ellingrod et al., 2005; Park et al., 2008; Tsai et al., 2002).

In addition to target receptors, the efflux transporter P-glycoprotein (P-gp), encoded by the *ABCB1* gene, plays an essential role in antipsychotic drug response. P-gp regulates drug bioavailability by controlling transport across the blood-brain barrier (McCaffrey and Davis, 2012), kidney (Masereeuw and Russel, 2012), and other organs. Risperidone has a strong affinity

for P-gp in vitro (Boulton et al., 2002), supporting a mechanism by which ABCB1 gene polymorphisms might influence risperidone pharmacokinetics and weight gain. Interestingly, the ABCB1 gene is highly polymorphic, with more than 1,200 identified single nucleotide polymorphisms (Fung and Gottesman, 2009). The three most common ABCB1 polymorphisms include two silent polymorphisms, c.1236C>T (exon 12, p.Glu412Glu) and c.3435C>T (exon 26, p.Ile1145Ile), and the missense variant c.2677G>T/A (exon 21, p.Ala893Ser/ Thr), each of which has been shown to significantly minimize P-gp functionality in vitro (Salama et al., 2006). Additionally, 2677G>T/A and 3435C>T result in decreased intestinal ABCB1 expression (Hoffmeyer et al., 2000). Moreover, ABCB1 2677G>T/ A and 3435C>T polymorphisms were shown to influence risperidone-induced weight gain in patients with schizophrenia (Kuzman et al., 2008).

The aims of this study were 1) to compare the prevalence of overweight and obesity between children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone with the general pediatric population and 2) to investigate the association of genetic polymorphisms of the target receptor gene HTR2C -759C>T (rs3813929) and efflux transporter gene ABCB1 1236C>T 2677G>T/A (rs2032582) (rs1128503), and 3435C>T (rs1045642) with overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone. We hypothesized that children with ASD might be vulnerable to obesity, compared to the general pediatric population. Moreover, considering the role of target receptor HTR2C and efflux transporter P-gp in risperidone pharmacokinetics, we hypothesized that polymorphisms in the HTR2C and ABCB1 genes might impact obesity in children and adolescents treated with risperidone.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

Between 2012 and 2013, 134 children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) were recruited from Yuwaprasart Waithayopathum Child Psychiatric Hospital, Samut Prakan, Thailand. Patient compliance was confirmed by the nursing staff. All patients 1) were diagnosed with ASD according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) criteria, 2) were medicated with risperidone for more than 3 months, and 3) had a complete record of duration and dose of risperidone treatment. We excluded patients 1) who changed medication or were unable to take medicine regularly, 2) with a known history of serious physical conditions, and 3) who took valproic acid, carbamazepine, and lithium. All patients signed an informed consent document before enrolling in the project. Bodyweight and height were measured cross-sectionally with light clothing in the morning. Age, gender, duration of risperidone treatment, the dose of risperidone, and concomitant medication were recorded. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Ramathibodi Hospital, Mahidol University (MURA2011/541). After the clinician and researcher described the protocol to the patients, the parents of all children involved in the study gave informed written consent to participate. The authors confirm that all research was performed following relevant guidelines and regulations.

## **Blood Collection and Genotyping Analysis**

Blood samples were obtained after overnight fasting and were collected by venipuncture into EDTA. Whole blood was used for genotype analysis. DNA was isolated using the MagNA Pure automated extraction system (Roche Applied Science, Penzberg, Germany). Genotyping was performed by allele-specific TaqMan MGB probe 5' nuclease assay with real-time polymerase chain reaction ViiA 7 system (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies). TaqMan-based analysis was performed with indicated primers: HTR2C -759C>T (rs3813929; assay ID: C\_27488117\_10), ABCB1 1236C>T (rs1128503; assay ID: C\_\_\_7586662\_10), ABCB1 2677G>T/A (rs2032582; assay ID: C\_11711720C\_30), ABCB1 3435C>T (rs1045642; assay ID: C\_7586657\_20). Each 20 µl PCR mixture contained 4 µl 5 ng/µl genomic DNA, 10 µl TaqMan Genotyping Mastermix, 1 µl allele-specific TaqMan MGB probe and sequence-specific primer kit, and 5 µl DNase-free H<sub>2</sub>O. The thermal cycler program was set up as follows: 95°C for 10 min followed by 50 repeated cycles at 92°C for 15 s and 60°C for 90 s. The allelic discrimination plot was generated by ViiA 7 software (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies). In this study, we selected single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from the HCB (Han Chinese in Beijing, China) database in the International Hap-Map Project (http://hapmap.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov). The SNPs with minor allele frequencies >10% for each gene were selected for this study.

#### **Classification of Overweight and Obesity**

Overweight and obesity were classified using the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) criteria, which were established using data sets from six different countries (Cole et al., 2000). According to the IOTF guidelines, the international cut-off points for children and adolescents between 2 and 18 years are a body mass index (BMI) of 25 and 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for overweight and obesity, respectively. We compared the prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone with agematched participants derived from the general child population (Jitnarin et al., 2011).

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS program. Descriptive analysis was used to summarize the clinical characteristics of patients. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was used to test for normal distribution with a 95% confidence level (95% CI). Data were conveyed as a median and interquartile

range (IQR) due to a non-normal distribution and compared with non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test. the Genetic polymorphisms were assessed for concordance with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE). Chi-squared analysis or Fisher's exact test was used to determine the association between categorical measures, including allele and the presence/absence of obesity. Multiple logistic regression analysis was used to evaluate factors significantly associated with risperidone-induced obesity. Analysis of the ABCB1 haplotype associated with overweight/ obesity was performed using the Haploview program v4.2 (Broad Institute, Cambridge, MA, United States). Statistical significance was set at p-value < 0.05. Bonferroni's correction was applied to adjust for multiple comparisons. According to Bonferroni's procedure, corrected p-values (Pc) were calculated by p-values multiplied for the following numbers: for genotypes and alleles = 4, for haplotypes = 6, for the multiple regressions model = 9. Then the significance of Pc value was set to be 0.05.

# RESULTS

Comparison of the Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity Between Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder Treated With Risperidone and the General Pediatric Population Using International Obesity Task Force Criteria

Among the general pediatric population (Jitnarin et al., 2011), 9.2% of children were overweight and 6.5% were obese, whereas 21.6% of children with ASD treated with risperidone from the current study were overweight and 21.6% were obese (**Table 1**). When classified by age group, no overweight or obesity was observed in children with ASD under the age of 6 years old. Differences in overweight and obesity among children with ASD treated with risperidone compared with the general population were present from 6 years onward. The prevalence of overweight and obesity between children treated with risperidone and the general pediatric population are summarized in **Table 1**.

#### Impact of Clinical Characteristics on the Presence of Overweight/Obesity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder

A total of 134 children and adolescents with ASD (121 males, 90.3%; 13 females, 9.7%) with a median age of 10.00 years (IQR = 8.58-12.95) were included in this analysis (**Table 2**). The prevalence of overweight/obesity varied for each age group. The median duration of risperidone treatment was 65.10 months (IQR = 42.10-84.67) and the median daily dose of risperidone was 1.00 mg/day (IQR = 0.50-1.50). Sixty-seven patients (50.0%) received risperidone monotherapy; the remaining 67 (50.0%) received another drug in conjunction with risperidone. We found that age, duration of risperidone treatment, and the dose of risperidone had a statistically significant association with the presence of overweight/obesity.

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			Overweight				Obesity	,	
B55 (9.20%)  29 (21.60%)  2.85 (1.24-6.56)  0.01*  604 (6.50%)  29 (21.60%)  3.79 (1.53-9.33)    s  242 (2.60%)  0 (0.00%)  0.32 (0.03-3.16)  0.37"  269 (2.90%)  0 (0.00%)  0.32 (0.03-3.16)    ars  390 (4.20%)  15 (11.20%)  2.97 (0.91-9.66)  0.06  251 (2.70%)  20 (14.90%)  5.70 (1.59-20.38)    ars  223 (2.40%)  14 (10.40%)  5.44 (1.16-25.52)  0.02*  84 (0.30%)  9 (6.70%)  7.45 (0.90-61.73)		Healthy children (n = 855 from 9,287) (Jitnarin et al., 2011)	Children with ASD ( <i>n</i> = 29 from 134)	Odds ratio (95%confidence intervals)	<i>p</i> -value	Healthy children ( <i>n</i> = 604 from 9,287) (Jitnarin et al., 2011)	Children with ASD ( <i>n</i> = 29 from 134)	Odds ratio (95%confidence intervals)	<i>p</i> -value
s 242 (2.60%) 0 (0.00%) 0.32 (0.03-3.16) 0.37 <sup>a</sup> 269 (2.90%) 0 (0.00%) 0.32 (0.03-3.16) Irs 390 (4.20%) 15 (11.20%) 2.97 (0.91-9.66) 0.06 251 (2.70%) 20 (14.90%) 5.70 (1.59-20.38) ans 223 (2.40%) 14 (10.40%) 5.44 (1.16-25.52) 0.02* 84 (0.90%) 9 (6.70%) 7.45 (0.90-61.73)	Total	855 (9.20%)	29 (21.60%)	2.85 (1.24–6.56)	0.01*	604 (6.50%)	29 (21.60%)	3.79 (1.53–9.33)	0.002*
z4z (z.00%) U (J.J.U.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.%) U (J.J.U.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.%) U J.Z. (J.J.G.Z.0.38) 390 (4.20%) 15 (11.20%) 5.70 (1.59–20.38) 0.06 251 (2.70%) 20 (14.90%) 5.70 (1.59–20.38) s 223 (2.40%) 14 (10.40%) 5.44 (1.16–25.52) 0.02* 84 (0.30%) 9 (6.70%) 7.45 (0.90–61.73)	Age group				0.078				000
390 (4.20%)  15 (11.20%)  2.97 (0.91-9.66)  0.06  251 (2.70%)  20 (14.90%)  5.70 (1.59-20.38)    s  223 (2.40%)  14 (10.40%)  5.44 (1.16-25.52)  0.02*  84 (0.30%)  9 (6.70%)  7.45 (0.90-61.73)	3-b years	242 (2.60%)	U (U.UU%)	0.32 (0.03–3.16)	0.37	269 (2:90%)	0 (0.00%)	0.32 (0.03-3.16)	0.32
223 (2.40%) 14 (10.40%) 5.44 (1.16-25.52) 0.02* 84 (0.90%) 9 (6.70%) 7.45 (0.90-61.73) (	6-11 years	390 (4.20%)	15 (11.20%)	2.97 (0.91–9.66)	0.06	251 (2.70%)	20 (14.90%)	5.70 (1.59–20.38)	0.01*
	12-18 years	223 (2.40%)	14 (10.40%)	5.44 (1.16–25.52)	0.02*	84 (0.90%)	9 (6.70%)	7.45 (0.90–61.73)	0.03*
	<sup>a</sup> Data analyzed w	ith Fisher's exact test.							
adata analyzed with Fisher's exact test.	*Statistical signific	*Statistical significance of p-value $< 0.05$ .							

**TABLE 1** | Comparison of the prevalence of overweight and obesity in children with ASD treated with risperidone and the general pediatric population using IOTF criteria (n = 134)

The details of the clinical characteristics and their association with overweight/obesity are described in **Table 2**.

#### Association of *HTR2C* –759C>T, *ABCB1* 1236C>T, *ABCB1* 2677G>T/A, and *ABCB1* 3435C>T Polymorphisms With Risperidone-Induced Overweight/Obesity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder

This study investigated the relation of overweight/obesity with HTR2C -759C>T, ABCB1 1236C>T, ABCB1 2677G>T/A, and ABCB1 3435C>T polymorphisms in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone. There was no association of overweight/obesity with HTR2C -759C>T polymorphism (Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.48) (Table 3) or with ABCB1 1236C>T, ABCB1 2677G>T/A, and ABCB1 3435C>T polymorphisms (Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.48), (Table 3) or with ABCB1 1236C>T, ABCB1 2677G>T/A, and ABCB1 3435C>T polymorphisms (Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.08, 0.08, and 0.36, respectively) (Table 4). Moreover, for gender analysis, ABCB1 and HTR2C genes polymorphisms were not related to overweight/obesity in both males and females (Tables 3, 4).

The most frequently observed *ABCB1* haplotypes for 1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms were identified in patients enrolled in the current study (**Table 5**). There was no association between the *ABCB1* haplotypes and overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (**Table 5**).

#### Multivariate Logistic Regression Analysis of Predictive Factors for Overweight/Obesity in Children and Adolescents With Autism Spectrum Disorder

A multivariate logistic regression analysis was applied to analyze the association of risperidone-induced overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with genetic variables and nongenetic variables. The results demonstrated that the *ABCB1 1236C>T* and duration of risperidone treatment associated with overweight/obesity. However, after Bonferroni correction, only the duration of risperidone treatment was significantly related to overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD (OR = 1.02, 95% CI [1.01, 1.04], Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.009) (**Table 6**).

#### DISCUSSION

The pandemic of obesity and its long-term consequences on healthspan and longevity is a major global challenge. The growing prevalence of obesity in childhood, especially, portends a staggering burden of disease in individuals and healthcare systems in the decades to come (Hruby and Hu, 2015; Skinner et al., 2018). Several studies indicate that risperidone is an AAP that causes weight gain (Calarge et al., 2009; Correll et al., 2009). Moreover, weight gain is a cause of non-adherence with risperidone medication in

Total  Healthy weight (n = 76)    Gender  Male, n (%)  121 (90.30%)  67 (88.20%)    Female, n (%)  13 (9.70%)  9 (11.80%)    Age, years (IQR)  10.00 (8.58–12.95)  9.40 (7.55–11.53)    Age group  7 (5 000)  7 (9 000)	Overweight/obesity ( $n = 58$ )		
Male, n (%)  121 (90.30%)  67 (88.20%)    Female, n (%)  13 (9.70%)  9 (11.80%)    Age, years (IQR)  10.00 (8.58–12.95)  9.40 (7.55–11.53)    Age group  Age group  10.00 (8.58–12.95)  9.40 (7.55–11.53)		p-value	
Female, n (%)  13 (9.70%)  9 (11.80%)    Age, years (IQR)  10.00 (8.58–12.95)  9.40 (7.55–11.53)    Age group			
Age, years (IQR)  10.00 (8.58–12.95)  9.40 (7.55–11.53)    Age group  9.40 (7.55–11.53)  9.40 (7.55–11.53)	54 (93.10%)	0.19 <sup>a</sup>	
Age group	4 (6.90%)		
	10.95 (9.48–13.90)	0.001 <sup>b,c,,</sup>	
2 = 5 + 600 (1) $7 = (0.00) (1)$			
3–5 years, n (%) 7 (5.20%) 7 (9.20%)	0 (0.00%)	0.01 <sup>a</sup>	
6–11 years, n (%) 88 (65.70%) 53 (69.70%)	35 (60.30%)		
12–18 years, n (%) 39 (29.10%) 16 (21.10%)	23 (39.70%)		
Duration of risperidone, months 65.10 (42.10–84.67) 55.45 (32.08–79.14)	68.57 (59.92–93.83)	0.01 <sup>b,c,*</sup>	
Dose of risperidone, mg/day 1.00 (0.50–1.50) 0.78 (0.50–1.00)	1.00 (0.50-2.00)	0.03 <sup>b,c,*</sup>	
Drug regimen			
Risperidone single regimen, <i>n</i> (%) 67 (50.00%) 39 (51.30%)	28 (48.30%)	0.69 <sup>a</sup>	
Concomitant medication, n (%) 67 (50.00%) 37 (48.70%)	30 (51.70%)		
Aripiprazole 1 (1.49%) 1 (2.70%)	0 (0.00%)		
Diphenhydramine 1 (1.49%) 0 (0.00%)	1 (3.33%)		
Methylphenidate 52 (77.61%) 30 (81.09%)	22 (73.33%)		
Fluoxetine 6 (8.96%) 2 (5.41%)	4 (13.34%)		
Folic acid 1 (1.49%) 1 (2.70%)	0 (0.00%)		
Atomoxetine 2 (2.99%) 1 (2.70%)	1 (3.33%)		
Sertraline 3 (4.48%) 1 (2.70%)	2 (6.67%)		
Topiramate 1 (1.49%) 1 (2.70%)	0 (0.00%)		

TABLE 2 | Impact of clinical characteristics on the presence of overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (n = 134).

<sup>a</sup>Data analyzed with the chi-square test.

<sup>b</sup>Data are shown as median (interquartile range).

<sup>c</sup>Data analyzed with the Mann–Whitney U test.

\*Statistical significance of p-value < 0.05.

children and adolescents (Ceylan et al., 2017). Thus, it is critical to mitigating weight gain as a consequence of risperidone treatment.

Our study indicates that the prevalence of overweight and obesity was significantly higher among children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone compared with the general pediatric population (9.2% vs. 21.6%, p = 0.01 and 6.5% vs. 21.6%, p = 0.002, respectively; **Table 1**), consistent with a previous study (Hill et al., 2015). These results indicate that the different trajectories of weight gain in these patient populations may start in early childhood. Although risk factors for obesity are similar in children with ASD and the general child population (Kipping et al., 2008; Kirk et al., 2010),

children with ASD might be susceptible to other risks such as food selectivity (Schreck et al., 2004; Sharp et al., 2013) and a sedentary lifestyle (Bandini et al., 2013; Must et al., 2014). Our results also support a previous study that demonstrated risperidone was related to an average weight gain in children compared with placebo (McCracken et al., 2002). Taken together, the increased prevalence of obesity observed in patients with ASD may be the result of the lifestyle and/or risperidone medication (Calarge et al., 2009; Scahill et al., 2016) or additional undefined factors.

This study assessed the contribution of non-genetic variables on overweight/obesity in patients with ASD, revealing that the age of patients, a higher dose of

			HTR2C -759C>T		
	Absence of the T allele ( $n = 108$ )	Presence of the T allele ( <i>n</i> = 26)	Odds ratio (95% Cl)	<i>p</i> -value	Corrected <i>p</i> -value <sup>6</sup>
All (n = 134)					
Healthy weight ( $n = 76$ )	64 (84.20%)	12 (15.80%)	1.69 (0.87-3.30)	0.12	0.48
Overweight/obesity ( $n = 58$ )	44 (75.90%)	14 (24.10%)			
Male (n = 121)					
Healthy weight $(n = 67)$	58 (86.60%)	9 (13.40%)	2.25 (0.89-5.71)	0.08	0.32
Overweight/obesity ( $n = 54$ )	40 (74.10%)	14 (25.90%)			
Female ( $n = 13$ )					
Healthy weight $(n = 9)$	6 (66.70%)	3 (33.30%)	0.05 (0.28-0.88)	0.23 <sup>b</sup>	0.92
Overweight/obesity $(n = 4)$	4 (100.00%)	0 (0.00%)			

TABLE 3 Association between HTR2C -759C>T polymorphism and overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (n = 134).

Data analyzed with the chi-square test.

<sup>a</sup>p-values after Bonferroni's correction for multiple tests.

<sup>b</sup>Data analyzed with the Fisher's exact test.

ontiers in	
Pharmacology	
www.frontiersin.org	

Fro

		AE	8CB1 1236C>T				AB	CB1 2677G>T	7/A			AB	CB1 3435C>T		
	Absence of the T allele (n = 23)	Presence of the T allele (n = 111)	Odds ratio (95% Cl)	<i>p-</i> value	Corrected <i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>	Absence of the T/A allele (n = 36)	Presence of the T/A allele (n = 98)	Odds ratio (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Corrected <i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>	Absence of the T allele (n = 49)	Presence of the T allele (n = 85)	Odd ratio (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value	Corrected <i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>
All (n = 134)															
Healthy weight	18	58	3.29	0.02*	0.08	26	50	2.50	0.02*	0.08	32	44	1.75	0.09	0.36
(n = 76)	(23.70%)	(76.30%)	(1.18–9.17)			(34.20%)	(65.80%)	(1.14–5.45)			(42.10%)	(57.90%)	(0.91-3.40)		
Overweight/	5 (8.60%)	53				10	48				17	41			
obesity ( $n = 58$ )		(91.40%)				(17.20%)	(82.80%)				(29.30%)	(70.70%)			
Males (n = 121)															
Healthy weight	15	52	2.83	0.04*	0.16	23	44	2.30	0.052	0.21	27	40	1.60	0.22	0.88
(n = 67)	(22.40%)	(77.60%)	(0.99–8.07)			(34.30%)	(65.70%)	(0.98–5.39)			(40.30%)	(59.70%)	(0.75–3.43)		
Overweight/	5 (9.30%)	49				10	44				16	38			
obesity ( $n = 54$ )		(90.70%)				(18.50%)	(81.50%)				(29.60%)	(70.40%)			
Females ( $n = 13$ )															
Healthy weight	3	6 (66.70%)	0.80	0.53 <sup>b</sup>	2.12	3	6	0.80	0.53 <sup>b</sup>	2.12	5	4	3.75	0.35 <sup>b</sup>	1.4
(n = 9)	(33.30%)		(0.62-1.03)			(33.30%)	(66.70%)	(0.62–1.03)			(55.60%)	(44.40%)	(0.34-41.08)		
Overweight/	0 (0.00%)	4				0 (0.00%)	4				1	3			
obesity $(n = 4)$		(100.00%)					(100.00%)				(25.00%)	(75.00%)			

TABLE 4 | Association between ABCB1 1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms and overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (n = 134).

Data analyzed with the chi-square test.

<sup>a</sup>p-values after Bonferroni's correction for multiple tests.

<sup>b</sup>Data analyzed with the Fisher's exact test.

\*Statistical significance of p-value < 0.05.

Haplotypes C3435T-G2677T/A-C1236T	Haplotype frequencies	Clinical outcome in o treated with r	x <sup>2</sup>	<i>p</i> -value	Corrected <i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>		
		Overweight/obesity	Healthy weight				
ттт	0.350	0.409	0.306	3.042	0.0811	0.4866	
CGC	0.261	0.235	0.281	0.700	0.4029	2.4174	
CGT	0.193	0.175	0.207	0.418	0.5177	3.1062	
CTC	0.075	0.061	0.085	0.521	0.4702	2.8212	
СП	0.072	0.089	0.060	0.823	0.3644	2.1864	
TGC	0.042	0.021	0.059	2.380	0.1229	0.7374	

TABLE 5 | Frequency of ABCB1 haplotypes in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone with overweight/obesity and with healthy weight (n = 134).

Haplotype order: C3435T-G2677T/A-C1236T.

<sup>a</sup>p-values after Bonferroni's correction for multiple tests.

risperidone, and/or a longer treatment time are related to overweight/obesity in children and adolescents treated with risperidone (**Table 2**). However, after adjustment for multivariate regression analysis, only the duration of risperidone treatment was found to correlate with overweight/obesity in children and adolescents (OR = 1.02, 95% CI [1.01, 1.04], Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.009; **Table 6**). Our finding is consistent with previous studies in children and adolescents treated with risperidone (Calarge et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2004). Since the pathophysiology of risperidone-associated obesity remains poorly understood, the involvement of non-genetic factors on the risk of obesity in children and adolescents with ASD requires further evaluation.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the pharmacogenetic impact of HTR2C -759C>T, ABCB1 1236C>T, ABCB1 2677G>T/A, and ABCB1 3435C>T polymorphisms on overweight/obesity in Thai children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone. The role of the serotonergic system on appetite control has been known for decades (Lee and Clifton, 2010; Feijo et al., 2011). Notably, the HTR2C receptor can regulate satiety and food intake (Lee and Clifton, 2010). Tecott et al. (1995) revealed that HTR2C receptordeficient mice are overweight as a result of abnormal control of feeding behavior. Moreover, HTR2C receptor antagonists have been found to delay or prevent the onset of satiety, thereby increasing the size of the meal and weight gain (Balt et al., 2011). The risperidone is an antagonist against the HTR2C receptor (Di Matteo et al., 2002), suggesting that HTR2C gene polymorphisms might inform risperidone pharmacogenetics. Antipsychotics downregulate mRNA levels of HTR2C in rodents (Buckland et al., 1997). In the context of the HTR2C -759C>T gene polymorphism, the -759T allele is more abundantly expressed

than -759C (Buckland et al., 2005). Many genetic studies have reported an association of the HTR2C -759C>T gene polymorphism with antipsychotic-induced weight gain. Reynolds et al. (2002) found that Chinese patients with schizophrenia with -759T allele experienced were significantly protected from weight gain after treatment with antipsychotics for 10 weeks. The protective potential of the -759T allele has also been established in a small trial in youths with ASD treated with risperidone for eight weeks (Hoekstra et al., 2010). However, in our study, the HTR2C -759C>T polymorphism was not associated with obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (Tables 3, 6). Several factors could contribute to the discrepancy, such as inconsistencies in study and treatment duration (Hoekstra et al., 2010; Revnolds et al., 2002), ethnicity, study design, and sample size (; Sicard et al., 2010; Gregoor et al., 2011; Lett et al., 2012; Daray et al., 2017). Importantly, subjects in our study were treated with risperidone for at least one year, yielding results consistent with a prior study of children and adolescents with long-term risperidone treatment (Del Castillo et al., 2013).

Risperidone has a strong affinity to P-gp *in vitro* (Boulton et al., 2002) and it is extensively localized in cerebral capillaries forming the blood-brain barrier (Cordon-Cardo et al., 1989). Moreover, an animal study indicated that P-gp in the blood-brain barrier significantly affects the brain concentrations of risperidone and 9-OH-risperidone by limiting their CNS access (Wang et al., 2004). P-gp is encoded by *ABCB1*, a highly polymorphic gene (Ito et al., 2001; Kroetz et al., 2003). *ABCB1 1236C>T*, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms significantly minimize P-gp functionality *in vitro* (Salama et al., 2006). Since brain penetration of risperidone and 9-OH-risperidone is limited by P-gp (Wang et al., 2004), patients with

**TABLE 6** | Multivariate logistic regression analysis of predictive factors for risperidone-induced overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (n = 134).

Predictive factors	β (SE)	Odd ratio (95%confidence intervals)	<i>p</i> -value	Corrected <i>p</i> -value <sup>a</sup>
ABCB1 (1236C>T)	1.51 (0.59)	4.52 (1.44–14.23)	0.01	0.09
Duration of treatment	0.21 (0.01)	1.02 (1.01–1.04)	0.001*	0.009*

Data are from logistic regression analyses; backward stepwise method. Variables entered on method: HTR2C –759C>T, ABCB1 1236C>T, ABCB1 2677G>T/A, ABCB1 3435C>T, age, gender, duration of treatment, risperidone dose, and co-medication. β, regression coefficient; SE, standard error.

<sup>a</sup>p-values after Bonferroni's correction for multiple tests.

\*Statistical significance of p < 0.05.

1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms would likely have decreased P-gp functionality in the blood-brain barrier, a lower efflux function for risperidone, and consequent accumulation of risperidone in the brain. Moreover, the variants of these three coding SNPs, at nucleotides 1236, 2677, and 3435 are in high linkage disequilibrium (Fung and Gottesman, 2009; Hoffmeyer et al., 2000). The previous study showed that patients with ABCB1 1236T-2677T-3435T haplotype affected the circulating levels of 9-hydroxyrisperidone and the active moiety (Gunes et al., 2008). Therefore, ABCB1 gene polymorphisms might affect risperidone access to the brain and consequent adverse drug effects such as weight gain. In the present work, analysis of the 1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms in the ABCB1 gene have shown that 1236C>T and 2677T>A polymorphisms seem to be associated with overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone. However, after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, none of the variants exceeded a significant threshold (Table 4). Consistently, our haplotype analysis demonstrated that there were no statistically significant correlations for the ABCB1 haplotypes with overweight/obesity in children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone (Table 5). In a multivariate logistic regression model, ABCB1 1236C>T SNP seems to be associated with risperidone-induced overweight/obesity in children and adolescents (Table 6). However, the relation of ABCB1 1236C>T with overweight/obesity did not survive Bonferroni correction (Table 6). The current study supports prior reports that did not find associations between ABCB1 1236C>T, 2677T>A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms with the risperidone response (Nuntamool et al., 2017), with metabolic abnormality/insulin resistance (Sukasem et al., 2018), or with steady-state plasma concentrations of risperidone or 9-hydroxyrisperidone (Yasui-Furukori et al., 2004). However, here further discrepancies are apparent in the literature, where the ABCB1 1236C>T polymorphism showed a significant association with response to risperidone (Xing et al., 2006) and an observed effect of the ABCB1 2677G>T and 3435C>T polymorphisms on risperidone-induced weight gain in patients with schizophrenia (Kuzman et al., 2008). Future studies using larger samples are required to establish unequivocally whether or not ABCB1 genotypes are related to the development of obesity in children and adolescents treated with risperidone.

Our study has several limitations. First, it was a retrospective, cross-sectional study. Observations in drug-naive patients are required to establish an association of risperidone treatment with weight gain. Second, environmental factors such as food intake and physical activity that affect body weight were not considered in our study design. Third, the size of our sample was relatively small (n = 134), since the highest power of sample size that was calculated by HTR2C - 759C > T (rs3813929) polymorphism was n = 590 (**Supplementary Table S1**). However, our result demonstrated that there was a borderline significant trend of the association between ABCB1 (1236C > T) polymorphism and obesity in children and adolescents with ASD (Bonferroni corrected p-value = 0.09) (**Table 6**). The power of sample size that was calculated by ABCB1 (1236C > T) polymorphism was n = 500 (Supplementary Table S1).

145 (**Supplementary Table S1**. Therefore, our results need to be validated with a larger independent sample of patients.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, our study suggested that children and adolescents with ASD treated with risperidone are at a higher risk of overweight/obese compared to the general pediatric population. The duration of risperidone treatment was a non-genetic factor found to associate with overweight/obesity after adjustment for multivariate regression analysis and Bonferroni correction. For the pharmacogenetic factors, after Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons, no effect of the HTR2C -759C>T and ABCB1 1236C>T, 2677G>T/A, and 3435C>T polymorphisms on risperidone-induced overweight/obesity was observed. Since our study had a relatively small number of subjects, our results need to be replicated in prospective trials in a larger independent group with the cautious characterization of confounding factors such as food intake and energy expenditure.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Ramathibodi Hospital, Mahidol University (MURA2011/541). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CS, NV, NaN, and PL designed the research study. PL and NaN diagnosed and recruited the patients with ASD treated with risperidone. NV, NoN, AP, YH, and RS collected the clinical data, performed the experiments, and evaluated the results. NV analyzed the data. NV wrote the manuscript. CS contributed to the discussion and reviewed/edited the manuscript. All authors are accountable for all aspects of the work. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This study was supported by grants of the 1) Pharmacogenomics for Autistic Children Project, Khoon Poom Foundation, The Project in Her Royal Highness Princess Ubonratana Rajakanya Siriwatana Bhanawadee, 2) Office of National Research Council of Thailand 3) Faculty of Medicine, Ramathibodi Hospital 4) Mahidol University.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all the staff in Yuwaprasart Waithayopathum Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Hospital and all the children and adolescents with ASD who participated in the study.

# REFERENCES

- Balt, S. L., Galloway, G. P., Baggott, M. J., Schwartz, Z., and Mendelson, J. (2011). Mechanisms and genetics of antipsychotic-associated weight gain. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 90 (1), 179–183. doi:10.1038/clpt.2011.97
- Bandini, L. G., Gleason, J., Curtin, C., Lividini, K., Anderson, S. E., Cermak, S. A., et al. (2013). Comparison of physical activity between children with autism spectrum disorders and typically developing children. *Autism* 17 (1), 44–54. doi:10.1177/1362361312437416
- Bixler, E. O., Vgontzas, A. N., Lin, H.-M., Liao, D., Calhoun, S., Vela-Bueno, A., et al. (2009). Sleep disordered breathing in children in a general population sample: prevalence and risk factors. *Sleep* 32 (6), 731–736. doi:10.1093/sleep/32.6.731
- Boulton, D. W., DeVane, C. L., Liston, H. L., and Markowitz, J. S. (2002). In vitro P-glycoprotein affinity for atypical and conventional antipsychotics. *Life Sci.* 71 (2), 163–169. doi:10.1016/s0024-3205(02)01680-6
- Buckland, P. R., D'Souza, U., Maher, N. A., and McGuffin, P. (1997). The effects of antipsychotic drugs on the mRNA levels of serotonin 5HT2A and 5HT2C receptors. *Mol. Brain Res.* 48 (1), 45–52. doi:10.1016/s0169-328x(97)00076-4
- Buckland, P. R., Hoogendoorn, B., Guy, C. A., Smith, S. K., Coleman, S. L., and O'Donovan, M. C. (2005). Low gene expression conferred by association of an allele of the 5-HT2C receptor gene with antipsychotic-induced weight gain. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 162 (3), 613–615. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.162.3.613
- Calarge, C. A., Acion, L., Kuperman, S., Tansey, M., and Schlechte, J. A. (2009). Weight gain and metabolic abnormalities during extended risperidone treatment in children and adolescents. *J. Child Adolesc. Psychopharmacol.* 19 (2), 101–109. doi:10.1089/cap.2008.007
- Calarge, C. A., Nicol, G., Xie, D., and Zimmerman, B. (2012). Correlates of weight gain during long-term risperidone treatment in children and adolescents. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatry Ment. Health* 6 (1), 21. doi:10.1186/1753-2000-6-21
- Ceylan, M. F., Erdogan, B., Tural Hesapcioglu, S., and Cop, E. (2017). Effectiveness, adverse effects and drug compliance of long-acting injectable risperidone in children and adolescents. *Clin. Drug Invest.* 37 (10), 947–956. doi:10.1007/ s40261-017-0555-7
- Chia, D. J., and Boston, B. A. (2006). Childhood obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *Adv. Pediatr.* 53 23–53. doi:10.1016/j.yapd.2006.04.005
- Cole, T. J., Bellizzi, M. C., Flegal, K. M., and Dietz, W. H. (2000). Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. Br. Med. J. 320 (7244), 1240–1240. doi:10.1136/bmj.320.7244.1240
- Comer, J. S., Olfson, M., and Mojtabai, R. (2010). National trends in child and adolescent psychotropic polypharmacy in office-based practice, 1996-2007. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 49 (10), 1001–1010. doi:10.1016/j. jaac.2010.07.007
- Cordon-Cardo, C., O'Brien, J. P., Casals, D., Rittman-Grauer, L., Biedler, J. L., Melamed, M. R., et al. (1989). Multidrug-resistance gene (P-glycoprotein) is expressed by endothelial cells at blood-brain barrier sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 86 (2), 695–698. doi:10.1073/pnas.86.2.695
- Correll, C. U., Manu, P., Olshanskiy, V., Napolitano, B., Kane, J. M., and Malhotra, A. K. (2009). Cardiometabolic risk of second-generation antipsychotic medications during first-time use in children and adolescents. *JAMA* 302 (16), 1765–1773. doi:10.1001/jama.2009.1549
- Daray, F. M., Rodante, D., Carosella, L. G., Silva, M. E., Martínez, M., Fernández Busch, M. V., et al. (2017). –759C>T polymorphism of the HTR2C gene is associated with second generation antipsychotic-induced weight gain in female patients with schizophrenia. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 50 (1), 14–18. doi:10.1055/s-0042-110321
- Del Castillo, N., Zimmerman, M. B., Tyler, B., Ellingrod, V. L., and Calarge, C. (2013). 759C/T variants of the serotonin (5-HT2C) receptor gene and weight gain in children and adolescents in long-term risperidone treatment. *Clin. Pharmacol. Biopharm.* 2 (2), 110. doi:10.4172/2167-065x.1000110

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020.565074/full#supplementary-material

- Di Matteo, V., Cacchio, M., Di Giulio, C., Di Giovanni, G., and Esposito, E. (2002). Biochemical evidence that the atypical antipsychotic drugs clozapine and risperidone block 5-HT2C receptors *in vivo*. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 71 (4), 607–613. doi:10.1016/s0091-3057(01)00714-6
- Ellingrod, V. L., Perry, P. J., Ringold, J. C., Lund, B. C., Bever-Stille, K., Fleming, F., et al. (2005). Weight gain associated with the –759C/T polymorphism of the 5HT2C receptor and olanzapine. *Am. J. Med. Genet. B Neuropsychiatr. Genet.* 134b (1), 76–78. doi:10.1002/ajmg.b.20169
- Feijó, F. M., Bertoluci, M. C., and Reis, C. (2011). Serotonin and hypothalamic control of hunger: a review. *Rev. Assoc. Med. Bras. (1992)* 57 (1), 74–77. doi:10. 1590/S0104-42302011000100020
- Friedemann, C., Heneghan, C., Mahtani, K., Thompson, M., Perera, R., and Ward, A. M. (2012). Cardiovascular disease risk in healthy children and its association with body mass index: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br. Med. J.* 345, e4759. doi:10.1136/bmj.e4759
- Fung, K. L., and Gottesman, M. M. (2009). A synonymous polymorphism in a common MDR1 (ABCB1) haplotype shapes protein function. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1794 (5), 860–871. doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2009.02.014
- Goran, M. I., Ball, G. D. C., and Cruz, M. L. (2003). Obesity and risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in children and adolescents. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabol. 88 (4), 1417–1427. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021442
- Gregoor, J. G., van der Weide, J., Loovers, H. M., van Megen, H. J., Egberts, T. C., and Heerdink, E. R. (2011). Polymorphisms of the LEP, LEPR and HTR2C gene: obesity and BMI change in patients using antipsychotic medication in a naturalistic setting. *Pharmacogenomics* 12 (6), 919–923. doi:10.2217/pgs.11.40
- Gunes, A., Spina, E., Dahl, M.-L., and Scordo, M. G. (2008). ABCB1 polymorphisms influence steady-state plasma levels of 9-hydroxyrisperidone and risperidone active moiety. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 30 (5), 628–633. doi:10.1097/ftd.0b013e3181858ca9
- Güngör, N. K. (2014). Overweight and obesity in children and adolescents. J. Clin. Res. Pediatr. Endocrinol. 6 (3), 129–143. doi:10.4274/Jcrpe.1471
- Hill, A. P., Zuckerman, K. E., and Fombonne, E. (2015). Obesity and autism. *Pediatrics* 136 (6), 1051–1061. doi:10.1542/peds.2015-1437
- Hoekstra, P. J., Troost, P. W., Lahuis, B. E., Mulder, H., Mulder, E. J., Franke, B., et al. (2010). Risperidone-induced weight gain in referred children with autism spectrum disorders is associated with a common polymorphism in the 5hydroxytryptamine 2C receptor gene. J. Child Adolesc. Psychopharmacol. 20 (6), 473–477. doi:10.1089/cap.2009.0071
- Hoffmeyer, S., Burk, O., von Richter, O., Arnold, H. P., Brockmoller, J., Johne, A., et al. (2000). Functional polymorphisms of the human multidrug-resistance gene: multiple sequence variations and correlation of one allele with P-glycoprotein expression and activity *in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97 (7), 3473–3478. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.7.3473
- Hruby, A., and Hu, F. B. (2015). The epidemiology of obesity: a big picture. *Pharmacoeconomics* 33 (7), 673–689. doi:10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Hsia, Y., Wong, A. Y. S., Murphy, D. G. M., Simonoff, E., Buitelaar, J. K., and Wong, I. C. K. (2014). Psychopharmacological prescriptions for people with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): a multinational study. *Psychopharmacology* 231 (6), 999–1009. doi:10.1007/s00213-013-3263-x
- Ito, S., Ieiri, I., Tanabe, M., Suzuki, A., Higuchi, S., and Otsubo, K. (2001). Polymorphism of the ABC transporter genes, MDR1, MRP1 and MRP2/ cMOAT, in healthy Japanese subjects. *Pharmacogenetics* 11 (2), 175–184. doi:10.1097/00008571-200103000-00008
- Jitnarin, N., Kosulwat, V., Rojroongwasinkul, N., Boonpraderm, A., Haddock, C. K., and Poston, W. S. C. (2011). Prevalence of overweight and obesity in Thai population: results of the national Thai food consumption survey. *Eat Weight Disord.* 16 (4), e242–e249. doi:10.1007/bf03327467
- Kipping, R. R., Jago, R., and Lawlor, D. A. (2008). Obesity in children. Part 1: epidemiology, measurement, risk factors, and screening. *Br. Med. J.* 337, a1824. doi:10.1136/bmj.a1824

- Kirk, S. F. L., Penney, T. L., and McHugh, T.-L. F. (2010). Characterizing the obesogenic environment: the state of the evidence with directions for future research. Obes. Rev. 11 (2), 109–117. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789x.2009.00611.x
- Kroetz, D. L., Pauli-Magnus, C., Hodges, L. M., Huang, C. C., Kawamoto, M., Johns, S. J., et al. (2003). Sequence diversity and haplotype structure in the human ABCB1 (MDR1, multidrug resistance transporter) gene. *Pharmacogenetics* 13 (8), 481–494. doi:10.1097/00008571-200308000-00006
- Kuzman, M. R., Medved, V., Bozina, N., Hotujac, L., Sain, I., and Bilusic, H. (2008). The influence of 5-HT2C and MDR1 genetic polymorphisms on antipsychoticinduced weight gain in female schizophrenic patients. *Psychiatry Res.* 160 (3), 308–315. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2007.06.006
- LeClerc, S., and Easley, D. (2015). Pharmacological therapies for autism spectrum disorder: a review. *P T* 40 (6), 389–397.
- Lee, M. D., and Clifton, P. G. (2010). "Role of the serotonergic system in appetite and ingestion control," in *Handbook of behavioral neuroscience*. Editors C. P. Müller and B. L. Jacobs (New York, NY: Elsevier), Chap. 2, Vol. 21, 331–345.
- Lett, T. A. P., Wallace, T. J. M., Chowdhury, N. I., Tiwari, A. K., Kennedy, J. L., and Müller, D. J. (2012). Pharmacogenetics of antipsychotic-induced weight gain: review and clinical implications. *Mol. Psychiatr.* 17 (3), 242–266. doi:10.1038/mp.2011.109
- Luo, C., Liu, J., Wang, X., Mao, X., Zhou, H., and Liu, Z. (2019). Pharmacogenetic correlates of antipsychotic-induced weight gain in the Chinese population. *Neurosci. Bull.* 35 (3), 561–580. doi:10.1007/s12264-018-0323-6
- Martin, A., Scahill, L., Anderson, G. M., Aman, M., Arnold, L. E., McCracken, J., et al. (2004). Weight and leptin changes among risperidone-treated youths with autism: 6-month prospective data. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 161 (6), 1125–1127. doi:10. 1176/appi.ajp.161.6.1125
- Masereeuw, R., and Russel, F. G. M. (2012). Regulatory pathways for ATP-binding cassette transport proteins in kidney proximal tubules. AAPS J. 14 (4), 883–894. doi:10.1208/s12248-012-9404-z
- McCaffrey, G., and Davis, T. P. (2012). Physiology and pathophysiology of the blood-brain barrier. J. Invest. Med. 60 (8), 1131–1140. doi:10.2310/jim. 0b013e318276de79
- McCracken, J. T., McGough, J., Shah, B., Cronin, P., Hong, D., Aman, M. G., et al. (2002). Risperidone in children with autism and serious behavioral problems. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 347 (5), 314–321. doi:10.1056/nejmoa013171
- Must, A., Phillips, S. M., Curtin, C., Anderson, S. E., Maslin, M., Lividini, K., et al. (2014). Comparison of sedentary behaviors between children with autism spectrum disorders and typically developing children. *Autism* 18 (4), 376–384. doi:10.1177/1362361313479039
- Must, A., Phillips, S. M., and Naumova, E. N. (2012). Occurrence and timing of childhood overweight and mortality: findings from the Third Harvard Growth Study. J. Pediatr. 160 (5), 743–750. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.10.037
- Nuntamool, N., Ngamsamut, N., Vanwong, N., Puangpetch, A., Chamnanphon, M., Hongkaew, Y., et al. (2017). Pharmacogenomics and efficacy of risperidone long-term treatment in Thai autistic children and adolescents. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 121 (4), 316–324. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12803
- Olfson, M., Crystal, S., Huang, C., and Gerhard, T. (2010). Trends in antipsychotic drug use by very young, privately insured children. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 49 (1), 13–23. doi:10.1097/00004583-201001000-00005
- Park, Y.-M., Cho, J.-H., Kang, S.-G., Choi, J.-E., Lee, S.-H., Kim, L., et al. (2008). Lack of association between the –759C/T polymorphism of the 5-HT2C receptor gene and olanzapine-induced weight gain among Korean schizophrenic patients. J. Clin. Pharm. Ther. 33 (1), 55–60. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2710.2008.00872.x
- Reynolds, G. P., Zhang, Z.-J., and Zhang, X.-B. (2002). Association of antipsychotic drug-induced weight gain with a 5-HT2C receptor gene polymorphism. *Lancet* 359 (9323), 2086–2087. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(02)08913-4
- Salama, N. N., Yang, Z., Bui, T., and Ho, R. J. Y. (2006). MDR1 haplotypes significantly minimize intracellular uptake and transcellular P-gp substrate transport in recombinant LLC-PK1 cells. J. Pharm. Sci. 95 (10), 2293–2308. doi:10.1002/jps.20717
- Scahill, L., Jeon, S., Boorin, S. J., McDougle, C. J., Aman, M. G., Dziura, J., et al. (2016). Weight gain and metabolic consequences of risperidone in young

children with autism spectrum disorder. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 55 (5), 415-423. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2016.02.016

- Schreck, K. A., Williams, K., and Smith, A. F. (2004). A comparison of eating behaviors between children with and without autism. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 34 (4), 433–438. doi:10.1023/b:jadd.0000037419.78531.86
- Sharp, W. G., Berry, R. C., McCracken, C., Nuhu, N. N., Marvel, E., Saulnier, C. A., et al. (2013). Feeding problems and nutrient intake in children with autism spectrum disorders: a meta-analysis and comprehensive review of the literature. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 43 (9), 2159–2173. doi:10.1007/s10803-013-1771-5
- Sicard, M. N., Zai, C. C., Tiwari, A. K., Souza, R. P., Meltzer, H. Y., Lieberman, J. A., et al. (2010). Polymorphisms of the HTR2C gene and antipsychotic-induced weight gain: an update and meta-analysis. *Pharmacogenomics* 11 (11), 1561–1571. doi:10.2217/pgs.10.123
- Skinner, A. C., Ravanbakht, S. N., Skelton, J. A., Perrin, E. M., and Armstrong, S. C. (2018). Prevalence of obesity and severe obesity in US children, 1999-2016. *Pediatrics* 141 (3), e20173459. doi:10.1542/peds.2017-3459
- Sukasem, C., Vanwong, N., Srisawasdi, P., Ngamsamut, N., Nuntamool, N., Hongkaew, Y., et al. (2018). Pharmacogenetics of risperidone-induced insulin resistance in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder. *Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 123 (1), 42–50. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12970
- Tecott, L. H., Sun, L. M., Akana, S. F., Strack, A. M., Lowenstein, D. H., Dallman, M. F., et al. (1995). Eating disorder and epilepsy in mice lacking 5-HT2c serotonin receptors. *Nature* 374 (6522), 542–546. doi:10.1038/374542a0
- Trasande, L., and Chatterjee, S. (2009). The impact of obesity on health service utilization and costs in childhood. Obesity 17 (9), 1749–1754. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.67
- Tsai, S.-J., Hong, C.-J., Yu, Y. W.-Y., and Lin, C.-H. (2002). -759C/T genetic variation of 5HT2C receptor and clozapine-induced weight gain. *Lancet* 360 (9347), 1790. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(02)11705-3
- Umer, A., Kelley, G. A., Cottrell, L. E., Giacobbi, P., Jr., Innes, K. E., and Lilly, C. L. (2017). Childhood obesity and adult cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *BMC Publ. Health* 17 (1), 683. doi:10. 1186/s12889-017-4691-z
- Wang, G., and Dietz, W. H. (2002). Economic burden of obesity in youths aged 6 to 17 years: 1979-1999. *Pediatrics* 109 (5), E81. doi:10.1542/peds.109.5.e81
- Wang, J.-S., Ruan, Y., Taylor, R. M., Donovan, J. L., Markowitz, J. S., and DeVane, C. L. (2004). The brain entry of risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone is greatly limited by P-glycoprotein. *Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 7 (4), 415–419. doi:10. 1017/s1461145704004390
- Weihrauch-Blüher, S., Schwarz, P., and Klusmann, J.-H. (2019). Childhood obesity: increased risk for cardiometabolic disease and cancer in adulthood. *Metabolism* 92, 147–152. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2018.12.001
- Xing, Q., Gao, R., Li, H., Feng, G., Xu, M., Duan, S., et al. (2006) Polymorphisms of the ABCB1 gene are associated with the therapeutic response to risperidone in Chinese schizophrenia patients. *Pharmacogenomics* 7 (7), 987–993. doi:10. 2217/14622416.7.7.987
- Yasui-Furukori, N., Mihara, K., Takahata, T., Suzuki, A., Nakagami, T., De Vries, R., et al. (2004). Effects of various factors on steady-state plasma concentrations of risperidone and 9-hydroxyrisperidone: lack of impact of MDR-1 genotypes. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 57 (5), 569–575. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2003.02061.x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Vanwong, Ngamsamut, Nuntamool, Hongkaew, Puangpetch, Limsila and Sukasem. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Pharmacogenetics Guidelines: Overview and Comparison of the DPWG, CPIC, CPNDS, and RNPGx Guidelines

Heshu Abdullah-Koolmees<sup>1</sup>, Antonius M. van Keulen<sup>2</sup>, Marga Nijenhuis<sup>3</sup> and Vera H. M. Deneer<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Laboratories, Pharmacy, and Biomedical Genetics, Department of Clinical Pharmacy, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup>Division of Pharmacoepidemiology and Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Utrecht Institute for Pharmaceutical Sciences (UIPS), Utrecht University, Utrecht, Netherlands, <sup>3</sup>Royal Dutch Pharmacists Association (KNMP), Hague, Netherlands

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Henk-Jan Guchelaar, Leiden University Medical Center, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Kelly Caudle, St. Jude Children's Research Hospital, United States Stuart Scott, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

> \*Correspondence: Vera H. M. Deneer

V.H.M.Deneer@umcutrecht.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

Received: 15 August 2020 Accepted: 30 October 2020 Published: 25 January 2021

#### Citation:

Abdullah-Koolmees H, van Keulen AM, Nijenhuis M and Deneer VHM (2021) Pharmacogenetics Guidelines: Overview and Comparison of the DPWG, CPIC, CPNDS, and RNPGx Guidelines. Front. Pharmacol. 11:595219. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.595219 Many studies have shown that the efficacy and risk of side effects of drug treatment is influenced by genetic variants. Evidence based guidelines are essential for implementing pharmacogenetic knowledge in daily clinical practice to optimize pharmacotherapy of individual patients. A literature search was performed to select committees developing guidelines with recommendations being published in English. The Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG), the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC), the Canadian Pharmacogenomics Network for Drug Safety (CPNDS), and the French National Network (Réseau) of Pharmacogenetics (RNPGx) were selected. Their guidelines were compared with regard to the methodology of development, translation of genotypes to predicted phenotypes, pharmacotherapeutic recommendations and recommendations on genotyping. A detailed overview of all recommendations for gene-drug combinations is given. The committees have similar methodologies of guideline development. However, the objectives differed at the start of their projects, which have led to unique profiles and strengths of their guidelines. DPWG and CPIC have a main focus on pharmacotherapeutic recommendations for a large number of drugs in combination with a patient's genotype or predicted phenotype. DPWG, CPNDS and RNPGx also recommend on performing genetic testing in daily clinical practice, with RNPGx even describing specific clinical settings or medical conditions for which genotyping is recommended. Discordances exist, however committees also initiated harmonizing projects. The outcome of a consensus project was to rename "extensive metabolizer (EM)" to "normal metabolizer (NM)". It was decided to translate a CYP2D6 genotype with one nonfunctional allele (activity score 1.0) into the predicted phenotype of intermediate metabolizer (IM). Differences in recommendations are the result of the methodologies used, such as assessment of dose adjustments of tricyclic antidepressants. In some cases, indication or dose specific recommendations are given for example for clopidogrel, codeine, irinotecan. The following drugs have recommendations on genetic testing with the highest level: abacavir (HLA), clopidogrel (CYP2C19), fluoropyrimidines (DPYD), thiopurines (TPMT), irinotecan (UGT1A1), codeine

(CYP2D6), and cisplatin (TPMT). The guidelines cover many drugs and genes, genotypes, or predicted phenotypes. Because of this and their unique features, considering the totality of guidelines are of added value. In conclusion, many evidence based pharmacogenetics guidelines with clear recommendations are available for clinical decision making by healthcare professionals, patients and other stakeholders.

Keywords: pharmacogenetics, guidelines, pharmacogenomics, DPWG, CPIC, CPNDS, RNPGx, recommendations

#### INTRODUCTION

The effects of drugs in terms of the beneficial outcomes of drug treatment, development of side effects, and toxicity are influenced by genetic variants. Many studies have shown that the pharmacokinetics and effects of drugs differ among patients with specific genetic profiles. Sufficient evidence is available for a clinically relevant impact of patients' genotype on the balance between the benefits and risk of a substantial number of drugs. Evidence-based guidelines with pharmacotherapeutic recommendations for combinations of specific drugs and genotypes or predicted phenotypes are essential for implementing acquired pharmacogenetics knowledge in daily clinical practice. The Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) and the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) have been developing guidelines for more than a decade (Swen et al., 2008; Swen et al., 2011a; Caudle et al., 2017). Recommendations are preferably made available at the time of drug prescribing and dispensing for a patient with a genotype that requires an action, such as a dose reduction (Swen et al., 2008; Swen et al., 2011a; Deneer and van Schaik, 2013).

Additional sources of information regarding the pharmacogenetics of drugs are the Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and other agencies, as well as drug labels approved by the US Federal Drug Agency (FDA). The number of drugs with pharmacogenetics information in their SmPCs or labels has increased over the years because of regulatory guidelines and policy (TanKoi et al., 2018). In addition, the PharmGKB website is an open pharmacogenetics support tool with curated and graded evidence of combinations of drugs and genes (Barbarino et al., 2018).

Several genes encoding cytochrome P450 enzymes are highly polymorphic. This requires a translation of genotypes into predicted phenotypes, such as the metabolizer status of an intermediate metabolizer (IM). However, it has been recognized that translation methods differ among researchers, pharmacogenetic laboratories, and groups of professionals developing guidelines (Van Schaik et al., 2008; Deneer V.H.M., 2013).

Clinical decision making by healthcare professionals is primarily based on multidisciplinary pharmacogenetic guidelines, in daily clinical practice. Therefore, one should become familiar with the process of guideline development and differences between guidelines. In this article, we compare the guidelines with regard to the methodology of development, translation of genotypes to predicted phenotypes, pharmacotherapeutic recommendations and recommendations on genotyping.

#### METHODS OF THE LITERATURE SEARCH

A systematic literature search was performed on June 19, 2020 in the PubMed database to select committees, consortia or working groups that aim to develop pharmacogenetics guidelines and to select their published guidelines. The search was performed with "pharmacogenetics or pharmacogenomics and guidelines." The labels' languages (English), species (humans), and text availability (full text) were also added to the search criteria. The selection criterion was as follows: guidelines published in the English language developed by committees having the intention to recommend on several drugs irrespective of indication, disease, or medical specialty.

HA screened the results of the PubMed search for relevance by reading the title and abstract of the articles. VD also screened the included articles by reading the title and abstract. Additionally, if HA had doubts about any article, she read the article and discussed it with VD.

The pharmacogenetics guidelines by the DPWG, the CPIC, the Canadian Pharmacogenomics Network for Drug Safety (CPNDS), and the French National Network (Réseau) of Pharmacogenetics (RNPGx) were found. An overview and comparison of these guidelines were performed. Articles from and about these pharmacogenetics groups from the aforementioned PubMed search were used. Moreover, additional searches were performed on the websites of the DPWG (www.knmp.nl) and CPIC (https://cpicpgx.org/guidelines/), as well as that of PharmGKB (www.pharmgkb. org), a worldwide resource for pharmacogenomic information, to obtain an overview of the existing guidelines (Barbarino et al., 2018).

#### **RESULTS OF THE LITERATURE SEARCH**

Pharmacogenetics guidelines of the DPWG, CPIC, CPNDS and RNPGx were found through performing the PubMed search. **Supplementary Table S1** presents an overview of the recommendations (Hicks et al., 2015; Hicks et al., 2016; Swen et al., 2011b; Hershfield et al., 2012; Martin et al., 2012; Madadi et al., 2013; Scott et al., 2013; Amstutz et al., 2014; Caudle et al., 2014b; Clancy et al., 2014; Crews et al., 2014; Muir et al., 2014; Ramsey et al., 2014; Relling et al., 2014; Birdwell et al., 2015; Gammal et al., 2015; Shaw et al., 2015; Aminkeng et al., 2016; Lee et al., 2016; Bell et al., 2017; Hicks et al., 2015; Hicks et al., 2016; Johnson et al., 2017; Lamoureux and Duflot, 2017; Moriyama et al., 2017; Quaranta et al., 2017; Quaranta and Thomas, 2017; Woillard et al., 2017; Amstutz et al., 2018; Goetz et al., 2018; Phillips et al., 2018; Maagdenberg et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2019; Desta et al., 2019; Drögemöller et al., 2019; Gonsalves et al., 2019; Relling et al., 2019; Theken et al., 2020;). The DPWG and CPIC guidelines were compared by Bank et al. (2018) based on the guidelines published until March 1, 2017. Therefore, in this article, we describe the changes that have been made since this comparison was published. Also the CPNDS and RNPGx are included in this comparison in terms of the process of literature assessment, the process of guideline development, and the content of their recommendations.

As of July 1, 2020, the DPWG had reviewed more than 100 gene-drug pairs. 60 gene-drug pairs are considered by the DPWG as gene-drug interaction requiring action such as adjustment of the dose or monitoring of adverse side effects. The remaining gene-drug pairs do not require additional action or monitoring due to pharmacogenetics. 18 gene-drug pairs are classified as gene-drug interaction for which no action is needed, and 29 gene-drug pairs considered as no gene-drug interaction and no actions needed to be made (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). The CPIC has reviewed more than 400 gene-drug pairs and has published recommendations on 106 gene-drug pairs with sufficient evidence for at least one prescribing action in 24 published guidelines, the CPNDS recommend on 13 gene-drug pairs, and the RNPGx on 8 gene-drug pairs. The DPWG publishes their recommendations on the website www.knmp.nl (search for pharmacogenetic recommendations) and also as of recently in the European Journal of Human Genetics. Previously an overview was given in two publications in Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics (Swen et al., 2008; Swen et al., 2011a). The CPIC publishes their guidelines on their website https://cpicpgx.org/ guidelines/as well as in Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics. The CPNDS publishes their guidelines in several journals, while the guidelines of the RNPGx are published in Thérapie. All the guidelines can also be found on the website of PharmGKB: www. pharmgkb.org (Ross et al., 2010; Picard et al., 2017; CPIC, 2020; PharmGKB, 2020). Furthermore, each group has its own method of grouping genes and/or drugs or drug classes; for example, some guidelines include one gene and one drug, whereas others include two to three genes and one or more drugs (Amstutz et al., 2014; Picard et al., 2017; CPIC, 2020; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

## METHODOLOGY FOR GUIDELINE DEVELOPMENT

The objectives of the DPWG and CPIC and their multidisciplinary processes of guideline development have been described and compared previously (Swen et al., 2008; Caudle et al., 2014a; Bank et al., 2018). Bank et al. compared the DPWG and CPIC based on the guidelines published until

March 1, 2017. Bank et al. compared 30 gene-drug pairs, and since then, the DPWG has updated 24 of these gene-drug pairs, and the CPIC has updated 22 gene-drug pairs (Bank et al., 2018; CPIC, 2020; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

The CPNDS, founded in 2004, aims to uncover the genetic and mechanistic basis of drug response phenotypes and improve the safety and efficacy of medications used in children and adults (Amstutz et al., 2014). The approaches of the DPWG, CPIC, and CPNDS are generally similar. An additional strength of the CPNDS is the involvement of patients and other stakeholders. The guideline development group is multidisciplinary, and patients and healthcare policy makers also participate. In short, guideline development consists of 1) a systematic literature search; 2) critical appraisal of the retrieved evidence; 3) development of clinical practice recommendations during a workshop meeting for guideline development group members; 4) internal review of draft guidelines by the guideline development group members; and 5) external review by content experts and members of the intended target audience (Amstutz et al., 2014).

The RNPGx has approximately 30 members across France as well as other French-speaking nations (i.e., Belgium and more recently Switzerland and Canada). The RNPGx board was elected by the members. Active RNPGx members are professionals with hospital activities in pharmacogenetics. The guidelines are elaborated by working groups of active members with specific expertise in the domain concerned, and are subsequently validated by the RNPGx board.

Methodologies for grading scientific evidence and the strength of the recommendation differ among the four groups of guideline developers (Amstutz et al., 2014; Picard et al., 2017; CPIC, 2020; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a), see **Supplementary Table S2**. Furthermore, the DPWG, CPNDS, and RNPGx provide directions or recommendations regarding pharmacogenetic testing in daily clinical practice for a specific gene-drug combination.

#### **Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group**

The methodology used by the DPWG for scoring the level of evidence and clinical impact is applied to all medication surveillance functionalities-such as drug interactions-of the drug database incorporated in drug prescribing and dispensing software in The Netherlands. Healthcare professionals have been familiar with this methodology for many years (Van Roon et al., 2005). A five-point-scale scoring system is used for the level of evidence (0-4) and a seven-point scale  $(AA^{#}-F)$  is used for clinical relevance or impact, to which AA# has been added for statistically significant, positive clinical effects. For every scientific publication, both scores are assigned to each combination of genotype or predicted phenotype and a specific drug. Finally, the overall score of each combination is the highest level of evidence and the highest level of relevance assigned to any of the articles included in the assessment (Swen et al., 2008; Deneer and van Schaik, 2013). Adjustments of the starting dose are calculated based on the pharmacokinetic data in patients with a specific genotype or predicted phenotype. The method has previously been described

in detail (Swen et al., 2008; Deneer and van Schaik, 2013). Recently, the DPWG has developed the clinical implementation score to advise and direct healthcare professionals on ordering pharmacogenetic testing before starting treatment with a specific drug or during treatment (Swen et al., 2018). The criteria for this score are as follows: 1) clinical effect, 2) level of evidence, 3) number needed to genotype, and 4) pharmacogenetics information in SmPCs. The total score is translated to three levels of pharmacogenetic testing in clinical practice, namely potentially beneficial, beneficial, and essential (**Supplementary Table S3**) (Swen et al., 2018).

#### Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium

The CPIC guidelines are established according to a standardized format. The CPIC has a standard system for grading levels of evidence linking genotype to phenotype using three levels namely high, moderate, and weak. They use a system with three categories for their recommendations namely strong, moderate, and optional. For gene-drug combinations in the categories strong and moderate guidelines are being developed and published. "Strong recommendation" means "The evidence is high quality and the desirable effects clearly outweigh the undesirable effects" and a recommendation classified as "Moderate" means "There is a close or uncertain balance as to whether the evidence is high quality and the desirable clearly outweigh the undesirable effects" (CPIC, 2020).

#### Canadian Pharmacogenomics Network for Drug Safety

Two grading schemes are used by the CPNDS. The quality of individual studies selected from the literature search are assessed. The grading scheme for the totality of evidence is based on the quality criteria of the Appraisal of Guidelines Research and Evaluation Enterprise (AGREE) and consists of four grades (+ to ++++) varying from the lowest grade +, meaning "Inconsistent or insufficient quantity/quality, discouraging" (further described as follows: "No conclusions can be drawn or conclusions are likely to change based on future studies, and current evidence is discouraging") to the highest grade ++++, meaning "Consistent, generalizable" (further described as follows: "Strong general conclusions can be drawn that are unlikely to change based on further research"). The grading scheme for clinical practice recommendations (about the genotype guided treatment) has three levels (i.e., A: strong, B: moderate, and C: optional) varying from "Based on strong scientific evidence; benefits clearly outweigh risks (A)" to "Based mainly on expert opinion, for use with evidence development in a research context (C)." Furthermore, preferences of patients are taken into account when developing the recommendations. A strong recommendation (level A) is expected to be chosen by a majority of informed healthcare providers and patients. A recommendation in the category "Moderate" is expected to require individualized informed decision making by patients and healthcare providers (Ross et al., 2010; Amstutz et al., 2014; Tanoshima et al., 2019).

# French National Network (Réseau) of Pharmacogenetics

The focus and aim of the RNPGx differ from the others and concern recommending pharmacogenetic testing. First, the level of evidence for the functionality of a variant of a pharmacogene is considered and assigned to a three-level scale: demonstrated, probable, or potential functionality. Only variants with demonstrated or probable functionality are considered for a recommendation of testing. Depending on the total evidence the network has issued, three levels of recommendation for pharmacogenetic tests namely essential test, advisable test, or possibly helpful test. These vary from "Demonstrated impact on a major clinical phenotype i.e. efficacy or toxicity (essential test)" to "Probable impact that remains to be demonstrated having led to expert consensus in favor of testing (possibly helpful test)" (Picard et al., 2017).

## **Terminology of Predicted Phenotypes**

In daily clinical practice, the term "extensive metabolizer" (EM) does not appear particularly intuitive and is often mistaken by healthcare professionals for a genotype predicted phenotype with increased enzyme function. The outcome of a consensus project initiated by CPIC was to rename it "normal metabolized" (NM). Additional terms for predicted phenotypes for drug metabolizing enzymes are "poor metabolizer" (PM), "intermediate metabolizer" (IM), "rapid metabolizer" (RM), and "ultrarapid metabolizer" (UM) (Caudle et al., 2017). The DPWG has adopted "normal metabolizer" (NM) for CYP2D6, CYP2C19, CYP3A4, CYP1A2, CYP2B6, TPMT, and NUDT15 (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020b). The CPNDS also used "normal metabolizer" in its guideline on tamoxifen (Tanoshima et al., 2019). However, for CYP3A5 the DPWG decided the to maintain phenotype terminology, "CYP3A5 non-expressor," for carriers of two nonfunctional alleles (CYP3A5\*3/\*3), "CYP3A5 heterozygous-expressor" and "CYP3A5 homozygous-expressor." In European populations, the CYP3A5\*3/\*3 prevalence is around 80% (Shuker et al., 2016). Furthermore, regulatory guidelines require clinical studies in European populations. This implies that drug dosages in SmPCs, namely standard dosages, are suitable for patients assigned to the CPIC's PM phenotype, and in some cases higher dosages might be required in patients assigned to the CPIC's NM phenotype. It was decided that this might increase prescribing errors in a European context because many drugs are CYP3A5 substrates, and healthcare professionals might intuitively reduce dosages for patients with a PM metabolizer phenotype.

The DPWG did not introduce RM as a metabolizer status, applicable to the CYP2C19 \*1/\*17 genotype, instead of NM. This would have no impact on the current guidelines, and the recommendations would remain unchanged. The guideline on antidepressants by the RNPGx shows that "slow metabolizer" is used as a predicted phenotype term instead of "poor metabolizer" for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 (Quaranta et al., 2017).

For dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD), encoded by the DPYD gene it is common to translate genetic test results into a

gene activity score (AS), which is the sum of activity scores of the alleles a patient carries. In the last update, the DPWG restricted DPYD phenotype terms to AS and decided to no longer use metabolizer status. Others also use AS which is also translated into metabolizer groups. Furthermore, patients with two fully dysfunctional alleles and those with one fully dysfunctional allele and one associated with reduced activity of the DPD enzyme were assigned PM as a predicted phenotype. However, in the updated guideline, recommendations differ for these two groups of patients (Lunenburg et al., 2020).

#### **Genotype-To-Phenotype Translations**

Translations from genotypes to predicted phenotypes differ among researchers. This has to be considered when assessing studies for guideline development. From the researchers' perspective it is logical because they mostly study a specific drug. The effect of a genetic variant is drug dependent. It is quite common that a specific genotype of a CYP enzyme has a large effect on the pharmacokinetics of one drug while having no effect on others, although both drugs are substrates of the CYP enzyme. The metabolic ratio of the CYP2D6 probe drug dextromethorphan is increased by a factor of 3.0 in carriers of one nonfunctional CYP2D6 allele compared with subjects without such an allele (Sachse et al., 1997). The area under the plasma concentration vs. the time curve of trimipramine in subjects with one nonfunctional allele is increased by a factor of 2.5 compared with those without such an allele (Kirchheiner et al., 2003). However, the clearance of haloperidol in both groups is similar with the ratio of those with one nonfunctional allele to those without being 0.9 (Brockmöller et al., 2002).

Furthermore, it has been recognized that translation methods differ among the DPWG and CPIC, and more specifically in the genotype-to-phenotype translation of CYP2D6, DPYD, and CYP2C19.

At the start of guideline development in 2005, the DPWG reached a consensus with Dutch laboratory specialists in the field of pharmacogenetics. They decided to translate a CYP2D6 genotype with one nonfunctional allele with AS 1.0, for example, CYP2D6 \*1/\*4, into a predicted phenotype of IM. The result of the consensus meeting on this topic was shared with professionals involved in genetic testing in The Netherlands (Van Schaik et al., 2008). In their guideline on tamoxifen, the CPNDS also classified AS 1.0 for CYP2D6 as IM.

By contrast, the CPIC and RNPGx classified such a genotype as EM (Quaranta et al., 2017). Furthermore, members of the CPIC and DPWG established an international expert panel and recently initiated a consensus procedure using a modified Delphi method. The procedures and results have been described extensively (Caudle et al., 2020). Moreover, the decision was made to downgrade the value of the CYP2D6\*10 allele to 0.25 for AS instead of 0.5. Furthermore, the consensus definitions are as follows: PM (AS 0), IM (AS 0.25–1.0), NM (AS 1.25–2.25), and UM (AS > 2.25).

Since the previous comparison by Bank et al. (2018), the guidelines of both the DPWG and CPIC have been updated regarding DPYD genetic variants, the translation of genotypes into activity scores of DPD, other phenotype categories such as

PM and IM, and therapeutic recommendations for capecitabine among others. The DPWG translates genotypes into activity scores unless two variants associated with the reduced functionality of DPYD, such as c.1236G>A/c.2846A>T, are detected, or in case one variant is associated with fully dysfunctional DPD activity and one with reduced functionality, such as \*2A/c.1236G>A. It was decided that DPD enzyme activity cannot be predicted correctly because compound heterozygosity is uncertain. In such cases, an additional phenotyping test is required to determine the DPD enzyme activity. Currently, measuring DPD enzyme activity in peripheral blood mononuclear cells is the most frequently used test in The Netherlands (Meulendijks et al., 2016; Lunenburg et al., 2020). The starting doses of capecitabine and 5-fluorouracil, for example, should be selected based on the totality of genotyping and phenotyping test results. The CPIC, on the other hand, assigns AS of 0 and 0.5 to PM and of 1 and 1.5 to IM (Amstutz et al. 2018). In the RNPGx guideline on the pharmacogenetics of anticancer drugs, only DPYD alleles and genotypes are mentioned without them being translated into predicted phenotypes. The DPWG also recommends performing additional phenotyping in patients with an AS of 0.

#### **Pharmacotherapeutic Recommendations**

A detailed overview of the recommendations of the DPWG, CPIC, CPNDS, and RNPGx are included in **Supplementary Table S1**. Gene-drug combinations for which the DPWG concluded that no gene-drug interaction exists for example CYP1A2-clozapine, as well as for example SLC01B1atorvastatin classified by CPIC as no gene-drug interaction, are not summarized. A selection of the discordances are discussed. Main differences from a clinical perspective are shown in **Supplementary Table S4**.

# Discordances Fluoropyrimidines and Irinotecan

The committees have published advises on several anti-cancer drugs. Pharmacotherapeutic recommendations of the DPWG and the CPIC guidelines on fluoropyrimidines are different in some aspects. The DPWG advises to initiate fluorouracil or capecitabine in patients with DPD AS of 1.0 or 1.5 at a starting dose of 50%, while the CPIC also recommends 50% followed by dose titration based on clinical judgement of the healthcare professional and TDM. One indicates that the drugs should be avoided or are contraindicated in patients with DPYD AS 0, while the DPWG adds that if this is not possible the residual DPD activity in mononuclear cells from peripheral blood should be determined, and the initial dose should be adjusted accordingly. The DPWG guideline also includes tegafur and cutaneous fluorouracil (CPIC, 2020; Lunenburg et al., 2020). The RNPGx refers to dose and pharmacotherapeutic recommendations of others (Quaranta and Thomas, 2017).

In addition, the DPWG recommends giving 70% of the irinotecan dose in patients with UGT1A1 PM predicted phenotype and increasing it if the patient can tolerate said dosage, which must be guided by the neutrophil count. The

RNPGx recommends a 25–30% dose reduction in UGT1A1 \*28/ \*28 patients for irinotecan 180–230 mg/m<sup>2</sup> spaced by 2–3 weeks intervals. The RNPGx marks irinotecan at a higher dose (240 mg/ m<sup>2</sup> or higher spaced by 2–3 weeks intervals) as contraindicated for patients with the UGT1A1\*28/\*28 genotype (Quaranta and Thomas, 2017).

#### **Discordances Clopidogrel, Warfarin, Statins**

Within the field of cardiovascular diseases, the pharmacogenetics of clopidogrel has been extensively studied. The DPWG, CPIC, and RNPGx have guidelines for the CYP2C19-clopidogrel pair (Scott et al., 2013; Lamoureux and Duflot, 2017; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). The DPWG recommends patients with the CYP2C19 IM phenotype being treated with an alternative to clopidogrel for the indications of percutaneous coronary intervention, stroke, or Transient Ischemic Attack (TIA), or that they double the daily dosage to 150 mg. They also recommend considering an alternative for CYP2C19 PM in case of percutaneous coronary intervention, stroke, or TIA. Moreover, the DPWG recommends no action in case of other indications for CYP2C19 IM patients, while one suggests measuring platelet function testing and selecting an alternative in case of high on treatment reactivity in PM patients. The CPIC and RNPGx recommend an alternative to clopidogrel in CYP2C19 IM and PM patients. The CIPC's recommendation is only applicable for patients with an acute coronary syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention.

All the four committees developed guidelines for the CYP2C9-VKORC1-warfarin pair in terms of dose adjustments or for calculating the dose using an algorithm; see **Supplementary Table S1** (Shaw et al., 2015; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2016; Lamoureux and Duflot, 2017). The DPWG recommends using the EU-PACT algorithm (which includes maintenance dose and k = elimination rate constant per genotype) or dose reduction as shown in **Supplementary Table S1**. The CPIC and CPNDS recommend using www. WarfarinDosing.org to calculate the dosage by for example genetic information, co-medication, and target International Normalized Ratio (INR). The CPIC recommends also to use the Gage or the IWPC algorithms or both.

For patients with the SLCO1B1 \*5/\*5 and \*1/\*5 genotype, the RNPGx recommends avoiding high doses of statins and the concomitant use of OATP1B1 inhibitors and/or CYP3A4 inhibitors (such as amiodarone, verapamil, and diltiazem). They advise to lower the simvastatin dose to 20 mg per day or to select another statin (Lamoureux and Duflot, 2017; Picard et al., 2017). The DPWG recommends choosing an alternative for simvastatin in both SLCO1B1 521 CC and TC patients; see Supplementary Table S1 for the recommendations (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). In SLCO1B1 TC patients simvastatin doses exceeding 40 mg/day should be avoided, if selecting an alternative is not an option. On the other hand, the CPIC recommends reducing the normal dose for patients with intermediate or low function of the transporter or choosing an alternative (e.g. rosuvastatin or pravastatin) (Ramsey et al., 2014). Furthermore, the CPIC has no

recommendations for atorvastatin while the DPWG recommends an alternative for atorvastatin in patients with the SLCO1B1 521 CC and TC genotype, and additional risk factors for statin induced myopathy as for simvastatin (Ramsey et al., 2014; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

#### **Discordances Antidepressants**

The dose recommendations from the CPIC and the RNPGx for CYP2D6-CYP2C19-tricyclic antidepressants (TCA) are mostly the same (Hicks et al., 2015; Hicks et al., 2016; Swen et al., 2011b; Quaranta and Thomas, 2017; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). They recommend avoiding high dose of tricyclic antidepressants in CYP2D6 UM and PM patients and CYP2C19 UM and PM patients, and also reducing the dose in patients with CYP2D6 IM (CPIC: –25% of the recommended dose, RNPGx: –50% of the recommended dose) in case depression is the indication; see **Supplementary Table S1** (Hicks et al., 2015; Hicks et al., 2016; Quaranta and Thomas, 2017). The recommendations for TCAs are based on amitriptyline literature and extrapolated to other tertiary amines (clomipramine, doxepin, imipramine, and trimipramine) because of comparable pharmacokinetic properties

The DPWG recommends increasing the dose of tricyclic antidepressants in CYP2D6 UM patients, and has specific calculated dose recommendations per gene-drug pair in CYP2D6 IM and PM patients (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). Patients with CYP2C19 UM metabolize amitriptyline in a greater extent into nortriptyline. According to the DPWG no additional action is required for CYP2C19 UM patients starting amitriptyline (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). On the other hand, the CPIC recommends starting nortriptyline instead of amitriptyline (Hicks et al., 2015; Hicks et al., 2016; CPIC, 2020). The CPIC mentions that nortriptyline and desipramine are secondary amines TCAs and CYP2D6 is the main gene for their metabolism. Another example is the DPWG recommending to avoid clomipramine in patients with CYP2C19 UM for the indications obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) and anxiety disorder. In case of depression, the DPWG also recommends avoiding clomipramine in CYP2D6 PM (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

There is no reason for any adjustment in patients with the CYP2D6 PM predicted phenotype according to the DPWG (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). However, the CPIC recommends choosing an alternative for paroxetine or considering a 50% reduction and a 25–50% reduction for fluvoxamine (Hicks et al., 2015; CPIC, 2020). In addition, the DPWG recommends adjusting the maximum dose instead of adjusting the starting dose of (es)citalopram because of the risk of Torsade de Pointes at high plasma concentrations (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

## **Discordances Indication and Patient Population Specific Recommendations**

Other differences between the recommendations is distinguishing between indications, as for example the DPWG has different

recommendations for CYP2D6-codeine for cough and pain while the CPIC and RNPGx mention no indication (Picard et al., 2017; CPIC, 2020; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). Furthermore, the CPIC has specific recommendations for adults and pediatrics with respect to voriconazole and atomoxetine (Krebs and Milani, 2019; CPIC, 2020).

## **Discordances Pharmacotherapeutic Recommendations Normal Metabolizers**

Supplementary Table S1 shows that the CPIC, the RNPGx, and in some cases also the CPNDS give advices on the treatment of patients with a predicted phenotype of NM such as starting with standard dose, adjusting dose based on guidelines, and standard monitoring of treatment effect. In contrast to these committees, the DPWG does not recommend on drug treatment in NM patients. One exception is tacrolimus initiation in CYP3A5 homozygous expressors, named by CPIC as NM patients. Furthermore, the difference in the dose recommendations for CYP3A5-tacrolimus is as follows. The CPIC and the RNPGx recommend 1.5-2 times of the standard starting dose for both NM and IM as mentioned by the CPIC and \*1/\*1 and \*1/\*3 as mentioned by the RNPGx (Birdwell et al., 2015; Woillard et al., 2017). On the other hand, the DPWG recommends 1.5 times the normal dose for the CYP3A5 heterozygote expressor and 2.5 times for CYP3A5 homozygous expressor phenotype (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

#### **Genetic Testing Recommendations**

The DPWG, CPNDS, and RNPGx provide recommendations regarding pharmacogenetic testing in daily clinical practice for specific gene-drug combinations (Supplementary Table S1 and Supplementary Table S5). The grading schemes they use for these recommendations differ, but they all have three levels. The DPWG's highest level is "essential" meaning "PGx testing for this gene-drug pair is essential for drug safety or efficacy". Genotyping must be performed before drug therapy has been initiated to guide drug and dose selection (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). The grading scheme of the CPNDS has "strong" as highest level (A), defined as "based on strong scientific evidence; benefits clearly outweigh risks" (Amstutz et al., 2014), while for the RNPGx the highest classification is "essential test" with the following description "demonstrated impact on a major clinical phenotype [response (efficacy, resistance)/toxicity] for therapeutic management; difficult or impossible to predict with a non-genetic approach; having led to expert agreement in favor of systematic testing" (Picard et al., 2017).

#### **Genetic Testing Anti-cancer Drugs**

Among anti-cancer agents, both the DPWG and the RNPGx consider UGT1A1 genotyping essential before the start of the treatment with irinotecan and the RNPGx recommending genotyping more specifically for patients who will receive the intensified dose (>240 mg/m<sup>2</sup>). The CPNDS strongly recommends (level A) genetic testing before cisplatin initiation for the associated functional TPMT variants (\*3A, \*3B, and\*3C) in all patients, and the functionally inactive TPMT \*2 variant in

children receiving cisplatin to prevent cisplatin-induced hearing loss (Lee et al., 2016). Also, the CPNDS recommends genotyping (level B – moderate) for RARG rs2229774, SLC28A3 rs7853758 and UGT1A6\*4 rs17863783 variants in all children with cancer that will initiate doxorubicin or daunorubicin to prevent antracycline-induced cardiotoxicity.

Genotype testing is not recommended in adults, also not in children receiving other anthracyclines (level C – optional) (Aminkeng et al., 2016). Furthermore on the anticancer drugs, the CPNDS recommendation including testing for CYP2D6 before initiation of adjuvant tamoxifen treatment, is classified as level B – moderate (Drögemöller et al., 2019).

The RNPGx prefers phenotyping by measuring the physiological dihydro-uracil/uracil (UH2/U) metabolic ratio in serum, over DPYD genotyping (Quaranta and Thomas, 2017; Loriot et al., 2018). If phenotyping is not available, genotyping should be performed pretreatment with dose reductions if genetic variants are detected (ref). They refer to the DPWG and CPIC guidelines for dose reductions. A phenotyping test in addition to genotyping should be performed, according to the DPWG, if two genetic variants are detected. In these rare cases the selection of the starting dose is at the discretion of the treating physician and other health care professionals involved, taking both genotyping and phenotyping test results into account.

# Genetic Testing Clopidogrel and Warfarin

Also, the DPWG and the RNPGx consider CYP2C19 genotyping essential in patients who will be treated with clopidogrel because of a percutaneous coronary intervention. The DPWG also recommends testing in the case of stroke or TIA. Genotyping is advisable for CYP2C9-VKORC1-warfarin according to the RNPGx (Picard et al., 2017). The CPNDS recommends testing all warfarin-naïve patients for VKORC1 (-1639G>A), CYP2C9\*2, and CYP2C9\*3 before warfarin is started or within first 2 weeks of therapy (level B – moderate) (Shaw et al., 2015).

#### **Genetic Testing Antidepressants**

Moreover, the recommendations by the DPWG differ per genedrug pair for tricyclic antidepressants, as shown in **Supplementary Table S1**. The DPWG classifies genotyping for tricyclic antidepressants as potentially beneficial meaning genotyping can be considered per patient. The RNPGx classifies genotyping for CYP2C19-CYP2D6-tricyclic antidepressants advisable (Quaranta and Thomas, 2017).

# **Genetic Testing Codeine**

Guidelines regarding CYP2D6 genotype testing and codeine treatment are also available. This is considered essential according to the DPWG in case of planned doses of more than 20 mg every 6 h for adults and more than 10 mg every 6 h for children aged 12 years and older or in case of additional risk factors, such as comedication with CYP3A4 inhibitors and/or reduced kidney function. The CPNDS classifies genotyping as strong - level A in the treatment of young children and women with postpartum pain while breastfeeding meaning that they should be tested for CYP2D6 (Madadi et al., 2013). Furthermore, **CPNDS** assigned other levels of recommendations for children and adults having pain despite high doses of codeine (level B – moderate recommendation), and patients who receive codeine for the first time to rule out nonresponders and the ones who are susceptible to adverse side effects of codeine (level C – optional recommendation).

#### **Genetic Testing Antiepileptics**

As shown in Supplementary Table S1, the DPWG have published genotyping recommendations on the antiepileptics: phenytoine, lamotrigine, and oxcarbazepine in case of HLA-B\*15:02. HLA-B\*15:02 is common in patients of Asian descent, other than Japanese or Korean descent, and therefore is genotyping beneficial before (or directly after) starting the pharmacotherapy (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2018a; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2018b; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2018c; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). Also the CPNDS recommends genotype testing for HLA-B\*15:02 for all carbamazepine naïve patients prior to initiation of the pharmacotherapy (level A- strong) for those originating from populations where HLA-B\*15:02 is common or its frequency is unknown or whose origin is unknown. The CPNDS classifies genotyping recommendation as optional (level C) in patients from populations where HLA-B\*15:02 is rare. Testing for HLA-A\*31:01 is classified as moderate (level B) by the CPNDS for all carbamazepine naïve patients before pharmacotherapy initiation (Amstutz et al., 2014).

#### **Genetic Testing Several Drugs**

Furthermore, the DPWG recommends to genotype for HLA-Babacavir, TPMT and NUDT15-azathioprine/mercaptopurine/ thioguanine, before initiation of the pharmacotherapy (classified as essential) (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). Genotyping is considered beneficial for VKORC1-acenocoumarol/phenprocoumon according to the DPWG. This means that genotyping the patient can be performed before (or directly after) pharmacotherapy therapy has been initiated (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a). Genotyping is advisable for CYP3A5tacrolimus according to the RNPGx (Picard et al., 2017).

# DISCUSSION

Four committees develop pharmacogenetics guidelines regarding drugs in different drug classes, irrespective of indication, disease, or medical specialty. Their processes of guideline development have been described. They have published methodologies, guidelines, recommendations, and advice in scientific journals in English. In general, their recommendations add to the effective and safe use of drugs. However, the objectives differed at the start of each project, which have led to unique profiles and strengths of their approaches and guidelines.

The DPWG was first to start its project in 2005, and from the beginning all the pharmacotherapeutic recommendations were included in the drug database incorporated in electronic healthcare systems in The Netherlands. This implies that an alert is generated in case a drug is prescribed or dispensed to a patient with a genotype that requires an action. The system presents a short text addressing the pharmacotherapeutic advice, a summary of the underlying mechanism of the interaction between the gene and drug, and clinical and/or pharmacokinetic effects (Deneer and van Schaik, 2013). The methodology is equal to other medication surveillance functionalities, such as on drug interactions, within the electronic systems. This has facilitated healthcare professionals becoming familiar with pharmacogenetics.

The guidelines translating genetic laboratory test results into actionable prescribing decisions are essential for implementation in daily clinical practice. The CPIC guidelines are sent out in the review process to over 400 CPIC members. The CPIC has published all guidelines in a peer-reviewed scientific journal, and they are therefore reviewed by external experts. Detailed, and evidence-based information regarding allele definition, functionality, frequencies, and phenotype translations from genotype data are given. They have been the initiators of several projects to harmonize and reach a consensus on topics in the field of pharmacogenetics (Caudle et al., 2017; Caudle et al., 2020).

The CPNDS was established to focus on severe adverse drug reactions, which is also reflected by the drugs and genes they have selected for their guideline development. Participants enroll patients with serious adverse drug reaction into the CPNDS program. They aim to identify novel predictive genomic markers of severe adverse drug reactions and to provide clinical genetic information to the patient and healthcare professional (Ross et al., 2010). A broad panel of stakeholders, including patients and healthcare policy makers, are involved in guideline development.

The RNPGx has an interest in pharmacogenetic testing in daily clinical practice. They indicate which genetic variants should be included in a test offered in daily clinical practice to improve pharmacotherapy. The RNPGx also states whether genotype testing is recommended in daily clinical practice (Picard et al., 2017). They specifically recommend clinical indications and circumstances for genotyping either before the start of treatment or in case of problems when a patient is being treated with a specific drug (Lamoureux and Duflot, 2017).

The DPWG has assessed many gene-drug pairs with a relatively large number of pairs that require no action. The members of the DPWG select gene-drug combinations for further analysis. Even if the literature search shows that the genotype of the gene involved, does not influence the effect of the drug or to an extent that is not clinically relevant, a complete assessment report is prepared and made available by including it in the drug database. Although no action, such as adjustments of the dose and additional monitoring, is necessary, it appeared that the information and the report are of value for healthcare professionals. For example, healthcare professionals generally considered the CYP1A2 genotype to be relevant for clozapine. However, the assessment report summarized the results of the studies and concluded that CYP1A2 genotypes and the effect of clozapine or its blood concentrations are not associated with for example any adverse drug event, considering the totality of available evidence (The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

As previously recognized by Bank et al., there are several other explanations for differences between the guidelines (Bank et al., 2018). Differences in methodology, in time points at which literature searches have been performed or guidelines have been updated, and differences in daily clinical practices between countries result in discordances in recommendations. The CPIC's dose recommendations are usually based on consensus of experts. They use published literature for dose. So if it is not clear what dose should be used and there are alternative therapies, they will most likely recommend another drug. On the other hand, the DPWG calculates adjustments of doses per genotype or predicted phenotype, based on pharmacokinetic data such as area under the concentration time curves (AUC), steady state concentrations found in published studies (Swen et al., 2008; Deneer and van Schaik, 2013). This explains differences between the recommended starting doses of antidepressants. Furthermore, tricyclic thev only recommend on adjusting the dose if genotypes have a clinically relevant effect on for example blood concentrations, considering the therapeutic range of the drug or in case an association between the genotype and response of the drug in terms of efficacy or adverse drug events, has been observed. This explains for example the differences between the recommended starting doses of paroxetine and fluvoxamine in patients with a predicted PM phenotype for CYP2D6. According to the CPIC, the starting dose should be reduced. The DPWG does not consider this necessary since the drugs have a large therapeutic window.

The extent to which therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM), meaning measuring concentrations of a drug in blood or plasma to optimize treatment, is applied in daily clinical practice, differs among countries. For example, the DPWG indicates that endoxifen plasma concentrations should be measured to select an appropriate dose of tamoxifen in CYP2D6 IM and PM patients in contrast to the CPIC and the CPNDS. Clinical practices are also reflected in the DPYD-fluoropyrimidines. The UH2/U metabolic ratio test seems the preferred test to assess DPD enzyme activity, in France. Currently, the DPD enzyme activity measurement in peripheral blood mononuclear cells is the best developed and implemented test in routine patient care in The Netherlands. The CPIC mentions TDM in their guideline (Amstutz et al. 2018; Swen et al., 2011b; Picard et al., 2017; CPIC, 2020; The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group, 2020a).

The DPWG, CPNDS, and RNPGx advise on genotyping. In general, they recommend to order genotyping tests in routine patient care if the clinical benefit for patients is considered relevant for example by lowering the risk of developing side effects or the risk of inefficacy of drug treatment. The committees assess the available data from published studies and also include the SmPC or drug label approved by EMA and FDA respectively. The number of drugs with pharmacogenetic information in these documents has increased over the years (TanKoi et al., 2018). The information is either included based

on studies available before or after marketing authorization being granted or as a result of safety issues post approval. For example, in the SmPC of abacavir in the section regarding therapeutic indications it is stated that before starting the treatment every patient should be tested for carrying the HLA-\*5701 allele (European Medicines Agency, 2020b). Several years ago, the FDA issued a black box warning on clopidogrel and the warnings section of the SmPC was updated with respect to reduced effectiveness of clopidogrel in patients with a CYP2C19 predicted phenotype of PM (TanKoi et al., 2018). Recently, EMA published a direct health care professional communication (DHPC) about the fact that patients with partial or complete DPD deficiency have an increased risk of developing toxicity when receiving fluoropyrimidines. It has been added that genotyping or phenotyping is recommended before the start of treatment with fluoropyrimidines such as capecitabine (European Medicines Agency, 2020a). Siponimod is a CYP2C9 substrate with plasma concentrations being influenced by the patient's CYP2C9 genotype. The posology of the SmPC indicates that CYP2C19 genotyping must be performed before starting the treatment. The CYP2C9 \*3/\*3 genotype is a contraindication and the maintenance dose for patients with the \*2/\*3 or \*1/\*3genotype is lower as compared to all other genotypes (European Medicines Agency, 2020c).

Although it is evident that genotyping contributes to the appropriate and safe use of drugs, cost-effectiveness is often discussed in case of reimbursement issues. Several randomized controlled trials investigating a genotype guided strategy are available for some drugs in specific patient populations (Church, 2008; Claassens et al., 2019). It is not feasible to perform cost-effectiveness studies based on the results of randomized clinical trials or cost-effectiveness simulations for all drugs with a clinically relevant gene-drug interaction for all indications. However, the clinical implication score of the DPWG includes criteria that would determine the outcome of a costeffectiveness study such as the clinical impact meaning the severity of the drug's side effect or the clinical impact of diminished efficacy, the number needed to genotype. It is worthwhile mentioning that currently the PREPARE study is investigating the (cost)-effectiveness and clinical utility of applying the DPWG guideline after a panel of genes being tested (van der Wouden et al., 2017; Van Der Wouden et al., 2020).

In conclusion, evidence based recommendations for many gene-drug pairs are available for supporting clinical decision making by healthcare professionals, patients and other stakeholders. Although there are many similarities in the methodologies the committees use, their guidelines have unique profiles and strengths. Therefore, considering the totality of guidelines are of added value.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HA-K and VD discussed and decided upon the method for literature search. HA-K performed the Pubmed search and

the search results were discussed by both of them. AK made a detailed overview of all the guidelines and recommendations. HA-K, VD, AK, and MN all had a major contribution in making the comparison between the guidelines and recommendations. HA-K and VD drafted the manuscript and all authors reviewed the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

VD is chair of the DPWG, initiated by the Royal Dutch Pharmacists Association (KNMP). The DPWG receives funding from the KNMP. MN is employed by the KNMP. The KNMP, VD and HA-K receive funding from the European

#### REFERENCES

- Aminkeng, F., Ross, C. J. D., Rassekh, S. R., Hwang, S., Rieder, M. J., Bhavsar, A. P., et al. (2016). Recommendations for genetic testing to reduce the incidence of anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 82, 683–695. doi:10.1111/bcp.13008
- Amstutz, U., Henricks, L. M., Offer, S. M., Barbarino, J., Schellens, J. H. M., Swen, J. J., et al. (2018). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase genotype and fluoropyrimidine dosing: 2017 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 103, 210–216. doi:10.1002/cpt.911
- Amstutz, U., Shear, N. H., Rieder, M. J., Hwang, S., Fung, V., Nakamura, H., et al. (2014). Recommendations for HLA-B15:02 and HLA-A31:01 genetic testing to reduce the risk of carbamazepine-induced hypersensitivity reactions. *Epilepsia* 55, 496–506. doi:10.1111/epi.12564
- Bank, P. C. D., Caudle, K. E., Swen, J. J., Gammal, R. S., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Klein, T. E., et al. (2018). Comparison of the guidelines of the clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium and the Dutch pharmacogenetics working group. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 103, 599–618. doi:10.1002/cpt.762
- Barbarino, J. M., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Altman, R. B., and Klein, T. E. (2018). PharmGKB: a worldwide resource for pharmacogenomic information. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Syst. Biol. Med. 10, e1417. doi:10.1002/wsbm.1417
- Bell, G. C., Caudle, K. E., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Gordon, R. J., Hikino, K., Gaedigk, A., et al. (2017). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for CYP2D6 genotype and use of ondansetron and tropisetron. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 102, 213–218. doi:10.1002/cpt.598
- Birdwell, K. A., Decker, B., Barbarino, J. M., Peterson, J. F., Stein, C. M., Sadee, W., et al. (2015). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for CYP3A5 genotype and tacrolimus dosing. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 98, 19–24. doi:10.1002/cpt.113
- Brockmöller, J., Kirchheiner, J., Schmider, J., Walter, S., Sachse, C., Müller-Oerlinghausen, B., et al. (2002). The impact of the CYP2D6 polymorphism on haloperidol pharmacokinetics and on the outcome of haloperidol treatment. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther* 72, 438–452. doi:10.1067/mcp.2002. 127494
- Brown, J. T., Bishop, J. R., Sangkuhl, K., Nurmi, E. L., Mueller, D. J., Dinh, J. C., et al. (2019). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guideline for cytochrome P450 (CYP)2D6 genotype and atomoxetine therapy. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 106, 94–102. doi:10.1002/cpt.1409
- Caudle, K. E., Dunnenberger, H. M., Freimuth, R. R., Peterson, J. F., Burlison, J. D., Whirl-Carrillo, M., et al. (2017). Standardizing terms for clinical pharmacogenetic test results: consensus terms from the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC). *Genet. Med.* 19, 215–223. doi:10.1038/gim.2016.87
- Caudle, K. E., Sangkuhl, K., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Swen, J. J., Haidar, C. E., Klein, T. E., et al. (2020). Standardizing CYP2D6 genotype to phenotype translation: consensus recommendations from the clinical pharmacogenetics

Community's Horizon 2020 Programme under grant agreement No. 668353 (U-PGx).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank N. Picard for offering us information about the RNPGx.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2020.595219/full#supplementary-material.

implementation Consortium and Dutch pharmacogenetics working group. *Clin. Transl. Sci.* 13, 116–124. doi:10.1111/cts.12692

- Caudle, K., Klein, T., Hoffman, J., Muller, D., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Gong, L., et al. (2014a). Incorporation of pharmacogenomics into routine clinical practice: the clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline development process. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 15, 209–217. doi:10.2174/ 1389200215666140130124910
- Caudle, K., Rettie, A., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Smith, L., Mintzer, S., Lee, M., et al. (2014b). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guidelines for CYP2C9 and HLA-B genotypes and phenytoin dosing. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 96, 542–548 doi:10.1038/clpt.2014.159
- Church, J. A. (2008). HLA-B\*5701 screening for hypersensitivity to abacavir. *Pediatrics* 122, e2139. doi:10.1542/peds.2008-2139LL
- Claassens, D. M. F., Vos, G. J. A., Bergmeijer, T. O., Hermanides, R. S., Van't Hof, A. W. J., Van Der Harst, P., et al. (2019). A genotype-guided strategy for oral P2Y12 inhibitors in primary PCI. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 381, 1621–1631. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1907096
- Clancy, J. P., Johnson, S. G., Yee, S. W., McDonagh, E. M., Caudle, K. E., Klein, T. E., et al. (2014). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for ivacaftor therapy in the context of CFTR genotype. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 95, 592–597. doi:10.1038/clpt.2014.54
- CPIC. (2020). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC). Guidelines. Available at: https://cpicpgx.org/guidelines (Accessed July 11, 2020).
- Crews, K., Gaedigk, A., Dunnenberger, H., Leeder, J., Klein, T., Caudle, K., et al. (2014). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guidelines for cytochrome P450 2D6 genotype and codeine therapy: 2014 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 95, 376–382. doi:10.1038/clpt.2013.254
- Deneer, V. H. M., and van Schaik, R. H. N. (2013). Evidence based drug dosing and pharmacotherapeutic recommendations per genotype. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1015, 71–85 doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-435-7
- Desta, Z., Gammal, R. S., Gong, L., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Gaur, A. H., Sukasem, C., et al. (2019). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for CYP2B6 and Efavirenz-containing antiretroviral therapy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 106, 726–733. doi:10.1002/cpt.1477
- Drögemöller, B. I., Wright, G. E. B., Shih, J., Monzon, J. G., Gelmon, K. A., Ross, C. J. D., et al. (2019). CYP2D6 as a treatment decision aid for ER-positive non-metastatic breast cancer patients: a systematic review with accompanying clinical practice guidelines. *Breast Canc. Res. Treat.* 173, 521–532. doi:10. 1007/s10549-018-5027-0
- European Medicines Agency (2020a). 5-Fluorouracil (i.v.), capecitabine and tegafur containing products: pre-treatment testing to identify DPD-deficient patients at increased risk of severe toxicity. Patients with partial or complete dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) deficiency ar. direct Healthc. Prof. *Commun.* (DHPC), Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/comment/ reply/126830 (Accessed August 15, 2020).
- European Medicines Agency, (2020b). Annex I: summ. Prod. Charact. Ziagen, 71. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/ziagen (Accessed August 15, 2020).

- European Medicines Agency, (2020c). Annex I: *summ. Prod. Charact. Maz.*, 53. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/medicines/human/EPAR/ mayzent#product-information-section (Accessed August 15, 2020).
- Gammal, R., Court, M., Haidar, C., Iwuchukwu, O. F., Alvarellos, M., Guillemette, C., et al. (2015). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for UGT1A1 and atazanavir prescribing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 99, 363–369. doi:10.1002/cpt.269
- Goetz, M. P., Sangkuhl, K., Guchelaar, H.-J., Schwab, M., Province, M., Whirl-Carrillo, M., et al. (2018). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for CYP2D6 and tamoxifen therapy. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 103, 770–777. doi:10.1002/cpt.1007
- Gonsalves, S. G., Dirksen, R. T., Sangkuhl, K., Pulk, R., Alvarellos, M., Vo, T., et al. (2019). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for the use of potent volatile anesthetic agents and succinylcholine in the context of RYR1 or CACNA1S genotypes. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105, 1338–1344. doi:10.1002/cpt.1319
- Hershfield, M., Callaghan, J., Tassaneeyakul, W., Mushiroda, T., Thorn, C., Klein, T., et al. (2012). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guidelines for human leukocyte antigen-B genotype and allopurinol dosing. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105, 153–158. doi:10.1038/clpt.2012.209
- Hicks, J., Bishop, J., Sangkuhl, K., Ji, Y., Leckband, S., Leeder, J., et al. (2015). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotypes and dosing of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 98, 127–134. doi:10.1002/cpt.147
- Hicks, J. K., Sangkuhl, K., Swen, J. J., Ellingrod, V. L., M€ Uller, D. J., Shimoda, K., et al. (2016). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guideline (CPIC) for CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 genotypes and dosing of tricyclic antidepressants: 2016 update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 102, 37–44. doi:10. 1002/cpt.597
- Johnson, J. A., Caudle, K. E., Gong, L., Whirl-Carrillo, M., Stein, C. M., Scott, S. A., et al. (2017). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline for pharmacogenetics-guided warfarin dosing: 2017 update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 102, 397–404. doi:10.1002/cpt.668
- Kirchheiner, J., Müller, G., Meineke, I., Wernecke, K. D., Roots, I., and Brockmöller, J. (2003). Effects of polymorphisms in CYP2D6, CYP2C9, and CYP2C19 on trimipramine pharmacokinetics. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 23, 459–466. doi:10.1097/01.jcp.0000088909.24613.92
- Krebs, K., and Milani, L. (2019). Translating pharmacogenomics into clinical decisions: do not let the perfect be the enemy of the good. *Hum. Genom.* 13, 39. doi:10.1186/s40246-019-0229-z
- Lamoureux, F., and Duflot, T. (2017). Pharmacogenetics in cardiovascular diseases: state of the art and implementation-recommendations of the French national network of pharmacogenetics (RNPGx). *Therapie* 72, 257–267. doi:10.1016/j. therap.2016.09.017
- Lee, J. W., Pussegoda, K., Rassekh, S. R., Monzon, J. G., Liu, G., Hwang, S., et al. (2016). Clinical practice recommendations for the management and prevention of cisplatin-induced hearing loss using pharmacogenetic markers. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 38, 423–431. doi:10.1097/FTD.000000000000298
- Loriot, M. A., Ciccolini, J., Thomas, F., Barin-Le-Guellec, C., Royer, B., Milano, G., et al. (2018). Dihydropyrimidine déhydrogenase (DPD) deficiency screening and securing of fluoropyrimidine-based chemotherapies: update and recommendations of the French GPCO-Unicancer and RNPGx networks. *Bull. Cancer* 105, 397–407. doi:10.1016/j.bulcan.2018.02.001
- Lunenburg, C. A. T. C., van der Wouden, C. H., Nijenhuis, M., Crommentuijn-van Rhenen, M. H., de Boer-Veger, N. J., Buunk, A. M., et al. (2020). Dutch Pharmacogenetics Working Group (DPWG) guideline for the gene–drug interaction of DPYD and fluoropyrimidines. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 28, 508–517. doi:10.1038/s41431-019-0540-0
- Maagdenberg, H., Bierings, M. B., van Ommen, C. H., van der Meer, F. J. M., Appel, I. M., Tamminga, R. Y. J., et al. (2018). The pediatric acenocoumarol dosing algorithm: the children anticoagulation and Pharmacogenetics study. *J. Thromb. Haemostasis* 16, 1732–1742. doi:10.1111/jth.14211
- Madadi, P., Amstutz, U., Rieder, M., Ito, S., Fung, V., Hwang, S., et al. (2013). Clinical practice guideline: CYP2D6 genotyping for safe and efficacious codeine therapy. J. Popul. Ther. Clin. Pharmacol. 20, e369–e396.
- Martin, M. A., Klein, T. E., Dong, B. J., Pirmohamed, M., Haas, D. W., and Kroetz, D. L. (2012). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium

guidelines for HLA-B genotype and abacavir dosing. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 91, 734–738. doi:10.1038/clpt.2011.355

- Meulendijks, D., Cats, A., Beijnen, J. H., and Schellens, J. H. M. (2016). Improving safety of fluoropyrimidine chemotherapy by individualizing treatment based on dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase activity ready for clinical practice? *Canc. Treat Rev.* 50, 23–34. doi:10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.08.002
- Moriyama, B., Obeng, A. O., Barbarino, J., Penzak, S. R., Henning, S. A., Scott, S. A., et al. (2017). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for CYP2C19 and voriconazole therapy. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 102, 45–51. doi:10.1002/cpt.583
- Muir, A., Gong, L., Johnson, S., Lee, M., Williams, M., Klein, T., et al. (2014). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for IFNL3 (IL28B) genotype and PEG interferon-α-based regiments. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 95, 141–146. doi:10.1038/clpt.2013.203
- PharmGKB (2020). PharmGKB website. *Prescr. info*. Available at: https://www.pharmgkb.org/. (Accessed July 15, 2020).
- Phillips, E. J., Sukasem, C., Whirl-Carrillo, M. M, D. J., Dunnenberger, H. M., Chantratita, W., et al. (2018). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guideline for HLA genotype and use of carbamazepine and oxcarbazepine: 2017 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 103, 574–581. doi:10. 1002/cpt.1004
- Picard, N., Boyer, J. C., Etienne-Grimaldi, M. C., Barin-Le Guellec, C., Thomas, F., and Loriot, M. A. (2017). Pharmacogenetics-based personalized therapy: levels of evidence and recommendations from the French Network of Pharmacogenetics (RNPGx). *Therapie* 72, 185–192. doi:10.1016/j.therap. 2016.09.014
- Quaranta, S., Dupouey, J., Colle, R., and Verstuyft, C. (2017). Pharmacogenetics of antidepressant drugs: state of the art and clinical implementation – recommendations from the french national network of pharmacogenetics. *Therapie (Paris)* 72, 311–318. doi:10.1016/j.therap.2016.09.018
- Quaranta, S., and Thomas, F. (2017). Pharmacogenetics of anti-cancer drugs: state of the art and implementation – recommendations of the French National Network of Pharmacogenetics. *Therapie* 72, 205–215. doi:10.1016/j.therap. 2017.01.005
- Ramsey, L., Johnson, S., Caudle, K., Haidar, C., Voora, D., Wilke, R., et al. (2014). The clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guideline for SLCO1B1 and simvastatin-induced myopathy: 2014 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 96, 423–428. doi:10.1038/clpt.2014.125
- Relling, M., McDonagh, E., Chang, T., Caudle, K., McLeod, H., Haidar, C., et al. (2014). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for rasburicase therapy in the context of G6PD deficiency genotype. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 96, 169–174. doi:10.1038/clpt.2014.97
- Relling, M. V., Schwab, M., Michelle, W.-C., Suarez-Kurtz, G., Pui, C.-H., Stein, C. M., et al. (2019). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guideline for thiopurine dosing based on TPMT and NUDT15 genotypes: 2018 update. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 105, 1095–1105. doi:10.1002/cpt.1304
- Ross, C. J. D., Visscher, H., Sistonen, J., Brunham, L. R., Pussegoda, K., Loo, T. T., et al. (2010). The Canadian pharmacogenomics network for drug safety: a model for safety pharmacology. *Thyroid* 20, 681–687. doi:10.1089/thy.2010. 1642
- Sachse, C., Brockmöller, J., Bauer, S., and Roots, I. (1997). Cytochrome P450 2D6 variants in a Caucasian population: allele frequencies and phenotypic consequences. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 60, 284–295.
- Scott, S., Sangkuhl, K., Stein, C., Hulot, J., Mega, J., Roden, D., et al. (2013). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guidelines for CYP2C19 genotype and clopidogrel therapy: 2013 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 94, 317–323. doi:10.1038/clpt.2013.105
- Shaw, K., Amstutz, U., Kim, R. B., Lesko, L. J., Turgeon, J., Michaud, V., et al. (2015). Clinical practice recommendations on genetic testing of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 variants in warfarin therapy. *Ther. Drug Monit.* 37, 428–436. doi:10. 1097/FTD.000000000000192
- Shuker, N., Bouamar, R., van Schaik, R. H. N., Clahsen-van Groningen, M. C., Damman, J., Baan, C. C., et al. (2016). A randomized controlled trial comparing the efficacy of Cyp3a5 genotype-based with body-weight-based tacrolimus dosing after living donor kidney transplantation. *Am. J. Transplant.* 16, 2085–2096. doi:10.1111/ajt.13691

- Swen, J. J., Nijenhuis, M., De Boer, A., Grandia, L., Maitland-Van Der Zee, A. H., Mulder, H., et al. (2011a). Pharmacogenetics: from bench to byte an update of guidelines. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 89, 662–673. doi:10.1038/clpt.2011.34
- Swen, J., Nijenhuis, M., De Boer, A., Grandia, L., Maitland-van der Zee, A., Mulder, H., et al. (2011b). Pharmacogenetics: from bench to byte— an update of guidelines. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 89, 662–673. doi:10.1038/clpt.2011.34
- Swen, J. J., Nijenhuis, M., van Rhenen, M., de Boer-Veger, N. J., Buunk, A. M., Houwink, E. J. F., et al. (2018). Pharmacogenetic information in clinical guidelines: the European perspective. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther* 103, 795–801. doi:10.1002/cpt.1049
- Swen, J. J., Wilting, I., Goede, A. D., Grandia, L., Mulder, H., Touw, D. J., et al. (2008). Pharmacogenetics: from bench to byte. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 83, 781–787. doi:10.1038/sj.clpt.6100507
- TanKoi, W. C., Leow, P. C., and Teo, Y. Y. (2018). Applications of pharmacogenomics in regulatory science: a product life cycle review. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 18, 359–366. doi:10.1038/tpj.2017.47
- Tanoshima, R., Khan, A., Biala, A. K., Trueman, J. N., Drögemöller, B. I., Wright, G. E. B., et al. (2019). Analyses of adverse drug reactions-nationwide active surveillance network: Canadian pharmacogenomics network for drug safety database. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 59, 356–363. doi:10.1002/jcph.1336
- The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group (2016). VKORC1: warfarin. 16. Available at: https://www.g-standaard.nl/risicoanalyse/B0006235.PDF (Accessed July 11, 2020).
- The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group (2018a). HLA: lamotrigine. 1–13. Available at: https://www.g-standaard.nl/risicoanalyse/B0006932.PDF (Accessed July 21, 2020).
- The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group (2018b). HLA: oxcarbazepine. 1–10. Available at: https://www.g-standaard.nl/risicoanalyse/B0006931.PDF (Accessed July 21, 2020).
- The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group (2018c). HLA: phenytoin. 1–17. Available at: https://www.g-standaard.nl/risicoanalyse/B0006927.PDF (Accessed July 21, 2020).
- The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group (2020a). Phamacogenomic recommendations, farmacogenetica-update. Available at: www.knmp.nl/ (Accessed July 12, 2020).
- The Dutch Pharmacogenomic Working Group (2020b). Phamacogenomic recommendations. Available at: www.knmp.nl/ (Accessed July 12, 2020).
- Theken, K. N., Lee, C. R., Gong, L., Caudle, K. E., Formea, C. M., Gaedigk, A., et al. (2020). Clinical pharmacogenetics implementation Consortium guideline (CPIC) for CYP2C9 and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 108, 191–200. doi:10.1002/cpt.1830

- Van Der Wouden, C. H., Böhringer, S., Cecchin, E., Cheung, K. C., Dávila-Fajardo, C. L., Deneer, V. H. M., et al. (2020). Generating evidence for precision medicine: considerations made by the Ubiquitous Pharmacogenomics Consortium when designing and operationalizing the PREPARE study. *Pharmacogenetics Genom.* 30, 131–144. doi:10.1097/FPC. 0000000000000405
- van der Wouden, C. H., Cambon-Thomsen, A., Cecchin, E., Cheung, K. C., Dávila-Fajardo, C. L., Deneer, V. H., et al. (2017). Implementing pharmacogenomics in europe: design and implementation strategy of the ubiquitous pharmacogenomics consortium. *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.* 101, 341–358. doi:10.1002/cpt.602
- Van Roon, E. N., Flikweert, S., Le Comte, M., Langendijk, P. N. J., Kwee-Zuiderwijk, W. J. M., Smits, P., et al. (2005). Clinical relevance of drug-drug interactions: a structured assessment procedure. *Drug Saf.* 28, 1131–1139. doi:10.2165/00002018-200528120-00007
- Van Schaik, R. H. N., Grandia, L., De Goede, A., Bet, P. M., Bekers, O., Guchelaar, H.-J., et al. (2008). Dutch consensus: CYP2D6 genotype "1-0" classified as intermediate metabolizer | Nederlandse consensus: CYP2D6 genotype "1-0" ingedeeld als intermediaire metaboliseerder. *Ned. Tijdschr. Klin. Chem. Lab.* 33, 52–53.
- Woillard, J. B., Chouchana, L., Picard, N., and Loriot, M. A. (2017). Pharmacogenetics of immunosuppressants: state of the art and clinical implementation – recommendations from the French National Network of Pharmacogenetics (RNPGx). *Therapie.* 72, 285–299. doi:10.1016/j.therap.2016. 09.016

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with one of the authors VD.

Copyright © 2021 Abdullah-Koolmees, van Keulen, Nijenhuis and Deneer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

